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Preface 

Governmental accounting differs significantly from the accounting used by other organizations, since the 

focus is on the provision of services, rather than earning a profit. Because of this change in focus, govern-

ments use funds to maintain better control of costs, while also formatting their financial statements differ-

ently and using a different basis of accounting. Governmental Accounting explains the intricacies of these 

differences, covering fund accounting, budgetary accounting, the annual comprehensive financial report, 

and much more. 

The book is divided into three sections. In Chapters 1 through 7, we cover the underpinnings of gov-

ernmental accounting, including such topics as funds, the basis of accounting, the measurement focus, and 

common accounting transactions. In Chapters 8 through 17, we address every aspect of financial reporting, 

including the annual comprehensive financial report, budgetary reporting, and the statistical section. In 

Chapters 18 through 24, we address more specific accounting issues, including claims accounting, inven-

tory, landfill closure and postclosure costs, and nonexchange transactions. 

You can find the answers to many questions about governmental accounting in the following chapters, 

including: 

• Who formulates governmental accounting standards? 

• What are the different types of funds and how are they used? 

• How does the measurement focus impact financial reporting? 

• How do I depreciate capital assets? 

• How do I account for debt service activity? 

• How do I account for encumbrances? 

• How do I report the results and financial position of a component unit? 

• What are the contents of an annual comprehensive financial report? 

• What information must be included in the notes to the financial statements? 

• How should a budgetary comparison schedule be structured? 

• What are the four types of nonexchange transactions and how do I account for each one? 

 

Governmental Accounting is designed for professionals and students, who can use it as a reference tool for 

recording governmental accounting transactions and generating financial statements. 

 

Centennial, Colorado 

November 2021 
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Chapter 1 

Governmental Accounting Overview 

Learning Objectives 

• Recognize the entities responsible for formulating accounting standards. 

• Cite the organizational structure used by governmental accounting standards. 

 

Introduction 

Governmental accounting differs significantly from the accounting used by business-oriented organiza-

tions, because governments are structured to have different priorities than earning a profit. Instead, they are 

supposed to provide services to their citizens in a cost-effective manner. Also, the amount of cash that 

governments can use to provide those services is strictly limited by legislative mandate. Consequently, the 

governmental accounting system is structured to maintain tight control over resources, while also compart-

mentalizing activities into different funds in order to clarify how resources are being directed at various 

programs. 

In this chapter, we give an overview of governmental accounting by focusing on the sources and ap-

plicability of governmental accounting standards, as well as the types of funds, accounts, and reporting 

requirements that are associated with a governmental accounting system. 

 

Related Podcast Episodes: Episodes 274 through 277 of the Accounting Best Practices Podcast discuss 

governmental accounting. They are available at: accountingtools.com/podcasts or iTunes 

 

Sources of Governmental Accounting Standards 

Given the unique needs of governments, a different set of accounting standards has been developed for 

these organizations. The primary organization that is responsible for creating and updating these standards 

is the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), which is the successor of the National Council 

on Governmental Accounting (NCGA). The GASB is tasked with the development of accounting and fi-

nancial reporting standards for state and local governments, while the Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (FASB) has the same responsibility, but for all other entities not related to governmental activities. 

In this book, we summarize the accounting and financial reporting standards for governments. These 

standards are considered to be generally accepted accounting principles, but only in regard to their use by 

governmental entities. Thus, the contents of this book can be referred to as “GAAP for Governments.” 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) are a cluster of accounting standards and common in-

dustry usage that have been developed over many years. It is used by organizations to: 

• Properly organize their financial information into accounting records; 

• Summarize the accounting records into financial statements; and 

• Disclose certain supporting information. 

 

By adhering to GAAP, all government entities are able to issue financial statements that are formatted the 

same and which contain the same types of disclosures. Without GAAP, these financial statements would 

not be comparable. Consequently, every government entity must be in compliance with GAAP. 
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Information Sources 

The accounting and reporting standards that are used by state and local governments come from the follow-

ing sources: 

• Statements of the GASB 

• Interpretations of the GASB 

• Technical Bulletins of the GASB 

• Implementation Guides of the GASB 

• Concept Statements of the GASB 

• Statements of the National Council on Governmental Accounting (NCGA) 

• Interpretations of the NCGA 

• Industry Audit Guide of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Audits of State 

and Local Governmental Units 

• Additional AICPA1 literature that has been cleared by the GASB 

 

The aggregated accounting and reporting standards have been organized by the GASB into a centralized 

codification, which is organized into the following five parts: 

1. General Principles 

2. Financial Reporting 

3. Measurement 

4. Specific Balance Sheet and Operating Statement Items 

5. Stand-Alone Reporting – Specialized Units and Activities 

 

These accounting and reporting standards are summarized into many of the following chapters. The layout 

and chapter titles of the following chapters have been structured to roughly match the table of contents of 

the official codification of the governmental accounting and financial reporting standards. By organizing 

the book in this way, it is easier for the reader to refer back to the original codification for additional infor-

mation. 

 

Application of Governmental Accounting Standards 

Entities that are subject to governmental accounting standards are those that have at least one of the follow-

ing characteristics: 

• The officers are appointed by popular election. 

• A controlling majority of the governing body is appointed by state or local governments. 

• A government can unilaterally dissolve the entity, with its net assets reverting to the government. 

• The entity has the power to both enact and enforce a tax levy. 

• The entity can issue debt that pays interest that is exempt from federal taxation, plus at least one of 

the preceding characteristics. 

 

Examples of these entities are school districts, public hospitals, public employee retirement systems, water 

and sewer authorities, airport authorities, and public-sector universities. 

The federal government and nonprofit organizations are not considered to be within the scope of gov-

ernmental accounting. For more information about the accounting for nonprofits, see the author’s Nonprofit 

Accounting book. 

 

 
1 The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
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Legal Provisions 

In addition to GAAP, the financial operations of a government entity may be governed by a number of legal 

provisions. For example, statutes may specify methods of collection, delinquency dates, and tax rate limits. 

A key legal document is the approved operating budget, which sets not-to-exceed limits on expenditures. 

These legal provisions may mandate that the accounting system be altered to ensure that the provisions are 

complied with, and that the system reports the information required by the law. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The legislature of a state passes a law, requiring that all gasoline taxes be separately accounted for in a highway 

construction fund, and that these funds be used solely for capital expenditures on highways. The state’s accounting 

system must be able to store the tax proceeds in this manner and report on how the funds were subsequently used. 

 

 

Some legal provisions to which a government is subjected may conflict with GAAP. For example, there 

may be a statutory requirement that a specific fund be accounted for using the cash basis of accounting, 

even though GAAP requires that the accrual basis be used. When these conflicts exist, it is not necessary 

to maintain two entirely separate sets of books to be in compliance with both GAAP and the law. Instead, 

maintain the baseline system so that it complies with the law, and layer on additional reports to bring the 

entity’s reporting into compliance with GAAP. 

In order to be in compliance with GAAP, a government entity should disclose any significant violations 

by the entity of any legal or contractual provisions, as well as any actions taken to address those violations. 

In those cases in which adherence to GAAP does not result in sufficient compliance with legal requirements, 

additional reporting should be made by the entity to bring it into compliance. 

 

Goals of a Governmental Accounting System 

A governmental accounting system must be able to meet the following goals: 

• To present fairly the funds and activities of the entity in conformity with GAAP, with full disclo-

sure; and 

• To ascertain and show compliance with legal and contractual provisions that are finance-related. 

 

Fund Accounting Systems 

A governmental accounting system should be organized on a fund basis. Fund accounting is usually re-

quired by law as a method for controlling the use of resources. The fund is the most important element of 

a governmental system. It is defined as follows: 

 
A fund is an entity with its own set of accounts, which are segregated in order to carry on specific activities 

or attain certain objectives. 

 

The financial statements of a number of funds can be included in the reporting for a primary government, 

of which the funds are a constituent part. 
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There are several types of funds that may be operated and reported on by a government entity. The key 

types are as follows: 

• Governmental funds 

o General fund 

o Capital projects funds 

o Debt service funds 

o Permanent funds 

o Special revenue funds 

• Proprietary funds 

o Enterprise funds 

o Internal service funds 

• Fiduciary funds 

o Agency funds 

o Investment trust funds 

o Pension trust funds 

o Private-purpose trust funds 

 

We cover funds in much more detail in the next chapter, Fund Accounting. 

 

Note: A government should attempt to minimize the number of funds it uses, since each incremental addi-

tion increases the level of complexity that the accountant must deal with. 

 

Types of Assets 

Within each fund, governmental accounting focuses on assets and liabilities. Assets are defined as resources 

controlled by a government. The most common classifications within which assets are reported are as fol-

lows: 

• Cash. This is the funds currently stored in a government’s bank accounts, as well as any cash stored 

by the government. This usually means that cash includes the amounts in all demand deposit ac-

counts, as well as all petty cash balances. It does not include cash that has been restricted for any 

reason. 

• Cash equivalents. This is short-term, highly liquid investments that are easily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, and which are so close to their maturities that there is a minimal risk of a 

change in value due to variations in interest rates. Examples of cash equivalents are money market 

funds and commercial paper. 

• Investments. Investments are payments made to acquire the securities of other entities in order to 

gain a return. For a government, investments are likely to be debt or equity securities, as well as 

mutual funds and money market investments. 

• Taxes receivable. This includes any type of tax owed to a government, such as property taxes and 

sales taxes. 

• Accounts receivable. This includes funds owed to a government by third parties because of goods 

sold or services provided to these parties. For example, a water utility bills its customers; all unpaid 

bills are classified as accounts receivable. 

• Prepaid expenses. This includes payments for services that will be received in the future, such as 

insurance payments that cover future periods. 

• Inventory. This includes all goods being offered for sale. For example, a government-run medical 

dispensary maintains an inventory of medications. 
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• Capital assets. This includes all long-lived assets owned by a government. Examples of capital 

assets are buildings, land, office equipment, and vehicles. 

• Intangible assets. This includes all non-tangible assets that have useful lives extending over more 

than one reporting period. Examples of these assets are easements, trademarks, and water rights. 

 

Types of Liabilities 

A liability is defined as a legally binding obligation payable to another entity. The most common classifi-

cations within which liabilities are reported are as follows: 

• Accounts payable. This includes all bills received by a government that have not yet been paid. For 

example, a utility bill is received near month-end but is not due for payment until the following 

month, so it is classified as an account payable until it is paid. 

• Accrued expenses. This includes all expenses that have been incurred, but for which no supplier 

invoice has yet been received. For example, a government receives supplies near month-end, but 

has not yet received the related supplier invoice, so the expense is accrued for the purpose of pre-

paring month-end financial statements, after which the accrual is replaced by recording the actual 

supplier invoice. 

• Debt. This includes all types of obligations that a government has entered into in order to borrow 

money. For example, there may have been a bond issuance to pay for a capital asset construction 

project. 

 

Budget Issues 

Every governmental unit should adopt an annual budget. A budget is a type of control that has the force of 

law, since it is subject to the approval of the legislative branch of the applicable government. The individ-

uals managing a governmental unit conduct their activities based on the expenditure levels authorized in 

the budget. 

This budget is incorporated into the accounting system. The accounting system then provides the basis 

for an appropriate level of budgetary control, which includes budgetary comparisons that are presented for 

the general fund as well as for each major special revenue fund for which there is a legally adopted annual 

budget (the types of funds are covered in the next chapter). The ability of the management team to adhere 

to the budget can then be used as a component of their ongoing performance evaluations. 

 

Financial Reports 

A government should follow these guidelines in regard to its financial statement reporting: 

• Interim reports. A government should prepare interim financial statements and reports to assist 

management in its control of financial operations, as well as for legislative oversight purposes and 

external reporting. 

• Annual report. A government should prepare an annual comprehensive financial report, covering 

all funds and activities of the primary government, including an overview of all separately-pre-

sented component units of the reporting entity. This overview should include an introduction, man-

agement’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), basic financial statements, required supplementary 

information, fund statements, schedules, narrative explanations, and a statistics section. 
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• Minimum requirements. The minimum requirements for the annual report are the MD&A, required 

supplementary materials other than MD&A, and the financial statements, which include the fol-

lowing: 

o Government-wide financial statements 

o Fund financial statements 

o Notes to the financial statements 

• Organizational inclusions. Management can include an organization in the financial reporting of a 

primary government, even if the inclusion does not meet the financial accountability criteria for 

doing so, if the inclusion prevents the reporting entity’s financial statements from being misleading. 

Summary 

In this chapter, we provided an overview of the reasons why governmental accounting varies from other 

types of accounting, the sources of governmental accounting standards, and the types of funds, accounts, 

and reports that are used in an accounting system. In the following chapters, we delve into governmental 

accounting in much greater detail. The most essential chapters needed for a basic understanding of govern-

mental accounting are the next two chapters. In the following Fund Accounting chapter, we address the 

different types of funds and how they are used. The Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus chapter 

covers the modified accrual basis of accounting and the measurement focus, which are concepts unique to 

governmental accounting. The reader should have a thorough understanding of the information in these 

next two chapters before delving into the more specific accounting and reporting topics addressed in later 

chapters. 
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Review Questions 

1. An entity that is subject to governmental accounting standards must have one of these characteristics: 

a. The entity issues debt that pays taxable interest 

b. The entity can directly collect a tax levy 

c. Citizens can unilaterally dissolve the entity 

d. The officers are appointed by a controlling group 

 

2. The following is a type of fiduciary fund: 

a. Enterprise fund 

b. Capital projects fund 

c. Permanent fund 

d. Investment trust fund 

 



 
Chapter 2 

Fund Accounting 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the different types of funds and how they are used. 

• Describe the accounting structure of a fund. 

 

Introduction 

A governmental accounting system is organized on a fund basis; doing so makes it easier to maintain control 

over resources while also compartmentalizing activities to clarify how resources are being directed at var-

ious programs. This chapter discusses the nature of a fund and summarizes the different types of funds, 

along with several related topics. 

 

Fund Accounting Overview 

It is essential for many government entities to track funding sources and uses for specific activities, rather 

than for the entity as a whole. To do so, a fund is created for each of these activities, containing its own 

assets and liabilities. These funds can then be combined to arrive at the financial statements for the govern-

ment entity as a whole. There are several types of funds that a government can use; they are noted in the 

following sub-sections. A government should report these funds to the extent that there are activities that 

meet the criteria for the funds. 

 

Definition of a Fund 

A fund is an accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that is used to record financial resources 

and liabilities, as well as operating activities, and which is segregated in order to carry on certain activities 

or attain targeted objectives. A fund is not a separate legal entity. 

Funds are used by governments because governments need to maintain very tight control over their 

resources, and funds are designed to monitor resource inflows and outflows, with particular attention to the 

remaining amount of funds available. By segregating resources into multiple funds, a government can more 

closely monitor resource usage, thereby minimizing the risk of overspending or of spending in areas not 

authorized by a government budget. 

 

Governmental Funds 

The governmental fund is the default fund to be used to account for all activities of a government, except 

for those required to be accounted for in a different fund. Thus, the governmental fund is a government’s 

primary operating fund. 

The governmental fund has a budgetary orientation, with a particular emphasis on the sources, uses, 

and remaining balances of funds. Financial resources are segregated into separate funds for tracking pur-

poses. The residual fund balance in a governmental fund is the difference between fund assets and deferred 

resource outflows, and liabilities and deferred resource inflows. 
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When financial statements are prepared for governmental funds, they are presented using the current 

financial resources measurement and the modified accrual basis of accounting (as discussed in the next 

chapter). The main consideration when accounting for governmental funds is to measure the financial po-

sition of the fund and its changes in financial position. The required financial statements for a governmental 

fund are as follows: 

• Balance sheet 

• Statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances 

• Supplemental reporting schedules as needed 

 

The governmental fund category includes the following funds: 

• Capital projects funds. Used to account for financial resources that have been set aside for capital 

outlays (usually major outlays). There is no requirement to use this type of fund. If a government 

decides to do so, another decision is whether to use a single capital projects fund for all capital 

projects, or to use a separate fund for each one. Capital projects funds should not be used when 

accounting for assets held in trust for individuals, other governments, or private organizations. 

• Debt service funds. Used to account for financial resources that have been set aside to pay for 

principal and interest. The use of this fund may be required by a government’s bond indentures. 

When there are debt service transactions associated with a special assessment for which there is no 

government obligation, the resources are instead accounted for in an agency fund. 

• General fund. Used to account for all financial resources not being reported in any other fund. This 

is the chief operating fund of a government; a government is only allowed to use one general fund. 

• Permanent funds. Used to account for financial resources for which only the earnings can be used 

for the support of government programs. This type of fund would typically be used when a govern-

ment receives an endowment. Permanent funds should not be used in place of private-purpose trust 

funds, where resources are being used for the benefit of individuals, other governments, or private 

organizations. 

• Special revenue funds. Used to account for the proceeds from targeted revenue sources for which 

there is a commitment for expenditures other than capital projects or debt service. A common ap-

plication is the proceeds from grants, since these revenues must be used for specific types of ex-

penditures. The targeted revenue sources could be assigned directly to a special revenue fund, or 

are allocated to it from another fund. The revenue sources are recognized as special revenue when 

they arrive in the special revenue fund from which they will be expended. The use of this type of 

fund is not required unless there is a legal mandate for it. Special revenue funds should not be used 

when accounting for assets held in trust for individuals, other governments, or private organiza-

tions. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The City of Abalone charges a per-event landing fee at its municipal airport. The fee is restricted by legislation to be 

used for airport activities. Airport activities, as defined in the legislation, include capital projects and operational 

expenditures. Airport costs are not expected to be fully recovered through the fee, because about 30% of the costs will 

be supported by a general fund transfer. A special revenue fund can be used to account for these fees, rather than a 

capital projects fund, since use of the funds is not restricted to capital outlays. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The legislature of a state government passes legislation that mandates the creation of a fund to track financial resources 

for which a portion is to be maintained as a minimum fund balance. Since a portion of the fund balance is considered 

to be permanently invested while the remaining funds are to be spent, the fund type can be either a permanent fund or 

a special revenue fund. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A state government has a revenue-sharing arrangement for the use of state-owned land, where the government receives 

a usage royalty. Of the amount received, 75% is directed toward the funding of affordable housing initiatives, while 

25% is held in trust for a third party land conservation fund. In this situation, two separate funds may be used to store 

the incoming funds, or the entire amount can be stored in a single special revenue fund. In the latter case, the govern-

ment should report a liability for those royalties held in trust for the land conservation fund. The remainder of the fund 

should be designated as restricted, because it is reserved for the funding of affordable housing. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government passes legislation that allows for the periodic transfer of funds from the general fund to a different 

fund that is designed for a specific purpose. The receiving fund should not be designated as a special revenue fund, 

since the transfer of funds is not considered revenue. However, if there are also substantial restricted or committed 

revenues in the fund, it can be designated as a special revenue fund. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Shell City levies several types of property taxes, each of which can only be used in a certain way. All property taxes 

are received into Shell’s general fund, where they are recognized as “payable to other funds,” rather than as general 

fund revenue. The funds are then distributed to other funds, where they will be expended in accordance with the 

operating instructions for each fund. These distributions are classified as restricted revenues by the receiving funds, 

since they were not recognized as revenue by the general fund. 

 

 

Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary funds are used to account for the business-type activities of a government. These funds empha-

size operating income, financial position, changes in net position, and cash flows. When financial state-

ments are prepared for proprietary funds, they are presented using the economic resources measurement 

focus and the accrual basis of accounting (as discussed in the next chapter). This is the same approach used 

by commercial organizations, so revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when 

a liability is incurred. This means that depreciation expense is charged to expense in the financial statements 

of a proprietary fund, as are expenses related to longer-term liabilities, such as landfill liabilities and accrued 

interest expense. Also, a proprietary fund records and reports long-term debt, such as bonds payable. The 

required financial statements are as follows: 

• Statement of net position 

• Statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position 

 

The proprietary funds category includes the following funds: 

• Enterprise funds. These funds are used to account for any activity for which external users are 

charged a fee for goods and services, even when the government subsidizes a portion of the activ-

ity’s costs. An enterprise fund may be used to issue bonds, so that the revenue stream of user fees 

being collected by the fund can be pledged to the associated debt service. A government may want 

to set up an enterprise fund just so that it will have information about the total cost of providing a 

service. State unemployment compensation funds and public entity risk pools must be reported in 

enterprise funds. An activity must be reported in an enterprise fund under any of the following 

circumstances: 

o The activity is funded with debt that is only secured by a pledge of the net proceeds from 

the activity. 

o The activity’s service provision costs must be recovered with fees, as stipulated by laws 

and regulations. 
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o The activity’s pricing policy is designed to recover its costs. 

• Internal service funds. These funds are used to account for activities that provide goods or services 

to other funds, as well as departments or agencies of the primary government, or to other govern-

ment entities on a cost-reimbursement basis. This fund should only be used when the reporting 

government is the primary participant in the activity. When this is not the case, set up an enterprise 

fund instead. There is no GAAP requirement to use internal service funds. If internal service funds 

are to be used, it is easier to track information about the services being provided if a separate inter-

nal service fund is maintained for each one. For example, there could be separate internal service 

funds for data processing, printing services, and purchasing. These funds are generally assumed to 

operate on a breakeven basis, so any ongoing fund surpluses or deficits might indicate the need to 

adjust the internal prices being charged to recipients. 

 

Note: there is no clear definition of a “primary participant” in an internal service fund. When the situation 

is not clear, consider whether the fund’s primary purpose is to serve the government or to provide goods 

and services (and charge a fee for doing so). 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government operates an enterprise fund for its lottery operations. The fund is used to account for the ongoing 

operation of the lottery, including the distribution of net lottery proceeds to other state funds, as mandated by existing 

legislation. The lottery fund recognizes revenue and reports distributions to other funds as transfers. The receiving 

funds cannot report revenue, since revenue has already been recognized by the lottery fund. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Helix City’s water and sewer operation is governed by an annual operating budget in which fees are set at a level 

sufficient to fully recover all budgeted costs, as well as the depreciation on related assets. Since the costs of the water 

and sewer operations are recovered with fees, the related accounting should be for an enterprise fund. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Mollusk City manages its own utilities, with separate operations for the provision of electricity and water and sewer 

services. Each of these operations has separately issued bonds that are to be repaid solely from their revenues. It is not 

necessary to create and manage separate enterprise funds for each of these operations, only that an enterprise fund 

must be used to report the activities of the operations. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government issues revenue bonds for a highways fund. The operating revenues of the fund are pledged as 

security for the bonds. However, the effective interest rate investors are willing to pay under this arrangement is 

relatively high, so the legislature elects to reduce the risk of the bonds by backing them with its full faith and credit. 

There is little chance that the government will be required to use its general funds to service the debt. In this situation, 

the highways fund can be structured as an enterprise fund, but there is no requirement to do so, since the bonds are 

not secured solely by the revenues of the highways fund. 
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A few other accounting issues related to proprietary funds are noted in the following bullet points: 

• Capital contributions. A proprietary fund may receive capital contributions. These contributions 

appear on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, after operating revenues 

and expenses. 

• Debt. When debt is issued by a proprietary fund or is issued by the general government for the 

purposes of the proprietary fund, and the debt will be repaid by the fund, the associated long-term 

liability is also recorded within the fund. 

• Deposits. Customers of an enterprise fund may be required to pay a deposit when they first sign up 

for service. These deposits are to be classified as a current liability of the fund. 

• Duplicate transactions. An internal services fund records revenue when it charges other funds for 

its services, while the receiving funds record an expenditure or expense. This means that additional 

revenue and expense (or expenditure) is being recorded internally by a government. When the ac-

countant creates government-wide financial statements, these duplicate transactions must be re-

moved. 

 

Fiduciary Funds 

Fiduciary funds are used to report on assets held in trust for the benefit of organizations or other govern-

ments that are not part of the reporting entity. In this type of fund, the reporting emphasis is on net position 

and changes in net position. When financial statements are prepared for fiduciary funds, they are presented 

using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting (as discussed in the 

next chapter). The required financial statements for a fiduciary fund are as follows: 

• Statement of fiduciary net position 

• Statement of changes in fiduciary net position 

 

The fiduciary funds category includes the following funds: 

• Agency (custodial) funds. Used to report on resources held in a custodial capacity, where funds are 

received, temporarily invested, and remitted to other parties. For example, an agency fund may be 

used when a government collects taxes on behalf of another government. 

• Investment trust funds. Used to report the external portion of an investment pool that is reported by 

the sponsoring government. 

• Pension and employee benefit trust funds. Used to report on assets held in trust for pension plans, 

other postemployment benefit plans, and employee benefit plans. 

• Private-purpose trust funds. Used to report on trust arrangements where individuals, private organ-

izations, and other governments are the beneficiaries. This type of fund should not be used to ac-

count for any grant programs that support a government’s own activities. 

 

The following best practices apply to the administration of funds: 

• There should only be one general fund, which is the main operating fund of the reporting entity. 

• Favor using the general fund over other funds where possible. 

• A smaller entity may not require any internal service funds. 

• Avoid the use of special revenue funds unless there is a legal mandate to do so. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A state government collects escheat property. Escheat involves the transfer of title or property to the government when 

an individual dies with no heirs. Escheat is typically on a revocable basis, so that ownership will revert to any rightful 

heirs that may eventually appear.  If the intent is to hold these amounts for claimants, a private-purpose trust fund is 

used. Or, a governmental or proprietary fund can be used to account for this property, incorporating liabilities for 

those amounts expected to be paid to claimants or other government entities. Yet a third option is to use an agency 

fund, which is appropriate when the amounts are to be held for other governments. 

 

 

Fund Contents 

Each fund must include a set of self-balancing accounts that addresses the needs for which the fund was 

created. The accounts included in a fund should address all of the following: 

• Assets 

• Liabilities 

• Net assets 

• Revenues 

• Expenditures or expenses 

• Transfers 

 

The requirement to have a complete set of accounts in a fund does not mean that the identified assets and 

liabilities must be physically segregated. 

 

Note: It is not necessary to have a separate bank account for each fund, unless required by law or a bond 

indenture. 

 

Interfund Loans 

Loans may be used to transfer funds from one fund to another. When such a loan occurs, the amounts loaned 

to or received from other funds should be stated in the fund accounts as receivables or payables. In cases 

where there are offsetting loans between funds, they are not to be netted for reporting purposes. Instead, 

they should be reported separately as payables and receivables. However, it is acceptable to net offsetting 

loans for reporting purposes when they are current amounts. 

 

Evaluation Periods 

The typical fund is planned for and evaluated on an annual basis, especially if it is funded by an annual 

appropriation. This means that all proprietary and fiduciary funds, as well as most governmental funds, are 

classified as period-oriented funds. However, capital projects funds are typically planned and evaluated 

over the term of the associated projects, which may extend over several years. This means that capital 

projects funds should be structured to report on total resources and expenditures to date, even if the term 

extends through several fiscal years. When dealing with these project-oriented funds, the accountant should 

also report on fund transactions within the current fiscal year and the financial position of the fund at the 

end of the current fiscal year. 
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Special Questions Related to Funds 

In this section, we make note of several special situations related to how financial resources are accounted 

for in various types of funds. They are as follows: 

• Administration costs. The administration costs for a state’s unemployment compensation enterprise 

fund should be included in the general fund, unless there is a legal requirement to do otherwise. 

The reasoning is that unemployment charges are not designed to recover administrative costs. 

• Debt service fund usage. It is not necessary to create a debt service fund whenever there is debt 

service activity, especially when the debt service is only in the current fiscal year. The use of such 

a fund is only necessary when legally mandated, or when funds are being accumulated for principal 

and interest payments occurring in later years. 

• Expenditures for small capital items. When a government wants to expend funds for items that are 

capital in nature but which are too small to be accounted for as capital assets, the expenditures can 

still be made from a capital projects fund. 

• Unused appropriations. A parks district is allowed to store unused appropriations in a separate fund 

at year-end, which must then be used for capital improvement projects. This fund cannot be re-

ported as a special revenue fund, because the funds transferred into it are not committed or restricted 

revenues, and legislation mandates that the funds be used for capital projects. An option is to report 

the fund as a capital projects fund. 

 

Summary 

The number of funds established by a government can vary considerably. Some funds are required by law 

or by contracts (such as bond indentures). Other funds are established if management wants to exert a higher 

level of control over a particular area of a government’s operations, or to separately monitor certain activi-

ties. 

Taken to an extreme, a government could have hundreds of funds. Though this many funds could give 

management a fine-grained level of control, it also reduces the efficiency of the accounting function and 

makes it more difficult to roll up the fund information into a coherent set of financial statements. 

A more efficient approach is to minimize the number of funds. There should always be just one general 

fund, along with perhaps a special revenue fund, a capital projects fund, and a debt service fund – which is 

a total of four funds. The legal environment and management decisions could result in substantially more 

funds, but the basic rule should be to use the minimum number of funds required by law and in accordance 

with the sound administration of funds. 
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Review Questions 

1. A government has a trust arrangement where a private organization is the beneficiary. Which type of 

fiduciary fund should be used to track this arrangement? 

a. Private-purpose trust fund 

b. Investment trust fund 

c. Agency fund 

d. Pension and employee benefit trust fund 

 

 



 
Chapter 3 

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

Learning Objectives 

• Identify the characteristics of the different bases of accounting. 

• Specify how the accounting treatment for revenue varies, based on when it is received. 

• Recognize the accounting for incurred but unmatured liabilities. 

 

Introduction 

Governmental accounting is complicated by the presence of what may be a large number of funds. To make 

matters even more complex, some types of funds use a different basis of accounting and measurement 

focus. To clarify the difference between these concepts, the basis of accounting governs when transactions 

will be recorded, while the measurement focus governs what transactions will be recorded. This chapter 

covers both the basis of accounting and the measurement focus. 

 

Basis of Accounting 

As just noted, the basis of accounting governs when transactions will be recorded. This concept applies to 

the recognition and reporting of revenues, expenditures, expenses, and transfers. For governmental account-

ing purposes, the cash basis, accrual basis, and modified accrual basis may apply. The cash basis and accrual 

basis are discussed in the following sub-sections. The modified accrual basis is addressed in the next sec-

tion. 

 

Cash Basis 

Under the cash basis of accounting, the receipt of cash triggers the recognition of revenue and expenses, 

while the disbursement of cash triggers the recognition of expenditures, expenses, and transfers out. For 

example, a government receives an invoice from a supplier for supplies. The terms of the invoice state that 

the government does not have to pay the invoice for 60 days. Under the cash basis, the government does 

not recognize the expense related to the supplies until payment is made, which is 60 days after the supplies 

were received. 

 

Accrual Basis 

Under the accrual basis of accounting, the occurrence of a business event triggers the recognition of most 

transactions, irrespective of the underlying movement of cash. This basis of accounting is generally better 

than the cash basis, since transactions are recorded immediately, without the time delay associated with 

cash-basis transactions. 

 

Note: When it is not practical to measure an item until the related cash is received or disbursed, either the 

cash or accrual basis of accounting may be used. The same treatment can be applied to immaterial transac-

tions. 

 

The cash basis and accrual basis are the two theoretical extremes of how transactions can be recognized 

and reported. Governments use a variation on the accrual basis of accounting, which is called the modified 

accrual basis. The modified basis has characteristics of both the cash basis and the accrual basis. It is cov-

ered in the next section. 
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Modified Accrual Basis in Governmental Fund Statements 

The accrual basis of accounting is adjusted when dealing with governmental funds. The sum total of these 

adjustments is referred to as the modified accrual basis. The following sub-sections address various aspects 

of the modified accrual basis. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue and governmental fund resources (such as the proceeds from a debt issuance) are recognized when 

they become susceptible to accrual. This means that these items are not only available to finance the ex-

penditures of the period, but are also measurable. The “available” concept means that the revenue and other 

fund resources are collectible within the current period or sufficiently soon thereafter to be available to pay 

for the current period’s liabilities. The “measurable” concept allows a government to not know the exact 

amount of revenue in order to accrue it. For example, an accrued revenue figure could be based on actual 

cash collections subsequent to the fiscal year end, or on historical collection patterns. Another possibility 

would be to accrue the revenue associated with a cost-reimbursement grant based on the amount of costs 

incurred to date. 

Examples of revenues and deferred inflows of resources that typically should be recorded on the mod-

ified accrual basis include: 

• Grants from other governments 

• Interfund transfers and similar transactions 

• Property taxes 

• Regularly billed charges for routinely provided services 

• Sales and income taxes where taxpayer liability is established and collectability is assured or losses 

can be estimated 

Additional points pertaining to the treatment of revenue items under the modified accrual basis are: 

• Interest and dividends. Recognize interest and dividends on the modified accrual basis. Further, 

recognize changes in the fair value of investments as revenue at the end of each annual reporting 

period. 

• Miscellaneous revenue. As a matter of practicality, it may be easier to recognize miscellaneous 

revenue items when cash is received. Examples of these items are inspection charges, parking fees, 

and golf fees. 

• Prior receipt. When revenues in material amounts are received prior to the normal receipt date, 

initially recognize them as liabilities and later recognize them as revenues in the periods to which 

they apply. 

 

Expenditure Recognition 

The key measurement focus in a government fund’s financial statements is on expenditures, which are 

decreases in the net financial resources of a fund. Most expenditures should be reported when a related 

liability is incurred. This means that a governmental fund liability and expenditure is accrued in the period 

in which the fund incurs the liability. This requirement is most commonly applicable for those liabilities 

that are normally paid in full and in a timely manner from current financial resources. Examples of these 

liabilities are employee compensation, professional services, supplies, and utilities. 

Governmental fund liabilities and expenditures related to claims and judgments, compensated absences, 

termination benefits, receipts of goods and services for pollution control, and landfill closure and post-

closure care costs should be recognized to the extent that the liabilities are normally expected to be liqui-

dated with expendable available financial resources. 
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A government may choose to accumulate and earmark net assets for eventual use as payments for in-

curred but unmatured liabilities. If so, this does not constitute an outflow of current financial resources and 

therefore should not result in the recognition of a governmental fund liability or expenditure. 

In most cases, a government should accrue a governmental fund liability and expenditure in the period 

in which the entity incurs the liability. An exception is unmatured long-term indebtedness, which is reported 

as a general long-term liability of the government and not as a liability of a governmental fund. This ex-

ception is dealt with in more detail in the Reporting Liabilities chapter. 

For any type of expenditure to which the modified accrual basis applies, the essential concern is whether 

and to what extent a liability has matured. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Mr. Smithson is an employee of Qanix City. He has accrued sick time for the past 15 years and not used it. The accrued 

amount of this sick time is $3,500. According to Qanix policy, unused sick time is payable to employees when they 

leave the employment of the city. Thus, the liability associated with the sick time does not become due until Mr. 

Smithson leaves the city, nor does the related expenditure. The fiscal year-end of Qanix is on June 30. If Mr. Smithson 

were to leave his position the next day, on July 1, Qanix would not record a liability or expenditure for its June 30 

financial statements. Conversely, if Mr. Smithson were to leave his position one day sooner, on June 30, Qanix would 

have to record the $3,500 liability and expenditure in its June 30 financial statements, since the amount is due within 

the fiscal year. 

 

 

We deal with additional expenditure-related topics in the following sub-sections. 

 

Inventory Items 

An inventory item can be considered an expenditure either when it has been purchased or when it has been 

consumed. When there are significant amounts of inventory, it should be reported on the balance sheet. 

 

Insurance Items 

When an expenditure related to insurance extends over more than one accounting period, it is permissible 

to account for it as an expenditure in the period of acquisition, rather than allocating it among several 

reporting periods. 

 

Encumbrances 

An encumbrance is a commitment related to an unperformed contract to buy goods or services. It is fre-

quently recorded in the accounting records in order to maintain budgetary control. If an encumbrance is 

still outstanding at year-end, it does not constitute a liability or an expenditure. The encumbrance concept 

is addressed in more detail in the following Budget and Budgetary Accounting chapter. 

 

Claims, Judgments, and Compensated Absences 

The amount of claims, judgments, and compensated absences that are recorded as expenditures should be 

the amount accrued during the year that would normally be offset by and liquidated with available financial 

resources. Only the current portion of these liabilities should be reported in a fund. Any remaining portion 

of these liabilities should be reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide state-

ment of net position. 

 

Measurement Focus 

As noted in the introduction to this chapter, measurement focus governs what transactions will be recorded. 

The focus used by governmental funds is the current financial resources measurement focus. In essence, 
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the operating statement of a governmental fund shows changes in the amount of financial resources that 

will be available in the near future because of transactions occurring within the fiscal period being reported. 

This has two effects on the operating statement, which are noted in the following exhibit. 

 

Impact of Change in Spendable Resources 

Change in  

Spendable  

Resources 

 

 

Reported as 

Increase Revenues or other financing sources 

Decrease Expenditures or other financing uses 

 

In short, the focus of governmental funds is on current financial resources, which means assets that can be 

converted into cash and liabilities that will be paid for with that cash. Stated differently, the balance sheets 

of governmental funds do not include long-term assets or any assets that will not be converted into cash in 

order to settle current liabilities. Similarly, these balance sheets will not contain any long-term liabilities, 

since they do not require the use of current financial resources for their settlement. This measurement focus 

is only used in governmental accounting. 

The focus used by proprietary funds is the economic resources measurement focus. This approach fo-

cuses on whether a proprietary fund is economically better off because of transactions occurring within the 

fiscal period being reported; there is no consideration of whether there are current financial resources. This 

has two effects on the operating statement, which are noted in the following exhibit. 

 

Impact of Change in Economic Position 

Impact on 

Economic  

Position 

 

 

Reported as 

Improve Revenues or gains 

Diminish Expenses or losses 

 

The time period addressed by the economic resources measurement focus extends beyond the short-term, 

so a proprietary fund will include long-term assets and liabilities on its balance sheet. This approach is quite 

similar to what is used by commercial organizations. 

As a general statement of principle, government-wide financial statements are to be prepared using the 

economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Fund financial statements are 

to be prepared using the modified accrual or accrual basis of accounting when measuring financial position 

and operating results. More specifically: 

• Governmental funds. Prepare financial statements using the current financial resources measure-

ment focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Recognize revenues when they become 

available and measurable. Recognize expenditures when the fund liability is incurred if it is meas-

urable, except for unmatured interest on general long-term liabilities (which is recognized when 

due). 

• Proprietary funds. Prepare the statements of net position and revenues, expenses, and changes in 

fund net position using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of ac-

counting. 

• Fiduciary funds. Prepare financial statements using the economic resources measurement focus 

and the accrual basis of accounting. 

• Transfers. Report transfers between funds in the accounting period in which the interfund receiva-

ble and payable arise. 
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In the following exhibit, we note the accounting basis and measurement focus to be used by each type of 

fund. 

 

Accounting Basis and Measurement Focus by Fund 

Fund Type Accounting Basis Measurement Focus 

Governmental Modified accrual Current financial resources 

Capital projects fund Modified accrual Current financial resources 

Debt service fund Modified accrual Current financial resources 

General fund Modified accrual Current financial resources 

Permanent fund Modified accrual Current financial resources 

Special revenue fund Modified accrual Current financial resources 

Proprietary Accrual Economic resources 

Enterprise funds Accrual Economic resources 

Internal service funds Accrual Economic resources 

Fiduciary Accrual Economic resources 

Investment trust fund Accrual Economic resources 

Pension and employee benefit trust fund Accrual Economic resources 

Private-purpose trust fund Accrual Economic resources 

 

Accrual Basis Reporting in Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The general guidance for the preparation of government-wide financial statements is that the statement of 

net position and the statement of activities should be prepared using the economic resources measurement 

focus and the accrual basis of accounting. This means that one should recognize revenues, expenses, gains, 

losses, assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources resulting from 

exchange and exchange-like transactions when the exchange takes place. Such a transaction is considered 

to have taken place when an exchange has been completed in the ordinary course of operations, unless the 

circumstances indicate that collection of the price cannot be reasonably assured. Thus, revenues from ex-

change transactions should usually be accounted for as of the completion of a transaction; it may be neces-

sary to create a provision for uncollectible accounts at that time. 

 

Note: A deferred inflow of resources occurs when there is an acquisition of net assets that applies to a 

future reporting period. A deferred outflow of resources occurs when there is consumption of net assets that 

applies to a future reporting period. A resource is an item that can be drawn down to provide services to 

citizens. 

 

A useful distinction to be aware of is that long-term assets and liabilities are recorded in the government-

wide financial statements, but they are not recorded in the general fund or any of the special-revenue funds. 

 

Accrual Basis in Proprietary Fund Statements 

When accounting for a proprietary fund, the general guidance is to prepare the statements of net position 

and revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position using the economic resources measurement focus 

and the accrual basis of accounting. 

When accounting for an exchange transaction, the related revenue should be recognized when the ex-

change occurs, unless collection of the price cannot be reasonably assured. If a provision for uncollectible 
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accounts can be included, revenues from exchange transactions can generally be accounted for when they 

are completed. 

 

Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists 

There may be situations applicable to business-type activities and proprietary funds where a product may 

be returned, either for a refund, an exchange, or a credit toward other purchases. When there is a right of 

return, revenue can be recognized at the time of sale, but only if all of the following conditions have been 

met: 

• The price is fixed or readily determinable at the date of exchange. 

• The government has been paid by the buyer, or the buyer is obligated to do so; payment is not 

contingent on the buyer’s subsequent resale of the product. 

• The buyer’s payment obligation to the government would not be changed if the product were to be 

damaged, destroyed, or stolen. 

• The buyer has economic substance separate from what has been provided by the government. 

• The government does not have a significant obligation to assist the buyer in reselling the product. 

• The amount of product returns can be reasonably estimated. 

 

When the preceding conditions can be met and revenue is recognized, it is also necessary to accrue for the 

cost of any estimated returns. 

When the accountant elects to not recognize revenue because of the failure to meet one or more of the 

preceding conditions, recognition can occur later when the return privilege has expired or if the conditions 

are subsequently met. 

 

Disclosures 

The following disclosures related to the basis of accounting may need to be included in the notes accompa-

nying the financial statements: 

• Available criterion. Disclose the period of time used to define the term “available” for purposes of 

recognizing revenue in the governmental fund financial statements. This disclosure should be con-

tained within the summary of significant accounting policies. 

• Revenue recognition. Disclose the government’s revenue recognition policies in the summary of 

significant accounting policies. 

 

Summary 

The modified accrual basis of accounting contains several significant departures from the accrual basis of 

accounting that are tailored to the governmental accounting environment. These differences can have a 

particular impact on the timing and amount of many types of revenue that are specific to government enti-

ties, such as grants, interfund transfers and property taxes. The modified accrual basis also departs from the 

accrual basis in the area of expenditure recognition, where the focus is on decreases in the net financial 

resources of a fund and on differing treatments of matured and unmatured liabilities. 

The inclusion of the current financial resources measurement focus and the economic measurement 

resources focus into the accounting for funds certainly makes it more difficult to ascertain how accounting 

transactions are to be recorded. To improve the reader’s comprehension, we have included a number of 

sample transactions in the Common Accounting Transactions chapter, noting how the entries differ, de-

pending on which measurement focus is being used. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following fund uses the modified accrual basis of accounting: 

a. Internal service fund 

b. Permanent fund 

c. Private-purpose trust fund 

d. Investment trust fund 

 

2. When there is a right of return, revenue can still be recognized at the time of sale if the following 

conditions have been met, except for: 

a. The amount of product returns can be reasonably estimated 

b. The government does not have to assist the buyer in reselling the product 

c. The price is readily determinable 

d. Payment is contingent on the buyer’s subsequent resale of the product 

 

 



 
Chapter 4 

Reporting Capital Assets 

Learning Objectives 

• Recognize the different types of infrastructure assets. 

• Identify the types of costs that can be included in the cost of a capital asset. 

• Specify when interest costs should and should not be capitalized. 

• Describe the stages of completion associated with the recognition of computer software. 

• Recognize the various indicators of asset impairment. 

 

Introduction 

Capital assets are higher-cost tangible and intangible assets that are used in operations and which are ex-

pected to have useful lives longer than one reporting period. Special accounting rules apply to these assets, 

which are covered in this chapter. Examples of capital assets are noted in the following table. 

 

Capital Asset Examples 

Buildings Land 

Building improvements Land improvements 

Easements Machinery 

Equipment Vehicles 

Infrastructure Works of art and historical treasures 

 

The land improvement asset in the preceding table may be subject to some interpretation. This asset is 

supposed to include betterments that ready land for its intended use. Examples of land improvements are 

excavation, fill, grading, and the installation of utilities. Land improvements can also involve the removal 

of existing buildings and landscaping. 

A further classification of capital assets is infrastructure assets, which are stationary assets that typically 

have substantially longer useful lives than most types of capital assets. Examples of infrastructure assets 

are noted in the following table. 

 

Infrastructure Asset Examples 

Bridges Drainage systems Tunnels 

Dams Lighting systems Water and sewer systems 

 Roads  

 

Valuation of Capital Assets 

Capital assets are to be reported at their historical cost. This historical cost includes any charges incurred 

to position an asset in its intended location and condition for use. Examples of these costs are: 

• Freight charges 

• Professional fees 

• Site preparation costs 
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Donated assets are to be reported at their acquisition value, plus any charges incurred to position these 

assets at their intended location and condition for use. Acquisition value is the price that an entity would 

have paid to acquire an asset having similar service potential in an orderly market transaction at the acqui-

sition date. Acquisition value can be calculated from price quotes in periodicals, manufacturers’ catalogs, 

recent sales of comparable items, and so forth. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A museum received a sculpture as a donation five years ago. The accounting staff mistakenly never recognized the 

asset at that time. This issue has now been discovered. In the five years since the sculpture was donated, its value has 

increased from $80,000 to $120,000. The asset should be recognized at its original $80,000 valuation, since donations 

should be valued as of their acquisition date. 

 

 

Note: A transfer price of $1, or some similarly inconsequential amount, is not considered the true acquisi-

tion value of a capital asset, so a market-based acquisition value must be derived instead. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Qanix City mandates that the developer of a new industrial park build the water, sewage, and utility infrastructure for 

the park and then donate it to the city once the park has been completed. Qanix can then report the donated asset at 

the cost incurred by the developer, or by asking the city’s department of public works to derive an estimate of cost. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The same developer constructs a street next to the industrial park and donates it to the city. The acquisition value of 

the street to the city includes both the infrastructure asset and a right-of-way easement on the land on which the road 

was constructed. The value of the easement is essentially equivalent to the ownership of the underlying land, since the 

grantor of the easement retains no right of use. Consequently, the estimated purchase price of the land could be used 

as a basis for determining the acquisition value of the easement. 

 

 

Note: The arbitrary assignment of a nominal value to a right-of-way easement is considered inappropriate. 

 

Capitalization Thresholds 

A government can set a capitalization threshold, below which expenditures are charged to expense and 

above which capital assets are recorded. There is no requirement for a capitalization threshold, but a gov-

ernment typically sets one in order to keep the accounting staff from being overly burdened with tracking 

capital assets that have very low values. 

When setting a capitalization threshold, consider whether a single threshold should be set for all capital 

assets, or whether a different threshold should be used for different types of assets. Issues that may impact 

this decision include any applicable laws and regulations, or management’s interest in tracking certain kinds 

of assets in more detail. For example, a city manager might want to have detailed records kept on laptops 

being used by city employees, and so sets a lower capitalization threshold for computer equipment than for 

other classes of assets. 

 

Networks and Subsystems 

Capital assets may be aggregated for various purposes within networks and subsystems, so it is useful to 

understand the meanings of these terms. A network is the sum total of all assets that, as a group, provide a 

particular service for a government. For example, an electricity generation and distribution system can be 



Reporting Capital Assets 

25 

considered a network. A subsystem is the sum total of all assets that, as a group, make up a portion of a 

network. Thus, a dam, power station, and electricity lines could be considered subsystems of an electricity 

generation and distribution network. 

For recordkeeping purposes, a network or subsystem can consist of dissimilar items. For example, a set 

of roads could be designated as a network, which is comprised of such varied assets as pavement, signage, 

and traffic metering systems. 

 

Capitalization of Interest Costs 

The related cost of interest can be capitalized into the acquisition cost of some assets related to business-

type activities and enterprise funds. This interest cost is for the amount of interest incurred during the period 

required to bring an asset to its intended location and condition for use. Interest can only be capitalized for 

certain types of assets, which are: 

• Assets constructed for the government’s own use 

• Assets designated for sale or lease that have been produced as discrete projects 

• Investments accounted for using the equity method, while the investee is conducting activities to 

begin its planned principal operations, provided that those activities include resources used to ac-

quire qualifying assets for its operations 

• Assets that are donated or granted to other organizations 

 

Further, interest costs should not be capitalized for the following assets: 

• Inventories 

• Assets already in use or ready for their intended use 

• Assets not being prepared for their intended use 

• Assets not included in the financial statements 

• Investments accounted for using the equity method, after the principal operations of the investee 

have begun 

• Investments made in regulated investees that are capitalizing the cost of their debt and equity capital 

• Assets that have been acquired with gifts and grants, where the donor or grantor restricts asset 

purchases to the extent that resources are available to do so 

• Land that is not being prepared for its intended use 

 

Interest capitalization is subject to the following additional rule, which is that when financial statements are 

prepared using the economic resources measurement focus, any interest cost incurred before the end of a 

construction period should be charged to expense as incurred, rather than being capitalized. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Sunflower City is building a parking structure next to its municipal stadium. The underlying land required significant 

grading and other preparatory work for several months prior to the start of construction on the parking structure. The 

interest outlay on the land preparation is capitalized into the acquisition cost of the parking structure. 

 

 

Capitalization Rate 

The amount of interest cost that can be capitalized for a qualifying asset is that amount of interest incurred 

during the asset acquisition period that could have been avoided if the asset had not been acquired or built. 

The amount of this capitalized interest is calculated by applying an interest rate (also known as the capital-

ization rate) to the average amount of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the reporting period. 

The capitalization rate is derived from the rates associated with those government borrowings outstanding 
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during the period. If there is a plan to borrow funds specifically for the acquisition of an asset, then use the 

interest rate on that borrowing transaction as the capitalization rate, up to the maximum amount of the 

borrowing. If the average outlay in the period exceeds the borrowing specifically targeted at the asset, the 

capitalization rate to be applied to the rest of the outlay is the weighted average of the interest rates associ-

ated with the government’s other borrowings. 

 

Note: The total interest cost capitalized in a reporting period cannot exceed the total amount of interest cost 

incurred in the period. 

 

Capitalization Period 

It is permissible to capitalize the cost of interest when all three of the following conditions have been met 

and are continuing: 

• Outlays have been made for the asset 

• Activities needed to prepare the asset for its intended use are in progress 

• Interest costs are being incurred 

 

There can be quite a range of permissible activities needed to prepare an asset for its intended use. For 

example, there may be administrative activities to secure permits, design building plans prior to construc-

tion, and deal with litigation. However, if there is a general suspension of activities, interest capitalization 

stops until activities resume. 

 

Note: Brief interruptions in activities will not halt interest capitalization, nor will interruptions that are 

externally imposed or which are an inherent part of the asset acquisition process. 

 

The capitalization period has ended when the asset is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. 

When an asset can be completed in segments, where each segment can be used independently of the other 

segments, interest capitalization should cease for each completed segment. In other cases where all seg-

ments must be completed before an asset is ready for use, interest capitalization should continue until the 

entire asset has been completed. 

 

Impact of Tax-Exempt Borrowings 

When a tax-exempt borrowing is used to finance the acquisition of an asset, the amount of interest cost 

capitalized should be net of any interest earned on the funds obtained from the borrowing transaction. 

 

When to Capitalize Expenditures 

There are a number of situations that a government may encounter in which it is not clear whether an outlay 

should be charged to expense as incurred, or whether it should be capitalized. In the following bullet points, 

we note the correct treatment of several common scenarios: 

• Road maintenance. A government is incurring costs to resurface a road. This cost is normally cap-

italized, since it extends the road’s original useful life. However, if the government is only filling 

potholes, doing so is considered maintenance that does not extend the useful life of the road, so this 

cost should be charged to expense. In another scenario, an existing road is being widened; since the 

road’s capacity is being expanded, this cost can be capitalized. When an existing road has been 

entirely replaced, its original cost and accumulated depreciation should be removed from the ac-

counting records. 

• Land and easements. Land and easements should be classified as land and right-of-way easements, 

respectively. They should never be classified as part of an infrastructure asset. 
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• Parks. Parks as a whole are not classified as infrastructure. Instead, a park is likely comprised of 

land (which is not depreciable), buildings and stadiums (which are depreciable) and networks of 

roads and related facilities that may be classified as infrastructure assets and which can be ac-

counted for using the modified approach (as described later in this chapter). 

 

Depreciation of Capital Assets 

Capital assets are to be depreciated over their useful lives. The only exceptions to this rule are as follows: 

• The assets are inexhaustible 

• The assets are intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

• The assets are infrastructure assets using the modified approach (as noted later in this chapter) 

 

An inexhaustible asset has an economic benefit that is used up at so slow a rate that its estimated useful life 

is considered to be extraordinarily long. Land and land improvements are classified as inexhaustible assets. 

However, improvements that are considered part of a structure or which deteriorate over time (such as 

fencing) can be depreciated. 

 

Depreciation Methods 

The periodic depreciation expense is measured by using a systematic and rational method to allocate the 

net cost of an asset over its estimated useful life, not including its estimated salvage value. Any established 

depreciation method may be used. We describe several in the following sub-sections. Depreciation may be 

calculated for any of the following: 

• A class of assets 

• A network of assets 

• A subsystem of a network 

• Individual assets 

 

Useful Life 

Any depreciation calculation employs the useful life concept, which is the estimated lifespan of a capital 

asset. The useful life of an asset may be determined based on internal information, from general guidelines 

obtained from industry or professional organizations, or from comparable assets held by other governments. 

The determination of an asset’s useful life also involves consideration of its current condition, how it will 

be used, and the period over which it is expected to meet service demands. 

The useful life of an asset can be reviewed and adjusted later in its life. If there is a change in useful 

life, it is applied prospectively to all remaining depreciation that has not yet been charged against the asset. 

If there are a number of factors that could impact the useful life of an asset, it may be useful to conduct a 

periodic reassessment. For example, if a government does not have sufficient funds to provide periodic 

maintenance to its truck fleet, the trucks may have a shorter useful life than would normally be the case. 

Or, if a government has a right to extend existing water rights for five extra years for no additional cost, the 

useful life of the water rights can be extended by the five year period. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A city government purchases broadcast rights for a public service station from the federal government for $80,000. 

The rights cover a 10-year period, so the useful life of the broadcast rights asset is assumed to be 10 years. If the city 

could renew the rights for 10 more years for a nominal fee, the useful life could be extended to 20 years. However, if 

the city must pay an additional $80,000 to renew the broadcast rights, then this constitutes a new asset purchase, so 

the useful life of the original asset is assumed to encompass only 10 years. 
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Additional information about useful life for intangible assets is provided later in the Intangible Assets sec-

tion. 

 

Composite Depreciation 

A composite method is being used when depreciating a group of similar assets, or dissimilar assets of the 

same class. For example, a library could use the composite method to depreciate its books. Under this 

approach, a depreciation rate is computed for the composite group, after which this rate is multiplied by the 

cost of the entire asset group to arrive at depreciation expense. The relevant depreciation rate can be calcu-

lated based on a weighted or unweighted average of the estimated useful lives of the assets in the composite 

group. Another possibility is to derive a depreciation rate based on an assessment of the remaining useful 

lives of the assets in the group. However it was derived, the depreciation rate is then multiplied by the cost 

of the assets in the group to arrive at the depreciation expense related to the assets. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government elects to use composite depreciation for a group of similar assets when it decides to use the same 

depreciation rate for all interstate highways within the state. The state contains three interstate highways. An account-

ant working in the comptroller’s office then derives an unweighted average of the useful lives of these three interstates, 

which are 12 years, 17 years, and 22 years. This results in the following depreciation rate: 

 

1   

---------------------- = .05882 depreciation per year 

(12 + 17 + 22) ÷ 3   

 

The aggregate historical cost of the three interstate highways is $180 million. In the current year, the related depreci-

ation expense is $10,587,600, which is calculated as $180,000,000 × .05882. 

 

 

The initially-derived composite depreciation rate should be maintained over the life of a group of assets. 

However, the rate can be altered if there is a significant change in the composition of the assets in a group. 

 

Note: Composite depreciation should not be applied across different classes of assets. 

 

When a government uses composite depreciation for a group of assets and then retires an asset from the 

group, no gain or loss is recorded. Instead, the asset cost is removed from the capital assets account and 

charged to the accumulated depreciation account. A sample of the entry that could be used for the removal 

of several miles of arterial roads is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Accumulated depreciation 8,500,000  

Infrastructure – arterial roads  8,500,000 

 

A government might then add an asset to the group of assets. If so, its calculation of depreciation is to 

subtract the book value of the removed assets, add the book value of the new assets, and multiply the result 

by the existing annual depreciation rate. 

 



Reporting Capital Assets 

29 

EXAMPLE 

 

A government begins with a group of road assets having a book value of $10,000,000. It then removes $500,000 of 

road assets and adds $750,000 of road assets. Its original depreciation rate was 5% per year. Based on this information, 

the calculation of the entity’s composite depreciation is: 

 

Beginning balance of asset group $10,000,000 

- Retirements -500,000 

+ Additions +750,000 

= Ending balance of asset group $10,250,000 

× Depreciation rate × 5% 

= Depreciation expense $512,500 

 

 

Straight-Line Depreciation 

Under the straight-line method of depreciation, depreciation expense is recognized evenly over the esti-

mated useful life of an asset. The straight-line calculation steps are: 

1. Subtract the estimated salvage value of the asset from the amount at which it is recorded on the 

books. 

2. Determine the estimated useful life of the asset. It is easiest to use a standard useful life for each 

class of assets. 

3. Divide the estimated useful life (in years) into 1 to arrive at the straight-line depreciation rate. 

4. Multiply the depreciation rate by the asset cost (less salvage value). 
 

EXAMPLE 
 

The government of Montana City purchases a snowplow for $60,000. It has an estimated salvage value of $10,000 

and a useful life of five years. The City calculates the annual straight-line depreciation for the vehicle as: 

1. Purchase cost of $60,000 – Estimated salvage value of $10,000 = Depreciable asset cost of $50,000 

2. 1 ÷ 5-Year useful life = 20% Depreciation rate per year 

3. 20% Depreciation rate × $50,000 Depreciable asset cost = $10,000 Annual depreciation 

 

 

Sum-of-the-Years’ Digits Method 

The sum of the years’ digits (SYD) method is more appropriate than straight-line depreciation if the asset 

depreciates more quickly or has greater production capacity in earlier years than it does as it ages. Use the 

following formula to calculate it: 

 

Depreciation percentage = 

Number of estimated years of life 

as of beginning of the year 

Sum of the years’ digits 
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The following exhibit contains examples of the sum of the years’ digits noted in the denominator of the 

preceding formula. 

 

Example Sum of the Years’ Digits Calculations 

Total 

Depreciation 

Period 

Initial 

Sum of the 

Years’ Digits 

 

 

Calculation 

2 years 3 1 + 2 

3 years 6 1 + 2 + 3 

4 years 10 1 + 2 + 3 + 4 

5 years 15 1 + 2 + 3 + 4 + 5 

 

The concept is most easily illustrated with the following example. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Montana City buys a computer system for $100,000. The system has no estimated salvage value and a useful life of 

five years. The City calculates the annual sum of the years’ digits depreciation for this machine as: 

 

 

 

Year 

Number of estimated 

years of life as of 

beginning of the year 

 

SYD 

Calculation 

 

Depreciation 

Percentage 

 

Annual 

Depreciation 

1 5 5/15 33.33% $33,333 

2 4 4/15 26.67% 26,667 

3 3 3/15 20.00% 20,000 

4 2 2/15 13.33% 13,333 

5 1 1/15 6.67% 6,667 

Totals 15  100.00% $100,000 

 

 

The sum of the years’ digits method is clearly more complex than the straight-line method, which tends to 

limit its use unless software is employed to automatically track the calculations for each asset. 

 

Double Declining Balance Method 

The double declining balance (DDB) method is a form of accelerated depreciation. It may be more appro-

priate than the straight-line method if an asset experiences an inordinately high level of usage during the 

first few years of its useful life. 

To calculate the double-declining balance depreciation rate, divide the number of years of useful life 

of an asset into 100 percent and multiply the result by two. The formula is: 

 
(100% ÷ Years of useful life) × 2 

 

The DDB calculation proceeds until the asset’s salvage value is reached, after which depreciation ends. 

 



Reporting Capital Assets 

31 

EXAMPLE 

 

Montana City purchases an additional snowplow for $50,000. It has an estimated salvage value of $5,000 and a useful 

life of five years. The calculation of the double declining balance depreciation rate is: 

 

(100% ÷ Years of useful life) × 2 = 40% 

 

By applying the 40% rate, the City arrives at the following table of depreciation charges per year: 

 

 

Year 

Book Value at 

Beginning of Year 

Depreciation 

Percentage 

DDB 

Depreciation 

Book Value 

Net of Depreciation 

1 $50,000 40% $20,000 $30,000 

2 30,000 40% 12,000 18,000 

3 18,000 40% 7,200 10,800 

4 10,800 40% 4,320 6,480 

5 6,480 40% 1,480 5,000 

Total   $45,000  

 

Note that the depreciation in the fifth and final year is only for $1,480, rather than the $3,240 that would be indicated 

by the 40% depreciation rate. The reason for the smaller depreciation charge is that the City stops any further depre-

ciation once the remaining book value declines to the amount of the estimated salvage value. 

 

 

Units of Production Method 

Under the units of production method, the amount of depreciation charged to expense varies in direct pro-

portion to the amount of asset usage. Thus, more depreciation is charged in periods when there is more 

asset usage, and less depreciation in periods when there is less asset usage. It is the most accurate method 

for charging depreciation, since it links closely to the wear and tear on assets. However, it also requires the 

tracking of asset usage, which means that its use is generally limited to more expensive assets. Also, total 

usage must be estimated over the life of the asset. 
 

Tip: Do not use the units of production method unless there is a significant difference in asset usage from 

period to period. Otherwise, a great deal of time will be spent tracking asset usage, with a resulting depre-

ciation expense that varies little from the results that would have been calculated with the straight-line 

method (which is far easier to calculate). 

 

Follow these steps to calculate depreciation under the units of production method: 

1. Estimate the total number of hours of usage of the asset, or the total number of units to be produced 

by it over its useful life. 

2. Subtract any estimated salvage value from the capitalized cost of the asset, and divide the total 

estimated usage or production from this net depreciable cost. This yields the depreciation cost per 

hour of usage or unit of production. 

3. Multiply the number of hours of usage or units of actual production by the depreciation cost per 

hour or unit, which results in the total depreciation expense for the accounting period. 
 

If the estimated number of hours of usage or units of production changes over time, incorporate these 

changes into the calculation of the depreciation cost per hour or unit of production. This will alter the 

depreciation expense on a go-forward basis. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

Montana City’s gravel pit operation builds a conveyor system to extract sand from a sand pit at a cost of $400,000. 

The sand is then spread on local roads. The City expects to use the conveyor to extract 1,000,000 tons of sand, which 

results in a depreciation rate of $0.40 per ton (1,000,000 tons ÷ $400,000 cost). During the first quarter of activity, the 

City extracts 10,000 tons of sand, which results in the following depreciation expense: 

 

= $0.40 depreciation cost per ton × 10,000 tons of sand 

 

= $4,000 depreciation expense 

 

 

Modified Approach 

The modified approach allows a government to avoid incurring depreciation charges. Under this approach, 

it is not necessary to depreciate infrastructure assets that are part of a network, as long as both of the fol-

lowing requirements are met: 

• The government manages the assets with an asset management system; and 

• The government documents that the assets are being preserved at a level of condition that it has 

established and disclosed. 

 

To meet the first requirement, the asset management system should do the following: 

• Contain a current inventory of eligible assets. 

• Perform condition assessments of the assets and summarize the results of these assessments using 

a measurement scale. 

• Estimate the annual amount required to maintain and preserve the eligible assets at the level of 

condition established and disclosed by the government. 

 

The documentation requirement for the modified approach includes the following: 

• Condition assessments are performed at least once every three years. Condition assessments can be 

conducted based on a statistical sampling plan, where every asset has an equal chance of being 

selected for testing during a three-year period. 

• The results of the three most recent condition assessments provide reasonable assurance that assets 

are being preserved at or above the condition level established and documented by the government. 

 

Earlier, we referred to a network of assets. An example of a network is a highway that has a series of rest 

area facilities built alongside it, as well as road maintenance sheds. 

 

Note: It may be more efficient to conduct condition assessments on a cyclical basis, so that one third of all 

eligible infrastructure assets are reviewed each year. 

 

When eligible assets meet the preceding requirements and therefore are not depreciated, all subsequent 

expenditures made for these assets must be charged to expense as incurred. This charge to expense is not a 

requirement for asset additions and improvements, which are instead capitalized. An expenditure is consid-

ered to have added to or improved an infrastructure asset when it has increased the capacity or efficiency 

of the asset. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A county government is engaged in a major reconstruction of a county road. The government has used the modified 

approach to account for this asset. The reconstruction effort includes both the preservation of the existing road and 

widening it to accommodate more vehicular traffic. That portion of the costs devoted to preservation should be charged 

to expense, while the cost incurred to widen the road should be capitalized. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The county is also engaged in a major rehabilitation project for a bridge, which is accounted for using the modified 

approach. The county’s standard practice is to construct a comparable new bridge next to the old bridge and then tear 

down the old bridge. Since this is a preservation activity, the cost incurred to build the replacement bridge and tear 

down the old bridge is charged to expense as incurred. If the new bridge had instead had a larger service capacity, that 

portion of the cost incurred to increase the capacity level could have been capitalized. 

 

 

In those cases where the preceding requirements can no longer be met for an asset, the asset should be 

depreciated in subsequent periods. At that time, an appropriate useful life and salvage estimate is made for 

the asset, and depreciation is calculated from this information. 

 

Note: A change from depreciation to the modified approach is considered a change in accounting estimate. 

 

It is allowable for one agency or department of a government to account for infrastructure assets using the 

modified approach, while another agency or department does not. However, when agencies or departments 

are reporting on different segments of the same network, a consistent approach should be applied by all of 

these entities. 

 

Intangible Assets 

An intangible asset lacks physical substance, is a nonfinancial asset, and has a useful life extending over 

more than one reporting period. An example of an intangible asset is commercially available computer 

software that has been purchased or licensed by a government. Intangible assets are treated like other capital 

assets, except that the related depreciation is renamed amortization. The following additional points regard-

ing intangible assets may apply: 

• Recognition in the financial statements. Recognize the asset in the statement of net position only if 

it is identifiable. This is the case when the asset can be separated from the government and sold or 

transferred, or the asset arises from legal rights, even if those rights are not separable from the 

government or transferable. 

• Recognition of internally developed assets. When an intangible asset has been internally generated, 

outlays related to the development of that asset can only be capitalized when all of the following 

apply: 

o An objective has been stated for the project, as well as the nature of the service capacity 

expected when the project has been completed; 

o The feasibility of the project has been demonstrated; and 

o The government can demonstrate that it has the intention, ability, and presence of effort to 

complete the project. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A government agency wants to allocate funds toward the development of a patent that can spot underground heat 

related to burning coal seams, using drones equipped with highly sensitive thermal emission scanners. The preceding 

sentence is a clearly-stated objective for the project. 

 

To continue with the example, the nature of the service capacity is to improve the allocation of firefighting teams to 

areas where a forest fire is most likely to be triggered by a burning coal seam. 

 

The agency has made a budgetary commitment to fund the project and entered into contracts with several producers 

of thermal imaging devices to construct a demonstration unit. The agency has also assigned a manager and support 

team to the project, and contacted its legal department in regard to securing patent protection for the scanning system. 

 

 

• Recognition of new computer software. When a government internally develops computer software 

or uses a third-party contractor to do so, it can capitalize the costs of the software based on the 

following stages of project completion: 

o Preliminary project stage. This stage includes conducting a user needs analysis, determin-

ing system requirements, evaluating alternatives and the existence of required technolo-

gies, supplier selection, and consultant selection. Outlays for this stage should be charged 

to expense as incurred. 

o Application development stage. This stage includes software coding, installation and test-

ing. Outlays for this stage should be capitalized. The training of employees involved with 

developing internally generated software is not considered part of the application develop-

ment stage. 

o Post-implementation/operation stage. This stage includes application training and software 

maintenance. Data conversion is part of this stage, but can be classified as part of the ap-

plication development stage if doing so is necessary for making the software operational. 

Outlays for this stage should be charged to expense as incurred. 

o Recognition of software updates. Outlays for the modification of computer software that is 

already operating can be capitalized if the result is an increase in software functionality, an 

increase in software efficiency, or an extension of the useful life of the software. If none of 

these improvements occur, the outlays are instead charged to expense. 

 

Note: A government’s website is considered computer software, and so can be capitalized as an intangible 

asset. 

 

• Useful life. The useful life of an intangible asset should not exceed any legal or contractual limita-

tions. The renewal period of an intangible asset should be considered when determining its useful 

life, since the useful life can encompass several renewal periods. An intangible asset can have an 

indefinite useful life when there are no legal, regulatory, technological, or other factors that might 

otherwise limit its useful life. An example of an asset having an indefinite life is a permanent right-

of-way easement. When an intangible asset is deemed to have an indefinite life, it is not amortized. 

If an asset with an indefinite life is later reclassified as having a definite lifespan, it should be 

amortized from the reclassification date. 

 

Note: Interest can be capitalized on the development of internally generated intangible assets by business-

type activities and enterprise funds. 

 

• Business process reengineering. A common occurrence is for business process reengineering to 

occur as part of a software development project, since processes can be altered to fit changes in the 
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new software. Even though these activities may be closely intertwined, the accounting for reengi-

neering work is to charge these costs to expense as incurred. The reason for the differing treatment 

is that process reengineering involves the redeployment of existing resources, rather than the crea-

tion of a new resource. 

• Interface costs. A government may incur costs to modify existing software so that it can interface 

with a new computer system. If this outlay increases the functionality or efficiency of the existing 

software or extends its estimated useful life, then this cost can be capitalized. If not, the costs are 

assumed to have been incurred for standard maintenance activities, and are charged to expense as 

incurred. 

• Legal defense outlays. A government may need to expend funds for assistance to defend its legal 

rights pertaining to an intangible asset. A legal defense of rights does not extend the useful life of 

the asset, nor does it add any capacity. Therefore, this cost is charged to expense as incurred. How-

ever, a different type of legal cost can be capitalized – when outlays are incurred to initially register 

an intangible asset, as would be the case with a patent filing. 

• Maintenance contract. Governments routinely enter into annual software maintenance agreements 

with suppliers, where they pay a fee in exchange for maintenance services and upgrades. Theoret-

ically, the portion of these agreements associated with software upgrades that increase the func-

tionality or efficiency of the software can be capitalized. However, it is generally easier to establish 

a policy under which maintenance fees are charged to expense as incurred. 

 

Works of Art and Historical Treasures 

Works of art and historical treasures are commonly housed by museums, libraries, art galleries, zoos, and 

similar institutions. These assets are to be capitalized at their historical cost or acquisition value. A govern-

ment is encouraged, but not required, to capitalize a collection when all of the following conditions have 

been met: 

• The collection is not held for financial gain, but rather for public exhibition, education, or research 

for public service; and 

• The collection is protected, cared for and preserved, and kept unencumbered; and 

• There is a policy covering the collection, stating that the proceeds from the sales of collection items 

be used to acquire other items for collections. 

 

A capitalized collection may contain exhaustible individual items, where their useful lives are reduced by 

their display or other applications. If so, the collection should be depreciated over its estimated useful life. 

When a collection or individual item is deemed to be inexhaustible, depreciation is not required. 

 

Asset Transfers 

When a capital asset is transferred within the same reporting entity, the receiving fund should continue to 

report the asset’s original cost and the related amount of accumulated depreciation. Thus, the accumulated 

depreciation for a capital asset follows the asset, no matter where it goes within a government entity. 

When a capital asset is shifted to an entirely different entity, the asset is removed from the accounting 

records of the entity that is losing the asset and added to the records of the entity that is gaining the asset. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The town of North Aldan is shifting the ownership of a border road to the town of South Aldan. North Aldan’s ac-

countant should write off the road’s book value in the period of the transfer, recording a functional expense in the 

amount of the road’s book value. 
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Impairment of Capital Assets 

Capital assets should be evaluated for impairment when there are events or changes in circumstances indi-

cating that the service utility of an asset may have significantly and unexpectedly declined. These events or 

changes were not expected to occur when the asset was initially acquired. The service utility of an asset is 

the usable capacity that it was expected to provide when it was acquired. The current usable capacity of an 

asset may be less than its original usable capacity due to a variety of impairment events, which include 

physical damage or obsolescence, as well as the enactment of laws that limit its use. The impairment con-

cept also applies to capital assets being accounted for using the modified approach. 

The process for determining whether a capital asset is impaired follows these steps: 

1. Identify potential impairments. A potential impairment should be conspicuous or known to the 

government, so there is no need to perform additional steps to identify additional potential 

impairment events. When an impairment is considered to be temporary, the asset should not be 

written down. Some of the more common indicators of impairment are: 

o Physical damage to the asset 

o Enactment of laws that impact asset usage 

o Evidence of obsolescence 

o A change in the manner of use of an asset 

o Construction stoppage 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Due to a funding shortfall, Helix City has stopped using an elementary school, which is a change in the manner of use 

of the school building asset. This can be considered impairment of the asset. Helix has also stopped the development 

of software for resource management, which can be considered a construction stoppage, and is therefore also an asset 

impairment. Further, a new law mandates upgrades to Helix’s backup water treatment facility, for which it has no 

available funding. This last item can be considered asset impairment due to the enactment of a law. 

 

Helix’s middle school has also been shut down due to declining enrollment, but there is no need to take an impairment 

charge, since a projected increase in future enrollments indicates that the asset impairment will be temporary. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government runs a data processing center that is currently operating near its maximum capacity. A user at a 

local university is about to conclude a special project for weather modeling that will cut the usage rate of the data 

processing center in half. This decline in demand should not be considered evidence of asset obsolescence, since the 

user was a one-time project. 

 

 

2. Test for impairment. If the first step indicates that there are one or more potential impairment 

conditions present, the accountant should proceed with a test for impairment, where both of the 

following factors must be present: 

o There is a significant decline in service utility, where expenses are now too high in 

relation to the benefit obtained from the asset. 

o The decline in service utility was unexpected, where the circumstances of the impair-

ment are not part of the normal life cycle of the asset. 

 

When there is no expectation that an impaired asset will continue to be used by the government, it should 

be reported at the lower of its carrying value or fair value. When an asset is impaired because construction 

on it has stopped, the asset should also be reported at the lower of its carrying value or fair value. 

 



Reporting Capital Assets 

37 

Note: When an impairment test indicates that asset impairment has not occurred, the accountant should still 

reevaluate the remaining estimated useful life and salvage value of the asset, which may result in a change 

in the remaining periodic depreciation charges against the asset. 

 

For illustrative purposes, the preceding discussion is summarized into the following flowchart. 

 

Decision Process for an Asset Impairment Situation 

Significant event or 
change in the 
circumstances 

impacting a capital asset

Physical damage to 
the asset

Enactment of laws 
that impact asset 

usage

Evidence of 
obsolescence

A change in the 
manner of asset use

Construction 
stoppage

Significant event?

No impairment; 
reevaluate useful 
life and salvage 

value

No

Unexpected 
decline in service 

utility?

Yes

No impairment; 
reevaluate useful 
life and salvage 

value

No

Impairment exists

Yes

No evidence of 
temporary 

impairment?

Disclose existence 
of idle asset

No

Continued usage 
expected?

Yes

Write down to 
lesser of carrying 
value or fair value

No

Measure 
impairment

Yes
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If it is decided that impairment is present, the next issue is determining how much of the asset’s historical 

cost should be written off. The following three methods are available for doing so, where the method chosen 

should best reflect the decline in service utility of the asset: 

• Restoration cost approach. This is the cost that would be incurred to restore the utility of the asset. 

Impairments resulting from physical damage should use this approach. 

• Service units approach. This is the cost associated with the decline in utility of the asset, which is 

derived by evaluating the change in maximum estimated service units for the asset, both before and 

after the impairment event. Impairments resulting from changes in laws, environmental factors, or 

obsolescence should use this approach. 

• Deflated depreciated replacement cost approach. This is a derivation of the cost of an asset needed 

to replace the current level of service, which is then depreciated to reflect its presumed usage and 

then deflated to convert the asset to its historical cost. Impairments resulting from a change in the 

manner or duration of use should use this approach. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Okie City’s library has been heavily damaged by a tornado. The building was constructed 10 years ago for $3 million, 

including $200,000 to purchase the underlying land. The library has an expected useful life of 50 years. Fixing the 

tornado damage will cost $800,000. The capitalization policy of the city states that 25% of the rebuilding cost is 

allocated to demolition and scrap removal, and 75% to rebuilding the structure. The estimated replacement cost of the 

library is $4.5 million. 

 

The calculation of the impairment loss, using the restoration cost approach, is: 

 

  

Historical  

Cost 

 

Estimated 

Useful Life 

 

Accumulated 

Depreciation 

Current 

Carrying 

Amount 

Land $200,000    

Building construction 2,800,000 50 years $560,000 $2,240,000 

     

Total reconstruction cost 800,000    

Percentage rebuilding cost × 75%    

Restoration cost (current $) 600,000    

Replacement cost (current $) 4,500,000    

Restoration cost ratio × 13.333%    

Current carrying amount 2,240,000    

Impairment loss $298,666    

 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government built a canal system five years ago, spending $14 million on the canal locks. The locks were 

originally expected to have a useful life of 50 years. A new federal regulation mandates that these locks be replaced 

with more robust locks to guard against storm surges, with additional security to protect them from terrorist attacks. 

The new regulation goes into effect in five years. The existing canal locks are impaired due to the adoption of a new 

regulation, which has altered the service potential of the asset from 50 years to 10 years. 
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The calculation of the impairment loss, employing the service units approach, is: 

 

Historical cost $14,000,000 

Total service units in years 50 

Cost per service unit $280,000 

Number of service units made unusable by regulation  × 40 

Impairment loss $11,200,000 

 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The Minnow City Government built offices for its administrative staff five years ago, at a cost of $4 million. Since 

then, the City has suffered a catastrophic and permanent decline in tax revenues, resulting in 80% of its staff being 

laid off. As a result, the offices have been converted into a storage facility for the City. The offices were originally 

planned to have a life of 40 years. The current replacement cost for a warehouse of the same dimensions is $1.2 

million. A commercial construction index was at 100 when the offices were constructed, and is now at 112. 

 

The calculation of the impairment loss, using the deflated depreciated replacement cost approach, is: 

 

Historical cost $4,000,000 

Accumulated depreciation (5 ÷ 40 years) -500,000 

Carrying amount $3,500,000 

  

Replacement cost of warehouse $1,200,000 

Accumulated depreciation (5 ÷ 40 years) -150,000 

Depreciated replacement cost $1,050,000 

  

Original commercial construction index 100 

Current period commercial construction index 112 

Deflation factor 0.89286 

Deflated depreciated replacement cost $937,503 

Impairment loss $2,562,497 

 

 

There are two possible ways to include the effects of an asset impairment in a capital asset account. These 

approaches are: 

• Increase the accumulated depreciation account by the amount of the loss. This approach treats the 

impairment as though additional years of useful life have been used up. 

• Proportionally reduce the capital asset account and the accumulated depreciation account so that 

the net decrease in the two accounts equals the impairment loss. This approach treats the impair-

ment as though a portion of the asset has been disposed of. 

 

Once an asset impairment has been recognized, it should not be reversed at a later date, even if the circum-

stances have changed and there is no ongoing evidence of asset impairment. 
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Impairment Losses under the Modified Approach 

A capital asset accounted for under the modified approach may incur physical damage. Such damage would 

normally trigger an impairment review. However, this is not the case when the modified approach is used. 

Since the government has committed to maintain the asset at a certain condition level, management is ob-

ligated to restore the asset to its predetermined condition level. Because of this commitment, physical dam-

age is treated as temporary. 

 

Capital Asset Disposal 

When a government disposes of a capital asset, a gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the net 

book value of the asset and its sale price (if any). If the asset was being depreciated, then the net book value 

is likely to be substantially lower than the original acquisition cost of the asset. If the asset was instead an 

infrastructure asset that was being accounted for under the modified approach, then the net book value 

would be its original acquisition cost. 

 

Note: A capital asset is not written off when it is fully depreciated, only when it has been dispositioned 

(that is, sold, donated, or scrapped). 

 

Infrastructure Asset Recordkeeping 

There is no specific requirement for maintaining certain levels of record detail for infrastructure assets. At 

a minimum, however, records should be maintained that allow the accountant to meet the disclosure re-

quirements for infrastructure assets. Here are several scenarios that could drive the level of recordkeeping 

used: 

• All roads could be aggregated into a single road network for an entire state. 

• Roads could be recorded as geographic subsystems, such as by county. 

• Roads could be capitalized individually. 

• Individual segments of roads could be separately capitalized. 

 

Reporting of Capital Assets 

There is a distinction between the reporting requirements for capital assets, depending upon whether they 

are associated with a fund. The following guidelines apply: 

• Capital assets associated with a proprietary fund are reported in the financial statements of both the 

fund and the government. 

• Capital assets associated with fiduciary funds are only reported in the statement of fiduciary net 

position. 

• All other capital assets of the government entity are only reported in the entity’s statement of net 

position. 

 

There are several situations relating to capital assets that call for special reporting in the financial state-

ments. A selection of these situations follows: 

• Construction in progress. Construction in progress is comprised of those costs accumulated to date 

against an unfinished construction project. These costs should be included in the capital assets line 

item in the statement of net position, even though the project is not yet complete and depreciation 

is not yet being charged against it. Construction in progress should be reported with other assets 

that are not being depreciated, such as land, land improvements, and infrastructure assets being 

accounted for with the modified approach. 
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• Impairment losses. If an impairment loss is associated with a program, it should be reported as a 

direct expense of the program that uses the asset. 

• Intangible assets. If the types of intangible assets being reported by a government differ in their 

nature and usage, do not report them together in a single major class of capital assets. For example, 

software and right-of-way easements should not be reported within the same asset class. However, 

intangible assets having a similar nature and usage, and so should be classified together. For exam-

ple, there could be a class of assets for land use rights that combines timber rights, water rights, and 

mineral rights. 

• Joint funding. When two or more government entities jointly fund a capital asset, the government 

with primary responsibility for maintaining the asset should report it. 

• Land use rights. Land use rights assets associated with existing government property should be 

bundled together with the associated property asset, since this group of assets collectively repre-

sents the government’s ownership of the property. However, if the land use rights were acquired 

separately from the underlying property, the rights should be recognized as a separate asset. 

• Reversionary interests in assets. The federal government may retain a reversionary interest in cap-

ital assets that were purchased by a state or local government with federally-awarded funds. The 

entity acquiring these assets should report them, since this is the party that both uses the assets and 

makes decisions regarding how they are to be employed. These assets are recorded at their historical 

costs. 

• Unclear ownership. A government should report an infrastructure asset if it has primary responsi-

bility for maintaining the asset. This concept applies to situations in which outright ownership of 

an asset is unclear, such as in regard to sewers and water lines. For example, a city government is 

not responsible for sidewalks if homeowners are financially responsible for their repair. 

 

Disclosure of Capital Assets 

A number of disclosures are required for capital assets. In addition, there should be a clear distinction 

between the reporting of general capital assets and the capital assets of proprietary and fiduciary funds. 

These disclosures are noted in the following sub-sections. 

 

General Disclosures 

Depreciable capital assets should be reported net of their associated accumulated depreciation in the state-

ment of net position. When capital assets are not being depreciated, these assets should be reported sepa-

rately if the government has a significant amount of these assets. A government may opt to report capital 

assets in greater detail, such as by major asset class. 

Depreciation is to be reported in the statement of activities. 

 

Disclosure of General Capital Assets 

General capital assets are not specifically related to activities reported in proprietary or fiduciary funds. 

Instead, they are associated with governmental activities. These assets are not reported as assets in govern-

mental funds. Instead, they are reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide 

statement of net position. 

 

Disclosure of Capital Assets of Proprietary Funds 

Capital assets reported within a proprietary fund should be reported in both the government-wide statement 

of net position and the proprietary fund statement of net position. 
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Disclosure of Capital Assets of Fiduciary Funds 

Capital assets reported within a fiduciary fund should only be reported in the statement of fiduciary net 

position. 

 

Disclosure of Depreciation 

Depreciation should be stated in the following reports: 

• The government-wide statement of activities 

• The proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position 

• The statement of changes in fiduciary net position 

 

When a government is using the modified approach to limit the use of depreciation, it should present the 

following schedules with its financial statements: 

• The last three condition assessments, noting the assessment dates 

• The estimated amount required to maintain the required condition level. This amount is calculated 

at the beginning of the fiscal year and is compared to the amounts actually expensed for each of the 

past five reporting periods. The amounts actually expensed should be reported on the accrual basis 

of accounting. 

 

SAMPLE DISCLOSURE OF LAST THREE CONDITION ASSESSMENTS 

 

 Percentage of Lane-Miles in 

Good or Better Condition 

 20X4 20X3 20X2 

Main arterial 89.4% 88.8% 87.6% 

Arterial 87.0% 86.5% 86.0% 

Secondary 84.7% 84.6% 84.4% 

Overall system 87.2% 87.0% 86.8% 

 

 Percentage of Lane-Miles in 

Substandard Condition 

 20X4 20X3 20X2 

Main arterial 1.2% 1.5% 1.9% 

Arterial 4.0% 3.8% 3.6% 

Secondary 4.3% 4.3% 4.5% 

Overall system 3.9% 3.9% 4.1% 

 

The condition of road pavement is determined using the Achilles pavement measurement system, which is 

derived from a weighted average of five distress factors contained in pavement surfaces. The system is used 

to classify roads in good or better condition (75-100), fair condition (50-74), and substandard condition (less 

than 50). The County’s policy is to maintain at least 80% of its street system at the good or better condition 

level. The County does not allow more than 5% to be in substandard condition. The County conducts condi-

tion assessments every year. 
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SAMPLE DISCLOSURE OF AMOUNTS REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN REQUIRED CONDITION 

 

(000s) 20X4 20X3 20X2 20X1 20X0 

Main arterial:      

Needed $8,049 $8,070 $7,998 $6,450 $6,080 

Actual 8,101 8,002 8,014 6,238 6,071 

Arterial:      

Needed 4,825 4,705 4,625 4,400 4,150 

Actual 4,831 4,699 4,637 4,384 4,129 

Secondary:      

Needed 2,005 1,990 1,985 2,250 2,175 

Actual 2,013 1,978 2,001 2,219 2,184 

Overall system:      

Needed 14,879 14,765 14,608 13,100 12,405 

Actual 14,945 14,679 14,652 12,841 12,384 

Difference -$66 $86 -$44 $259 $21 

 

 

If a government is just beginning to report depreciation for assets under the modified approach, it may be 

necessary to report as little as one condition assessment, if that is the only assessment that has yet been 

prepared. The same limited reporting may be used for the disclosure of expenses related to the maintenance 

of qualifying assets in prior years. 

The following information can also be supplied when using the modified approach: 

• The basis used for the condition measurement and the measurement scale being used to assess and 

report asset condition. 

• The condition level at which the government wants to preserve those of its infrastructure assets 

being reported using the modified approach. 

• Those factors significantly affecting trends in the information reported in the required schedules. 

This can include changes in the measurement scale, the basis used for the condition measurement, 

or the condition assessment methods used. Further, provide an estimate of the effect that a change 

in the condition level needed to preserve assets will have on estimated maintenance costs for these 

assets. 

 

SAMPLE DISCLOSURE 

 

The County oversees its network of bridges using its Bridge Oversight Program. The County accounts for all 

of the bridges in this network using the modified approach. 

 

The County employs a bridge condition rating system that ranges from 1 (impaired) to 10 (new). A bridge is 

considered to be in need of maintenance or preservation when its condition drops below a rating of 6, and is 

considered unsafe when its condition drops below a rating of 2. 

 

The County’s policy is to keep the number of unsafe bridges at or below 1% of the total number of bridges. 

The most recent annual assessment of bridge condition confirms that the policy is being met. 

 

Actual maintenance and preservation costs exceeded estimates by 9% in the past year, due to an unusually 

cold winter that negatively impacted the condition of the bridges. 
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  20X4  20X3  20X2 

 Condition 

Rating 

Nbr of 

Bridges 

% of 

Bridges 

 Nbr of 

Bridges 

% of 

Bridges 

 Nbr of 

Bridges 

% of 

Bridges 

Acceptable 6.5-10 182 87.5%  180 88.7%  174 87.4% 

Marginally deficient 4.0-6.4 18 8.7%  16 7.9%  17 8.5% 

Moderately deficient 2.0-3.9 6 2.8%  5 2.4%  7 3.6% 

Severely deficient 1.0-1.9 2 1.0%  2 1.0%  1 0.5% 

Total  208 100.0%  203 100.0%  199 100.0% 

 

 

Disclosure of Accumulated Depreciation 

Accumulated depreciation can be reported on the statement of net position as a separate line item, or it may 

be netted against capital assets. The notes accompanying the financial statements should include the amount 

of accumulated depreciation separately, as well as changes in accumulated depreciation. 

 

Disclosure of Capitalized Interest 

The following information related to capitalized interest should be disclosed: 

• When there is a reporting period in which no interest cost is capitalized, state the amount of interest 

cost charged to expense in the period. 

• When there is a reporting period in which some interest cost is capitalized, state the total interest 

cost incurred in the period and the amount of it that has been capitalized. 

 

Disclosure of Assets Not Being Depreciated 

When assets are not being depreciated, they should be reported separately in the statement of net position. 

However, this rule only applies if the aggregate total of these assets is considered significant. 

 

Disclosure of Impairment 

When an impairment loss is recognized, disclose in the notes accompanying the financial statements a 

general description of the loss, as well as the amount and the financial statement classification of the loss. 

Further, disclose the carrying amount of any impaired capital assets that are idle as of the end of the report-

ing year; this disclosure should be made even if the asset impairment is considered to be temporary. 

 

Summary 

The baseline level of reporting for capital assets is not especially difficult. A government could standardize 

its approach for recording the cost of its capital assets and apply straight-line depreciation to those assets. 

However, the accounting can be substantially more complex when accelerated depreciation is used, and 

especially when interest capitalization and/or the modified approach are added to the mix. The accountant 

should evaluate the impact of these additional layers of complexity on the reported results of the entity, as 

well as the incremental amount of additional work involved to ensure that they are applied correctly. In 

many cases, a more streamlined and basic approach to reporting capital assets should be sufficient. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following is a valid situation in which it is not necessary to depreciate a capital asset: 

a. The utility of the asset has been almost completely consumed 

b. The asset has a specifically-defined useful life 

c. The asset is an infrastructure asset 

d. The asset is classified as software 

 

2. A government buys a snow plow, which it expects to only use when there is a snowstorm. The comp-

troller wants to depreciate the snow plow based on the number of snow days. Which of the following 

depreciation methods would be most applicable? 

a. Straight-line depreciation 

b. Units of production method 

c. Composite depreciation 

d. Double-declining balance method 

 

3. A government can capitalize a collection of historical treasures when the following condition (among 

others) is met: 

a. The collection is protected 

b. Proceeds from the sale of collection items can be used to fund operations 

c. The collection will be depreciated 

d. The collection is being maintained for future sale at a profit 

 

 



 
Chapter 5 

Reporting Liabilities 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the different types of long-term debt. 

• Recognize the different types of current liabilities. 

 

Introduction 

The liabilities reported by a government must be properly classified as short-term or long-term, and there 

are also instances in which a liability may not be reported at all, or is only disclosed in the accompanying 

footnotes. These issues are discussed in the following sections. 

 

Reporting Long-Term Liabilities 

The reporting of liabilities should include a clear distinction between fund long-term liabilities and general 

long-term liabilities. The particulars are: 

• Proprietary fund liabilities. Long-term liabilities that are directly related to proprietary funds and 

which are expected to be paid from them should be reported in the proprietary fund statement of 

net position, as well as in the government-wide statement of net position. 

• Fiduciary fund liabilities. Long-term liabilities that are directly related to fiduciary funds and which 

are expected to be paid from them should be reported in the statement of fiduciary net position. 

• All other liabilities. Any other unmatured general long-term liabilities should only be reported in 

the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position. These liabil-

ities are not reported as liabilities in governmental funds, since doing so would be misleading from 

the perspective of current period management control. General long-term debt includes the items 

stated in the following exhibit. 

 

Contents of General Long-Term Debt 

Notes Unmatured bond principle 

Special assessment debt with a government obligation Warrants 

Other forms of long-term general obligation debt 

 

The general long-term debt classification may include much more than liabilities from debt issuances; it 

may also include a number of liabilities that can also be assigned to a specific fund, depending on the 

circumstances. Examples of liabilities that may be either government-wide or fund-specific are stated in 

the following exhibit. 

 

Contents of Government-Wide or Fund-Specific Liabilities 

Bonds Notes 

Claims and judgments Pensions 

Compensated absences Pollution remediation obligations 

Landfill closure and post-closure care Termination benefits 
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These liabilities are fund-specific, even though a governmental unit may have pledged its full faith and 

credit as assurance that they will be paid. 

Any liability arising from inter-fund activities is not a general long-term liability, and so should not be 

reported in governmental funds. 

 

Current Liabilities 

A current liability is an obligation that is expected to be settled with current assets or by the creation of new 

current liabilities. A current liability is typically an obligation for an item in the operating cycle of a gov-

ernment, such as: 

• Collections received prior to the performance of services, such as a deposit in advance of providing 

cable service 

• Payables incurred to buy supplies used in the provision of services 

• Rentals 

• Royalties 

• Wage accruals 

 

Other liabilities are classified as current liabilities, even though they are not strictly part of the operating 

cycle. Instead, they are expected to be settled within one year. Examples of these liabilities are: 

• Agency obligations triggered by the collection of cash for third parties 

• Amounts that must be spent under sinking fund provisions 

• Serial maturities of long-term obligations 

• Short-term debts caused by capital asset purchases 

 

There are yet more liabilities that can be classified as current liabilities, because they are either due on 

demand or within one year of the date of the financial statements, even if actual liquidation is not expected 

within that period. Further, an obligation is to be classified as a current liability if it is callable by the 

creditor for either of the following reasons: 

• Because the debtor violated a provision of the debt agreement; or 

• If a debt agreement violation is not cured within a designated grace period, the debt will be callable. 

 

A callable debt obligation must be classified as a current liability unless the entity meets either of these 

conditions: 

• The creditor has either waived or lost the right to call the debt within one year of the date of the 

financial statements. 

• The government entity has the option to cure the violation and it is probable that the violation will 

be cured within the required time period. 

 

The reported amount of current liabilities should also include accrued amounts for which settlement is 

expected within the next year. An accrual for a current liability should only be recorded when the following 

conditions are present: 

• It is only possible to approximate the amount; or 

• The person(s) to be paid cannot yet be designated 

 

Short-Term Obligations 

Short-term obligations are obligations expected to mature within one year of the date of the current financial 

statements. Long-term obligations are expected to mature beyond this period. When a short-term obligation 
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is refinanced on a long-term basis, it is either extended or replaced with a long-term obligation. This refi-

nancing arrangement means that it will not be necessary to consume working capital to settle the obligation. 

If the government intends to refinance the obligation on a long-term basis and has the ability to do so, then 

the short-term obligation can be excluded from current liabilities. 

When a government wants to refinance a short-term obligation on a long-term basis, it can do so in one 

of these ways: 

• Issue a long-term obligation in order to refinance the short-term obligation after the date of the 

financial statements, but before they have been issued. 

• Enter into a financing agreement that allows the government to refinance the obligation on a long-

term basis on readily determinable terms, and where the following conditions are present: 

o The agreement does not expire within one year of the date of the financial statements and 

cannot be cancelled by the lender, barring the violation of a provision of the agreement; 

and 

o There has been no violation of the financing agreement, or a waiver has been obtained; and 

o The lender is expected to be financially able to honor the agreement. 

 

The amount of a short-term obligation being reclassified away from current liabilities is capped at the pro-

ceeds from the new long-term obligation. Or, if a refinancing is to be addressed by a financing agreement, 

the amount that can be reclassified away from current liabilities is capped at the amount available for refi-

nancing under the agreement. It may be necessary to reduce the amount of the reclassification further if 

there is information indicating that the monetary resources made available under the financing agreement 

will be restricted in any way. Further, if the amount available under the agreement fluctuates (such as when 

the value of underlying collateral varies), the amount of the reclassification should be reduced to a reason-

able estimate of the minimum amount expected to be available. 

There may be a situation in which a short-term obligation is repaid before the offsetting funds are 

obtained from a long-term refinancing arrangement. If so, the government is likely using current assets to 

settle the obligation. For example, a short-term obligation of $100,000 is settled after the date of the finan-

cial statements, after which the government enters into a long-term financing arrangement where the pro-

ceeds are to be used to replenish current assets. Since one event clearly occurs before the other, the short-

term obligation must be reported as a current liability.  

 

Modified Accrual Recognition of Liabilities and Expenditures 

Under most circumstances, a government must accrue a governmental fund liability and related expenditure 

in the period when the liability is incurred. A key exception is unmatured long-term indebtedness, which is 

reported as a general long-term liability of the government, not as a liability within a governmental fund. 

Unmatured long-term indebtedness is that portion of the entity’s general long-term indebtedness that has 

not yet come due for payment. This exception also applies to other types of long-term indebtedness, such 

as: 

• Capital leases 

• Compensated absences 

• Claims and judgments 

• Landfill closure and post-closure obligations 

• Pensions 

• Pollution remediation obligations 

• Termination benefits 
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Note: If debt service fund resources have been provided in the current year for loan payments due early in 

the next year, it is allowable to recognize the expenditure and related liability in the debt service fund. 

Resources have been provided when cash has been transferred to the fund. 

 

Conversely, a matured liability should be reported as a governmental fund liability. This type of liability 

includes items that are payable in full when incurred, as well as that portion of general long-term indebted-

ness that has come due for payment. 

In addition to these general guidelines, several additional accrual modifications may apply, depending 

on the circumstances. These modifications are: 

• Debt service. Debt service on bonds and other formal debt issuances should be recognized when 

due as a governmental fund liability and expenditure. 

• Other liabilities. Other types of liabilities should be recognized to the extent that they are normally 

expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. Recognition will be as 

governmental fund liabilities and expenditures. Examples of these other liabilities are: 

o Claims and judgments 

o Compensated absences 

o Landfill closure and post-closure care costs 

o Receipts of goods and services for pollution remediation 

o Termination benefits 

 

There may be cases in which debt has been issued that is intended to finance projects that will be repaid 

from assessments made against the owners of the benefited property. This debt should be reported under 

the following guidelines: 

• General obligation debt. When general obligation debt will be partially repaid from special assess-

ments, report the debt only as a general long-term liability in the governmental activities column 

in the government-wide statement of net position. 

• Special assessment debt with obligation. When debt is issued for which the government has some 

type of obligation, report it as a general long-term liability in the governmental activities column 

in the government-wide statement of net position. The only part of this liability not so reported is 

that portion that is a direct obligation of an enterprise fund, or which is expected to be repaid from 

the operating revenues of the enterprise fund. The following additional reporting rules may apply: 

o Any portion of the debt that is to be repaid from property owner assessments is to be re-

ported as “special assessment debt with governmental commitment”. 

o Any portion of the debt that will be repaid from general government resources is to be 

reported the same as other general long-term liabilities. 

o Any portion of the debt that is a direct obligation of an enterprise fund or is expected to be 

repaid from the fund’s revenues is to be reported as a liability of that fund in the proprietary 

fund statement of net position, as well as in the government-wide statement of net position. 

• Special assessment debt with no obligation. When debt is issued for which the government has no 

obligation, do not report it in the government’s financial statements. 

 

The proceeds of a long-term debt issuance that are not recorded as fund liabilities are usually described as 

“other financing sources” in the operating statement of the recipient fund. When reported, possible captions 

can include “long-term notes issued” or “bonds issued”. When there is a debt issuance for which the gov-

ernment is not obligated, it should not be identified as (for example) “bond proceeds,” but rather as “con-

tribution from property owners” or some similar caption. 
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Debt Service Funds 

A debt service fund accounts for financial resources that are committed to the payment of principal and 

interest. The fund is usually employed for the payment of principal and interest in the current year, but can 

also include funds intended for principal and interest payment activities in later years. This type of fund 

should be used to report financial resources. 

 

Contingent Liabilities 

When a government has a contingent liability for which an accrual is not required, it should still disclose 

the existence of the liability in the notes accompanying the financial statements. This disclosure require-

ment includes situations in which the entity is contingently liable for the indebtedness of a trust fund or 

proprietary fund. If such a fund is in default or default is imminent, the contingent liability should be re-

ported separately from the other liabilities in the fund balance sheet, as well as in the government-wide 

statement of net position. 

 

Additional Liability Reporting Topics 

This section addresses two additional topics related to the reporting of liabilities. They are: 

• Separate liability reporting. A government should separately report those portions of its liabilities 

that relate to governmental fund liabilities and general long-term liabilities. Governmental fund 

liabilities are claims against current financial resources. 

• Timing of debt reporting. Generally, a government records the issuance of debt when the debt in-

struments are issued, which is on their closing date. However, in situations where the closing date 

precedes year-end but the related funds are not received until early the next year, the entity should 

record the related funds receivable and debt obligation as of the closing date. 

 

Disclosure of Liabilities 

A government must disclose information about the long-term liabilities of the primary government that are 

presented in the government-wide statement of net position. See the Notes to Financial Statements chapter 

for more information. Further, a government must disclose segment information when it reports enterprise 

funds or uses enterprise fund accounting and when revenue bonds or similar instruments are outstanding. 

See the Segment Information chapter for more information. 

When a government is engaged in debt service, it should disclose the following information: 

• Separately state the principal and interest requirements to maturity for each of the next five 

fiscal years, as well as in five-year increments thereafter. If the entity uses variable-rate debt, 

it should disclose interest using the interest rate in effect as of the date of the financial state-

ments. 

• State the terms that can cause the interest rate associated with variable-rate debt to change. 

 

When a government is contingently liable for the indebtedness of a trust fund or proprietary fund and the 

fund is in default or default is imminent, disclose all significant facts related to the situation. 
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Summary 

A government routinely enters into long-term financing arrangements to fund its infrastructure projects. In 

order to present financial statements that are not misleading in regard to the extent and timing of these 

obligations, the accountant must be fully aware of the applicable rules. It is also relatively common for a 

government to act as a guarantor of debt, in which case it may be necessary to include disclosures with the 

financial statements that describe the situation. The reporting of current liabilities is considerably more 

routine, though the accountant must be aware of the situations in which short-term obligations must be 

classified as current liabilities. 
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Review Questions 

1. A governmental fund recognizes liabilities to the extent that they are normally expected to be liquidated 

with expendable available financial resources. An example of such a liability is:  

a. Debt service on balloon payments 

b. Termination benefits 

c. General obligation debt 

d. Special assessment debt with no obligation 

 

 



 
Chapter 6 

The Budget and Budgetary Accounting 

Learning Objectives 

• Identify the funds that are more likely to have budgets associated with them. 

• Describe how an encumbrance is used.  

 

Introduction 

Governments use budgeting as one of their key financial planning and control tools. Ideally, every govern-

ment should prepare an annual budget for each of its governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds. 

The governments of states and larger municipalities require their various departments and agencies to 

submit budget requests, which are then used by the applicable legislative body as the basis for appropriation 

bills or ordinances. These appropriations state the maximum expenditures allowed for the budget year. The 

government cannot exceed these expenditure levels, unless the legislative body subsequently amends its 

appropriation bill to accommodate more expenditures. 

Depending on the applicable legal provisions, any unexpended or unencumbered appropriations may 

lapse at the end of the fiscal year, or they can continue forward as authorizations for future expenditures. 

In this chapter, we provide an overview of budgetary periods, budget types, budgetary control, and 

encumbrances. 

 

Budgetary Period 

A budget is a financial plan that covers a specific period of time. There are two types of governmental 

budgets, which are the annual and long-term budgets. As the name implies, an annual budget authorizes all 

financial operations for one fiscal year. A long-term budget provides financial estimates for a longer period, 

usually in the range of from four to six years, along with possible financing options. Annual budgets are 

usually required, since they form the basis for a governmental system of control. Long-term budgets are 

less likely to be required, since they are not control documents. Instead, they are used to plan for major 

programs or capital outlays.  

 

Budget Types 

A budget is structured to be either fixed or flexible. A fixed budget contains fixed dollar amounts for all 

stated line items. This document is based on a single activity level for the government entity to which it is 

related. A flexible budget contains formulas that will alter the stated amount of a line item, depending on 

the related activity level. 

Most government budgets are fixed, on the assumption that revenue levels are relatively fixed. The 

control system that underlies these budgets is targeted at keeping expenditure levels from surpassing pro-

jected revenue levels. 

A proprietary fund is more likely to have a flexible budget associated with it, since this type of fund 

tends to have a variable revenue level, depending on the amount of demand for the fund’s goods and ser-

vices. Since revenues fluctuate, the expenditure budget must be flexible enough to change in accordance 

with revenue levels. 

A budget should be prepared using the same basis of accounting on which it will be reported, so there 

will be no confusion about the amount of revenues received or expenses incurred. Governmental fund an-

nual budgets should be prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting, since this is the basis of 
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accounting most likely to be used to report fund performance. In those cases where there is a legal require-

ment to prepare a budget using a different basis of accounting (such as the cash basis), the accountant should 

maintain sufficient supplemental records to allow for the presentation of financial statements in accordance 

with the most applicable basis of accounting. 

 

Budgetary Control 

The planning process requires planners to determine the types and amounts of services to be provided, and 

to allocate resources among the various departments and programs. There are three possible levels of con-

trol that can be assigned to departments and programs. They are: 

1. An appropriated budget 

2. A legally authorized non-appropriated budget 

3. Non-budgeted activities that are not subject to an appropriated budget or a legally authorized non-

appropriated budget 

 

The following types of budgets are used in a governmental environment: 

• Executive budget. This budget includes all budgetary information submitted by the chief executive 

to the legislative body. 

• Appropriated budget. This budget has been created by an appropriation bill and signed into law. 

The creation of an appropriated budget begins with the original budget, which is then adjusted for 

reserves, transfers, allocations, and supplemental appropriations to arrive at the final budget. 

• Non-appropriated budget. This budget is not subject to appropriation, since it is authorized by a 

constitution, charter, or statute. 

• Budgetary execution and management. This budget includes all other budgetary transactions that 

do not require formal legislative enactment. These transactions can include sub-allocations, con-

tingency reserves, transfers, deferrals, and so forth. 

 

Budgetary accounting is a control technique that can be used to assist in controlling expenditures. Budgetary 

accounting involves the initial inclusion of budgetary accounts in fund ledgers. Once they have been used 

as a control during the fiscal year, these accounts are reversed as part of the year-end closing process. Since 

budgetary accounts are eventually removed from the accounting records, they have no effect on a govern-

mental fund’s financial position or its fund balance. 

Budgetary accounts should be included in general funds, special revenue funds, and other funds that 

are budgeted on an annual basis and which have multiple types of revenues, expenditures, and transfers. 

These accounts are most useful for controlling funds through which complex transactions flow. Conversely, 

budgetary accounts may not be needed when there is already an adequate level of control or where there 

are few transactions (such as a debt service fund). 

When a flexible budget is applied to a fund, the expense estimates in the budget are considered to be 

approved plans, rather than appropriations, since the expense levels can change in accordance with fluctu-

ations in revenue. Budgetary control is achieved by comparing actual expense levels to the expense amounts 

indicated in the budget, once the effects of revenue changes on the budgeted expenses have been considered. 
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Encumbrances 

An encumbrance is a commitment related to an unperformed contract for goods or services. An encum-

brance should be recorded in the accounting records in order to maintain a higher level of budgetary control 

over expenditures and cash planning. This is especially important for general and special revenue funds. 

The following additional points may apply when encumbrances are used in an accounting system: 

• There may still be some encumbrances outstanding at year-end, reflecting the extent to which con-

tracts have not yet been completed. These year-end balances are not treated as expenditures or 

liabilities. 

• When a contract has been completed, there is no longer a need for an associated encumbrance, so 

the encumbrance should be removed from the accounting records. 

• When there is a significant encumbrance, disclose it in the notes to the financial statements, dis-

closing this information for each major fund and in aggregate for all non-major funds. 

 

Summary 

The budget is an essential component of the governmental control system, since it states the amounts and 

sources of revenues and transfers in, as well as how these funds are to be used or directed elsewhere. In 

situations where transaction volumes are high or unusually complex, it makes sense to use budgetary ac-

counting to keep tight control over expenditure levels. When this is not the case, there may be a reduced 

need for budgetary accounting. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following types of budgets are used in governmental accounting, except for the: 

a. Non-appropriated budget 

b. Profit plan 

c. Appropriated budget 

d. Executive budget 

 

 



 
Chapter 7 

Common Accounting Transactions 

Learning Objectives 

• Cite the different types of interfund activities. 

 

Introduction 

In this chapter, we cover a number of common accounting transactions, showing the format of each journal 

entry and noting how the entry may change, depending on the type of fund in which a transaction is being 

recorded. There is no underlying case study from which the information in the journal entries is drawn; 

instead, the numbers in each journal entry are simply placeholders used to show how a journal entry could 

be constructed. The following sections are sorted in alphabetical order by the general classification of ac-

counting transaction. The sequence of these classifications is as follows: 

• Capital asset transactions 

• Debt transactions 

• Encumbrance transactions 

• Interfund transactions 

• Inventory usage 

• Reimbursement transactions 

 

Capital Asset Transactions 

A government usually invests heavily in capital assets, and so will require many journal entries to record 

the related purchasing, capitalization, depreciation, and other transactions. In this section, we cover the 

journal entries for the purchase, depreciation, and sale of a capital asset. 

 

Asset Purchase Transaction 

When a governmental fund is used to record the acquisition of a capital asset, the transaction is considered 

to be a decrease of the fund’s current financial resources. This results in the following entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures – capital assets 50,000  

Cash  50,000 

To record the acquisition of a capital asset   

 

If the acquisition is instead recorded in a proprietary fund, the transaction is considered to be a substitute 

of one resource (cash) for another resource (the capital asset). The entry is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Capital assets - vehicles 50,000  

Cash  50,000 

To record the acquisition of a capital asset (vehicle)   
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Depreciation Transaction 

The treatment of depreciation varies by the type of fund in which a capital asset is recorded. If the initial 

asset acquisition was recorded in a governmental fund, then no depreciation is recorded, since there is no 

reduction in the current financial resources of the fund. If the asset had instead been recorded in a proprie-

tary fund, the focus would have been on the economic depletion caused by the use of the asset. The follow-

ing journal entry would be used to record the depreciation: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Depreciation expense 2,000  

Accumulated depreciation - vehicles  2,000 

To record periodic vehicle depreciation   

 

Asset Sale Transaction 

When a governmental fund is used to record the sale of a capital asset, the resulting inflow of cash from the 

sale is considered an increase in its current financial resources, which triggers the following entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 12,000  

Miscellaneous revenues  12,000 

To record the sale of a capital asset (vehicle)   

 

If the sale is instead recorded in a proprietary fund, there may be a gain or loss on the sale. In addition, all 

accumulated depreciation that had previously been recorded against the asset is now reversed. We provide 

two sample journal entries for an asset sale, with the first version recording a gain and the second recording 

a loss. 

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 8,000  

Accumulated depreciation 45,000  

Capital assets - vehicles  50,000 

Gain on sale of asset  3,000 

To record the sale of a capital asset (vehicle) with gain   

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 1,000  

Accumulated depreciation 45,000  

Loss on sale of asset 4,000  

Capital assets - vehicles  50,000 

To record the sale of a capital asset (vehicle) with loss   

 

Debt Transactions 

A government may incur a substantial amount of debt in order to fund its operations and pay for capital 

assets. In this section, we cover the journal entries for the initial acquisition of debt, debt payments, and 

interest accruals. 
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Initial Debt Transaction 

A government may record the issuance of debt within a governmental fund or a proprietary fund. The more 

likely case is that the issuance is recorded in a governmental fund, since proprietary funds are limited to 

business-type activities. When the debt is recorded in a governmental fund, the transaction is treated as an 

increase in its current financial resources. A typical initial entry to record the debt in a governmental fund 

is as follows: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 975,000  

Expenditures – bond issuance costs 25,000  

Other financing source  1,000,000 

To record the receipt of cash from the sale of bonds   

 

If the issuance of debt is instead recorded in a proprietary fund, the inflow of resources is considered to be 

offset by the eventual need to repay the debt, so there is no change in the economic resources of the fund. 

This results in a different initial journal entry than was used for a governmental fund, which is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 975,000  

Bond issuance expense 25,000  

Bonds payable  1,000,000 

To record the receipt of cash from the sale of bonds   

 

Debt Payments 

A government will periodically make payments for the interest on its outstanding debt, which may include 

a principal repayment. When such a payment is recorded in a governmental fund, there is a decrease in the 

current financial resources of the fund. In this case, the principal and interest components are combined 

into a single line item as an expenditure. A typical entry is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures – debt service 6,000  

Cash  6,000 

To record debt service payment on debt   

 

The entry is different when the transaction is recorded in a proprietary fund. In this case, the economic 

resources of the fund are only being reduced by the amount of the interest expense. The principal portion 

of the debt is offset by a reduction in the original debt liability. A typical entry is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Bonds payable 5,000  

Interest expense 1,000  

Cash  6,000 

To record principal and interest payment on debt   
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Interest Accrual 

If a debt service payment is not made within a reporting period, some amount of interest expense will have 

accrued during the period. A proprietary fund accrues this interest as an expense. A typical entry follows. 

 

 Debit Credit 

Interest expense 1,500  

Interest payable  1,500 

To accrue interest expense on debt   

 

If accrued interest were to then be paid by a proprietary fund, the entry would reverse the amount of the 

interest payable that had previously been accrued. For example: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Interest payable 1,500  

Cash  1,500 

To record interest payment on debt   

 

Debt Service Fund Transactions 

A government might set up a debt service fund to accumulate resources from which debt obligations are 

paid. Since a debt service fund is a governmental fund, it uses the modified accrual basis of accounting and 

the current financial resources measurement focus, where the intent is on current financial resources. Con-

sequently, the initial transfer of funds from the general fund into a debt service fund would be dealt with in 

the following manner: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 110,000  

Other financing sources – operating transfers in (general fund)  110,000 

To record the transfer of funds from the general fund   

 

The fund manager invests excess cash in the debt service fund that will not be needed until the next debt 

service payment, as noted in the following journal entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Investment 42,000  

Cash  42,000 

To record the investment of excess cash   

 

Based on its investments, the fund then accrues interest on its invested funds, using the following entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Interest receivable on investments 400  

Revenues - interest  400 

To record accrued interest on invested funds   
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The fund manager pays out cash to meet the government’s principal and interest obligations to investors 

and lenders, using the following entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures – debt service 16,000  

Cash  16,000 

To record debt service payments made to bond holders   

 

Encumbrance Transactions 

A government can choose to enter encumbrances into the accounting system to indicate that there are open 

commitments related to unfilled purchase orders and contracts. The following journal entry shows how an 

encumbrance could be entered into the system for an issued purchase order. 

 

 Debit Credit 

Encumbrances 9,000  

Budgetary fund balance – reserved for encumbrances  9,000 

To record an encumbrance related to purchase order A1097   

 

When the items bought with the purchase order are received, the encumbrance is reversed and replaced 

with the liability related to the purchase order. The reversing journal entry needed to make the first change 

is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Budgetary fund balance – reserved for encumbrances 9,000  

Encumbrances  9,000 

To reverse the encumbrance associated with purchase order A1097   

 

We assume that the actual supplier invoice differs somewhat from the original encumbrance, so the replac-

ing entry for the purchase order contains slightly different amounts, as noted next: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures 8,850  

Accounts payable  8,850 

To reverse the payable related to purchase order A1097   
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Interfund Transactions 

A government’s general fund may loan funds to other funds for various reasons, perhaps to avoid cash 

shortfalls in the other funds. The initial entry to reflect such a loan, as issued by the general fund, could be 

set up as follows: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Due from capital projects fund 25,000  

Cash  25,000 

To record the loan of funds to the capital projects fund   

 

The receiving fund records the offsetting part of this obligation, such as: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Cash 25,000  

Due to general fund  25,000 

To record the receipt of a loan from the general fund   

 

Inventory Usage 

A government may routinely purchase significant amounts of inventory, which it consumes over a period 

of time. If these purchases are recorded in a governmental fund, there is a decrease in the current financial 

resources of the fund, which are set up as a reserved portion of the fund balance. The initial entry to reflect 

the acquisition of inventory is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Inventory 24,000  

Cash  24,000 

To record the purchase of inventory items   

 

As these inventory items are consumed, they are identified within the governmental fund as expenditures. 

For example: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures - inventory 9,000  

Inventory  9,000 

To record the consumption of inventory items   

 

Some of the inventory items may not be consumed by the end of the fiscal year. When this is the case, a 

portion of the fund balance is set aside (reserved) for the residual inventory amount. For example: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Fund balance 16,000  

Fund balance – reserved for inventory  16,000 

To reserve the fund balance for inventory on hand at year-end   
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This residual amount of inventory is then consumed in the following year, as noted in the following exam-

ple: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures - inventory 16,000  

Inventory  16,000 

To record the consumption of beginning-year inventory on hand   

 

Once the inventory has been consumed, the related reserve of the fund balance can be reversed, since it is 

no longer needed. A sample entry is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Fund balance – reserved for inventory 16,000  

Fund balance  16,000 

To reserve the fund balance for inventory on hand at year-end   

 

The preceding series of entries were used to record the initial purchase of $25,000 of inventory, of which 

$9,000 was consumed within the purchase year and $16,000 was consumed in the following year. 

 

Reimbursement Transactions 

A payment may be made by one fund but is attributable to a different fund, which calls for the reimburse-

ment of the paying fund by the benefiting fund. Proper recordation of a reimbursement transaction involves 

recording an expenditure or expense in the reimbursing fund, and an expenditure or expense reduction in 

the fund that is reimbursed for its initial payment. A sample entry for the general fund (which in the example 

is assumed to be making the initial payment) is: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenditures - supplies 2,000  

Cash  2,000 

To record payment for supplies   

 

A portion of this purchase is attributable to a different fund (in this case, the electrical utility), so the general 

utility needs another entry to indicate a receivable, as indicated in the following entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Due from electrical utility 500  

Expenditures - supplies  500 

To record receivable for reimbursement of the supplies payment   
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The reimbursing fund then records a journal entry to indicate its subsequent payment of the general fund, 

as noted in the following entry: 

 

 Debit Credit 

Expenses - supplies 500  

Cash  500 

To record reimbursement payment to general fund   

 

Summary 

The sample journal entries noted in this chapter were focused on those transactions that might actually 

require a manual journal entry. Very common transactions are usually handled automatically by the data 

entry forms set up in a government’s accounting software, so that the entries associated with such matters 

as the recordation of supplier invoices, payments to suppliers, and taxpayer billings do not require the sep-

arate creation of a journal entry. Instead, the accounts associated with these data entry forms are assigned 

when the software is initially configured, and will not need to be changed again unless the underlying 

accounts are subsequently altered. 
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Review Questions 

1. A governmental fund pays $40,000 in cash for a vehicle. Part of the associated journal entry is: 

a. Debit to Capital Assets – Vehicles 

b. Credit to Loans Payable 

c. Debit to Expenditures – Capital Assets 

d. There is no entry 

 

 



 
Chapter 8 

Classification and Terminology 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the classifications used to track expenditures. 

• Identify the components of net position. 

 

Introduction 

A government has a reasonable amount of leeway in structuring its financial statements. Nonetheless, it 

should adhere to some presentation standards, so that its financials are comparable to those of other gov-

ernments, while also being comparable from period to period. In general, the following principles should 

be followed in structuring financial statements: 

 

Governmental Funds 

• The statement of activities should present the activities accounted for in governmental funds by 

their function, coinciding with the level of detail required in the fund statement of revenues, ex-

penditures, and changes in fund balances. 

• The statement of activities should include activities accounted for in enterprise funds by different 

identifiable activities. 

• Classify governmental fund revenues by fund and source. 

• Classify governmental fund expenditures by fund, function or program, organization unit, activity, 

character, and principal classes of objects. 

• Classify the proceeds of general long-term debt issues separately from revenues and expenditures 

within governmental fund financial statements. 

• Report contributions and transfers separately from general revenues in the government-wide state-

ment of activities. 

 

Proprietary Funds 

• Report proprietary fund revenues by major sources, and distinguish them as being operating and 

non-operating. 

• Classify proprietary fund expenses in the same manner as those of similar business organizations 

or activities, and distinguish them as being operating and non-operating. 

• Report contributions and transfers separately after non-operating revenues and expenses in a pro-

prietary fund’s statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position. 

 

We will expand upon these principles and other related matters throughout the chapter. 

 

Interfund Activity 

Interfund activity within and among the governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds should be classified 

in the following manner: 

• Reciprocal interfund activity. This type of activity involves the transfer of funds that are expected 

to be paid back. Such a loan should be reported as an inter-fund receivable by the lending fund and 

as an inter-fund payable by the borrowing fund. In situations where repayment is not expected 
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within a reasonable time frame, reduce the amount not expected to be paid as a transfer from the 

lending fund to the receiving fund. An alternative situation is when there is a sale and purchase of 

goods and services between funds at prices approximating the market rate. These transactions 

should be reported by the selling fund as revenue and as an expense or expenditure by the purchas-

ing fund. Any of these amounts that are unpaid are recorded as interfund receivables by the seller 

and as interfund payables by the purchaser. 

• Non-reciprocal interfund activity. A non-reciprocal interfund transfer occurs when there is a one-

way flow of assets between funds (that is, there is no repayment requirement). This type of transfer 

is to be reported as other financing uses by the fund issuing the transfer and as other financing 

sources by the receiving fund. There may also be interfund reimbursements, where a fund respon-

sible for an expenditure or expense transfers a payment to the fund that initially paid for the item 

in question. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The Department of Administration of Qanix City pays the utility bill for the entire city government, and is then reim-

bursed by the various city departments via inter-departmental billings. In this situation, the utility expense initially 

recorded by the Department of Administration is reduced by the amount of the internal charges. The Department 

should not record these inter-departmental billings as revenue, since it does not provide utilities to the rest of the city’s 

departments. 

 

 

Reporting of Internal Activities and Balances 

When there are internal activities between the funds of a government, these activities should be eliminated 

in the government-wide entity’s statement of net position. Otherwise, interfund receivables and payables 

will appear in the statement of net position when the government-wide entity does not have these assets and 

obligations. Similarly, internal service fund transactions should be eliminated from the statement of activi-

ties, since these transactions net to zero from the perspective of the government as a whole. 

Only the net amount transferred between governmental and business-type activities should be reported 

on the statement of activities. This net amount can be determined by combining the transfers in and out 

within each category to arrive at a single net amount of transfers figure. 

When there are receivables from or payables to fiduciary funds, these amounts should be included in 

the statement of net position as being receivable from or payable to external parties – which is actually the 

case, since the nature of a fiduciary account is to collect and disburse cash on behalf of a third party. 

 

Reporting of Internal Service Fund Balances 

When the asset and liability balances of an internal service fund have not been eliminated in the statement 

of net position, report these balances in the governmental activities column. The only exception is when 

enterprise funds are the main participants in an internal service fund, in which case the government should 

report the residual assets, liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources in 

the business-type activities column within the statement of net position. 

 

Classifications within the Statement of Net Position 

There are several classifications of line items to consider when constructing a statement of net position. 

The following sub-topics address each one. 
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Current Assets 

The term current assets refers to a group of line items on the statement of net position that are either cash 

already or which can be converted into cash, sold, or consumed within one year. Given this definition, the 

following line items are usually considered to be current assets: 

• Cash available for current operations 

• Cash equivalents 

• Marketable securities 

• Inventories of merchandise, raw materials, work-in-process, and finished goods 

• Operating supplies and maintenance materials and parts 

• Trade accounts and notes receivable 

• Receivables from taxpayers, customers, employees, and other governments 

• Notes receivable if they conform to normal trade practices 

• Prepayments 

 

Note: Prepayments are considered to be current assets, since the lack of these payments would otherwise 

require the use of current assets within a year. 

 

Cash for which there are withdrawal restrictions should not be classified as current assets, nor should cash 

that has been designated for disbursement in the purchasing or construction of non-current assets or for the 

settlement of long-term debts. Similarly, receivables should not be classified as current assets if they are 

not expected to be collected within the next year. 

The total amount of current assets should be stated in the statement of net position. 

 

Allowances 

A government may recognize an allowance against a decline in the value of an asset. For example, an 

allowance for doubtful accounts may be created to recognize possible losses on receivables outstanding. 

These allowances should be deducted from the assets with which they are paired on the statement of net 

position. 

 

Current Liabilities 

The term current liability refers to a group of obligation line items on the statement of net position that are 

expected to be liquidated with existing assets that are classified as current assets, or through the creation of 

other current liabilities. These liabilities should be involved in the operating cycle of a business, or they are 

expected to be settled within one year. Given this definition, the following line items are usually considered 

to be current liabilities: 

• Trade payables 

• Wages payable 

• Royalties payable 

• Short-term debts 

• Serial maturities of long-term obligations 

• Amounts to be expended under required sinking fund provisions 

• Payments collected on behalf of and reimbursable to third parties 

• Obligations that are due on demand or within the next year 

• Long-term obligations that are callable due to the debtor’s violation of a loan provision 
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Note: Callable obligations are not classified as current liabilities when the creditor has waived the right to 

demand repayment, or when the debtor will probably cure the prior violation of a loan provision within a 

designated grace period. 

 

When there is an expectation that a short-term obligation will be refinanced, it is not classified as a current 

liability, as long as there is intent to refinance the obligation on a long-term basis and the government is 

able to do so. The ability to refinance has not been demonstrated when a short-term obligation has been 

replaced by another short-term obligation. 

The total amount of current liabilities should be stated in the statement of net position. 

 

Classifications within Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

There are several classifications of line items to consider when constructing governmental fund financial 

statements. The following sub-topics address each one. 

 

Other Long-Term Debt Transactions 

There are a number of debt issuance costs that may be incurred when a government issues debt. These costs 

can include: 

• Bond insurance 

• Legal fees 

• Rating agency fees 

• Underwriting fees 

 

When the cost of a debt issuance is paid out of the proceeds of a debt issuance, the costs are reported as 

expenditures. When the costs are paid from existing resources, they are reported as expenditures as soon as 

the related liability has been incurred. 

 

Capital Asset Sales 

The proceeds from the sale of a capital asset should be reported as other financial sources in governmental 

funds. 

 

Revenues 

Revenues occur when there are increases in fund financial resources, not including interfund transfers and 

proceeds from the issuance of debt. Governmental fund revenues are classified by fund and source. Exam-

ples of fund sources are: 

• Charges for services 

• Fines and forfeits 

• Intergovernmental revenues 

• Licenses and permits 

• Taxes 

 

Revenues are frequently reported at the level of organizational units, which can be useful for increasing the 

amount of management control over the revenue-generation process. 
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Expenditures 

Expenditures are the reduction of fund financial resources, not including interfund transfers. Expenditures 

may be reported in several ways, in order to enhance the amount of management control over the organi-

zation. The accounting classifications that may be used are: 

• Fund. An accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that are used to record financial 

resources and liabilities, which are segregated in order to carry on certain activities or attain tar-

geted objectives. 

• Function or program. Groups together related activities that are intended to accomplish a major 

service or fulfill a regulatory responsibility. 

• Organization unit. Corresponds to the government’s organizational structure. 

• Activity. Used to calculate expenditures per unit of activity, which can then be used to evaluate 

current performance and set future performance standards. 

• Character. Classifies expenditures by the fiscal periods they are intended to benefit. The classifi-

cation options are: 

o Current expenditures, where the benefit is solely in the current period 

o Capital outlays, where the benefit should be across multiple periods, extending into the 

future 

o Debt service, where the benefit could span several periods, including historical periods 

o Intergovernmental, where the benefit is transferred between governmental units 

• Object class. Classifies expenditures by the types of goods or services obtained. 

 

Tip: The number of object classifications should be minimized, since the control emphasis is more likely 

to be at the level of functions, organization units, or activities. 

 

Classifications within the Government-Wide Statement of Activities 

There are several classifications of line items to consider when constructing a government-wide statement 

of activities. The following sub-topics address each one. 

 

General 

A government should include a sufficient level of detail in its government-wide statement of activities if 

doing so provides useful information without making it more difficult for a reader to understand the state-

ment. There is no ideal level of detail, since there is a broad range in the number of programs that a gov-

ernment may support. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Okie City manages two separate water districts, one on each side of the Okefenokee River. The city uses two separate 

enterprise funds to account for the activities in each of these districts. The city can report each of these districts sepa-

rately in its statement of activities, but does not have to do so, since the activities that the two districts engage in is the 

same. 

 

Okie City also has an electric utility and a fiber optic cable utility, both of which are accounted for in a single enterprise 

fund. Okie cannot report a single utilities function in the statement of activities, because the provision of electricity 

and Internet access are different activities. Possible labeling for separate line items could be “Electric Utility” and 

“Internet Access Utility.” 
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Expenses 

Expenses should be reported by function, except in cases where an expense is classified as special or ex-

traordinary (which are explained in a later section). 

Three categories of revenue should be reported in the statement of activities, which are as follows: 

• Program-specific capital grants and contributions 

• Program-specific operating grants and contributions 

• Charges for services 

 

In cases where government-wide expenditures are accounted for in the general fund, the expenses associ-

ated with specific functions or programs should be reported as direct expenses of the various functions or 

programs in the statement of activities. When expenses cannot be specifically identified with functions or 

programs, they should be classified for reporting purposes as general government or some similar type of 

cost center. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Okie City charges its employee pension costs to a general administration account in the general fund. Pension costs 

are directly associated with specific employees, and so should be charged to the city functions where the employees 

work, such as the city power plant and the wastewater treatment facility. This can be accomplished by reclassifying 

pension costs out of the general administration account and into the various city functions. 

 

 

Revenues 

When determining the function to which program revenue should be assigned, the key factors are: 

• For charges to services, the determining factor is which function generates the revenue. 

• For grants and contributions, the determining factor is whether the revenue is restricted to a certain 

function. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government manages a permanent fund in its fish and wildlife function, but a portion of the earnings generated 

by this fund is restricted for the use of the state parks function. These earnings should be reported as revenue of the 

state parks function, since the revenue is restricted to that function. 

 

 

When there is no program to which revenues can be assigned, report them as general revenues. All taxes 

are considered to be general revenues, even when they have been levied for a specific purpose. Tax revenues 

should be reported by type of tax, such as: 

• Franchise taxes 

• Income taxes 

• Property taxes 

• Sales taxes 
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General revenues should be reported in the statement of activities after the total net expense of the govern-

ment’s functions. Certain transactions should be reported separately from general revenues (though in the 

same area of the statement of activities) in order to clarify the sources of financing the net cost of govern-

ment programs. These transactions include: 

• Contributions to permanent endowments 

• Contributions to permanent fund principal 

• Contributions to term endowments 

• Special and extraordinary items (see the next section) 

• Transfers between governmental and business-type activities 

 

Operating special assessments are classified as program revenues, because only those property owners who 

benefit from a special assessment benefit from the arrangement. This means that the assessments are essen-

tially charges for services, and so would qualify as program revenues. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A light rail from a nearby major city has just been built through the Hillside neighborhood of Helix City. The residents 

of Hillside experience an immediate upsurge in the crime rate, as gangs from the major city take the light rail out to 

Hillside. Accordingly, the property owners in the Hillside neighborhood agree to pay for additional police protection 

in their area, which is paid for with a special assessment. Only those property owners in this specific neighborhood 

benefit from the change, rather than the entire real estate tax base. Thus, the assessment constitutes a charge for ser-

vices. 

 

 

A government may levy a tax, for which the proceeds will be restricted for use within a specific program 

or function. In this case, the tax is applied to a general group, while the proceeds are narrowly defined 

(which was not the case for operating special assessments, where only those who benefit from the proceeds 

are taxed). In this case, the tax is classified as general revenue and not program revenue. 

 

Special and Extraordinary Items 

An extraordinary item is unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. Examples of extraordinary items 

are costs related to the failure of a dam or the destruction caused by an earthquake. A special item is one 

that is within the control of management and is either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence. Exam-

ples of special items are the termination benefits resulting from the layoffs associated with closing a city’s 

municipal airport, and the losses incurred when a government disposes of its wastewater management op-

erations. The reporting requirements for these items are: 

• Statement of activities. Extraordinary items are to be reported separately at the bottom of the state-

ment of activities. Special items are also to be reported separately; they should be reported before 

any extraordinary items. 

• Governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. Special and 

extraordinary items should be reported separately in a governmental fund statement of revenues, 

expenditures, and changes in fund balances after the “other financing sources and uses” line item. 

If both a special and an extraordinary item occur in the same period, report these line items sepa-

rately in a “special and extraordinary items” classification. 

• Proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund net position. Report 

extraordinary and special items separately, after non-operating revenues and expenditures. 
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The following criteria should be met before classifying something as either extraordinary or special: 

• Unusual. The event or transaction should be abnormal to a high degree and unrelated to the ordinary 

activities of the government. Whether something is unusual depends on the characteristics of the 

government, such as its location, the types of activities in which it engages, and the nature of its 

regulations. 

• Infrequent. The event or transaction is one that would not reasonably be expected to recur in the 

future. The probability of recurrence depends on the nature of the government entity. The prior 

history of an event or transaction can be used to assess the probability of its recurrence in the future. 

 

Some gains and losses are not considered extraordinary items, because they are relatively common and can 

be expected to occur again in the future. Examples of these items are: 

• Adjustments made to the accruals on long-term contracts 

• Exchange gains and losses related to foreign currency 

• Gains and losses triggered by the disposition of capital assets 

• The effects of a strike 

• The write-down of receivables, inventory, intangible assets, and similar items 

 

In addition, if there are any significant transactions or other events that can be considered unusual or infre-

quent and are not within the control of management, disclose them in the notes accompanying the financial 

statements. 

 

Right of Offset 

The assets and liabilities of a government entity should not be offset against each other in the government-

wide statements of net position, except in cases where there is an actual right of offset. The same rule 

applies for the proprietary fund statement of fund net position. A right of offset exists when (for example) 

two government entities can net their payables to and receivables from each other, so that only the net 

difference is transferred between them. 

 

Reporting Net Position 

The net position is the difference between all other elements in a statement of financial position, so it is a 

summarization of other line items. Net position should be displayed in three components on the statement, 

as follows: 

• Net investment in capital assets. Includes capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation), less the 

outstanding balances of bonds, mortgages, notes, and other borrowings associated with the acqui-

sition or construction of capital assets. If there are any deferred inflows or outflows of resources 

related to the acquisition or construction of capital assets, also include them in this summarization. 

If there is no debt or deferred inflow of resources associated with the capital assets, consider clas-

sifying this line item as “investment in capital assets” to avoid misleading readers. 

 

Note: If debt is issued to refund existing debt that is related to capital assets, the replacement debt is also 

considered to be capital-related. 

 

• Restricted. Report a restricted net position component when there are externally-imposed con-

straints placed on the net position, such as by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws. It may be 

necessary to display the restricted component of net position in two components, which are ex-

pendable and non-expendable. A non-expendable net position must be reported when amounts are 

to be retained in perpetuity or there is a minority interest in component units. The restricted 
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component represents restricted assets that have been reduced by any liabilities related to those 

assets. A liability is considered to be related to an asset when the asset is a direct result of the 

liability being incurred, or if the liability will be liquidated along with the asset with which it is 

paired. 

• Unrestricted. The unrestricted component of net position is the residual amount remaining that was 

not included in the calculation of the net investment in capital assets or the restricted components 

of net position. 

 

Note: There may be internal constraints, where resources have been committed to specific activities. These 

commitments cannot be classified as restricted, since they can be removed or altered. 

 

The same reporting structure for net position should be used when reporting the net position of proprietary 

funds. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A county’s job training center has received a $2 million bequest from someone who once benefited from its services. 

According to the terms of the bequest, the principal amount must be maintained, while any investment earnings can 

be used to pay for additional job training. As of year-end, the fair value of this endowment has declined to $1.9 million. 

The restricted non-expendable net position should state the reported amount of $1.9 million. If the market recovers, 

allowing the $2 million principal amount to be regained, the restricted non-expendable net position would be reported 

as $2 million. If the market is unusually robust and the principal amount exceeds $2 million, the excess amount over 

$2 million would be reported as a restricted expendable net position. 

 

 

Governmental Fund Reporting 

A fund balance for a governmental fund should be stated in report classifications so that there is a hierarchy 

of information, showing the requirements imposed on the government to use resources in accordance with 

various restrictions. The fund balances that can be reported are as follows: 

• Non-spendable fund balance. This classification is comprised of amounts the government is not 

allowed to spend, because there is a legal or contractual requirement to maintain the funds. For 

example, the principal balance of a permanent fund is considered a non-spendable fund balance. 

This classification can also include amounts that are not in spendable form. Assets are not in spend-

able form when there no expectation that an asset will be converted into cash (as may be the case 

with inventory), property that has been acquired for resale, and the long-term amount of loans re-

ceivable. 

• Restricted fund balance. This classification is used for amounts that have been restricted for specific 

purposes. A restriction is considered to be in place when the constraints placed on the use of re-

sources have been imposed by law or by third parties such as creditors, contributors, or grantors. 

Investment proceeds may also be classified as restricted if the underlying constraint limits the use 

of the proceeds. The amount reported as a restricted fund balance should not be greater than the 

restricted assets in a fund. 

• Committed fund balance. This classification contains amounts that can only be consumed on spe-

cific activities, as directed by the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. It is 

possible that these amounts could be redeployed for other purposes, which is not the case with 

items classified within the restricted fund balance. 

• Assigned fund balance. This classification is used when the government’s intent is to use resources 

for a specific purpose. In this situation, no actual restriction or commitment is placed on the re-

sources. The level of intent should be expressed by the governing body or the entity to which re-

source usage authority has been assigned. 
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• Unassigned fund balance. This classification is the residual classification for the general fund; all 

funds not reported within one of the preceding classifications are stated here. 

 

Note: Some governments may not find it necessary to have both committed fund balances and assigned 

fund balances. One or the other report classification may be sufficient. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A wealthy citizen passes away and leaves a major bequest to the local county government, stipulating that the interest 

earned from investment of the funds be used to maintain the trail system in a local park. The bequest stipulates that 

the principal amount can never be spent. The county government should account for the bequest in a permanent fund. 

The donation should be reported as revenue in the governmental fund statements and included in the non-spendable 

fund balance. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The following table demonstrates a possible presentation format for a special revenue fund that includes amounts that 

have been designated as restricted, committed, or assigned. The fund has three specific purposes, which are curb 

maintenance, road maintenance, and sidewalk repair. 

 

 Restricted Committed Assigned Total 

Curb maintenance     

Beginning balances $12,000 $82,000 $4,000 $98,000 

Additions 4,000 -- -- 4,000 

Expenditures incurred -16,000 -82,000 -1,000 -99,000 

Ending balances -- -- 3,000 3,000 

     

Road maintenance     

Beginning balances 40,000 17,000 -- 57,000 

Additions 28,000 13,000 100,000 141,000 

Expenditures incurred -68,000 -30,000 -100,000 -198,000 

Ending balances -- -- -- -- 

     

Sidewalk repair     

Beginning balances 2,000 -- 14,000 16,000 

Additions 6,000 31,000 -- 37,000 

Expenditures incurred -8,000 -11,000 -- -19,000 

Ending balances -- 20,000 14,000 34,000 

     

Fund totals $-- $20,000 $17,000 $37,000 
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EXAMPLE 

 

The following table presents a possible presentation format for the fund balance section of a balance sheet. This in-

formation is presented at an aggregate level in order to compress the size of the presentation. The specific purpose 

details related to this table would be disclosed in the footnotes accompanying the financial statements. 

 

  Special Revenue Funds     

  

General 

Fund 

Storm Water 

Management 

Fund 

Road 

Repair 

Fund 

Debt Ser-

vice 

Fund 

Capital 

Projects 

Fund 

 

Other  

Funds 

 

 

Total 

Fund balances:        

Non-spendable $200,000 $14,000 $180,000 $-- $-- $64,000 $458,000 

Restricted 325,000 11,000 20,000 260,000 600,000 89,000 1,305,000 

Committed 210,000 5,000 61,000 -- 120,000 42,000 438,000 

Assigned 92,000 -- -- 100,000 -- -- 192,000 

Unassigned 172,000 -- -- -- -- -- 172,000 

Total fund balances $999,000 $30,000 $261,000 $360,000 $720,000 $195,000 $2,565,000 

 

 

A stabilization arrangement may be set up where a government sets aside funds for use in emergency 

situations, or when there are budgetary imbalances. These amounts are only supposed to be spent when 

certain circumstances exist. Report stabilization amounts in the general fund as restricted or committed, 

depending on the source of the constraint that limits their use. If the circumstances do not allow for reporting 

the funds associated with a stabilization agreement as restricted or committed, then report them as unas-

signed. 

 

Disclosures 

There are a number of disclosures associated with the classification of information on a government’s fi-

nancial statements. The following disclosures may apply: 

• Policies and procedures. Disclose the policies and procedures related to fund balance classifica-

tions in the following areas: 

o Committed fund balance. Note the highest level of decision-making authority, as well as 

the action that must be taken to create, change, or eliminate a fund balance commitment. 

o Assigned fund balance. Note the position or group that is authorized to assign amounts to 

a specific purpose, as well as the policy under which that authorization is given. 

o Usage assumptions. Describe whether the government considers restricted or unrestricted 

amounts to have been spent when an expenditure is incurred and both restricted and unre-

stricted funds are available. Also, describe whether the government considers committed, 

assigned, or unassigned amounts to have been spent when an expenditure is incurred when 

the amounts in an unrestricted fund balance could be used. 

 

• Encumbrances. Disclose any significant encumbrances by major fund, as well as in aggregate for 

non-major funds. Encumbrances are not to be displayed on the face of the governmental funds 

balance sheet. 

• Non-spendable fund balance. If a non-spendable fund balance is displayed in aggregate on the 

balance sheet, disclose in the accompanying notes the amounts for the two non-spendable compo-

nents. 
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• Stabilization arrangements. When a stabilization arrangement exists, disclose the authority under 

which the arrangement was established, the conditions under which the stabilization amounts can 

be spent, and the stabilization balance (unless this amount is already stated on the face of the finan-

cial statements). On the same subject, if there is a minimum fund balance policy, disclose the min-

imum amount set forth by the policy. 

• Restrictions by enabling legislation. Disclose the amount of the entity’s net position that is re-

stricted by enabling legislation. Enabling legislation authorizes a government to levy fees and in-

cludes a requirement that the collected amounts only be used for the purposes stated in the legisla-

tion. If the enabling legislation is later judged to no longer be enforceable, then report the resources 

as unrestricted from that point forward. 

 

Summary 

This chapter has been concerned with the general classification and presentation of information to be in-

cluded in a government’s financial statements. It is critical to establish a classification system that is ex-

pected to endure for a significant period of time. Otherwise, the accountant will need to make ongoing 

adjustments to the financial statements that will render them less comparable to the statements issued in 

prior periods. To improve the odds that a classification system will last, involve an experienced consultant 

in the process of structuring and classifying financial information, to ensure that terms and classification 

groupings are properly defined, as well as the procedures for the recordation of transactions. On an ongoing 

basis, the accountant should be reluctant to make changes to the established system, unless there are mate-

rial changes in the information underlying the financial statements. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following asset is classified as a current asset: 

a. Inventories of finished goods 

b. Cash for which there are withdrawal restrictions 

c. Receivables with delayed collection expectations 

d. Cash designated for the settlement of long-term debts 

 

2. The following liability can be classified as a current liability: 

a. Obligations that are due in two years 

b. A short-term obligation that will be refinanced 

c. An unmatured bond 

d. Trade payables 

 

3. The following fund classification is intended for amounts that can only be consumed on specific activ-

ities as directed by the highest level of decision-making authority, and which can possibly be rede-

ployed for other purposes: 

a. Committed fund balance 

b. Restricted fund balance 

c. Assigned fund balance 

d. Non-spendable fund balance 

 

 



 
Chapter 9 

The Financial Reporting Entity 

Learning Objectives 

• Describe the nature of a financial reporting entity. 

• Specify the indicators of control over another entity. 

 

Introduction 

When assembling information for financial statements, a basic question to ask is the nature of the financial 

reporting entity for which the statements are being prepared. A larger or more complex government could 

be involved with joint ventures, jointly governed organizations, and other stand-alone entities. For example, 

there may be a mix of governmental utilities, governmental colleges, public employee retirement systems, 

and so forth. A government may be comprised of or linked to a number of these organizations so that it can 

provide a broad range of services, where each individual entity has a separate management structure and 

staff that is focused on providing a targeted set of services. By breaking down its structure into many sep-

arate entities, a government avoids the diffusion of management skill that can occur when one centralized 

entity tries to oversee a myriad number of services. 

The accountant needs to sort through these arrangements to determine the financial reporting entity, 

which may involve a subset of the full range of organizations involved with a government. In this chapter, 

we review the rules relating to a financial reporting entity. 

 

Accountability 

In governmental reporting, accountability is a key concern, since those people governing public institutions 

must be held accountable for their use of public funds. Given the importance of accountability, it should be 

the core element in defining a financial reporting entity. When the reporting focus is on accountability, 

financial statements should present to a reader a grouping of organizations that are related by accountability 

to the constituent citizens. 

A group of government entities might initially appear to be separate. However, their governing bodies 

may have been appointed by the elected officials of a single primary government. Those officials are ac-

countable to citizens for their decisions, even in cases where the decisions are actually being made by 

designated managers who are operating other organizations. Citizens must be able to assess the abilities of 

their elected officials by reviewing the financial statements of the entities that the officials were elected to 

govern. Thus, based on the accountability concept, the financial reporting entity should encompass these 

additional organizations. 

Based on the preceding logic, we can define a financial reporting entity as a primary government and 

those organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable. It may also be necessary 

to include other organizations in a primary government’s financial statements even when the financial ac-

countability criterion does not exist, to keep the financial statements from being misleading. 

 

The Financial Reporting Entity 

A government entity’s financial statements should allow readers to readily distinguish between the primary 

government and its component units. This is done by providing information about these units and their 

relationships with the primary government entity. This level of descriptive separation is more accurate than 
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creating the perception that the primary government and all related component units are really just one large 

legal entity. 

In order to present this relationship information, the government-wide financial statements of a report-

ing entity should reveal information about the reporting government as a whole by employing separate rows 

and columns to separate the total primary government and those of its component units that have been 

discretely presented. The reporting entity’s fund financial statements should include the governmental, pro-

prietary, and fiduciary funds of the primary government. In this reporting presentation, major funds are 

reported individually, while non-major funds are clustered together and reported in aggregate. 

When there is a component unit that is fiduciary in nature, it should only be reported in the statements 

of fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position with the primary government’s fiduciary 

funds. 

There may be cases in which a government organization other than a primary government must issue 

separate financial statements. When this is the case, the entity becomes the nucleus for its own reporting 

entity. Through the remainder of this chapter, the requirements stated for the financial reporting by a pri-

mary government also applies to the reporting by one of these governmental component units or similar 

entities. 

 

Primary Governments 

A primary government is one that has its own separately elected governing body, where the election was 

by citizens in a general, popular election. A primary government is the nucleus of a financial reporting 

entity. The following are examples of primary governments: 

• A state government 

• A county government 

• A city or town government 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state’s department of transportation has a safety board whose members are elected by the department’s employees. 

The safety board is funded by an allocation of the state’s gasoline tax. The safety board is not considered a separately 

elected governing body, since the election was not by the citizens in a general, popular election. 

 

 

A primary government is comprised of every organization that makes up its legal entity, which can include 

funds, agencies, departments, and other entities that are not legally separate. 

A special-purpose government can also be designated as a primary government, as long as it meets all 

of the following criteria: 

• It has a separately-elected governing body. 

• It is legally separate, which is the case when it has corporate powers. These powers give an organ-

ization a name, the right to sue and be sued without recourse to another governmental unit, and the 

right to buy and sell property in its own name. 

• It is fiscally independent of other governments, which is the case when it can determine its budget, 

levy taxes or set rates, and issue bonded debt – all without the approval of another party. 

 

A primary government may sometimes be placed under the control of another government, usually to cor-

rect financial difficulties. A government that is under such control is still considered to be fiscally inde-

pendent for the purposes of defining a special-purpose government as a primary government. 

A special-purpose entity may be statutorily prohibited from incurring debt. If so, and the entity is still 

fiscally independent in all other respects, the entity can be designated as a primary government. 
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Note: A government that meets the definition of a primary government cannot be reported as a component 

unit of another primary government. 

 

Component Units 

A component unit is a legally separate organization for which the elected officials of the primary govern-

ment are financially accountable. A component unit can also be an entity that must be included in a reporting 

entity’s financial statements in order to keep them from being misleading. Examples of component units 

are: 

• Economic development corporations 

• Mass transit systems 

• Port authorities 

• Public universities 

 

Note: An organization that is not legally separate from a reporting entity is not a component unit, and so is 

treated for reporting purposes as a department or agency of the primary government. 

 

A primary government has financial accountability for a component unit under the following circumstances: 

• When the primary government appoints a voting majority of the entity’s governing board and it is 

able to impose its will on the entity or the entity can provide financial benefits to or impose financial 

burdens on the primary government.  

• When the component unit is fiscally dependent on the primary government and the entity can pro-

vide financial benefits to or impose financial burdens on the primary government. This situation 

exists even when the entity has a separately-elected governing board, a jointly appointed board, or 

a board that has been appointed by a higher level of government. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Helix City’s power generating facility provides free electricity to the city’s government offices. The facility is provid-

ing a financial benefit to the city. 

 

Helix City provides substantial financial support to its recreation center, since user fees are set too low for the facility 

to otherwise break even. This arrangement constitutes a financial burden on the city. 

 

 

A voting majority is present when the actions of a primary government’s appointees alone can control the 

decisions made by an organization.  

 

Note: Not all governmental organizations will be included in a reporting entity that is governed by elected 

officials. These outlier organizations are treated as stand-alone governments. 

 

A primary government is able to impose its will on an entity when it can influence the day-to-day operations 

of the entity. A government has the ability to impose its will on an entity if it can significantly influence 

the programs, projects, activities, or service levels offered or provided by the entity. The following are 

indicators that a primary government can impose its will on another entity: 

• It can remove members of the entity’s governing board at will. 

• It can alter or approve the entity’s budget. 

• It can alter the fees or rates charged by the entity. 
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• It can veto or alter the decisions made by the entity’s governing body. 

• It can hire, dismiss, or reassign those individuals responsible for the entity’s operations. 

 

Note: When a primary government can remove members of an entity’s governing board for cause, this is 

not the same as being able to do so at will. When cause must be proven before a person can be removed, a 

primary government may not have the ability to impose its will on an entity. 

 

A primary government may provide a financial benefit to or accept a financial burden from another entity 

in several ways. Here are several examples: 

• There is a legal obligation for the primary government to finance the deficits of the component unit. 

• A contractual agreement between a primary government and a component unit requires the primary 

government to provide assistance under certain circumstances. 

• A primary government is obligated to pay for the debt of a component unit if the component unit 

cannot make timely debt payments. 

• A primary government must cover the deficiencies of a component unit on a temporary basis, until 

funds can be made available from another source. 

• A primary government is both authorized to provide funding for reserves maintained by a compo-

nent unit and establishes such a fund. 

 

A simple exchange transaction between a primary government and another entity does not, by itself, indi-

cate that a financial benefit or burden relationship exists between the two parties. An example of an ex-

change transaction is when one party buys goods or services from the other. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The city of East Smithville operates a separately-incorporated race track. The principal purpose of the race track is to 

generate profits that are accessible to East Smithville. Thus, the race track provides financial benefits to East Smith-

ville. Given this arrangement, the race track entity can be considered a component unit of East Smithville. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

East Smithville also has a mass transit operation that manages a bus system within the city’s boundaries. The rates 

charged by this mass transit system are deliberately set lower than the cost structure of the enterprise. As a result, the 

city must periodically provide funding to the mass transit system via an appropriation to keep it operational. Given 

this arrangement, the race track entity can be considered a component unit of East Smithville. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The water utility of East Smithville is prohibited by statute from issuing debt. If the utility needs financing, it requests 

that the city issue debt on its behalf and then repays the government from the debt service payments. The water utility 

is fiscally dependent on the primary government, since it is unable to issue bond debt without the approval of another 

government. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The East Smithville city government guarantees payment of the debts of its wastewater treatment facility. It is highly 

unlikely that the wastewater unit’s debt will ever create a financial burden for East Smithville, given the robust state 

of the unit’s finances. In this case, there is still a financial burden on the city, since a burden is judged to exist based 

on the potential for the imposition of a financial burden. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

East Smithville borders on the ocean, where there is a large natural harbor. The city government establishes a port 

authority, with the goal of stimulating the import and export of goods through the East Smithville area. The city 

appoints all members of the port authority’s governing board, who may not be removed from their positions unless 

there is clear evidence of gross negligence in the conduct of their jobs.  The governing board has the authority to hire 

all members of the management team. Based on these facts, the city cannot impose its will on the port authority. The 

port authority creates its own budget, issues bonds and sets rates without the approval of the city government. This 

situation indicates that the port authority is not providing a financial benefit to the city, nor is it imposing a financial 

burden. Under the circumstances, the port authority cannot be considered a component unit of the primary government. 

 

 

Application of the preceding rules could occasionally result in situations where an organization can be 

considered a component unit of more than one primary government. For example, a state government ap-

points a voting majority of the members of a highway planning board, but the board is fiscally dependent 

on a local government. In this situation, the organization should only be considered a component unit of 

just one primary government. One must examine all of the applicable facts to determine which primary 

government is entitled to designate the organization as an organization unit. In some cases, there will be no 

designated primary government. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Twelve cities have formed a municipal electric authority, which is empowered to generate electricity from several 

hydroelectric dams and distribute the power to the citizens of the founding cities. Each of the founding cities appoints 

one person to the governing board of the electric authority. Construction of the necessary dams was funded by a bond 

offering of the electric authority, for which the cities have no liability. There are purchase agreements between the 

city governments and the electric authority, setting the prices at which the cities will be billed for electricity for the 

next ten-year period. The prices are designed to match the electric authority’s costs and also pay off its bond obliga-

tions. Based on these facts, the participating cities do not have an ongoing financial interest in the entity. Thus, the 

most appropriate reporting is for each of the cities to report the electric authority as a jointly governed organization. 

 

 

An entity that is a component unit of a financial reporting entity may in turn have its own component units. 

The component unit financial data appearing in the financial statements of the financial reporting entity 

should aggregate the data from all of its components units, including these additional layers of units. 

 

Summary 

The structure of component units that roll up into a financial reporting entity is not static. Changes in the 

operating agreements of these entities, as well as their financial relationship to the primary government may 

result in some component units being added to or dropped from the financial reporting of a primary gov-

ernment. Consequently, the accounting implications of these types of changes should be considered before 

any alterations are made to the existing agreements between entities. The situation is more likely to be in 

flux for larger primary governments, which may be comprised of dozens or even hundreds of component 

units. Conversely, a small government, such as that of a smaller city, will likely find that the composition 

of its financial reporting entity rarely changes over time. 
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Review Questions 

1. A special-purpose government can be a primary government, as long as: 

a. It can issue bonds with approval from another party 

b. It has corporate powers 

c. Its governing body has been appointed by another government 

d. It is restricted from buying property in its own name 

 

 



 
Chapter 10 

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

Learning Objectives 

• Describe the contents of the various components of the annual comprehensive financial report. 

• Describe how the order of liquidity is applied in the statement of net position. 

• Recognize the proper accounting treatment for issued debt. 

• Describe how a negative balance is treated in the restricted net position line item.  

• Identify the different categories used for program revenues. 

• Specify the formula underlying a balance sheet. 

 

Introduction 

Financial reporting is needed to assist with the management control, legislative oversight, and other external 

reporting requirements of a government entity. To this end, an annual comprehensive financial report 

(ACFR) should be prepared that includes all funds and activities of the primary government, while also 

providing an overview of all separately-presented component units of the entity. 

This chapter covers the components of and reporting rules for an ACFR. A condensed sample ACFR 

is included at the end of this chapter, showing the outlines of what the report would look like for a city 

government. 

 

Components of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

An ACFR is the official annual report of a government entity. It is intended to report a primary govern-

ment’s financial position and results of operations, while also providing an overview of all separately-

presented component units. It should be prepared and published as soon as possible after the fiscal year has 

been completed. It may also have attached to it the report of an independent auditor (if any), as well as a 

transmittal letter. 

 

The ACFR is comprised of the following sections: 

• Introduction. Includes at least a table of contents and a letter of transmittal. 

• Management’s discussion and analysis. This section introduces the basic financial statements and 

provides a summary analytical overview of the government’s financial activities. 

• Basic financial statements, which include: 

o Government-wide financial statements. Displays information about the government as a 

whole, other than any fiduciary activities. There should be separate columns for the primary 

government’s governmental and business-type activities, and for its component units (if 

any). The statement of net position and the statement of activities are included. 

o Fund financial statements. Includes the statements for the primary government’s govern-

mental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds, covering major funds individually and non-major 

funds in aggregate. The following reports are included: 

▪ Government funds. Includes a balance sheet and a statement of revenues, expend-

itures, and changes in fund balances. 

▪ Proprietary funds. Includes a statement of net position, a statement of cash flows, 

and a statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position. 
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▪ Fiduciary funds. Includes a statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of 

changes in fiduciary net position. 

• Required supplementary information. Includes all required information other than the material 

stated in the management’s discussion and analysis section. 

• Combining and individual fund statements. Includes combining statements, which are by fund type 

and for discretely presented component units. A combining statement by fund type is presented 

when a primary government has several internal service funds, fiduciary funds, or fiduciary com-

ponent units, or several non-major governmental or enterprise funds. A combining statement for 

discretely presented component units is reported when a reporting entity has more than one non-

major component unit. Individual fund statements are presented when the primary government has 

just one non-major fund of a particular fund type, or to present information not appearing in the 

supplementary information. 

• Schedules. The following schedules should accompany the financial statements: 

o Those needed to demonstrate compliance with legal and contractual provisions. 

o Those needed to assemble information scattered throughout the statements, such as for 

taxes receivable and long-term debt. 

o Those needed to report more detailed information than what appears in the statements, such 

as additional detail about revenue sources. 

• Narrative explanations. Includes discussions needed to understand the various statements, as well 

as schedules that are not included in the financial statement notes. 

• Statistical section. See the Statistical Section chapter for more information. 

 

Note: The basic financial statements must include both government-wide financial statements and fund 

financial statements. Omitting one or the other results in an incomplete presentation. 

 

The government-wide financial statements should contain information about the reporting entity as a whole, 

separately stating the total primary government and its component units. The financial statements should 

also differentiate between the primary government’s governmental and business-type activities. The en-

tity’s fund financial statements should state the primary government’s major funds individually and its non-

major funds in aggregate. If there are any fiduciary funds or component units, only report them in the 

statements of fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position. 

 

Introduction to the ACFR 

The primary component of the introduction to an ACFR is the letter of transmittal. There are no authorita-

tive requirements for the contents of the letter of transmittal, but it should not contain information that 

duplicates what can be found in the following management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) section. The 

letter can refer to information found in the MD&A section, and could add insights that go beyond the 

information found in the MD&A section. The transmittal can be a good place in which to discuss plans and 

other information that do not meet the criteria for inclusion in the MD&A section. 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The MD&A section should appear in the ACFR prior to the presentation of the financial statements. The 

MD&A section provides a brief analysis of a government’s financial activities, with a focus on the primary 

government’s financial performance and its financial position at the end of the reporting period. The com-

mentary should distinguish between information about the primary government and its component units. 

The need to discuss issues pertaining to a component unit should be based on that unit’s significance in 

relation to the primary government. Any discussion of component units should be based on an individual 
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component’s significance and relationship to the primary government, but it may occasionally be appropri-

ate to discuss component units in aggregate. 

The MD&A section should compare the results of the current year to those of the prior year, covering 

the positive and negative aspects of the comparison. When comparative financial statements are being pre-

sented, the MD&A should address all periods covered. Where possible, supplement the discussion with 

charts, graphs, and tables. The following topics should be discussed: 

• Overview discussion. Briefly describe the basic financial statements, including the relationships 

between the statements and significant differences in the information provided by them. The dis-

cussion should assist readers in understanding why the results reported in fund financial statements 

either reinforce what was stated in the government-wide statements, or provides additional infor-

mation. 

• Condensed information. Include a comparison of the current year to the prior year for the govern-

ment-wide financial statements, using condensed information. If relevant, include the following 

items in this analysis: 

o Total assets, separately noting capital and other assets 

o Total deferred resource outflows 

o Total liabilities, separately noting long-term liabilities and other liabilities 

o Total deferred resource inflows 

o Total net position, separately noting the net investment in capital assets, restricted amounts, 

and unrestricted amounts 

o Program revenues, noting major sources 

o General revenues, noting major sources 

o Total revenues 

o Program expenses, at least described by function 

o Total expenses 

o The excess or deficiency, before contributions, to term and permanent endowments or per-

manent fund principal, special and extraordinary items, and transfers 

o Contributions 

o Special and extraordinary items 

o Transfers 

o Change in net position 

o Ending net position 

• Overall assessment. Provide an analysis of the government’s overall financial position and results 

of operations, with the intent of assessing whether it has improved or deteriorated over the reporting 

period. The analysis should include both governmental and business-type activities, as well as rea-

sons for significant changes from the prior year. Also note any important economic factors that had 

a significant impact on operating results for the year. 

• Fund analysis. Include an analysis of the balances and transactions associated with individual 

funds, noting the reasons for significant changes in fund balances and fund net position, as well as 

whether there are any limitations such as restrictions or commitments that may significantly affect 

the availability of fund resources in the future. 

• Budget variations. Review any significant differences between the budget and actual results for the 

general fund, with a particular emphasis on any variations that are expected to have a significant 

impact on future services or liquidity. 

• Capital asset and debt activity. Describe significant capital asset and long-term debt activity during 

the year. The discussion can include commitments made for capital expenditures, credit rating 

changes, and debt limitations. 
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• Modified approach. If the modified approach is being used to account for capital assets, then note 

the following information: 

o Any significant changes in the assessed condition of eligible infrastructure assets from 

prior assessments. 

o How the current condition compares to the condition level set by the government. 

o Any significant differences between the estimated yearly amount needed to maintain infra-

structure assets and the actual amount spent in the current period. 

• Facts and conditions. Note any facts, decisions, or conditions that should have a significant impact 

on the financial position or results of operations. 

 

Only the preceding topics should be included in the MD&A section, though there is no limit to the level of 

detail that can be provided for the mandated topics. Other information that is outside of the scope of the 

MD&A section could be included in the letter of transmittal, or as supplementary information. 

 

Basic Financial Statements – Government-Wide 

The government-wide financial statements are comprised of the statement of net position and the statement 

of activities, which measure all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of re-

sources, revenues, expenses, gains and losses. The statements are constructed using the economic resources 

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 

The basic financial statements are intended to report information about the overall government, not 

breaking out individual funds or fund types. The statements exclude information about any fiduciary activ-

ities. The statements should also distinguish between the primary government and any separately-presented 

component units, where separate rows and columns are used to clearly identify the total primary govern-

ment and its discretely presented component units. It is allowable, but not required, to include prior-year 

data in these reports. 

The statements should also separately identify the governmental and business-type activities of the 

primary government. Governmental funds are typically financed through taxes, while business-type activ-

ities are financed by fees to outside parties for goods and services. 

Prior-year data may be presented in these financial statements, though there is no requirement to do so. 

If added, the additional information is usually presented in extra columns that are used for side-by-side 

comparisons. When a government has a complex structure, it may find that the most useful comparison 

with prior-year data requires the reproduction and inclusion of prior-year statements. 

 

Statement of Net Position 

The statement of net position is structured to report all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, 

deferred inflows of resources, and net position. The underlying formula on which the statement of net po-

sition is based is: 

 
Assets + Deferred outflows of resources – Liabilities – Deferred inflows of resources 

= Net position 

 

The rules related to the structuring and presentation of the statement of net position are: 

• Offsetting line items. Do not offset assets and liabilities on the statement unless there is a right of 

offset. 

• Deferred outflows of resources. The line items stating any deferred outflows of resources are re-

ported in a separate section that follows the presentation of assets. 
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• Deferred inflows of resources. The line items stating any deferred inflows of resources are reported 

in a separate section that follows the presentation of liabilities. 

• Net position. The residual amount in the statement is designated as the net position, rather than the 

net assets figure that is found in the financial statements of a nonprofit entity or the equity figure 

that is used by a for-profit entity. 

• Order of liquidity. Assets should be presented in their order of relative liquidity. For an asset, this 

means that an asset that is easily convertible into cash is stated before an asset that will require 

more time to convert into cash. For a liability, this means that a liability with a shorter maturity is 

stated before a liability with a longer maturity, or when cash is expected to be used to liquidate it. 

If the use of an asset is restricted, the asset may still be considered quite liquid if the restriction 

lapses in the near term (as may be the case when cash is being held in reserve to pay for a liability 

that will be settled soon). When an asset is restricted for a longer period of time, it should be pre-

sented lower down in the statement. 

• Split maturities. Liabilities that have average maturities of longer than one year are reported in two 

pieces, which are the amount due within one year and the amount due in more than one year. 

 

The difference between the line items in the statement of net position is its net position. There are three 

reporting components to a government’s net position, which are: 

• Net investment in capital assets. This part of net position includes capital assets, reduced by accu-

mulated depreciation, minus the outstanding balances of all borrowings attributable to the acquisi-

tion or construction of these assets. The effects of deferred inflows and outflows of resources at-

tributable to the acquisition or construction of these assets are also included. 

• Restricted. This part of net position includes restricted assets, minus liabilities and any deferred 

inflows of resources associated with those assets. Assets are considered to be restricted when con-

straints have been placed on asset use by outside parties such as creditors, or when imposed by 

enabling legislation. 

• Unrestricted. This part of net position is the residual amount that was not included in the reported 

net investment in capital assets, or in restricted net position. 

 

Tip: Maintain a separate schedule for the calculation of the net investment in capital assets, since its con-

struction can be difficult. Also, maintain a separate schedule for each prior reporting period, so that the 

calculation of the net investment in capital assets can be proven to auditors. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state legislature passes a law to earmark 10% of the state’s fuel tax revenues for investments in clean power sources. 

The earmarking of existing revenue is considered a funding commitment, rather than a restriction of the funds, so this 

action is not considered a restriction for the purposes of reporting net position. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A resident of Thistle City makes a $500,000 donation to the city, under the condition that the government matches the 

amount of the donation to create a permanent fund for the combined account. Both the donation and the government 

match should be reported as a restricted net position, since the matching amount is bound by the restriction imposed 

by the donor. 

 

 

If there are large amounts of unspent debt proceeds or deferred inflows of resources at the end of the re-

porting period, the unspent amount should not be included in the calculation of net investment in capital 

assets. Instead, the amount is included in either the restricted or unrestricted classifications. Unspent debt 

proceeds and the related debt liability should be reported within the same classification. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

Qanix City issues $10 million of bonds towards the end of the year in order to purchase capital assets. Qanix receives 

the proceeds from the bond issuance in that year, but a delay in the purchasing authorization process results in the 

related capital assets not being ordered until early in the following year. The entire amount of this debt should be 

included in the calculation of net position restricted for capital projects (which is a restricted classification). Since the 

debt is classified into the same location where the proceeds from the bond issuance are classified, the reported net 

amount is zero. 

 

 

In the preceding example, the accountant is reporting debt proceeds and the debt liability in the same place, 

thereby preventing one classification from being overstated while another is understated by approximately 

the same amount. 

When debt is issued with an associated premium or discount, the premium or discount is reported within 

the same classification as the related debt.  

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Thistle City issues $16 million of bonds to pay for its new wastewater treatment facility. The bonds were issued with 

a relatively high interest rate, so investors pay a premium for the bonds, resulting in $16.2 million of bond receipts, of 

which $200,000 is recorded as a premium. This premium is included in the calculation of Thistle’s net investment in 

capital assets, located in the statement of net position. 

 

 

When a government issues debt with the intent of using the proceeds to refund existing capital-related debt, 

the replacement debt is also considered to be capital-related for the purpose of reporting the net investment 

in capital assets in the statement of net position. 

A government may be required by the terms of a bond indenture agreement to establish a reserve ac-

count, into which it places funds from the bond issuance that will be used to pay for interest and buy back 

matured bonds. The amount in the reserve account should be classified within the restricted component of 

its net position, rather than the net investment in capital assets, since the funds cannot be attributed to the 

acquisition or improvement of capital assets. 

It is possible that the restricted net position calculation results in a negative figure. If so, move the net 

negative figure to the calculation of the unrestricted net position. By doing so, the restricted net position 

never appears as a negative figure. 

A sample statement of net position appears near the end of this chapter, in the Sample Annual Compre-

hensive Financial Report section. 

 

Statement of Activities 

The statement of activities is structured to report the net expense or revenue (sometimes referred to as net 

cost) associated with its individual functions. This net cost approach is used to clarify the relative financial 

burden of each government function on taxpayers. The rules related to the structuring and presentation of 

the statement of net position are: 

• Activities by function. Include in the statement those activities accounted for in governmental funds 

by function. Also include those activities accounted for in enterprise funds by different identifiable 

activities. 

• Revenue reporting. General revenues, contributions made to term and permanent endowments, 

contributions to permanent fund principal, special and extraordinary items, as well as transfers are 

to be reported separately, and after total net expenses. 
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Additional topics related to the statement of activities are covered in the following sub-sections. A sample 

statement of activities appears near the end of this chapter, in the Sample Annual Comprehensive Financial 

Report section. 

 

Expenses 

The expenses reported in the statement of activities should be stated by function, except for special or 

extraordinary items, which are reported in separate line items. The minimum level of reporting by function 

is to include all direct expenses, which are those specifically associated with a program, service, or depart-

ment. If a government chooses to allocate its indirect expenses (such as administration costs) to functions, 

then present direct and indirect expenses in separate columns within the report. Doing so makes it easier to 

compare the direct expenses of different governments. 

If the decision is made to allocate indirect expenses to functions, do so using a reasonable basis. If there 

is no reasonable basis, then it makes little sense to allocate these expenses. 

When there is a depreciation expense for capital assets that are associated with a specific function, 

include the depreciation expense in the direct expenses reported for that function. When a capital asset is 

being shared by several functions, ratably charge the related depreciation expense to each of the functions. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A Helix City administration building houses the offices of the public safety, wastewater management, and road mainte-

nance departments. Accordingly, the building’s depreciation is apportioned among these departments based on their 

proportional use of the building, which is measured based on square footage used. 

 

 

Note: When a government building serves all or many of the functions of the government, it is not necessary 

to include the related depreciation expense in the direct expenses of each of the functions. Instead, this 

depreciation can be included in the statement of activities as a separate line item, or as part of the general 

government function. 

 

If a separate line is used on the statement of activities to report unallocated depreciation expense, indicate 

on the face of the statement that this amount does not include any direct depreciation expenses that were 

charged directly to the various government programs. 

The depreciation expense related to infrastructure assets is not allocated. Instead, report it as a direct 

expense of the function with which capital outlays are normally associated, such as the public works de-

partment. A valid alternative is to report this expense in a separate line item on the statement of activities. 

Any interest expense incurred on general long-term liabilities should be treated as an indirect expense 

that is separately reported on the statement of activities. However, it is possible to include this interest 

expense in direct expenses when the borrowing is needed to support a program, and not doing so would be 

misleading to the readers of the program information. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Dalton County has a program to make reduced-rate loans to school districts within its boundaries. Dalton funds the 

program with a $10 million bond issuance. The interest expense associated with these bonds should be included in the 

direct expenses of the loan program, since the borrowing was essential to the ongoing existence of the program. Not 

including this expense in the program would incorrectly imply that the program is without cost. 
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Revenues 

There are four sources of financing for programs, which are noted in the following table, along with how 

these revenue types are classified within the statement of activities. 

 

Revenue Types and Classifications 

Revenue Source Classification in the Statement of Activities 

Taxpayers Always reported as general revenue, even if the resulting 

funds are restricted for the use of a specific program 

Those who purchase goods or services from the gov-

ernment 

Reported as program revenue 

Parties located outside of the government’s citizenry, 

such as other governments 

Can be restricted to a specific program; if unrestricted, it 

is reported as general revenue 

The government itself, such as by investing funds Usually reported as general revenue 

 

Program revenues are derived directly from the program’s own activities or come from outside parties in 

support of the program. These revenues are used to defray the cost of the program. There are three catego-

ries of program revenues, which are: 

• Charges for services. This revenue is generated by charges to customers who purchase or use the 

goods and services provided. Examples of these charges are garbage collection fees, liquor licenses 

and building permits. Fines and forfeitures are also included in this category, as well as payments 

from other governments for goods and services provided. 

• Operating grants and contributions. This revenue arises from non-exchange transactions with third 

parties that are restricted for the operational use of a specific program. 

• Capital grants and contributions. This revenue arises from non-exchange transactions with third 

parties that are restricted for the acquisition or renovation of capital assets associated with a specific 

program. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government provides funding to Qanix City for the construction of a nearby hydroelectric facility. This funding 

is classified by Qanix as capital grants and contributions. The state government also provides funding for an emer-

gency preparedness class for the city’s firefighters, which is classified as operating grants and contributions. In addi-

tion, the city’s parks and recreation department sells annual passes to the city’s tennis courts, which is classified as 

charges for services. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Roadway City is built around a major county road, for which the city has established very low speed limits. Passing 

motorists are routinely fined for breaking the speed limit, resulting in fines being one of the major revenue sources of 

the city. Even though Roadway relies in large part on these fines to finance its operations, the fines revenue should be 

reported within the public safety program, since they are generated by that function. 

 

 

When there is a multi-purpose grant that does not identify a specifically-targeted program, classify the grant 

amount as general revenues. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A state government awards a $5 million grant to Custer County, which is used to finance a number of the county’s 

programs. The grant award includes a list of the programs to be covered, but does not assign (restrict) specific amounts 

for individual programs. Since no amounts are being restricted to individual programs, the grant should be classified 

as general revenue. 

 

 

Note: There may be cases in which revenue can be associated with two or more programs. If so, adopt a 

policy for assigning the revenue, and follow it consistently. 

 

Any earnings generated from endowments or permanent funds should be reported as program-specific rev-

enues, if the source funds are restricted to specific programs. If there is no such restriction, then do not 

report the earnings as being program-specific. 

Developers may sometimes contribute infrastructure to a government, such as the road network asso-

ciated with a group of homes that have just been constructed. Contributed infrastructure is usually classified 

as program revenue, since the infrastructure is restricted by its nature. In cases where the intended use of a 

contributed asset is not obvious, it can instead be classified as general revenue. 

When revenues are not assigned to programs, classify them as general revenues, which are reported 

after total net expense in the statement of activities. 

Estimated uncollectible taxes should be recorded as a reduction of revenue, rather than as a bad debt 

expense. 

The following presentation format could be used to present an inclusive statement of activities. 

 

Special and Extraordinary Items 

An extraordinary item is an event that is unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. This type of trans-

action should be reported separately at the bottom of the statement of activities. A special item is an event 

that is within the control of management and is either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence. This 

type of transaction is also reported separately at the bottom of the statement of activities, before any ex-

traordinary items. 

 

Note: The default assumption is that an event or transaction is an ordinary and usual activity, which is only 

changed if there is clear evidence supporting classification as a special or extraordinary item. 
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Sample Format for a Statement of Activities 

   
Program Revenues 

 Net (Expense) Revenue and 
Changes in Net Position 

      Primary Government  

 

 
 

 
Functions 

 

 
 

 
Expenses 

 

 
Charges 

for 
Services 

Operating 

Grants 
and 

Contri- 
butions 

Capital 

Grants 
and 

Contri- 
butions 

  

 
Govern- 

mental 
Activities 

 

 
Business 

-Type 
Activities 

 

 
 

 
Total 

 

 
 

Component 
Units 

Primary Government          

Governmental activities          

Function 1 $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx  -$xxx --- -$xx $--- 

Function 2 xxx xxx xxx xxx  -xxx --- -xx --- 

Function 3 xxx xxx xxx xxx  -xxx --- -xx --- 

Total governmental activities xxx xxx xxx xxx  -xxx --- -xx --- 

Business-type activities          

Activity 1 xxx xxx --- xxx  --- xxx xx --- 

Activity 2 xxx xxx --- xxx  --- xxx xx --- 

Total business-type activities xxx xxx --- xxx  --- xxx xx --- 

Total primary government $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx  -$xxx $xxx $xx $-- 

Component units          

Unit 1 $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx  --- --- --- xx 

          

 General revenues – detailed  xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 Contributions to permanent funds  xxx --- xxx --- 

 Special items  xxx --- xxx --- 

 Transfers  xxx -xxx --- --- 

 Total general revenues, contributions, special 

items, and transfers 

 
xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 Change in net position  xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 Net position - beginning  xxx xx xxx xxx 

 Net position - ending  xxx xxx xxx xxx 

 

Basic Financial Statements – Fund Financial Statements 

The following sub-sections deal with several topics related to the basic financial statements that should be 

issued for funds. Sample financial statements for the various fund types can be found near the end of this 

chapter, in the Sample Annual Comprehensive Financial Report section. 

 

Major Funds 

A government should present separate financial statements for the primary government’s governmental and 

proprietary funds. The focus of the statements should be on major funds, with the information for each of 

these funds stated in a separate column. The information for non-major funds can be presented in a single 

column. A fund can be considered “major” based on the following criteria: 

• The total of all assets and deferred outflows of resources, the total of all liabilities and deferred 

inflows of resources, revenues, or expenditure/expenses of the individual fund are at least 10% of 

the corresponding element total for all funds of that type; and 

• The same elements that met the 10% criterion are at least 5% of the corresponding element total 

for all governmental and enterprise funds, when combined. 
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In addition to the preceding criteria, any other governmental or enterprise fund that is considered particu-

larly important to the users of a government’s financial statements can be reported as a major fund. 

It is possible that a fund will only be classified as a major fund for a short period of time. This is 

especially common for capital project funds, which may experience a high level of activity only for the 

duration of a specific capital project. 

A government may elect to report comparative financial statements that present the results for two or 

more years. When using this format, it is possible that funds designated as major in the current year were 

designated as non-major in a prior year. If so, the prior year designation(s) should remain in place, though 

it can be useful to include an explanation of the situation in the accompanying footnotes. 

 

Reconciliation to Government-Wide Statements 

A summary statement should be presented at the bottom of the fund financial statements or an accompany-

ing schedule, reconciling them to the government-wide financial statements. The reconciliation should ex-

plain any differences between the results and balances appearing in fund financial statements and the same 

information in the government-wide statements. The reconciliation contains the details of assets, deferred 

outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, revenues, and expenses that should be re-

ported in the government-wide statements, and the financing sources and uses that should not be reported 

in the government-wide statements. 

It may be necessary to provide additional disclosures regarding reconciling items in the accompanying 

notes, if the information in the reconciliation is so aggregated that it obscures the nature of individual ele-

ments. 

 

Note: If the reconciliation is included on an accompanying schedule, it is considered a continuation of the 

fund financial statement, and so should be on the page immediately following the fund financial statements. 

 

If it appears necessary to include lengthy explanations of items in the reconciliation, consider doing so in 

the accompanying notes to the financial statements, since there is little room for this information on the 

face of the fund financial statements. 

Sample reconciliations appear in the sample ACFR report at the end of this chapter. 

 

Required Financial Statements – Governmental Funds 

The financial reporting package for a governmental fund is comprised of a balance sheet and a statement 

of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. We address issues related to the specific financial 

statements in this reporting package in the following sub-sections. 

 

Balance Sheet 

The balance sheet states the current financial resources of each major governmental fund and in aggregate 

for all non-major governmental funds, along with a total column. A standard balance sheet format should 

be used to present assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund 

balances. The calculation used in the balance sheet should be: 

 
Assets + Deferred outflows of resources = Liabilities + Deferred inflows of resources + Fund balance 

 

For informational purposes, it can be useful to include a subtotal in the balance sheet for the following 

information: 

• Assets + total for deferred outflows of resources 

• Liabilities + total for deferred inflows of resources 
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A summary reconciliation should be included at the bottom of the fund financial statements or in an ac-

companying schedule, reconciling total government fund balances to the net position of governmental ac-

tivities in the statement of net position. Reconciling items may include: 

• Capital assets. Reporting capital assets at their historical cost and depreciating them, rather than 

reporting them as expenditures when incurred. 

• Long-term liabilities. Including general long-term liabilities not due and payable in the current pe-

riod. 

• Deferred inflows of resources. Reducing deferred inflows of resources for any amounts not avail-

able to pay current-period expenditures. 

• Internal service funds. Adding the net position balances of internal service funds. 

 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances reports information about the in-

flows, outflows, and balances of the current financial resources of each major governmental fund, as well 

as in aggregate for all non-major governmental funds. The statement should follow the general format noted 

in the following exhibit. 

 

Format of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Revenues (multiple line items) 

Expenditures (multiple line items) 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 

Other financing sources and uses, including transfers (multiple line items) 

Special and extraordinary items (possibly multiple line items) 

Net change in fund balances 

Fund balances – beginning of period 

Fund balances – end of period 

 

Several rules related to the classification of information in the statement of revenues, expenditures, and 

changes in fund balances report are as follows: 

• Revenue. Classify revenues by major revenue source. 

• Expenditures. Classify governmental fund expenditures by function.  

• Debt issue costs. Classify those debt issue costs paid out of debt proceeds as expenditures. Classify 

those debt issue costs paid from existing resources as expenditures when the related liability is 

incurred. 

 

The other financing sources and uses classification should include the following items: 

• The face amount of long-term debt 

• The issuance premium or discount 

• Payments to escrow agents for bond refundings 

• Transfers 

• Sales of capital assets 
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A summary reconciliation should be included at the bottom of the fund financial statements or in an ac-

companying schedule, reconciling the total change in government fund balances to the change in net posi-

tion of governmental activities in the statement of activities. Reconciling items may include: 

• Revenues. Reporting revenues on the accrual basis. 

• Depreciation. Reporting depreciation expense instead of expenditures for capital outlays. 

• Debt proceeds. Reporting long-term debt proceeds as liabilities in the statement of net position 

rather than as other financing sources. Also, reporting debt principal payments as reductions of 

liabilities in the statement of net position rather than as expenditures. 

• Expenses. Reporting other expenses using the accrual basis of accounting. 

• Internal service funds. Adding the net revenue or expense of internal service funds. 

 

Required Financial Statements – Proprietary Funds 

The financial reporting package for a proprietary fund is comprised of a statement of net position, a state-

ment of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position, and a statement of cash flows. In these state-

ments, the financial information for each major enterprise fund should be stated in a separate column, along 

with a combined total column for all enterprise funds. Further, the combined totals for all internal service 

funds should be reported in separate columns on the financial statements, to the right of the total enterprise 

funds column. We address issues related to the specific financial statements in this reporting package in the 

following sub-sections. 

 

Statement of Net Position 

The statement of net position presents the financial position of a fund. The following rules apply to the 

classification and reporting of information within this statement: 

• Current and long-term differentiation. Differentiate between the line items for current and long-

term assets and liabilities. 

• Offsetting. Do not offset assets and liabilities except when there is a right of offset. 

• Deferred outflows. Report deferred outflows of resources in a separate section that follows assets. 

The total for deferred outflows can be added to the asset total to report a subtotal. 

• Deferred inflows. Report deferred inflows of resources in a separate section that follows liabilities. 

The total for deferred inflows can be added to the liability total to report a subtotal. 

• Net position. Break the net position into three parts, which are the net investment in capital assets, 

restricted, and unrestricted. 

• Receivable deductions. When unearned discounts, finance charges, and interest have been added to 

the face amount of receivables, state these amounts in aggregate as a deduction from the receivables 

with which they are paired. 

• Allowances. When there is an asset valuation allowance for expected losses, deduct it on the state-

ment of net position from the asset(s) with which it is paired. 

• Asset restrictions. When there are restrictions on the use of assets that alter their normal availability, 

report these assets separately as restricted assets. 

 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position 

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position is the operating statement for pro-

prietary funds. The following rules apply to the classification and reporting of information within this state-

ment: 

• Revenue. Report revenues by major source, net of discounts and allowances. Also, distinguish be-

tween operating and non-operating revenues. 

• Expenses. Distinguish between operating and non-operating expenses. 
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• Non-operating revenues and expenses. Report non-operating revenues and expenses after operating 

income. 

• Subtotals. Present a separate subtotal for operating revenues, operating expenses, and operating 

income. 

 

Unless an entity’s principal activity is investing, any income earned from investments should be reported 

as non-operating revenue. Non-operating revenue also includes revenues from appropriations between pri-

mary governments and their component units for operating purposes, or which may be used for either op-

erating purposes or capital outlays. 

 

Tip: Create a policy that defines operating revenues and expenses and use it consistently over time to ensure 

consistent classification of revenue and expense transactions. 

 

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position should follow the general format 

noted in the following exhibit. 

 

Format of the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position 

Operating revenues (multiple line items) 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses (multiple line items) 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Non-operating revenues and expenses (multiple line items) 

Income before other revenues, expenses, gains, losses, and transfers 

Capital contributions, additions to permanent and term endowments, special and extraordinary 

items (multiple line items) and transfers 

Increase (decrease) in net position 

Net position – beginning of period 

Net position – end of period 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 

A statement of cash flows should be included in the financial statement package for proprietary funds. Use 

the direct method of presenting cash flows in this statement. The statement should be presented even if the 

operating income of the fund is zero. 

 

Other Topics 

The amounts reported as net position and changes in net position in the proprietary fund financial statements 

should match the net assets and changes in net position of business-type activities in the government-wide 

statement of activities. If there are any differences, explain them on the face of the fund statement or in an 

accompanying schedule. 

 

Required Financial Statements – Fiduciary Funds 

The financial statement reporting package for a fiduciary fund is comprised of the statement of fiduciary 

net position and the statement of changes in fiduciary net position. These statements should encompass all 

fiduciary funds of the primary government, plus any component units that are fiduciary in nature. 
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These statements should include a separate column for each type of fund, which may include the fol-

lowing: 

• Agency (custodial) funds 

• Investment trust funds 

• Pension trust funds 

• Private-purpose trusts 

 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

The statement of fiduciary net position is used to report on assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, 

deferred inflows of resources, and net position. Any amounts being reported as deferred outflows of re-

sources are reported in a separate section that follows assets. In the same manner, any amounts being re-

ported as deferred inflows of resources are reported in a separate section that follows liabilities. 

It is acceptable to add together the assets total and the deferred outflows of resources total to create a 

subtotal in the report. It is also acceptable to add together the liabilities total and the deferred inflows of 

resources total to create another subtotal. 

 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

The statement of changes in fiduciary net position is used to report on the additions to, deductions from and 

net change for the year in the net position of each type of fiduciary fund. The statement should itemize 

additions by source, separately displaying investment earnings, investment costs, and net investment earn-

ings. 

 

Comparative Financial Statements 

A government may elect to present the statement of net position and the flows statement for one or more 

preceding periods, plus the current period. When this presentation is used, include the notes to the financial 

statements that were presented for the preceding periods, if they continue to be significant to the reader’s 

understanding of the financial statements. If there has been a change in the manner of presentation of fi-

nancial information between the reported periods, provide an explanation for the change. For the purposes 

of this requirement, a “flows statement” is considered to be the government-wide statement of activities 

and the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position. 

 

Required Supplementary Information 

Required supplementary information is that set of schedules, statistical data, and other information that the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board considers to be essential to the financial reporting of a govern-

ment entity. Examples of this supplementary information are: 

• Budgetary comparison schedules 

• Information about employee benefits 

• Information concerning the modified approach for reporting infrastructure assets 

 

This required supplementary information is presented immediately after the financial statement notes in the 

ACFR. 

The budgetary comparison noted in the preceding list of supplementary information should be pre-

sented for the general budget, as well as for each major special revenue fund that has adopted an annual 

budget. If a government is unable to present this information, it must instead present budgetary comparison 

schedules that are based on the fund, organization, or program structure used by the government within its 

legally adopted budget. This comparison schedule notes the original budget, the final appropriated budget, 

and the actual inflows, outflows, and balances. Though not required, it is also possible to include a variance 
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column for the difference between the final budget and actual amounts, as well as between the original and 

final budget amounts. The definitions of original and final budgets are as follows: 

• Original budget. This is the first complete appropriated budget. 

• Final budget. This is the original budget after it has been adjusted for all reserves, transfers, 

allocations, supplemental appropriations, and other authorized legislative and executive 

changes. 

 

If there is an excess of expenditures over appropriations in the individual funds presented in a budgetary 

comparison and this excess represents a significant violation of finance-related legal provisions, disclose 

the issue in the notes accompanying the basic financial statements. 

 

Combining Statements and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules 

Combining and individual fund statements for the funds of the primary government are set forth in the 

financial section of the ACFR. These statements include the following: 

• Non-major governmental funds 

o Combining balance sheets 

o Combining statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances 

• Individual fund balance sheets and statements of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund bal-

ances, as well as the schedules needed to demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and 

contractual provisions of the governmental funds 

• Internal service funds and non-major enterprise funds 

o Combining statements of net position 

o Combining statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position 

o Combining statements of cash flows 

• Individual statements of net position; statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net 

position and of cash flows; and the schedules needed to demonstrate compliance with finance-

related legal and contractual provisions of the proprietary funds 

• Fiduciary funds 

o A combining statement of fiduciary net position 

o A combining statement of changes in fiduciary net position 

o A combining statement of changes in assets and liabilities for all agency funds 

 

The information presented for each component unit in the combining financial statements should be the 

entity totals from the component units’ statements of net position and activities. 

The schedules supporting the financial statements should present data that is on a legally or contractu-

ally required basis that is different from GAAP, as well as other data not required by GAAP, but which 

management wants to include. 

Narrative explanations of the financial statements should provide information not stated elsewhere in 

the ACFR, and which is needed to assure a reader’s understanding of the information provided, as well as 

to demonstrate compliance with any finance-related legal and contractual provisions. 

 

Statistical Tables 

Statistical tables are used to present comparative information that spans a number of reporting periods. The 

tables may also contain data from sources separate from the accounting records of the reporting entity, such 

as economic and population data. This topic is addressed in detail in the Statistical Section chapter. 
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Major Component Unit Information 

The financial statements of a reporting entity should allow readers to distinguish between the primary gov-

ernment and its component units. This can be done by presenting the component unit financial data in the 

statement of net position and the statement of activities, though fiduciary component units should only be 

included in the fund financial statements as part of the primary government’s fiduciary funds. In addition, 

information must be provided about each major component unit in the basic financial statements of the 

reporting entity. This can be done in one or more of the following ways: 

• By presenting each major component unit in a separate column in the statements of net position 

and activities. 

• By including combining statements of major component units in the basic statements after the fund 

financial statements. 

• By presenting condensed financial statements in the notes accompanying the financial statements. 

 

If the third option is taken and condensed financial statements are presented in the accompanying notes, the 

following information should be included in the presentation: 

• Condensed statement of net position 

o Total assets, separately noting current assets, capital assets, receivables from other funds, 

and other assets 

o Total deferred outflows of resources 

o Total liabilities, separately noting current liabilities, long-term liabilities, and amounts pay-

able to other funds 

o Total deferred inflows of resources, separately noting the net investment in capital assets, 

restricted and unrestricted 

o Total net position 

• Condensed statement of activities 

o Expenses  

o Program revenues by type 

o Net program revenue or expense 

o Tax revenues 

o Other non-tax general revenues 

o Contributions to endowments and permanent fund principal 

o Special and extraordinary items 

o Change in net position 

o Beginning net position 

o Ending net position 

 

Account Classification Rules 

The following account classification rules should be followed when preparing financial statements: 

• The statement of activities should present the following information, at a minimum: 

o Activities accounted for in governmental funds by function, coinciding with the level of 

detail required in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes 

in fund balance. 

o Activities accounted for in enterprise funds by different identifiable activities. 
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• Governmental fund revenues are to be classified by fund and source, while expenditures are clas-

sified by fund, function or program, organization unit, activity, character, and principal classes of 

objects. 

• Proprietary fund revenues are reported by major sources, while expenses are classified in the same 

manner used by similar business organizations. Revenues and expenses are to be identified as op-

erating or non-operating. 

• The proceeds from general long-term debt issues are to be classified separately from revenues and 

expenditures in the governmental fund financial statements. 

• Contributions to endowments, permanent fund principal, other capital contributions, special and 

extraordinary items, and transfers between governmental and business-type activities are to be re-

ported separately from general revenues in the government-wide statement of activities. These 

items are to be reported separately in the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and 

changes in fund net position, after non-operating revenues and expenses. 

• Transfers are to be classified separately from revenues and expenditures in the governmental fund 

statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. 

• Special and extraordinary items should be reported after “other financing sources and uses” in the 

governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. 

 

Disclosures 

A number of disclosures should be included in an ACFR. Some of them are noted in the following bullet 

points; additional disclosure commentary appears in the following chapters, in relation to the topics cov-

ered. The disclosures are: 

• Adjustments. An estimated amount may be initially reported for an extraordinary or special item, 

based on the facts known at the time. When there is an adjustment in the current period to one of 

these items that was reported in a prior period, disclose the year of origin, nature, and amount of 

the adjustment. 

• Administrative overhead charges. A government may charge funds or programs for the centralized 

expenses of the entity, which may result in an administrative overhead charge. The summary of 

significant accounting policies that accompanies the ACFR should disclose that these allocations 

are included in the direct expenses reported for funds or programs. 

• Fund purpose. Disclose the purpose of each major special revenue fund, stating which revenues 

and other resources are reported in each of the funds. 

• Nature of transactions. Disclose for each major component unit the nature and amount of any sig-

nificant transactions with the primary government and other component units. 

• Revenue and expense policy. Disclose the government’s policy that defines operating revenues and 

expenses. This disclosure should appear in the summary of significant accounting policies. 

• Unusual transactions. If there are any significant transactions or other events that are either unusual 

or infrequent, but not within the control of management, disclose them in the notes to the financial 

statements. 

 

When a primary government is presented in more than one column of its basic financial statements, the 

entity should disclose in its summary of significant accounting policies the activities included in each of 

the following columns: 

• Major funds 

• Internal service funds 

• Fiduciary funds 
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For example, the activities of an internal service fund could be described as the maintenance of government 

facilities to other funds on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

 

Sample Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

This section contains a highly compressed sample version of an ACFR, not including the notes and required 

supplementary information, which are addressed in later chapters. The sample is based on the reporting that 

a city government might generate. This information is intended to expand upon the general concepts noted 

earlier in this chapter. The sample report is not intended to be a model from which a real ACFR would be 

constructed. The sub-headings in this section correspond to the headings that would be used in an ACFR. 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

This section of Helix City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) offers readers a narrative 

overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the year ended December 31, 20X2. Readers 

are encouraged to consider the information presented here, in conjunction with the letter of transmittal, the 

basic financial statements, and the notes to the financial statements contained in this report. 

 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis is intended to provide an introduction to the City’s basic financial 

statements. The City’s basic financial statements contain three components, which are government-wide 

financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial statements. Following these state-

ments, this report provides additional supplementary information. The basic financial statements include 

two types of statements that present unique views of the City’s financial position: (1) government-wide 

financial statements and (2) fund financial statements. 

 

1. Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements are intended to provide readers with a broad overview of 

the City’s financial condition. They are presented using accounting methods very similar to those used 

by a privately-owned business, or the economic resources measurement focus, and full accrual account-

ing. These financial statements include the following: 

• Statement of net position. This report presents information on all of the City’s assets and lia-

bilities, with the balance between the two reported as the net position. Over time, increases or 

decreases in net position can serve as an indicator of the City’s financial condition. 

• Statement of activities. This report presents information showing how the City’s net position 

changed during the given fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the 

underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

Capital expenditures are not included in this statement; however, capital grant revenues are 

reported. 

 

2. Fund Financial Statements 

The fund financial statements focus on specific elements of the City’s finances and report on fund-

specific operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements. A fund is a grouping 

of resources that are segregated for the purpose of carrying a specific activity or attaining certain ob-

jectives in accordance with given regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 
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Governmental Funds 

The governmental funds presentation is different from the governmental activities section of the gov-

ernment-wide financial statements, even though these two statements account for essentially the same 

activities. Governmental funds, as presented, have a budgetary or current financial resources measure-

ment focus and use the modified accrual basis of accounting. That is, the governmental funds presen-

tation focuses on the City’s near-term financial position and changes thereto. 

 

Proprietary Funds 

Proprietary funds are unlike governmental funds in that they report the business-type activities of the 

City. Enterprise funds account for the operation of governmental programs that are intended to be sup-

ported primarily by user fees. These fees are presented as business-type activities on the government-

wide financial statements but are presented in greater detail in the fund financial statements. In both 

cases, enterprise funds are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and full accrual 

accounting. 

 

3. Notes to the Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a thorough 

understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and the fund financial statements. 

 

Government-Wide Financial Statement Analysis 

 

Assets 

As of December 31, 20X2, the City had total assets of $262 million and its assets exceeded its liabilities by 

$232 million. The following exhibit indicates the City’s net position. 
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Helix City’s Net Position 

(in millions) 

 

 Governmental 

Activities 

Business-Type 

Activities 

 

Total 

 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 

Current and other assets $86.5 $105.0 $0.3 $0.3 $86.8 $105.3 

Capital assets 152.5 157.1 -- -- 152.5 157.1 

Total assets 239.0 262.1 0.3 0.3 239.3 $262.4 

       

Long-term liabilities 2.7 2.7 -- -- 2.7 2.7 

Other liabilities 9.4 12.1 0.3 0.3 9.7 12.4 

Total liabilities 12.1 14.8 0.3 0.3 12.4 15.1 

       

Deferred inflows of resources 13.2 15.0 -- -- 13.2 15.0 

       

Net position       

Net investment in capital assets 152.5 157.1 -- -- 152.5 157.1 

Restricted 9.5 11.7 0.1 0.1 9.6 11.8 

Unrestricted 51.7 63.4 -0.1 -0.1 51.6 63.3 

Total net position $213.7 $232.3 $0 $0 $213.7 $232.3 

 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets are the largest portion of the City’s total assets, representing $157 million of its total assets. 

Capital assets being depreciated increased during 20X2 by $1 million as a result of the completion of capital 

projects related to streets, traffic signals, park construction, buildings, and related activities. Capital assets 

not being depreciated increased during 20X2 by $7 million, due to the net increase of construction in pro-

gress for infrastructure. 

 

Long-Term Debt 

The City’s long-term debt has decreased slightly. There were no additional long-term debt agreements dur-

ing 20X2. 

 

The following exhibit reflects the City’s change in net position. 
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Changes in Helix City Net Position 

(in millions) 

 

 Governmental 

Activities 

Business-Type 

Activities 

 

Total 

 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 

Revenues       

Program revenues       

Charges for services $3.3 $2.9 $3.6 $4.9 $6.9 $7.8 

Operating grants and contributions 6.2 6.5 -- -- 6.2 6.5 

Capital grants and contributions 3.5 9.1 -- -- 3.5 9.1 

General revenue       

Sales and use taxes 42.0 46.4 -- -- 42.0 46.4 

Property taxes 14.0 12.9 -- -- 14.0 12.9 

Other taxes 0.6 0.6 -- -- 0.6 0.6 

Unrestricted franchise fees 5.1 5.1 -- -- 5.1 5.1 

Investment income 0.2 0.2 -- -- 0.2 0.2 

Intergovernmental revenues not 

restricted to specific programs 
0.6 0.5 -- -- 0.6 0.5 

Miscellaneous 0.4 0.9 -- -- 0.4 0.9 

Total revenues 75.9 85.1 3.6 4.9 79.5 90.0 

       

Expenses       

General government 11.8 13.2 -- -- 11.8 13.2 

Community services 22.2 23.8 -- -- 22.2 23.8 

City infrastructure 24.7 24.7 -- -- 24.7 24.7 

Culture and recreation 2.5 1.0 -- -- 2.5 1.0 

Urban redevelopment 5.5 4.6 -- -- 5.5 4.6 

Interest on long-term debt 0.1 0.1 -- -- 0.1 0.1 

Land use service fees -- -- 3.1 4.0 3.1 4.0 

Total expenses 66.8 67.4 3.1 4.0 69.9 71.4 

Increase (decrease) before 

transfers 
9.1 17.7 0.5 0.9 9.6 18.6 

Transfers 0.5 0.9 -0.5 -.09 -- -- 

Increase (decrease) in net position 9.6 18.6 -- -- 9.6 18.6 

Net position, beginning of year 204.1 213.7 -- -- 204.1 213.7 

Net position, end of year $213.7 $232.3 $-- $-- $213.7 $232.3 

 

Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $19 million. Key elements of this net increase 

were as follows: 

• Capital grants and contributions increased by $6 million, which included intergovernmental grants 

and contributions for capital road construction. 

• Sales and use tax increased by $4 million, primarily as the result of higher revenues in the sales tax 

base, which was derived from both in-City retailers and out-of-City retailers. 

• Culture and recreation expense declined by $2 million, due to a reduction in the amount of mainte-

nance required by the City’s trails, venues, and parks. 

 

Fund Financial Statement Analysis 

The City uses fund accounting to segregate resources for the purpose of carrying on a specific activity or 

attaining certain objectives in accordance with regulations, restrictions, or other limitations on the use of 

the funds. 
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Revenues 

General Fund revenues increased $4 million in 20X2 in comparison to 20X1. Sales tax revenues increased 

by $3 million, due to an increase in the licensing of approximately 200 out-of-City retailers and the collec-

tion of an additional $1 million from compliance audits. 

The Urban Redevelopment Authority Fund revenues declined by $1 million, as the result of lower 

property tax collections in the redevelopment area. Some of the properties located in this area filed a petition 

for the abatement of property taxes, which was approved by the County. 

Capital Improvement Fund revenues increased by $6 million, as the result of funds received from in-

tergovernmental agreements for the Westerly Road widening project during 20X2. 

 

Expenditures 

General Fund expenditures and transfers increased $15 million in comparison to 20X1. The primary change 

was transfers of $10 million from the General Fund to the Capital Improvement Fund, for projects associ-

ated with street construction, traffic signals, and street rehabilitation. There was also a $2 million increase 

in Community Services, primarily to fund contracted expenditures for public safety. There was also a $1 

million increase in City Infrastructure expenditures, caused by higher contracted costs for the City’s public 

work services. 

The Urban Redevelopment Authority Fund expenditures decreased by $1 million, while the Capital 

Improvement Fund expenditures increased by $1 million, due to new construction for streets and intersec-

tions, as well as services for construction management. 

 

Fund Balance 

The net change in the General Fund balance was a decrease of $6 million. Economic peaks and planned 

savings allow the City the opportunity to increase the fund balance, while timely financial planning provides 

financial flexibility during economic downturns. Since its incorporation, the City has increased the balance 

in the General Fund in each year, with the exception of 20X0, when a significant amount was transferred 

to the Capital Improvement Fund for capital projects. That transfer is funding construction of the Westerly 

Road widening project. 

The net change in the balance in the Capital Improvement Fund was an increase of $18 million, pri-

marily due to a revised budget transfer for projects associated with street construction. 

 

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 

The 20X3 Budget was developed to provide desired City services at the maximum level possible while 

maintaining financially responsible practices. While the City has been fortunate to be relatively resilient to 

the impact of the downturn in overall economic conditions in prior years, the City remains cautious about 

the local economy over the next several years. The 20X3 and future budgets will respond to the challenge 

of balancing the ongoing maintenance of infrastructure with the community’s standards of excellence in 

public works, public safety, and quality of life. 

The City’s budget is the long-range plan by which financial policy is implemented and controlled. The 

City Council’s goals, City-wide objectives, ordinances and resolutions provide policy direction that respond 

to the needs and desires of the community. The City’s budget process is a continuous cycle that begins with 

the Council’s strategic vision and planning, continues through the planning and development stages of the 

budget, and finishes with the final adoption of the budget by the Council. 

The total budget for 20X3 is $83 million. Department directors prepared their 20X3 budgets with a zero 

percent increase in expenditures over the adopted 20X2 budget, excluding increases for salaries, health care 

costs, and other types of expenditures beyond the control of the City, such as the costs of asphalt and con-

crete. Increases were also permitted for certain contractual obligations of the City, such as increases 
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required by service providers. The 20X3 Adopted Budget includes health care cost increases of 12%, based 

on estimated projections. 

 

Basic Financial Statements 

 

Statement of Net Position 

The statement of net position displays information about the financial and capital resources of the City as 

a whole. This report includes the primary government and its component units, but does not include fidu-

ciary funds and component units that are fiduciary in nature. 
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Helix City 

Statement of Net Position 

December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

 Primary Government 

 Governmental 

Activities 

Business-Type 

Activities 

 

Total 

ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents $83.4 $0.3 $83.7 

Taxes receivable 20.2 -- 20.2 

Other receivables 0.8 -- 0.8 

Intergovernmental receivables 0.5 -- 0.5 

Prepaid expenses -- -- -- 

Capital assets, not being depreciated 100.0 -- 100.0 

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 57.2 -- 57.2 

Total assets 262.1 0.3 262.4 

    

LIABILITIES    

Accounts payable 5.0 0.3 5.3 

Retainage payable 0.2 -- 0.2 

Accrued liabilities 1.8 -- 1.8 

Other liabilities 0.9 -- 0.9 

Accrued interest payable -- -- -- 

Developer contributions and deposits 4.1 -- 4.1 

Long-term liabilities:    

Due within one year 0.1 -- 0.1 

Due in more than one year 2.7 -- 2.7 

Total liabilities 14.8 0.3 15.1 

    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES    

Property taxes 15.0 -- 15.0 

    

NET POSITION    

Net investment in capital assets 157.1 -- 157.1 

Restricted for:    

Emergency reserves 2.4 0.1 2.5 

Parks and open space 7.9 -- 7.9 

District infrastructure 1.0 -- 1.0 

Urban redevelopment 0.4 -- 0.4 

Unrestricted 63.5 -0.1 63.4 

Total net position $232.3 $-- $232.3 

 

Statement of Activities 

The statement of activities displays information about the results of the City’s operations as a whole. This 

report includes the primary government and its component units, but does not include fiduciary funds and 

component units that are fiduciary in nature. 
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Helix City 

Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

   

Program Revenues 

 Net (Expense) Revenue and 

Change in Net Position 

      Primary Government 

 

 

 

 
Functions 

 

 

 

 
Expenses 

 

 

Charges 

for 
Services 

Operating 

Grants 

and 

Contri- 
butions 

Capital 

Grants 

and 

Contri- 
butions 

  

 

Govern- 

mental 
Activities 

 

 

Business 

-Type 
Activities 

 

 

 

 
Total 

Primary Government         

Governmental activities         

General government $13.2 $0.2 $-- $--  -$12.9 $-- -$12.9 

Community services 23.8 1.9 -- --  -21.9 -- -21.9 

City infrastructure 24.7 0.8 6.5 6.2  -11.3 -- -11.3 

Culture and recreation 1.0 -- -- 2.9  1.9 -- 1.9 

Urban redevelopment 4.6 -- -- --  -4.6 -- -4.6 

Interest on long-term debt 0.1 -- -- --  -0.1 -- -0.1 

Total governmental activities 67.4 2.9 6.5 9.1  -48.9 -- -48.9 

Business-type activities         

Land use 4.0 4.9 -- --  -- 0.9 0.9 

Total primary government 71.4 7.8 6.5 9.1  -48.9 0.9 -48.0 

         

 General revenues:     

 Sales tax  38.3 -- 38.3 

 Use tax  3.5 -- 3.5 

 Property tax  12.9 -- 12.9 

 Auto use tax  4.6 -- 4.6 

 Other taxes  0.6 -- 0.6 

 Unrestricted franchise fees  5.1 -- 5.1 

 Investment income  0.2 -- 0.2 

 Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to spe-
cific programs 

 
0.5 -- 0.5 

 Miscellaneous  0.9 -- 0.9 

 Transfers  0.9 -0.9 -- 

 Total general revenues and transfers  67.5 -- 66.6 

 Change in net position  18.6 -- 18.6 

 Net position - beginning  213.7 -- 213.7 

 Net position - ending  $232.3 $-- $232.3 

 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

The financial statements for the governmental funds are comprised of the balance sheet and a statement of 

revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances. The balance sheet shows the financial position of the 

funds as of the balance sheet date, while the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund bal-

ances reports information about the inflows, outflows, and balances of current financial resources of each 

major governmental fund, plus these amounts in aggregate for non-major governmental funds. 
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Helix City 

Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 

December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

  

 

 
 

General 

Urban 

Redevelop-

ment 
Authority 

Fund 

 

 

Capital 
Improvement 

Fund 

 

 

Total 
Non-major 

Funds 

 

 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

ASSETS      

Cash and cash equivalents $39.8 $0.4 $34.2 $9.0 $83.5 

Taxes receivable 14.5 5.3 -- 0.4 20.2 

Other receivables 0.8 -- -- -- 0.8 

Intergovernmental receivables 0.5 -- -- -- 0.5 

Prepaid items -- -- -- -- -- 

Total assets 55.6 5.7 34.2 9.4 105.0 

      

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 

     

Liabilities:      

Accounts payable 4.0 -- 0.9 0.1 5.0 

Retainage payable -- -- 0.1 -- 0.1 

Accrued liabilities 0.6 -- 1.2 -- 1.8 

Other liabilities 0.9 -- -- -- 0.9 

Developer contributions and deposits 4.1 -- -- -- 4.1 

Total liabilities 9.6 -- 2.2 0.1 11.9 

Deferred inflows of resources:      

Property taxes 9.3 5.3 -- 0.4 15.0 

Grants 0.1 -- -- -- 0.1 

Total deferred inflows of resources 9.4 5.3 -- 0.4 15.1 

      

FUND BALANCE      

Non-spendable -- -- -- -- -- 

Restricted for:      

Emergency reserves 1.4 -- 1.0 0.1 2.5 

Parks and open space -- -- -- 7.9 7.9 

District infrastructure -- -- -- 0.9 0.9 

Urban redevelopment -- 0.4 -- -- 0.4 

Assigned to City infrastructure -- -- 31.0 -- 31.0 

Unassigned 35.2 -- -- -- 35.2 

Total fund balances 36.6 0.4 32.0 8.9 77.9 

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 

and fund balances 
$55.6 $5.7 $34.2 $9.4 $105.0 
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Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because: 

 

Total fund balance – governmental funds $77.9 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources, and there-

fore are not reported in the funds (shown net of accumulated depreciation) 
157.1 

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial re-

sources are deferred in the funds 
0.1 

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, accrued interest payable, and ac-

crued compensation absences are not due and payable in the current year, and so 

are not reported in governmental funds 

-2.8 

Total net position of governmental activities $232.3 
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Helix City 

Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 

for the Year Ended 12/31/X2 

(in millions) 

 

  

 

General 

Fund 

Urban 

Redevelopment 

Authority 

Fund 

 

Capital 

Improvement 

Fund 

 

Total 

Non-major 

Funds 

 

Total 

Governmental 

Funds 

REVENUE      

Taxes $55.0 $4.6 $-- $0.4 $60.0 

Intergovernmental 6.9 1.0 6.3 2.9 17.2 

Charges for services 2.8 -- -- -- 2.9 

Franchise fees 5.1 -- -- -- 5.1 

Investment income 0.2 -- -- 11.3 0.2 

Miscellaneous 0.7 -- 0.1 -- 0.9 

Total revenues 70.7 5.6 6.4 3.4 86.2 

      

EXPENDITURES      

Current:      

General government 13.0 -- -- -- 13.0 

Community services 23.8 -- -- -- 23.8 

City infrastructure 13.7 -- 7.3 0.1 21.1 

Culture and recreation -- -- -- 1.1 1.1 

Urban redevelopment -- 5.6 -- -- 5.6 

Capital outlay 0.8 -- 7.4 0.2 8.4 

Debt service      

Principal -- -- -- 0.1 0.1 

Interest -- -- -- 0.1 0.1 

Total expenditures 51.3 5.6 14.7 1.6 73.1 

Revenue over (under) expendi-

tures 
19.5 -- -8.3 1.8 13.1 

      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)     

Transfers in 0.9 -- 26.3 -- 27.2 

Transfers out -26.3 -- -- -- -26.3 

Total other financing sources and uses -25.4 -- 26.3 -- 0.9 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BAL-

ANCE 
-5.9 -- 18.0 1.8 14.0 

Fund balances – beginning 42.4 0.4 13.9 7.1 63.9 

Fund balances – ending $36.5 $0.4 $31.9 $8.9 $77.9 
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Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because of the 

following items: 

 

Net change in fund balance – total governmental funds $14.0 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in 

the Statement of Activities, the costs of those assets are depreciated over 

their estimated useful lives (shown net of depreciation) 

4.6 

Repayment of long-term obligations are reported as expenditures in gov-

ernmental funds, but they reduce long-term liabilities in the Statement of 

Net Position and do not affect the Statement of Activities 

0.1 

Certain revenues will not be collected for several months after the City’s 

fiscal year-end, and so are not considered available resources 
-0.1 

Change in net position of governmental activities $18.6 

 

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

The financial statements for the City’s proprietary fund are comprised of the statement of net position, a 

statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, and a statement of cash flows. The balance 

sheet shows the financial position of the fund as of the balance sheet date, while the statement of revenues, 

expenses and changes in net position reports information about operating revenues and expenses. The state-

ment of cash flows indicates the amounts of cash flows from operating and other sources. 
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Helix City 

Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Fund 

December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

 Business-Type 

Activities 

 Land Use 

ASSETS  

Current assets:  

Cash and cash equivalents $0.3 

Prepaid expenses -- 

Total current assets 0.3 

Noncurrent assets:  

Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 0.1 

Total noncurrent assets 0.1 

Total assets 0.4 

  

LIABILITIES  

Current liabilities:  

Accounts payable 0.3 

Accrued liabilities 0.1 

Total liabilities 0.4 

  

NET POSITION  

Restricted for:  

Emergency reserves 0.1 

Unrestricted -0.1 

Total net position $-- 

 

 



Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

116 

Helix City 

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

Proprietary Fund 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

 Business-Type 

Activities 

 Land Use 

OPERATING REVENUE  

Building permits, licenses and fees $4.0 

Contractor’s licenses and bus shelter fees 0.3 

Land use permits and other income 0.6 

Total operating revenue 4.9 

  

OPERATING EXPENSES  

Personnel services 0.5 

Contracted services 3.2 

Services and supplies 0.3 

Total operating expenses 4.0 

  

Operating income before transfers 0.9 

Transfers out -0.9 

  

Change in net position -- 

Net position – beginning of year -- 

Net position – end of year $-- 
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Helix City 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Fund 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

 Business-Type 

Activities 

 Land Use 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

Cash received from customers $4.9 

Cash paid to employees -0.4 

Cash paid to vendors -3.6 

Net cash provided by operating activities 0.9 

  

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities  

Transfers out -0.9 

Net cash used by non-capital financing activities -0.9 

  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -- 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 0.3 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 0.3 

  

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided 

by operating activities 

 

Operating income 0.9 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash pro-

vided by operating activities: 

 

Decrease in accounts payable -- 

Decrease in accrued liabilities -- 

Net adjustments -- 

  

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $0.9 

 

Combining Statements 

In the following statements, we provide additional detail for the non-major funds that had been aggregated 

for reporting purposes in earlier financial statements. The reports provided are a combining balance sheet 

and a combining statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance. 
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Helix City 

Combining Balance Sheet 

Non-major Governmental Funds 

December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

  

Open 

Space 

Fund 

 

Conservation 

Trust 

Fund 

General 

Improvement 

District 

Fund 

Total 

Non-major 

Governmental 

Funds 

ASSETS     

Cash and investments $5.7 $2.3 $1.0 $9.0 

Taxes receivable -- -- 0.3 0.3 

Total assets 5.7 2.3 1.3 9.3 

     

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 

RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE 

    

     

LIABILITIES     

Accounts payable 0.1 -- -- 0.1 

     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES     

Property taxes -- -- 0.4 0.4 

     

FUND BALANCE     

Restricted for:     

Emergency reserves 0.1 -- -- 0.1 

Parks and open space 5.6 2.3 -- 7.9 

District infrastructure -- -- 0.9 0.9 

Total fund balance 5.7 2.3 0.9 8.9 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED IN-

FLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND FUND 

BALANCE 

$5.7 $2.3 $1.3 $9.3 
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Helix City 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 

Non-major Governmental Funds 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

(in millions) 

 

  

Open 

Space 

Fund 

 

Conservation 

Trust 

Fund 

General 

Improvement 

District 

Fund 

Total 

Non-major 

Governmental 

Funds 

REVENUES     

Taxes $-- $-- $0.4 $0.4 

Intergovernmental 2.4 0.5 -- 2.9 

Total revenues 2.4 0.5 0.4 3.3 

     

EXPENDITURES     

Current     

City infrastructure -- -- 0.1 0.1 

Culture and recreation 0.9 0.1 -- 1.0 

Capital outlay 0.2 -- -- 0.2 

Debt service     

Principal -- -- 0.1 0.1 

Interest -- -- 0.1 0.1 

Total expenditures 1.1 0.1 0.3 1.5 

     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 1.3 0.4 0.1 1.8 

Fund balance – beginning of year 4.3 1.9 0.8 7.1 

Fund balance – end of year $5.7 $2.3 $0.9 $8.9 

 

Summary 

The annual comprehensive financial report is by far the most wide-ranging and detailed financial report 

that a government will issue. The exact structure of this report will vary by the type and complexity of the 

government in question. For example, the contents of an ACFR for a school district will vary substantially 

from that of a city, county, or state. Consequently, the accountant who has been assigned the task of pro-

ducing an ACFR might feel that a great deal of work is needed to produce the required document (which is 

quite true), involving sorting through the various requirements and constructing the most applicable report 

formats and accompanying narratives. To reduce the uncertainty associated with constructing an ACFR, 

the accountant would be well advised to access a sample ACFR for the most representative type of entity 

(which is readily available on-line), and use that as a model for the construction of the needed ACFR. 
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Review Questions 

1. Which of the following items is not included in an annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR)? 

a. Fund financial statements 

b. Required supplementary information 

c. Measurements section 

d. Combining and individual fund statements 

 

2. Which of the following sources of financing for programs is shown with the correct classification within 

the statement of activities? 

a. The government itself | Reported as general revenue 

b. Other governments | Reported as agency fund revenue 

c. Buyers of goods from the government | Reported as general revenue 

d. Taxpayers | Reported as program revenue 

 

 



 
Chapter 11 

Additional Financial Reporting Considerations 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the disclosures used when there is a related party transaction. 

• Describe the proper accounting for the correction of an error. 

• Define a change in estimate, principle, and entity. 

 

Introduction 

A government’s financial statements incorporate a number of special events or occurrences that could have 

a significant impact on reported results. In this chapter, we address the following financial reporting con-

siderations: 

• Related party transactions 

• Subsequent events 

• Going concern considerations 

• Prior period adjustments 

• Accounting changes and error corrections 

 

Related Party Transactions 

A government may engage in any number of transactions with related parties. For example, there could be 

a transaction with a joint venture in which a government is a partial owner, or with an elected official, or 

with a manager who works for the government, or perhaps with a pension plan that is managed by the 

government. There are many possible related party transactions, such as: 

• The purchase or sale of property 

• Accounting, engineering, and legal services 

• A lending or leasing arrangement 

• A guarantee of a debt or some other future payment 

 

In short, any transaction can be with a related party. When there is a related party transaction, the following 

disclosures are required: 

• The nature of the relationship 

• A description of the transaction 

• The dollar amount associated with the transaction 

• Any amounts due from or payable to related parties, as well as the terms and manner of settlement 

 

The preceding disclosure is not needed for compensation arrangements, expense or expenditure allowances, 

or other items that arise in the ordinary course of operations. 

When the substance of a transaction differs significantly from its form because of the presence of a 

related party, record the transaction so that its substance is recognized, rather than just its legal form. 
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Subsequent Events 

A subsequent event is one that occurs after the date of the financial statements (meaning the date of the 

statement of net position or similar report), but before the statements are issued. Some of these subsequent 

events must be recognized in the financial statements for the period that they follow. This is the case when: 

• A subsequent event provides additional evidence about the conditions existing at the date of the 

statement of net position; and 

• The event impacts the estimates used in preparing the financial statements. 

 

In this situation, alter the estimates as appropriate, which in turn will lead to revisions in the financial 

statements. 

Other subsequent events are not recognized in the financial statements of the period that they follow. 

This is the case when a subsequent event provides evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date 

of the statement of net position. However, depending on the event, it may be necessary to disclose the 

information in the notes accompanying the financial statements, because it is considered essential to a 

reader’s understanding of the financial statements. Examples of non-recognized events include: 

• Changes in the quoted prices of securities 

• The issuance of bonds 

• Damage to government-owned property 

• The creation of a new component unit 

 

Of the preceding list of non-recognized events, the final three would all probably be disclosed in the finan-

cial statements, since they are significant events that are essential to the financial statements. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The 20X1 financial statements for East Smithville have been prepared but not yet released. During this interval, the 

comptroller learns that a major company with property in the city has gone bankrupt. This will result in a loss of 

$120,000 in property taxes. The bankruptcy is a likely indicator of conditions that existed at the customer prior to the 

date of East Smithville’s financial statements. This situation appears to call for recognition of a much larger allowance 

for doubtful accounts in East Smithville’s 20X1 financial statements. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

There is a major rainstorm in the East Smithville area between the date of its financial statements and their release. 

This causes flooding in the city’s commercial district, devastating a number of major businesses. There will undoubt-

edly be a significant impact on sales tax receipts, since customers are now avoiding the area. This event is not indica-

tive of conditions existing prior to the date of the financial statements, so the financials should not be adjusted. 

 

 

Note: It may be necessary to include information about subsequent events in the management’s discussion 

and analysis section of the annual comprehensive financial report, especially if the events are expected to 

have a significant effect on the government’s financial position or results of operations. 
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Going Concern Considerations 

An underlying assumption of a government entity’s financial statements is that the organization will con-

tinue to function in the future – that it is a going concern. The going concern assumption can be violated 

when evidence appears that a government cannot meet its obligations. Indicators of going concern issues 

are: 

• Negative trends. There have been recurring periods in which: 

o Expenses have significantly exceeded revenues 

o There have been deficiencies in working capital 

o There have been recurring unsubsidized operating losses in business-type activities 

o There have been ongoing negative operating cash flows from business-type activities 

o There have been adverse financial ratios 

• Other indications of difficulties. The entity is suffering from one or more of the following condi-

tions: 

o It has defaulted on bond or other debt payments 

o It is approaching limits on the amount of debt it can take on 

o It is conducting a forced sale of its assets to generate cash 

o It is not in compliance with statutory reserve requirements 

o It is seeking new sources of financing 

o It is seeking to restructure its debt or has already done so 

o Suppliers are denying it normal amounts of trade credit 

• Internal matters. The entity has experienced one or more of the following issues related to its in-

ternal operations: 

o It has experienced work stoppages 

o It is highly dependent on the success of a particular project or program 

o It is subject to long-term commitments that are not economical 

o It needs to engage in a significant revision of its operations 

• External matters. The entity is being impacted by one or more of the following issues related to 

third parties: 

o Legal proceedings that may result in large payments 

o Legislation that may impact revenues and the sustainability of key programs 

o The loss by a business-unit activity of a key patent 

o The loss of an essential customer, taxpayer, or supplier 

o The occurrence of a catastrophe for which there is not sufficient insurance 

 

When there is a substantial doubt about the ability of a government to continue as a going concern for 12 

months beyond the financial statement date, disclose the following information (if it is appropriate to do 

so): 

• Those conditions or events triggering doubt about the ability to continue as a going concern. 

• The possible effects of those conditions or events. 

• An evaluation by government officials of the significance of those conditions and events, as well 

as any mitigating factors. 

• The possible discontinuance of government operations. 

• The plans by government officials in regard to the situation. 

• A discussion about the recoverability of assets, changes in the amounts of liabilities, or changes in 

the classification of assets or liabilities. 
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Note: It may be necessary to include information about going concern issues in the management’s discus-

sion and analysis section of the annual comprehensive financial report, especially if the events are expected 

to have a significant effect on the government’s financial position or results of operations. 

 

Prior Period Adjustments 

An error may be detected in previously-issued financial statements, such as a mathematical mistake or a 

misuse of the facts existing when the statements were prepared. If so, the error is corrected and accounted 

for as a prior-period adjustment, which is an adjustment to the opening balance of net position in a single-

period statement. When a government is presenting multi-period comparative statements, the proper ad-

justment is to alter the amounts reported in the flows statement and the statement of net position for all of 

the periods appearing in the financial statements. The effect of this change is not included in the net position 

section of the flows statement for the current period. 

When there is a prior period adjustment, disclose the effects on the change in net position in the notes 

accompanying the financial statements. When the financial statements only cover a single period, indicate 

the effects of the adjustment on the beginning balance of net position, as well as on the change in net 

position of the preceding period. When multi-period statements are being presented, disclose the effects for 

each of the periods. 

When there is a prior period adjustment due to an error, report the nature of the error and the effect of 

its correction on the government’s change in net position. 

 

Accounting Changes and Error Corrections 

A government may experience several types of accounting changes and/or error corrections that impact its 

financial statements. An accounting change is a change in principle, estimate, or reporting entity. In the 

following sub-sections, we describe each one and how it should be handled in the financial statements. 

 

Change in Accounting Principle 

There is a change in accounting principle when a principle is adopted that differs from the one previously 

used. This situation typically arises when a government can legitimately choose between two or more op-

tions for generally accepted accounting principles, and the replacement principle is preferable to the prior 

principle. For example, a government could elect to start including salvage value in its depreciation calcu-

lations, or it could alter the official policy for determining which investments will be classified as cash 

equivalents in the statement of net position. 

A change in accounting principle should be a relatively rare event, since there is a presumption that an 

accounting principle should not be changed, since consistently-applied principles result in more consistent 

financial statements over multiple reporting periods. 

When there is a change in accounting principle, disclose the nature of the change and the justification 

for making the change (noting how it is preferable to the prior approach), as well as its effect on beginning 

net position. There are several issues to consider when reporting a change in accounting principle within 

the financial statements. These issues are: 

• Beginning net position. Adjust the beginning net position in the period of the change for the cumu-

lative effect of the change. It is reported as an adjustment to the amounts previously reported. The 

calculation is the difference between the balance of the net position at the beginning of the period 

and the beginning balance that would have been reported if the new principle had been applied 

retroactively to all prior periods. 

• Prior periods. Present the financial statements for previous periods as they were previously re-

ported. 

 



Additional Financial Reporting Considerations 

125 

It is possible that the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle cannot be calculated. If so, 

disclose the effect of the change on the current-period operations and explain why there is no accounting 

for the cumulative effect of the change in prior periods. 

 

Change in Accounting Estimate 

The preparation of financial statements involves the use of several estimates, which are routinely altered as 

new information is obtained. For example, the accountant uses estimates of capital asset service lives, the 

uncollectability of receivables, and inventory obsolescence. 

A change in accounting estimate does not trigger a retroactive adjustment in prior periods. Instead, it 

only impacts the current period and future periods. When there is a change in accounting estimate in the 

ordinary course of activities, there is no need to disclose the change in estimate. If there is a change in 

estimate that affects several future periods, it is acceptable to disclose the change. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The comptroller of Qanix City alters her estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts. There is no need to disclose 

this change. 

 

The comptroller also shortens the estimated useful lives of several classes of capital assets. Since this change impacts 

a number of future reporting periods, she discloses the change in the notes to the financial statements. 

 

 

Change in Reporting Entity 

There are rare situations in which the entity issuing financial statements changes to a different entity. For a 

government, this usually means that there is a change in the mix of organizations that comprise the reporting 

entity. 

There are several issues to consider when reporting a change in reporting entity. First, the financial 

statements for all prior periods must be restated to reflect the change in entity. Second, the nature of the 

change should be disclosed, along with the reason(s) for it. And finally, disclose the effect of the change in 

entity on the beginning net position for all of the periods presented in the financial statements. 

 

Summary 

Of the special occurrences addressed in this chapter, the ones most likely to require ongoing attention are 

accounting changes and error corrections, specifically in regard to changes in accounting estimate and ac-

counting errors. There may be changes in accounting estimate many times per year, while an occasional 

accounting error may surface. The disclosure of changes in accounting estimate is usually not necessary, 

since they are considered part of ongoing operations and are usually immaterial. Accounting errors may be 

so insignificant that they are not worthy of disclosure. Consequently, the typical government will incorpo-

rate these topics into its financial statements, but may not find it necessary to separately disclose them. 
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Review Questions 

1. Which of the following is a subsequent event that would not be recognized in the financial statements 

of the period that it follows? 

a. A cache of obsolete inventory is discovered 

b. A major customer goes bankrupt 

c. Bonds are issued 

d. Significant termite damage is discovered in a government property 

 

2. The following going concern indicator is classified as an internal matter for a government: 

a. Expenses that have significantly exceeded revenues 

b. It is subject to long-term commitments that are not economical 

c. The loss of an essential taxpayer 

d. Suppliers are denying it trade credit 

 

 



 
Chapter 12 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the topics that should be covered in the notes to the financial statements. 

• Recognize the circumstances under which an accounting policy should be disclosed. 

• Cite the disclosures needed when future revenues are sold. 

 

Introduction 

The annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR) is not complete without a broad-ranging set of accom-

panying notes. These notes are either used to expand upon the information in the financial statements or to 

improve a reader’s understanding of the required supplementary information section of the ACFR. In this 

chapter, we provide an overview of the essential notes that should always be included in an ACFR, as well 

as the multitude of additional disclosures that may be needed, depending on the circumstances. We also 

provide several sample disclosures, with particular attention to the reporting of accounting policies. 

 

Notes Overview 

The notes to the financial statements should focus on the primary government, which means that they should 

discuss the following: 

• Governmental activities 

• Business-type activities 

• Major funds 

• Non-major funds 

 

Here are several additional considerations when preparing and presenting notes: 

• Location of information. Notes are typically viewed as ancillary information that is presented after 

the financial statements. However, it is also possible to display some of this information on the face 

of the financial statements. Doing so makes it easier for readers to access information. However, 

an excessive amount of information on the financial statements can create too much clutter. Con-

sequently, the amount of information presented in this manner is usually relatively limited. 

• Segregation of information. Readers should be able to distinguish between information related to 

the primary government and its component units. 

• Essential vs. additional disclosures. A large number of disclosures may be required for govern-

mental financial statements. These disclosures can be divided into essential disclosures and addi-

tional disclosures (which are only necessary if they apply to specific circumstances). 
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Significant Accounting Policies 

An essential disclosure is a summary of a government’s significant accounting policies. These policies are 

the set of accounting principles (and methods used to apply them) that are considered by management to be 

the most appropriate for the fair presentation of the financial statements. The choice of policies used can 

have a significant impact on the financial statements, so users should be aware of these policies. The key 

disclosures are: 

• Overview. Describe the government-wide financial statements, pointing out that fiduciary funds are 

not included, nor are component units that are fiduciary in nature. 

• Component units. Describe the component units of the reporting entity, as well as their relationships 

to the primary government. The discussion should include the criteria used to determine which 

component units are included in the financial reporting entity, as well as how the component units 

are reported. Further, note how the reader can obtain separate financial statements for individual 

component units. 

• Column descriptions. Describe the activities included within the columns in the basic financial 

statements for major funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary-type funds. 

• Measurement focus and basis of accounting. Describe the measurement focus and the basis of ac-

counting used to construct the government-wide financial statements. 

• Revenue recognition. Note the revenue recognition policies being used in the fund financial state-

ments. 

• Internal activities. Describe the policy under which internal activity is eliminated in the govern-

ment-wide statement of activity. 

• Inventory basis. Describe the basis used to formulate inventory costs. 

• Asset capitalization. Note the policy used to capitalize assets, as well as to estimate the useful lives 

of those assets and the methods used to compute depreciation for the major asset classes. If the 

modified approach is used, describe how that approach works. 

• Program transactions. Describe the types of transactions that have been included in program rev-

enues, as well as the policy for allocating indirect expenses to functions within the statement of 

activities. 

• Proprietary fund revenues. Describe how the operating and non-operating revenues of proprietary 

funds are defined. 

• Cash and cash equivalents. Define cash and cash equivalents as used in the statement of cash flows 

for proprietary funds. 

• Application of resources. Describe the policy for whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted 

resources when an expense is incurred, in those cases where both of these resources are available. 

• Fund balance classifications. Note the policies and procedures that apply to the government’s fund 

balance classifications. 

 

A policy should be disclosed when it involves any of the following: 

• An unusual application of generally accepted accounting principles 

• Principles and methods that are unique to the industry in which the government operates 

• A selection from several acceptable alternatives 

 

The summary of significant accounting policies is stated as the initial note to the financial statements. 

There are a number of other essential disclosures related to specific parts of the financial statements. 

Those disclosures are addressed in the chapters pertaining to those parts of the statements. 
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Additional Disclosures 

There are a number of additional disclosures that may be required, depending on the circumstances. The 

following list indicates the extent of these additional notes. The list is not all-inclusive. The accountant will 

need to use judgment in determining the level of disclosure needed to provide a reasonable amount of detail. 

There may be a temptation to be excessively exuberant in adding information to the notes – try not to do 

so, since unnecessary and immaterial information can overwhelm the reader. Conversely, enough material 

should be included in the notes to ensure that readers are aware of all material items. A good rule for 

deciding whether to include information is to do so if its omission would cause the financial statements to 

be misleading. 

 

Summary of Additional Disclosures 

Accountability for related organizations Lending and mortgage banking activities 

Accounting changes and error corrections Long-term construction-type contracts 

Asset valuation allowances Major special revenue funds 

Bankruptcy disclosures Minimum fund balance policies 

Change in manner of corresponding item presentation Nature of reconciling items 

Condensed statements for major component units Net position restricted by enabling legislation 

Conduit debt obligations Non-exchange financial guarantees 

Debt extinguishments Non-exchange transactions 

Deferred resource inflows and outflows Non-monetary transactions 

Demand bonds On-behalf payments for compensation 

Derivative instruments Pension plans 

Disaggregation of receivable and payable balances Pollution remediation obligations 

Discounts that reduce gross revenues Post-employment benefit plans 

Disposals of government operations Property taxes 

Effects of prior-period adjustments Regulated business-type activities 

External investment pools Related-party transactions 

Fair value measurements Research and development arrangements 

Foreign currency transactions Retail land sales operations 

Fund balance classification details Revenue anticipation notes 

Future revenues that are pledged or sold Reverse repurchase agreements 

Going concern issues Risk management activities 

Government combinations Securities lending transactions 

Idle impaired capital assets Segment information for enterprise funds 

Impairment losses Service concession arrangements 

Inconsistencies caused by different fiscal year-ends Short-term debt instruments 

Insurance enterprises Short-term obligations 

Insurance recoveries Significant transactions not within management control 

Interest expense included in direct expenses Special assessment debt 

Interfund eliminations Stabilization arrangements 

Investments in common stock Tax abatements 

Joint ventures and jointly-governed entities Termination benefits 

Landfill closure and post-closure care Troubled debt restructurings 
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A selection of disclosures is summarized in the following bullet points: 

• Classes of capital assets. Present the beginning and end-of-year balances, as well as accumulated 

depreciation, capital acquisitions, and sales or other dispositions. Also note the current-period de-

preciation expense, separating out the amounts charged to each of the functions listed in the state-

ment of activities. 

• Collections. If collections have not been capitalized, describe the collections and the reason(s) for 

not capitalizing them. 

• Debt. Summarize information about the amount of unused lines of credit, assets pledged as collat-

eral for debt, and the terms specified in debt agreements that relate to default, termination events, 

and subjective acceleration clauses. 

• Long-term liabilities. Present the beginning and end-of-year balances, as well as increases and de-

creases in liability levels and the portion of each liability that is due within one year. 

• Funds used for liquidations. Note which government funds have been used to liquidate other long-

term liabilities in prior years. 

• Donor-restricted endowments. Disclose the following information regarding endowments that have 

been restricted by donors: 

o The amount of net appreciation available for authorization for expenditure 

o How the amount of net appreciation is reported in the net position of the entity 

o The relevant state law pertaining to the ability to spend net appreciation 

o The entity’s policy for authorizing and spending investment income 

• Short-term debt. Describe short-term debt activity during the year, including a schedule of changes 

from the beginning to ending balances. Also state the reason why the debt was issued. 

• Disaggregations. Break out the different types of receivables and payables stated on the statements 

of net position and the balance sheet when aggregation has obscured significant items. 

• Interfund balances. Disclose the following information about interfund balances that have been 

reported in the fund financial statements: 

o The amounts due from other funds, breaking out individual major funds, and the following 

funds in aggregate: non-major governmental funds, non-major enterprise funds, internal 

service funds, and fiduciary funds 

o The reason for the interfund balances 

o Any interfund balances that are not expected to be repaid within one year 

• Interfund activity. Disclose the following information about interfund transfers that have been re-

ported in the fund financial statements: 

o The amounts transferred from other funds, breaking out individual major funds, and the 

following funds in aggregate: non-major governmental funds, non-major enterprise funds, 

internal service funds, and fiduciary funds 

o The purpose of the transfers 

o The purpose and amount of significant transfers that do not occur on a routine basis, or 

which are inconsistent with the activities of the fund making the transfer 

• Future revenues pledged. When future revenues have been pledged to secure debt, disclose the 

following information about the revenues being pledged: 

o The revenue that has been pledged and the amount of the pledge 

o The debt associated with the pledged revenue and its purpose 

o The duration of the pledge period 

o The proportion of the revenue stream that has been pledged 

o A comparison of the pledged revenues to the associated debt 
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• Future revenues sold. When future revenues have been sold, disclose the following information: 

o The revenue that has been sold and the assumptions used in determining the approximate 

amount sold 

o The period to which the sale applies 

o The proportion of the revenue stream that has been sold 

o A comparison of the sale proceeds to the present value of the future revenues sold and the 

assumptions used in determining the present value figure 

• Deferred inflows and outflows. Provide details regarding the different types of deferred inflows and 

outflows of resources that have been reported at an aggregate level in the statement of net position 

or balance sheet. This is necessary when significant amounts have been obscured due to the aggre-

gation. 

 

Disclosure Sequence 

The preceding list of disclosures was in alphabetical order, which is not necessarily the best order in which 

to present these items in the notes. The order of presentation is more informative when it is presented in a 

logical sequence. There is no ideal sequence for the notes, since the order of presentation depends on the 

unique characteristics of each set of financial statements. Nonetheless, the following sequence could be 

used as a general guideline for the order in which to present information within the notes: 

I. Summary of significant accounting policies 

a. Description of the government-wide financial statements 

b. Description of the component units of the financial reporting entity 

c. Basis of presentation of the government-wide financial statements 

d. Basis of presentation of the fund financial statements 

e. Basis of accounting 

f. Assets, liabilities, and net position and fund balances, in their order of appearance 

g. Revenues, expenditures/expense 

II. Stewardship, compliance and accountability 

a. Violations of legal and contractual provisions and remedies taken 

b. Deficit fund balances of individual funds 

III. Detail notes on all activities and funds 

a. Assets 

b. Liabilities 

c. Interfund receivables and payables 

d. Revenues and expenditures/expenses 

e. Donor-restricted endowment disclosures 

f. Interfund transfers 

g. Encumbrances outstanding 

IV. Segment information – enterprise funds 

V. Individual major component unit disclosures 

VI. The nature of the primary government’s accountability for related organizations 

VII. Joint ventures and jointly governed organizations 

VIII. Related party transactions 



Notes to Financial Statements 

132 

IX. Summary disclosure of significant contingencies 

a. Litigation 

b. Compliance audits for federally assisted programs 

X. Significant effects of subsequent events 

 

Notes Minimization 

The information contained within the notes should not be repetitive. Rather than duplicating text presented 

elsewhere in the financial statements, provide references to the information presented elsewhere in the 

statements. 

A number of other statements and schedules may accompany the basic set of financial statements. If 

so, only provide information for these items that is not included in the basic financial statement package. 

The following guidelines can be of assistance in deciding whether to include additional information: 

• The information is needed to assure an understanding of the combining and individual statements 

and schedules. 

• The information is needed to demonstrate compliance with legal and contractual requirements. 

 

Sample Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

This section contains a sample set of abbreviated accounting policies for a city government. The general 

format and text of these policies could be used as the starting point for constructing similar disclosures for 

another entity. 

 
NOTE – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting and reporting policies of the City conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America (U.S. GAAP) as applicable to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting 

Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and 

financial reporting principles. 

 

The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements including a Statement of Net 

Position and a Statement of Activities, and fund financial statements that provide a more detailed level of 

financial information. The following summary of significant accounting policies is presented to assist the 

reader in evaluating the City’s financial statements. 

 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 

and the accrual basis of accounting, as is the proprietary fund. Revenues are recorded when earned and 

expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. For example, 

revenues from property taxes are recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Depreciation is 

computed and recorded as an operating expense. Expenditures for property and equipment are shown as 

increases in assets and redemption of bonds and notes are recorded as a reduction in liabilities. Contributed 

infrastructure assets are recorded as capital contributions when received. 

 

Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 

accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 

Revenues are considered to be available if they are collectible within the current period or soon enough 

thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available 

if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. The major sources of revenue 
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susceptible to accrual are taxes, intergovernmental revenues, franchise fees, and investment income. All other 

revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 

 

Expenditures, other than interest on long-term obligations, are recorded when the fund liability is incurred or 

the long-term obligation is paid. Principal and interest on long-term debt are recognized when due. General 

capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Compensated absences are 

recorded only when payment is due. 

 

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues 

and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with 

a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating revenues consist of charges to customers for 

service provided. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administra-

tive expenses, and depreciation of assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported 

as non-operating revenues and expenses or capital contributions. 

 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for a specific use, it is the City’s policy to use 

restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

 

Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position/Fund Balance 

Cash and Investments 

The City’s cash and cash equivalents include amounts that are readily convertible to cash and are not subject 

to significant risk from changes in interest rates. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand 

deposits, and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acqui-

sition. 

 

Investments are reported at their fair value. 

 

The City follows the practice of pooling cash of most funds to maximize daily investment earnings. Except 

when required by trust or other agreements, all cash is deposited to, and disbursed from, applicable fund 

operating accounts. Cash in excess of immediate operating requirements is swept from operating accounts to 

investment accounts. 

 

Receivables 

Receivables are reported net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, where applicable. 

 

Property Taxes Receivable 

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property on January 1 and are levied by the City Council based 

on assessed valuations determined by the County Assessor each year. The levy is set annually by December 

15, by certification to the County Commissioners. The County Treasurer collects the determined taxes during 

the ensuing calendar year. The taxes are payable by April, or if in equal installments at the taxpayer’s election, 

in February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in August and generally sales of the tax liens on 

delinquent properties are held in November. The County Treasurer remits the taxes collected monthly to the 

City. 

 

Property taxes are levied for the previous year, but collected in the subsequent year, are recorded in the 

governmental funds as taxes receivable and deferred inflows of resources in the year there is an enforceable 

lien and the amount is measurable. Amounts deferred are subsequently recorded as revenue in the year they 

are available or collected. 

 

Prepaid Expenses 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future years and are recorded as prepaid ex-

penses/items in both government-wide and fund financial statements using the consumption method. 



Notes to Financial Statements 

134 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the govern-

ment-wide financial statements and in the proprietary fund in the fund financial statements. Purchases or 

construction of capital assets are recorded as expenditures in the governmental funds. 

 

Capital assets are defined by the City as machinery and equipment with an individual cost of $5,000 or 

greater, land, easements and buildings, and infrastructure with the same individual cost threshold, and an 

estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical 

cost if the actual historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value at 

the date of donation. Contributed infrastructure by developers or other governmental entities is recorded as 

capital contributions and additions to the systems at fair value at the date of contribution. Interest accrued 

during construction is not capitalized. 

 

Intangible assets included in capital assets not being depreciated consist of easements and rights of way and 

are capitalized at historical cost. 

 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the 

life of the asset are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful 

lives of the related capital assets, as applicable. 

 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method of depreciation over the estimated economic 

useful lives as follows: 

 

Buildings 50 years 

Machinery and equipment 5 years 

Infrastructure:  

Bridges 50 years 

Storm drainage system 75 years 

Streets and walkways 20 years 

Signals 10 years 

Signs 20 years 

 

Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Deferred inflows include property taxes earned, but levied for a subsequent year. In addition, grants not 

available as current financial resources are reported as deferred inflows in the governmental fund financial 

statements. 

 

Compensated Absences 

The City’s compensated absences policy allows employees to accumulate earned but unused paid time off 

(PTO) benefits of at least 3.0 hours per pay period, depending on length of service and employment status. 

Employees may carry over PTO hours equivalent to the annual accrual for the employee during the immedi-

ately preceding year. Such carry-over leave must be used within the year into which it is carried over. PTO 

hours accrued above the carry-over amount during the preceding calendar year and not used by December 

31 will be forfeited. In the event of separation from the City, an employee is paid 100% of accumulated PTO 

benefits. 

 

In the governmental fund financial statements, compensated absences are recognized as current salary costs 

when paid. In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, compensated absences are 

reported when earned. The City’s General Fund is used to liquidate compensated absences of the govern-

mental activities. 
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Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 

liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium 

or discount. 

 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and bond discounts in the 

year of issue. The face amount of the debt issued is reported as other financing sources. 

 

Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the debt proceeds received, are reported as current expenses or 

expenditures. 

 

Net Position 

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital assets consists 

of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balance of any borrowing used 

for the acquisition, construction or improvements of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when 

there are limitations imposed on their use through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, laws, 

or regulations of other governments. 

 

Fund Balance 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balances based on financial reporting stand-

ards that establish criteria for classifying fund balances into specifically defined classifications to make the 

nature and extent of constraints more useful and understandable. The classifications comprise a hierarchy 

based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for 

which amounts in those funds can be spent. Fund balances may be classified as non-spendable, restricted, 

committed, assigned, or unassigned. Definitions of these classifications are as follows: 

• Non-spendable fund balance. Non-spendable amounts are those that cannot be spent because they 

are either not in spendable form, or legally or contractually to be maintained intact. Examples are 

items that are not expected to be converted to cash, including inventories and prepaids. 

• Restricted fund balance. Restricted amounts are those that are restricted for a specific purpose. The 

spending constraints placed on the use of fund balance amounts are externally imposed by creditors, 

grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments, or imposed by law through consti-

tutional provisions or enabling legislation that are legally enforceable. 

• Committed fund balance. Committed amounts are those that can only be used for specific purposes 

pursuant to constraints imposed by the City Council by ordinance. The committed amounts cannot 

be used for any other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by 

taking the same type of formal action it employed to previously commit those amounts. This clas-

sification also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund 

have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements. 

• Assigned fund balance. Assigned amounts are those that are constrained by the City’s intent to be 

used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. 

• Unassigned fund balance. The unassigned fund balance is applicable only to the General Fund and 

represents the remaining fund balance after amounts are set aside for other classifications. 

 

As of December 31, 20X2, the City had in place a minimum fund policy which states that the overall fund 

balance of the General Fund shall equal no less than 25% of annual expenditures, including transfers. Addi-

tionally, the City had in place a 10% operating reserve in the General Fund, which is to be used for emergency 

purposes as designated by the City Council. 

 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in 

the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
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Sample Disclosure of Assets and Liabilities 

This section contains a sample set of abbreviated disclosures related to the asset and liability line items 

found on the statement of net position. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

A summary of cash and investments as of December 31, 20X2 is as follows: 

 

(in millions)  

Cash deposits $13.9 

Investments 69.9 

Total $83.8 

 

Investments 

The City is required to comply with State statutes and the City’s Investment Policy, which specify instru-

ments meeting defined rating, maturity, and concentration risk criteria in which local governments may in-

vest, which include the following: 

• Obligations of the United States and certain U.S. government agency securities 

• Certain corporate or bank securities 

• General obligation and revenue bonds of U.S. local government entities 

• Bankers’ acceptances of certain banks 

• Commercial paper 

• Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities 

• Certain money market funds 

• Guaranteed investment contracts 

• Local government investment pools 

 

The City’s policy is to invest funds to attain a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles 

while preserving and protecting capital in the overall portfolio; the primary investment goals are safety, liquidity, 

and maximizing yield while avoiding speculation. 

 

At December 31, 20X2, the City’s investment balances were as follows: 

 

(in millions)    Maturities 

 

Investment 

S&P 

Rating 

% of 

Total 

Fair 

Value 

Less than 

1 Year 

1-2 

Years 

3-5 

Years 

U.S. Agency Securities AA+ 14.2% $9.9 $-- $5.5 $4.4 

U.S. Treasury Securities N/A 4.6% 3.2 0.8 2.5 -- 

Corporate Notes AA+ 0.7% 0.5 -- 0.5 -- 

Corporate Notes AA 2.1% 1.5 1.0 -- 0.5 

Wells Fargo Money Market AAA 1.4% 1.0 1.0 -- -- 

Local Government Investment Pools AAA 77.0% 53.8 53.7 -- -- 

Totals  100.0% $69.9 $56.5 $8.5 $4.9 

 

Investment Risks 

Interest Rate Risk. The City’s investment policy limits the final maturity of investments in U.S Treasury and 

Agency securities to a maximum of five years, or as dictated by state statutes governing said investments. 
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Likewise, investments in corporate notes cannot have a final maturity exceeding three years from the date of 

purchase. 

Credit Risk. The City’s investment policy limits investments in U.S. Agency securities to a five year maturity. 

Securities rated in the highest rating category by each of the nationally recognized statistical rating organi-

zations (NRSROs) may be purchased, subject to maturity limits. In the event that an agency security carries 

a rating lower than the highest category set by any NRSRO, the security is eligible for purchase, subject to 

any statutory limits regarding final maturity and rating as permitted by State law. Corporate notes must be 

rated at least AA- or the equivalent by two or more NRSROs. Commercial paper must be rated at least A-1 

or the equivalent at the time of purchase by at least two NRSROs and rated not less by all NRSROs that rate 

the commercial paper. State statutes limit investments in money market funds to those that maintain a con-

stant share price, with a maximum remaining maturity in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Com-

mission’s Rule 2a-7, and either assets of one billion dollars or the highest rating issued by an NRSRO. 

Concentration of credit risk. The City’s investment policy requires that at no time shall the aggregate invest-

ment in corporate notes, commercial paper, and banker’s acceptances exceed 40% of the City’s total invest-

ment portfolio. Furthermore, investments in corporate notes and commercial paper shall not individually 

exceed 20% of the City’s investment portfolio, and no more than 10% of the portfolio may be invested in the 

obligations of any one issuer of corporate debt or commercial paper. Investments in U.S. agency securities 

shall not exceed 85% of the total portfolio, and no more than 30% of the portfolio can be invested in any one 

issuer of agency securities. 

 

Interfund Transfers 

The following schedule summarizes the City’s interfund transfer activity for the year ended December 31, 

20X2. 

 

(in million) Transfers In 

 

 

Transfers Out 

Capital 

Improvement 

Fund 

 

General 

Fund 

 

 

Total 

General Fund $26.3 $-- $26.3 

Land Use Fund -- 0.9 0.9 

Totals $26.3 $0.9 $27.2 

 

The $26.3 million transfer from the General Fund to the Capital Improvement Fund was made to provide 

needed funding for 20X2 budgeted capital projects. The $0.9 million transfer from the Land Use Fund to the 

General Fund was to reimburse the General Fund for past contributions. 

 

Capital Assets 

An analysis of the changes in capital assets for the year ended December 31, 20X2 is as follows: 

 

 

 

(in millions) 

Balance 

at 

12/31/X1 

 

 

Increases 

 

 

Decreases 

Balance 

at 

12/31/X2 

Governmental Activities:     

Capital assets not being depreciated $92.7 $7.6 $0.3 $100.0 

Capital assets being depreciated 128.9 1.0 -- 129.9 

Less accumulated depreciation 69.1 3.6 -- 72.7 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 59.8 -2.6 -- 57.2 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $152.5 $5.0 $0.3 $157.2 
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Business-Type Activities:     

Total capital assets being depreciated $0.2 -- -- $0.2 

Total accumulated depreciation 0.1 -- -- 0.1 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 0.1 -- -- 0.1 

Business-type activities capital assets, net $0.1 $-- $-- $0.1 

 

Depreciation expense of the governmental activities was charged to the city infrastructure and general gov-

ernment programs in the amounts of $3.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively. 

 

Long-Term Obligations 

Long-term obligation transactions as of December 31, 20X2 are summarized below. 

 

 

 

(in millions) 

Balance 

at 

12/31/X1 

 

 

Additions 

 

 

Reductions 

Balance 

at 

12/31/X2 

Due 

within 

1 Year 

Governmental Activities:      

Bonds payable      

Buffalo GID bonds $2.6 $-- $0.1 $2.5 $0.1 

Total bonds payable 2.6 -- 0.1 2.5 0.1 

Compensated absences 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 -- 

Total long-term obligations $2.8 $0.3 $0.4 $2.7 $0.1 

 

General Obligation Bonds 

In 20X1, Buffalo General Improvement District issued $3.0 million of general obligation bonds with interest 

rates varying from 3.3% to 5.1%, payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 commencing on June 1, 

20X1 through December 20X7.  The bonds were issued for the purposes of (i) financing or reimbursing all 

or any part of the costs of acquiring, construction, and installing a system of water pipelines to furnish mu-

nicipal water service within the District; (ii) providing capitalized interest to pay a portion of debt service on 

the bonds; and (iii) paying the costs of issuance of the bonds. 

 

Bonds outstanding and related interest requirements as of December 31, 20X2 are as follows: 

 

(in millions)   

Year Principal Interest Total 

20X3 $0.1 $0.1 $0.2 

20X4 0.1 0.1 0.2 

20X5 0.1 0.1 0.2 

20X6 0.1 0.1 0.2 

20X7 2.1 0.1 2.2 

Totals $2.5 $0.5 $3.0 
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Sample Disclosure of Contingencies 

This section contains a sample abbreviated disclosure for the contingencies to which a City might be sub-

jected. 

 
The City entered into construction contracts for various capital projects which are not complete as of Decem-

ber 31, 20X2. The total unexpended commitments at December 31, 20X2 are stated in the following table. 

 

(in millions) 

 

Project 

Total 

Contract 

Amount 

Remaining 

Contract 

Amount 

Baseline Road improvements $4.7 $2.9 

Fiber installation 0.5 0.2 

Baseline interchange upgrade 3.2 2.1 

Charleston & Evans intersection 0.8 0.2 

 $9.2 $5.4 

 

Sample Disclosure of Risk Management 

This section contains a sample disclosure of the risk management practices of a city government. 

 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; thefts, damage to, or destruction of, assets; errors 

or omissions; injuries to employees; or acts of God. The City is a member of the State Intergovernmental 

Risk Sharing Agency (SIRSA). SIRSA is a joint self-insurance pool created by intergovernmental agreement 

of 150 municipalities to provide property, workers’ compensation, general and automobile liability and pub-

lic officials’ coverage to its members. 

 

Coverage is provided through the pooling of self-insured losses and the purchase of excess insurance cover-

age. SIRSA has a legal obligation for claims against its members to the extent that funds are available in its 

annually established loss fund and that amounts are available from insurance providers under excess specific 

and aggregate insurance contracts. Losses incurred in excess of loss funds and amounts recoverable from 

excess insurance are direct liabilities of the participating members. It is the intent of the members of SIRSA 

to create an entity in perpetuity which will administer and use funds contributed by the members to defend 

and indemnify, in accordance with the bylaws, any member of SIRSA against stated liability of loss, to the 

limit of the financial resources of SIRSA. 

 

It is also the intent of the members to have SIRSA provide continuing stability and availability of needed 

coverages at reasonable costs. All income and assets of SIRSA shall be at all times dedicated to the exclusive 

benefit of its members. 

 

Sample Disclosure of Subsequent Events 

This section contains a sample disclosure of a subsequent event that might happen to a city government. 

 
On February 1, 20X3 the Buffalo General Improvement District (“Buffalo”) issued general obligation re-

funding bonds in the amount of $2.5 million. Proceeds from this issuance were used to refund $2.5 million 

of general obligation bonds that were originally issued for acquiring, construction, and installation of a sys-

tem of water pipelines to furnish municipal water service within the District. Principal is due on the bonds 

each December 1st. Interest accrues at rates varying from 2.3% to 4.8%, and is payable semi-annually on June 

1st and December 1st. 
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Summary 

A great many disclosures are included in the notes to the financial statements – so many that the accountant 

might feel oppressed by the prospect of spending an inordinate amount of time writing them each year. The 

situation is not that bad, since the circumstances of the typical government do not change that much from 

year to year. It is quite likely that the same disclosures can be used for multiple years, with adjustments for 

any numeric values included in the text. However, there is a danger that an accountant relying too much on 

prior year disclosures will not add new disclosures or will not delete less relevant text. Consequently, part 

of the report preparation process is to critically review the financial circumstances of a government to see 

if there are any new occurrences requiring disclosure, or if previously-reported items are no longer relevant. 

This task is made easier when the team in charge of preparing the financial statements has been doing so 

for several years, and so can bring a historical perspective to the task. 
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Review Questions 

1. A donor funds an endowment that is to be managed by a government. The government should disclose 

the following information concerning the endowment: 

a. The policy for authorizing and spending investment income 

b. The amounts due from other funds 

c. The purpose of any transfers 

d. The duration of any pledges 

 

2. A suggested sequence of presentation was shown in the text for disclosures. Which of the following 

disclosures should appear last? 

a. Related party transactions 

b. Deficit fund balances of individual funds 

c. Significant effects of subsequent events 

d. Segment information for enterprise funds 

 

 



 
Chapter 13 

Budgetary Reporting 

Learning Objectives 

• Identify the circumstances under which a budgetary comparison should be presented. 

• Describe the nature of budgetary control. 

 

Introduction 

A complete set of financial statements should include in the reporting package a set of budgetary compari-

son schedules, which are intended to show how well the reporting entity has been able to match its actual 

performance to its original and final appropriated budgets. In this chapter, we cover the requirements for 

when these comparison schedules should be used and provide several examples. 

 

Overview of Budgetary Reporting 

A government should present budgetary comparisons for the general fund, as well as for each major special 

revenue fund that has a legally adopted annual budget associated with it. When presenting an annual com-

prehensive financial report (ACFR), similar schedules should also be included for individual non-major 

special revenue funds and other governmental funds of the primary government. Each of these comparisons 

should present both the original and final appropriated budgets for the reporting period, as well as the actual 

inflows, outflows, and balances reported by the government. Also, governments are encouraged to include 

a separate column to report the variance between the final budget and actual amounts, though doing so is 

not required. 

 

Note: The budget submitted by the executive branch to the legislature is called the executive budget. After 

discussion between the executive and the legislature, an original budget is created. The original budget is 

the first complete appropriated budget that covers the entire fiscal period, while the final budget is the 

original budget adjusted by all subsequent reserves, transfers, allocations, supplemental appropriations, and 

other legally authorized changes.  

 

Budget information can be included in a budgetary comparison statement that is part of the basic financial 

statements. If so, they are reported with the fund financial statements after the statement of revenues, ex-

penditures, and changes in fund balances. Alternatively, the information can be provided later in the docu-

ment, with the other required supplementary information. 

A budgetary comparison schedule may be presented using the same format, terminology, and classifi-

cations used in the budgeting document, or as used in the financial statements. No matter which approach 

is used, the comparison must be accompanied by information that reconciles the budgetary information to 

GAAP. This reconciliation may need to adjust for differences in the following: 

• Accounting basis. The basis of accounting used to develop the budget may differ from the basis 

used to report on the applicable fund. For example, a government would normally use the modified 

accrual basis of accounting for its general fund, but could prepare its general fund budget on the 

cash basis. 

• Timing. There can be a number of differences in the timing applied to budget transactions versus 

financial statements, which may be caused by continuing appropriations, project appropriations, 
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automatic re-appropriations, and biennial budgeting. For example, a capital project may be budg-

eted for several years, while the fund accounting for construction activities uses an annual budget. 

• Perspective. The structure of a budget may differ from the structure used to assemble financial 

statements, such as differences in fund structures that establish which assets, liabilities, equities, 

and revenue and expenditure/expense flows are included in a fund. For example, there may be 

several funds paying for a project, but the related budget is associated with a single project. 

• Entity. An appropriated budget could include organizations, programs, activities, and functions that 

are not reported in the same manner in the financial statements. 

 

The accompanying notes should also disclose the budgetary basis of accounting and any excesses of ex-

penditures over appropriations in the individual funds presented in the budgetary comparison. 

The preparation of a reconciliation between the budget and the financial statements can be fairly diffi-

cult, especially when there are multiple causes for differences, as just stated (accounting basis, timing, 

perspective, and entity). One way to reduce the amount of reconciliation required is to work with the budget 

preparers to develop a budget that conforms in as many respects as possible to the actual financial state-

ments with which they will be compared. 

 

Additional Reporting 

It is acceptable if the accountant wants to include additional budgetary comparisons in the financial report-

ing package, which usually involves non-major funds. If so, the additional reports cannot be included in the 

required supplementary information section of the reporting package, since (as the name of this section 

implies) the additional reports are not required. The only required budgetary comparisons are for the gen-

eral fund and each major special revenue fund that has a legally adopted annual budget associated with it. 

Instead, these additional reports should be presented as supplementary information. 

 

Sample Budgetary Comparison Reports 

This section contains three sample budgetary compliance schedules, as well as a disclosure note that pro-

vides a financial statement reader with information about a city’s budgeting process. The schedules present 

several variations on the types of revenue and expenditure line items that may be encountered in a budgetary 

comparison report. The sample disclosures are as follows: 

• Note regarding budgetary information 

• Comparison schedule for general fund 

• Comparison schedule for redevelopment authority fund 

• Comparison schedule for capital improvement fund 

 
Budgetary Information 

The City adopts an annual budget for all governmental funds on a basis consistent with generally accepted 

accounting principles. Budgetary comparisons for the Enterprise Fund are presented on a non-GAAP budg-

etary basis. Capital outlay is budgeted as an expenditure, and depreciation is not budgeted. 

 

The following procedures are followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 

• Prior to September 30th, the City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget 

by fund, department and object for the fiscal year commencing the following January 1. The oper-

ating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 

• Upon receipt of the proposed budget, the City Council publishes a notice indicating that such pro-

posed budget is available for inspection and open for public hearing. 
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• Prior to December 10th, the budget is legally adopted through a City Council resolution. All operat-

ing budget appropriations lapse at year-end, although unexpended appropriations may be re-appro-

priated for the next year. 

• The legal level of budgetary control is exercised at the fund level. The City Manager is authorized 

to transfer budgeted amounts between departments within the same fund, with subsequent notifica-

tion to the City Council. The Council must approve any revisions that alter the total expenditures of 

any fund. 

 
Helix City 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

 

 Budget Amounts   

 

 

 

(in millions) 

 

 

 

Original 

 

 

 

Final 

 

 

Actual 

Amounts 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

Positive 

(Negative) 

REVENUES     

Sales tax $33.7 $36.6 $38.3 $1.7 

Use tax 1.6 2.3 3.5 1.2 

Property tax 8.1 7.9 7.9 -- 

Auto use tax 3.7 4.3 4.6 0.3 

Other taxes 0.6 0.6 0.6 -- 

Franchise fees 5.1 5.1 5.1 -- 

Court fines 2.0 1.8 1.8 -- 

Charges for services 0.6 0.6 1.1 0.5 

Investment income 0.2 0.2 0.2 -- 

Intergovernmental 6.5 6.6 6.9 0.3 

Miscellaneous 0.6 1.1 0.7 -0.4 

Total revenues 62.7 67.1 70.7 3.6 

     

EXPENDITURES     

Current     

General government 9.6 10.9 9.0 1.9 

Finance & administration 4.4 4.8 4.0 0.8 

Community services 24.1 23.9 23.8 0.1 

City infrastructure 14.1 14.9 13.2 1.7 

Planning & development 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.1 

Capital outlay -- -- 0.8 -0.8 

Total expenditures 52.7 55.1 51.3 3.8 

     

REVENUE OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 10.0 12.0 19.4 7.4 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)     

Transfers in 0.3 0.4 0.9 0.5 

Transfers out -19.0 -26.3 -26.3 -- 

Total other financing sources (uses) -18.7 -25.9 -25.4 0.5 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -8.7 -13.9 -6.0 7.9 

FUND BALANCE – BEGINNING OF YEAR 33.8 42.5 42.5 -- 

FUND BALANCE – END OF YEAR $25.1 $28.6 $36.5 $7.9 
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Helix City 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 

Urban Redevelopment Authority Fund 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

 

 Budget Amounts   

 

 

 

(in millions) 

 

 

 

Original 

 

 

 

Final 

 

 

Actual 

Amounts 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

Positive 

(Negative) 

REVENUE     

Property tax $5.4 $4.8 $4.6 -$0.2 

Intergovernmental 1.1 1.0 1.0 -- 

Miscellaneous 0.1 0.1 -- -0.1 

Total revenue 6.6 5.9 5.6 -0.3 

     

EXPENDITURES     

Sales tax sharing pass-through 1.1 1.0 1.0 -- 

Property tax sharing pass-through 5.4 4.8 4.5 0.3 

Professional services 0.1 0.1 0.1 -- 

Contingencies -- 0.4 -- 0.4 

Total expenditures 6.6 6.3 5.6 0.7 

     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -- -0.4 -- 0.4 

FUND BALANCE – BEGINNING OF YEAR -- 0.4 0.4 -- 

FUND BALANCE – END OF YEAR $-- $-- $0.4 $0.4 
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Helix City 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule 

Capital Improvement Fund 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

 

 Budget Amounts   

 

 

 

(in millions) 

 

 

 

Original 

 

 

 

Final 

 

 

Actual 

Amounts 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

Positive 

(Negative) 

REVENUE     

Intergovernmental revenue $0.2 $6.4 $6.3 -$0.1 

Developer contributions 0.2 1.9 0.1 -1.8 

Total revenue 0.4 8.3 6.4 -1.9 

     

EXPENDITURES     

Rehabilitation     

Street rehabilitation program 6.6 7.0 6.9 0.1 

Major/minor structures 0.2 0.2 -- 0.2 

Professional services 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.1 

Capital outlay     

Streets 3.4 21.8 6.9 14.9 

Sidewalks 0.1 1.6 0.1 1.5 

Traffic control and signals 0.7 2.3 0.1 2.2 

Major capital project reserve 7.9 11.9 0.3 11.6 

Buildings 0.2 3.3 -- 3.3 

Total expenditures 19.4 48.5 14.6 33.9 

     

REVENUE OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES -19.0 -40.2 -8.2 32.0 

     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES     

Transfers in 19.0 26.3 26.3 -- 

     

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -- -13.9 18.1 32.0 

FUND BALANCE – BEGINNING OF YEAR 0.3 13.9 13.9 -- 

FUND BALANCE – END OF YEAR $0.3 $-- $32.0 $32.0 
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Budgetary Control 

Budgets are not just used for reporting purposes; they are also used to provide some measure of control 

over a government’s revenues and expenditures. This is best achieved by loading the final budget into the 

accounting system and entering budget information at the legal level of control. The legal level of control 

is the lowest budgetary level at which management is not allowed to reassign resources without first gaining 

legislative approval. Once this information is loaded, the budget is compared to actual expenditures, as well 

as any encumbrances (which show commitments associated with unfilled purchase orders or contracts). 

Ideally, the comparison to the loaded budget would include the elements noted in the following exhibit. 

 

Components of a Budget Comparison 

+ Liquidated expenditures (those obligations that have been settled) 

+ Unliquidated expenditures (those obligations for which a bill has been received but not yet paid) 

+ Encumbrances (those purchases not yet made, but for which there is a commitment to do so) 

 

For example, a government has an annual supplies budget of $80,000. The government has so far incurred 

liquidated expenditures of $42,000 and unliquidated expenditures of $16,000. An encumbrance for future 

purchases of $10,000 has also been recorded. Netting these items together reveals that the government has 

$12,000 of budgeted funds remaining that can be used to purchase additional supplies. 

A set of journal entries that could be used to record encumbrances is stated in the Common Accounting 

Transactions chapter. 

 

Summary 

The budgetary comparison is unique to governmental accounting. Many for-profit organizations structure 

their financial statements so that a budgetary comparison is included, but it is not required. Also, a for-

profit organization usually only releases a budgetary comparison report as part of its internal financial state-

ment reporting package; it is rarely released to outsiders, which is not the case with budgetary comparisons 

reported by a government entity. 
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Review Questions 

1. A budgetary comparison schedule reconciles information to GAAP due to differences in fund structure. 

This reconciliation is adjusting for: 

a. The entity 

b. Perspective 

c. Timing 

d. The accounting basis 

 

 



 
Chapter 14 

Cash Flows Statements 

Learning Objectives 

• Recognize the types of funds that must present a statement of cash flows. 

• Specify how a statement of cash flows is constructed. 

• Identify the transactions that are associated with each of the classifications in a statement of cash 

flows. 

 

Introduction 

Certain types of government entities are required to include a statement of cash flows in their financial 

reporting packages. A statement of cash flows is intended to provide information about the cash receipts 

and cash disbursements of the reporting entity over the course of a reporting period. This statement is used 

by readers to assess an entity’s ability to generate future net cash flows and meet its obligations as they 

come due for settlement, as well as its need for external financing. In this chapter, we cover the contents of 

the statement of cash flows and the manner in which it is presented. 

 

Reporting Requirements 

Proprietary funds and governmental entities engaged in business-type activities are required to present a 

statement of cash flows for each period for which they are reporting the results of operations. Examples of 

these entities are governmental utilities and hospitals, as well as public colleges and universities. Trust 

funds are exempt from this requirement. 

 

Note: A proprietary fund that has no operating income or loss must still present a statement of cash flows. 

 

Report Contents 

A statement of cash flows is intended to report on the net cash provided to or used by a government’s 

ongoing operations, its capital and non-capital financing transactions, and its investing transactions. The 

report also contains a reconciliation of the entity’s operating income to its net cash flow from operating 

activities; this is done by adjusting operating income to remove the effects of depreciation, amortization, 

and other deferred inflows and outflows. Changes during the period in receivables, inventory, and payables 

should be separately reported. The reconciliation should separately report all major classes of reconciling 

items. A sample reconciliation appears in the final section of this chapter. 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The central focus of a statement of cash flows is changes in the amount of cash and cash equivalents over 

a reporting period. The report shows the beginning and ending cash balances, which should be traceable to 

similar line items in the statements of financial position as of the same dates. 

 

Note: A cash equivalent is a short-term, highly liquid investment that is readily convertible into known 

amounts of cash, and which is so near its maturity that it presents an insignificant risk of changes in value 

due to changes in interest rates. Examples of cash equivalents are Treasury bills, commercial paper, and 

money market funds. 



Cash Flows Statements 

150 

Gross and Net Cash Flows 

Most cash flows should be reported at a gross level, where cash inflows are not netted against related cash 

outflows. By doing so, the reader has more information with which to assess the cash flows of the organi-

zation. 

It is allowable to report some cash flows at their net amounts, where cash inflows are offset against 

related cash outflows. This reporting is allowed when a transaction has rapid turnover, occurs in large 

amounts, and involves short maturities. Examples of items that may be reported net are investments, loans 

receivable, and debt, as long as the original maturity is three months or less. 

It is also allowable for governmental enterprises to report the purchases and sales of their highly liquid 

investments at net, rather than at gross. This reporting approach is allowed when substantially all of the 

enterprise’s assets were highly liquid investments during the reporting period, and the enterprise has a min-

imal amount of debt in relation to average total assets. 

 

Negative Cash Balances 

A government may have a cash balance on its books that is a negative number. When reporting the cash 

balance in the statement of cash flows, this negative balance is assumed to be zero. To increase the negative 

balance to zero, report an inflow in the noncapital financing activities classification of the statement. By 

doing so, it appears as if a cash management pool or bank financed the negative cash situation. In the 

following period, the “loan” is assumed to have been repaid, so that a noncapital financing outflow in the 

same amount is reported. A sample line item dealing with this situation appears in the final section of this 

chapter. 

 

When Cash Flow Occurs 

When reporting information in the statement of cash flows, it can be confusing to decide whether a cash 

transaction has occurred. As a general guideline, cash flows only if it has changed hands, so that legal 

ownership of the cash has been transferred to a new entity. For example, a government qualifies for a loan 

with a local lender, and the lender grants the loan. There is no cash flow until the bank shifts the funds into 

the government’s bank account. 

 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

One of the main classifications in a statement of cash flows is cash flows from operating activities. The 

results listed within this classification typically result from providing services and producing and delivering 

goods. It can also be a catchall classification that includes results that do not readily fall into any of the 

other classifications (which are covered in the following sections). As a general rule, results included in 

cash flows from operating activities are those involving transactions and other events that are included in 

the determination of operating income. The cash inflows and outflows usually broken out within this clas-

sification are as follows: 

 

Cash inflows from operating activities 

• Cash received from the sale of goods or services, including the collection of receivables 

• Cash received from the provision of interfund services 

• Cash received from grants for specific activities that the granting entity considers to be operating 

activities 

• Cash received from interfund reimbursements 

• All other cash receipts not relating to the other reporting classifications 
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Cash outflows from operating activities 

• Cash paid to buy materials for the provision of goods and services, including the payment of sup-

plier invoices for such materials 

• Cash paid to suppliers for other types of goods and services 

• Cash paid to employees in exchange for their services 

• Cash paid as grants to other entities for activities that the grantor considers to be operating activities 

• Cash paid for taxes, fines, and other fees or penalties 

• Cash paid for interfund services used 

• All other cash payments not relating to the other reporting classifications 

 

Additional line items can be added if the resulting detail is considered useful. 

 

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 

The second classification used in the statement of cash flows is cash flows from noncapital financing ac-

tivities. The line items within this classification include the borrowing of money for any activity that does 

not include the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets, as well as the repayment of these 

borrowings. Also, any proceeds from borrowings that are not clearly associated with capital assets are stated 

here. The cash inflows and outflows usually broken out within this classification are as follows: 

 

Cash inflows from noncapital financing activities 

• Cash received from the issuance of bonds, notes, and other borrowings not clearly associated with 

capital asset activities 

• Cash received from grants or subsidies, not including any cash specifically restricted for capital 

uses and those designated for activities that are classified as operating activities by the granting 

entity 

• Cash received from other funds, not including any cash specifically attributable to capital asset 

activities, interfund services provided, or interfund reimbursements 

• Cash received from tax collections for the enterprise and which are not restricted for capital asset 

activities 

 

Cash outflows from noncapital financing activities 

• Cash paid to reduce borrowings that were not intended for capital asset activities 

• Cash paid to reduce the interest obligation to lenders on borrowings not associated with capital 

asset activities 

• Cash paid as grants or subsidies to other entities, except in relation to activities considered to be 

operating activities by the grantor 

• Cash paid to other funds, except in relation to the usage of interfund services 

 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 

The third classification used in the statement of cash flows is cash flows from capital and related financing 

activities. The line items within this classification primarily address the acquisition and disposition of cap-

ital assets. The cash inflows and outflows usually broken out within this classification are as follows: 

 

Cash inflows from capital and related financing activities 

• Cash received from the issuance of bonds, mortgages, notes and other borrowings clearly associ-

ated with the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets 
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• Cash received from capital grants 

• Cash received from contributions made by other funds or other entities in order to defray the cost 

of acquiring, constructing, or improving capital assets 

• Cash received from the sale of capital assets 

• Cash received from insurance on capital assets that have been destroyed or stolen 

• Cash received from taxes or special assessments levied specifically to finance capital asset activi-

ties 

 

Cash outflows from capital and related financing activities 

• Cash paid to acquire, construct, or improve capital assets 

• Repayments of amounts borrowed to acquire, construct, or improve capital assets 

• Other trade credit payments to suppliers related to capital asset activities 

• Cash paid for the interest associated with capital asset activities 

 

There can be some confusion in deciding whether to classify a cash flow as capital financing or non-capital 

financing in nature. The following rules can be used to make the determination: 

• Relationship to capital assets. Debt that is not clearly attributable to the construction, acquisition, 

or improvement of capital assets should be classified as noncapital debt. Also, the debt proceeds 

and all subsequent principal and interest payments are considered noncapital financing. 

• Subsequent sale of assets. When principal and interest payments are being made on debt that was 

originally used to acquire, construct or improve a capital asset, and that asset has since been dis-

posed of in some way, continue to classify the payments as capital and related financing. 

• Debt refunding. When debt is being recalled and then reissued, the proceeds of a debt issuance that 

is intended to refund capital debt is classified as a cash inflow within the capital and related financ-

ing category. Also, payments made to recall the original capital debt is classified as a cash outflow 

in the same category. Further, all subsequent principal and interest payments made against the re-

funding debt are classified as cash outflows in the capital and related financing category. 

 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

The fourth classification used in the statement of cash flows is cash flows from investing activities. The 

line items within this classification primarily address the issuance and collection of loans, as well as the 

acquisition and disposal of debt or equity securities. The cash inflows and outflows usually broken out 

within this classification are as follows: 

 

Cash inflows from investing activities 

• Cash received from collecting payments on loans made by the governmental enterprise, as well as 

from the sale of the debt instruments of other entities that had been purchased by the enterprise 

• Cash received from the sale of equity securities 

• Cash received from interest and dividends 

• Cash received from the withdrawal of funds from investment pools 

 

Cash outflows from investing activities 

• Cash paid to acquire the debt instruments of other entities 

• Cash paid to acquire equity securities 

• Cash paid as deposits into investment pools 
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Specific Cash Flow Classifications 

In this section, we address the proper cash flow treatment of a number of highly specific transactions in 

which a government may engage. This information is useful for slotting cash flows into the correct classi-

fications within the statement of cash flows. The transactions are as follows: 

• Bond issuance costs, deducted. If a government issues bonds and the related issuance costs and 

underwriting fees are deducted from the proceeds, then present the net amount of the bond proceeds 

in either the capital or noncapital financing classifications, depending on the nature of the borrow-

ing. 

• Bond issuance costs, paid later. If a government issues bonds and pays the related issuance costs 

and underwriting fees separately, then present the cash inflow from the bond proceeds in either the 

capital or noncapital financing classifications, depending on the nature of the borrowing. The re-

lated issuance costs and fees are then classified as cash outflows within the same classification. 

• Rent income. A government may earn rental income from its properties. There is no specific di-

rective for how the related cash inflow is to be classified. If the nature of the transaction does not 

align with the criteria for one of the more specific classifications, rent income is classified as a cash 

inflow from operating activities, since that is the default cash flow classification. 

• Royalty income. A government may earn royalty income, usually from its intangible assets. There 

is no clear definitive classification for royalty income. One should evaluate the asset underlying 

the royalties to determine whether the income is a cash inflow from investing activities. If not, it is 

classified as a cash inflow from operating activities, since that is the default cash flow classification. 

• Contributions, capital assets. When a government receives capital assets from developers or others, 

they are disclosed in an accompanying schedule (see the next section, concerning information about 

noncash activities). 

• Contributions, noncapital. When an enterprise fund receives a noncapital contribution, it is treated 

the same as a grant or subsidy, and so is classified as a noncapital financing cash inflow. 

• Grants received. When a grantor issues a grant to a government and the amount is not related to 

capital asset activities, it is probably a subsidy of the entity’s ongoing operations or a purchase of 

services, and so should be reported within the operating activities classification. 

• Insurance proceeds. If there are insurance proceeds related to the loss or theft of capital assets, 

present them in the capital and related financing activities classification. Report all other insurance 

proceeds within the operating activities classification, since that is the residual classification to be 

used when a cash flow cannot be classified anywhere else. 

• Interest earnings. All interest earnings are reported as a cash inflow within the investing activities 

classification. This is the case even with the interest earnings on cash and cash equivalents, as well 

as when there are interest earnings on customer deposits. 

• Interfund loans. If interfund cash flows are not related to capital asset activities, then they are re-

ported as noncapital financing activities. If the cash flows are related to capital asset activities, then 

they are reported within the capital and related financing activities classification. 

• Investment gains and losses. Gains and losses associated with investments are not reported in the 

statement of cash flows. Only proceeds from the sale of investments (which incorporate any gains 

and losses) are reported; these amounts appear as cash inflows in the investing activities classifica-

tion. 

• Miscellaneous items. When there are cash flows associated with miscellaneous income and ex-

penses, classify them as cash inflows or outflows within the operating activities classification. This 

is the case even when the items are non-operating in nature. 

• Property taxes for capital debt service. When a government imposes a property tax to assist with 

the financing of the debt associated with its capital assets, the payment is reported as a cash inflow 

within the capital and related financing activities classification. This treatment is used because the 

property taxes are indirectly financing the capital assets. 
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• Refundable customer deposits. Customers may pay a government entity a deposit, which will be 

refunded to them at a later date. These cash inflows and outflows are classified as operating activ-

ities, because they do not fit the requirements for classification in the financing or investing classi-

fications. The deposits are not treated as loans from customers, and so are not considered financing 

activities. 

• Subsidies for capital debt service. When a government receives a subsidy to assist with the financ-

ing of the debt associated with its capital assets, the payment is reported as a cash inflow within the 

capital and related financing activities classification. This treatment is used because the subsidy is 

indirectly financing the capital assets. 

• Tap fees. A customer may pay a tap fee to defray the costs associated with connecting the customer 

to a utility system. The cash inflow associated with this fee is included in the operating activities 

classification. However, if part of the fee is associated with the acquisition, construction, or im-

provement of capital assets, then that portion is presented within the cash flows from capital and 

related financing activities classification. 

 

Information about Noncash Activities 

A government may occasionally engage in activities that do not involve cash. Examples of these noncash 

transactions are: 

• The acquisition of an asset by assuming a related liability 

• The acquisition of a structure by incurring a mortgage 

• The acquisition of equipment by entering into a lease 

• The exchange of one asset for another 

• The receipt of a donated capital asset 

• Transfers of capital assets between funds 

 

These transactions should be reported in a separate schedule if the transactions affect recognized assets or 

liabilities and they can be classified as investing, capital, or financing activities. Noncash operating trans-

actions are not reported in the schedule. 

The schedule of noncash transactions can be in either a tabular or a narrative format. If sufficient space 

is available, this schedule can appear on the same page as the statement of cash flows. 

Some of these transactions involve cash and noncash elements. For example, a government could swap 

one copier for another, plus a payment of $5,000. Only the cash portion of these transactions should appear 

in the statement of cash flows. 

 

Sample Statement of Cash Flows 

The following presentation of a sample statement of cash flows is designed for a utility fund. It includes all 

four of the cash flow classifications, as well as a narrative discussion of noncash activities. 
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Sample Utility Fund 

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

 

Cash flows from operating activities:   

Cash received from customers $570,000  

Cash payment to employees for services -132,400  

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services -195,600  

Cash payment to general fund for lease -21,000  

Net cash provided by operating activities  $221,000 

   

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:   

Cash payment (subsidy) to (from) city -161,000  

Transfer from the Electrical Utility Fund 2,000  

Negative cash balance implicitly financed 1,000  

Net cash used for noncapital financing activities  -158,000 

   

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:   

Construction and improvement of plant -600,000  

Debt principal payments -108,000  

Debt interest payments -12,000  

Contributions in aid of construction from developers 80,000  

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities  -640,000 

   

Cash flows from investing activities:   

Interest and dividends on investments 117,000  

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 1,450,000  

Purchases of investments -1,000,000  

Net cash provided by investing activities  567,000 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  -10,000 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  10,000 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $-- 
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Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

 

Operating income  $32,600 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 
  

Depreciation $190,000  

Change in assets and liabilities:   

Increase in accounts receivable -2,400  

Decrease in inventory 1,600  

Increase in accounts payable 4,000  

Decrease in accrued wages -4,800  

Total reconciling adjustments  188,400 

Net cash provided by operating activities  $221,000 

 

In addition to the $2,000 cash transfer, the Electrical Utility Fund also received certain assets of the Sample 

Utility Fund. The net book value of the assets at the time of the transfer was $26,000. In addition, there was 

a net increase in the fair value of the Sample Utility Fund’s investments of $3,920. 

 

Summary 

The statement of cash flows can be the most difficult of the financial statements to prepare, since its contents 

are not necessarily generated automatically by a government’s accounting system. Instead, the accounting 

system may produce a rough, high-level statement of cash flows that requires considerable fine-tuning to 

ensure that it provides a detailed view of all material cash flows. It may also be necessary to shift certain 

transactions among different reporting classifications, depending on one’s judgment regarding the reasons 

for the transactions. Consequently, this report requires a considerable amount of manual intervention to 

ensure that it fairly represents a government’s actual cash flows. 
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Review Questions 

1. In the statement of cash flows, outflows from operating activities may include the following item: 

a. Cash paid for interfund services used 

b. Cash paid to construct capital assets 

c. Cash paid to reduce borrowings not intended for capital asset activities 

d. Cash paid as deposits into equity pools 

 

2. A government receives a subsidy. This cash flow should be classified within the cash flows from ___ 

section of the statement of cash flows. 

a. Operating activities 

b. Financing activities 

c. Capital and related financing activities 

d. Investing activities 

 

 



 
Chapter 15 

Segment Information 

Learning Objectives 

• Recognize the circumstances under which discrete presentation is used in the financial statements. 

 

Introduction 

When a government separately reports enterprise funds or uses enterprise fund accounting, it must include 

segment information for those activities in the notes that accompany the financial statements. In this chap-

ter, we cover the requirements for segment reporting. 

 

Segment Reporting 

A segment is an identifiable activity that is reported within an enterprise fund or similar entity that has one 

or more bonds or similar debt instruments outstanding, where some portion of its revenue stream is pledged 

to support repayment of the debt. Further, the activity’s revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and lia-

bilities are required to be accounted for separately by an external party. For example, there may be a pro-

vision in a bond indenture agreement that requires a government to provide this information. 

A condensed set of financial information must be presented for each segment in the notes to the finan-

cial statements. The following information must be presented for each segment: 

 

Condensed statement of net position 

• Total assets. Distinguish between the segment’s current assets, capital assets, and other assets. Sep-

arately note any amounts receivable from other funds or component units. 

• Outflows. State the total deferred outflows of resources. 

• Total liabilities. Distinguish between current and long-term liabilities. Separately note any amounts 

payable to other funds or component units. 

• Inflows. State the total deferred inflows of resources. 

• Total net position. Distinguish between the net investment in capital assets, restricted net position, 

and unrestricted net position. 

 

Condensed statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 

• Operating revenues. State operating revenues by major source. 

• Operating expenses. State operating expenses, with depreciation and amortization identified sepa-

rately. 

• Results. State the operating income or loss. 

• Non-operating revenues/expenses. State the non-operating revenue and expense, with separate re-

porting of major revenues and expenses. 

• Contributions. State the amount of capital contributions, as well as additions to the permanent and 

term endowments. 

• Special and extraordinary items 

• Transfers 

• Change in net position 
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• Beginning net position 

• Ending net position 

 

Condensed statement of cash flows 

• Cash flows. Distinguish between the net cash provided by or used by operating activities, noncapital 

financing activities, capital and related financing activities, and investing activities. 

• Cash balances. State the beginning and ending cash and cash equivalent balances. 

 

Segment reporting is not required when an individual fund is classified as a segment and is also being 

reported as a major fund. 

 

Sample Segment Reporting 

The following sample of a segment report provides the condensed financial information for a utility fund, 

along with an explanatory footnote. 

 
Segment Information 

The City issues two revenue bonds to finance its water and wastewater departments. The City accounts for 

the two departments as a single public utility fund, but investors rely entirely on the revenue generated by 

each individual department for repayment. Summary financial information for each of these departments is 

presented in the following table. The water department operates the City’s reservoir system, while the 

wastewater department operates the City’s sewage collection, pumping, and treatment facilities. 
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(000s) 20X2 

 Water 

Department 

Wastewater 

Department 

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION   

Assets:   

Current assets $10,459 $13,840 

Capital assets, net 77,906 184,383 

Total assets 88,365 198,223 

Deferred outflows of resources 255 -- 

Liabilities:   

Interfund payables -- 350 

Other current liabilities 3,041 5,968 

Noncurrent liabilities 10,952 98,854 

Total liabilities 13,993 105,172 

Net position:   

Net investment in capital assets 65,545 79,952 

Unrestricted 9,082 13,099 

Total net position $74,627 $93,051 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EX-

PENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

  

Operating revenues $8,319 $14,341 

Depreciation expense -1,100 -1,226 

Other operating expenses -5,286 -6,204 

Operating income 1,933 6,911 

Non-operating revenues (expenses):   

Investment income 435 475 

Interest expense -806 -2,396 

Capital contributions 2,320 972 

Transfers out -- -580 

Change in net position 3,882 5,382 

Beginning net position 70,745 87,628 

Ending net position 74,627 93,010 

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS   

Net cash provided (used) by:   

Operating activities 4,004 1,701 

Noncapital financing activities -- -580 

Capital and related financing activities -3,368 -3,282 

Investing activities 435 475 

Net increase (decrease) 1,071 -1,686 

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 6,179 11,270 

Ending cash and cash equivalents $7,250 $9,584 
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Summary 

Segment reporting falls outside of the normal set of financial statements and disclosures, and so can be easy 

to forget. To ensure that this is not the case, carry forward the segment reporting for the prior year’s financial 

statements, and also see if there are any contractual obligations that have occurred since that date, requiring 

the government to issue segment reports to any third parties. This investigation should be included in the 

mandated action steps that the accounting staff completes as part of its procedure for closing the books and 

producing financial statements. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following information must be included in a condensed statement of net position for a segment: 

a. Inflows and outflows 

b. Operating expenses 

c. Cash balances 

d. Contributions 

 

 



 
Chapter 16 

Reporting Entity and Component Unit 
Presentation and Disclosure 

Learning Objectives 

• Recognize the factors involved in designating a component unit as major. 

 

Introduction 

A government may create a number of separate legal entities to perform a selection of the functions that it 

would otherwise take on itself. For example, a separate water utility may be created in order to pledge its 

highly predictable revenue stream to the debt service on bonds issued to pay for water systems. Or, a non-

profit entity is given the power to engage in activities that the founding government is not permitted to do, 

such as buying or selling land. 

When a government issues its annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR), the report should present 

information about the reporting entity, while also providing an overview of its discretely presented compo-

nent units. When assembling an ACFR, questions may arise about exactly which of these entities to include 

in the financial statements. In this chapter, we define the financial reporting entity, the component unit, and 

several reporting issues pertaining to component units, including equity investments, intra-entity transac-

tions, and reporting periods. 

 

The Financial Reporting Entity Defined 

The financial reporting entity is the primary government and any other organizations for which the primary 

government is financially accountable. Included in this definition are the primary government’s blended 

component units (described later in this chapter) and discretely presented component units. The managers 

of the primary government may also decide that the government’s financial reporting include entities that 

fall outside of the financial accountability criterion, because not doing so would be misleading for the read-

ers of the financial statements; if so, these entities are treated as component units. 

 

Note: Discrete presentation means that separate columns and rows are used in the government-wide state-

ments to provide an overview of component unit financial data. Discrete columns are placed to the right of 

the financial data for the primary government. 

 

The Component Unit Defined 

A component unit is a legally separate organization for which the elected officials of a primary government 

are financially accountable. This entity may be a governmental organization, a nonprofit corporation, or a 

for-profit corporation. 

When a primary government issues financial statements, it should include an overview of the entity, 

while still allowing readers to distinguish between the primary government entity and its component units. 

This usually means that financial information should be discretely presented in the government-wide state-

ments. This is not the case for component units that are fiduciary by nature; these units should only be 

included in the fund financial statements with the primary government’s fiduciary funds. These statements 

are the statements of fiduciary net position and changes in fiduciary net position. 
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A component unit of a primary government may have its own component units. When the primary 

government reports a component unit within its own financial statements, it should include the data from 

these “second tier” component units. When doing so, the proper accounting is to complete the financial 

reporting at the lowest tier, which is then included in the reporting for the next highest tier, and so forth. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A power generation district is a component unit of Minnetonka City, because the city appoints the governing board of 

the district and the district imposes a financial burden on the city. The power generation district is financially account-

able for a building authority that manages the power grid for the city. The building authority is a component unit of 

the power generation district, while the power generation district is a component unit of Minnetonka City. The building 

authority is not a formal component unit of the city, but its financial data should be included in the city’s financial 

reporting entity as part of the power generation district. 

 

 

Component units are discretely presented in the financial statements of the financial reporting entity. Dis-

crete presentation is made when the financial data of a component unit is made in columns and rows that 

are separate from the primary government’s financial data. This data should only be reported in the gov-

ernment-wide financial statements. The combined data of the component units should be stated within one 

or more columns in the government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities. These col-

umns should be positioned to the right of the total column for the primary government, thereby distinguish-

ing between the financial data of the primary government and its discretely presented component units. 

 

Major Component Unit Information 

Certain additional information should be presented when a component unit is considered to be a major unit. 

In general, the designation as a major unit depends on the nature and significance of a unit’s relationship 

with the primary government. The following factors are considered when determining whether a component 

unit is to be classified as major: 

• The services provided by it to citizens are considered so significant that separate reporting of the 

unit is essential to the readers of the financial statements; 

• There are significant transactions between the unit and the primary government; or 

• The unit has a significant financial burden or benefit relationship with the primary government. 

 

When a component unit is classified as major, the following reporting should be applied to them: 

• Present each major component unit in a separate column in the statements of net position and ac-

tivities; 

• Include combining statements for the major component units in the primary government’s basic 

financial statements, following the fund financial statements; or 

• Include the unit’s condensed financial statements in the notes accompanying the parent govern-

ment’s financial statements. 

 

When reporting units are not classified as major, they are aggregated into a single column in the primary 

government’s applicable financial statements. It is possible, but not required, to present a combining state-

ment for the non-major component units as supplementary information to the financial statements. 
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If the decision is made to include component unit information in the notes, one should include the 

following information: 

 

Condensed statement of net position 

• Total assets. State the total asset figure, differentiating between current assets, capital assets and 

other assets. Also, separately note any amounts receivable from the primary government or other 

component units. 

• Deferred inflows. State the total amount of all deferred inflows to the component unit. 

• Total liabilities. State the total liabilities figure, differentiating between current liabilities and long-

term liabilities. Also, separately note any amounts payable to the primary government or other 

component units. 

• Total net position. State the total net position, differentiating between the net investment in capital 

assets, restricted net position, and unrestricted net position. When reporting the restricted net posi-

tion, separately report its expendable and non-expendable components. 

 

Condensed statement of activities 

• Expenses. State expenses by major functions, separately reporting depreciation. 

• Revenues. Separately state program revenues. 

• Net result. State the net program revenue or expense. 

• Tax revenues 

• Other non-tax general revenues 

• Contributions. Separately state any contributions made to endowments and permanent fund princi-

pal. 

• Special and extraordinary items 

• Change in net position 

• Beginning net position 

• Ending net position 

 

The preceding information should be presented in the form of aggregated totals, matching the entity totals 

stated in the component units’ statements of net position and activities. 

Also disclose in the accompanying notes the nature and amount of any significant transactions between 

the primary government and its component units. 

 

Blending Component Units 

The operations of some component units may be so intertwined with those of the primary government that 

they are essentially part of the primary government. These units are reported as part of the primary govern-

ment in the government-wide financial statements and fund financial statements (known as blending). 

Blending should be used under any of the following circumstances: 

• Governance. The governing body of the component unit is essentially the same as that of the pri-

mary government, and there is a financial burden or benefit relationship between the entities, or the 

primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit. 

• Service relationship. The component unit provides services or benefits almost entirely to the pri-

mary government. The unit is essentially an internal service fund, where services are not provided 

directly to citizens. 

• Repayment. The resources of the primary government are to be used to entirely or almost entirely 

repay the component unit’s total debt outstanding. 

• Nonprofit member. The primary government is the sole corporate member of the component unit, 

which is organized as a nonprofit corporation. 
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The funds of a blended component unit are included for presentation purposes with the primary govern-

ment’s other funds. However, the general fund of a blended component unit is presented as a special revenue 

fund, since report users prefer to see the general fund of the reporting entity on a standalone basis. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government creates a financing authority that is tasked with issuing debt for the state’s public safety and 

transportation functions. The financing authority can also issue debt to fund a small number of school districts in the 

poorest neighborhoods of the state; this amount comprises roughly 20% of the total debt issued. The state government 

appoints every member of the financing authority’s board and has also pledged a significant portion of the state’s 

gasoline taxes to repay all of the authority’s outstanding debt. 

 

The financing authority should be classified as a blended component unit, since the authority’s debt is to be repaid 

with resources provided by the state. The use of debt to fund school districts is irrelevant to the classification decision. 

However, if the debt related to the school districts had instead been paid with local property taxes, then the state is no 

longer paying for all of the debt. In this case, the state would instead classify the financing authority as a component 

unit. 

 

 

In those cases where a government is only engaged in business-type activities that only involve the presen-

tation of information in a single column in the financial statements, it is allowable to blend the data for a 

component unit into the single column presentation for the primary government. This also involves the 

presentation of combining information in the accompanying notes. At a minimum, such a condensed com-

bining presentation should include the following information: 

 

Condensed statement of net position 

• Total assets. State the total asset figure, differentiating between current assets, capital assets and 

other assets. Also, separately note any amounts receivable from the primary government or other 

component units. 

• Deferred outflows. State the total amount of all deferred outflows. 

• Total liabilities. State the total liabilities figure, differentiating between current liabilities and long-

term liabilities. Also, separately note any amounts payable to the primary government or other 

component units. 

• Deferred inflows. State the total amount of all deferred inflows of resources. 

• Total net position. State the total net position, differentiating between the net investment in capital 

assets, restricted net position, and unrestricted net position. When reporting the restricted net posi-

tion, separately report its expendable and non-expendable components. 

 

Condensed statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 

• Revenues. State the amounts of operating revenues by major source. 

• Expenses. State the amounts of operating expenses, separately noting the amount of depreciation 

and amortization. 

• Income. State the amount of operating income. 

• Non-operating activity. Separately state the amounts of non-operating major revenues and ex-

penses. 

• Contributions. Separately state any contributions made to permanent and term endowments. 

• Special and extraordinary items 

• Transfers 

• Change in net position 
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• Beginning net position 

• Ending net position 

 

Condensed statement of cash flows 

• Net cash. State the amounts of net cash provided (used by) each of the following: operating activi-

ties, noncapital financing activities, capital and related financing activities, and investing activities 

• Beginning cash and cash equivalent balances 

• Ending cash and cash equivalent balances 

 

Equity Interests in Component Units 

There may be instances in which a government owns a majority of the equity interest in a separate organi-

zation. In this situation, the presentation of that equity interest depends on the government’s intent in own-

ing the equity interest. The alternatives are: 

• To provide services. When the government’s intent is to enhance its ability to provide services, 

then report the entity as a component unit. If the government discretely presents this component 

unit, report the equity interest as an asset of the fund that has the equity interest. 

• To provide an investment. When the government’s intent is to earn a return on its investment, it 

reports the equity interest as an investment, even if its ownership of the entity is not total. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Qanix City has been having difficulty obtaining sand for its road sanding operations, and so decides to buy all of the 

outstanding shares of a local quarry corporation to ensure its supply of sand. Qanix should report the quarry as a 

component unit. 

 

Qanix City buys an interest in the local producer of a ride-sharing app, with the intent of earning a return on its 

investment. Qanix should report the producer as an investment. 

 

 

Intra-Entity Transactions 

It is possible that resources will flow back and forth between a primary government and component units 

that are being reported on a blended basis in its financial statements. These resource flows are classified as 

internal activities from the perspective of the blended financial statements. 

The treatment of intra-entity transactions between a primary government and any discretely presented 

component units is somewhat different, as noted in the following bullet points: 

• Payables and receivables. Any amounts payable or receivable between a primary government and 

any discretely presented component units (or between those units) are reported on a separate line. 

• Resource flows. Any resource flows between a primary government and any discretely presented 

component units, other than those affecting just the statement of financial position, are reported as 

revenues and expenses. 

 

Reporting Periods 

It is possible that a primary government and its component units will have different fiscal year-ends. To 

avoid this situation, governments are encouraged to mandate identical fiscal year-ends for the primary gov-

ernment and its component units. If it is not practical to have a common fiscal year-end, the financial re-

porting entity should use those financial statements of a reporting entity that end during the fiscal year of 

the reporting entity. If the unit’s fiscal year ends during the first quarter of the reporting entity’s fiscal year, 
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it is possible to use the financial results of the unit’s next fiscal year, though only if doing so does not 

interfere with the timely release of the reporting entity’s financial statements. 

 

Note Disclosures 

The following disclosures related to the reporting entity and its component units may be added to the notes 

accompanying the financial statements: 

• Overview. Describe the component units in the notes, as well as their relationship to the primary 

government. State why each component unit is being included in the financial reporting entity, also 

noting whether it is being discretely presented, included in the fiduciary fund financial statements, 

or blended. 

• Additional information. State how to obtain the separate financial statements for individual com-

ponent units. 

• Inconsistencies. When component units have different fiscal years, there may be inconsistencies in 

the transactions recorded between them. If so, describe these inconsistencies in the notes. 

• Fiscal year changes. When there is a change in the fiscal year of the component units included in 

the reporting entity, disclose the change. 

 

A sample overview disclosure that incorporates several of these requirements is as follows: 

 
The Lincoln Trade School Foundation is a legally separate, tax-exempt component unit of Lincoln Trade 

School. The foundation is a fund raising organization that is intended to supplement the resources available 

to the school to fulfill its program goals. The five-member board of the foundation is self-perpetuating and 

is comprised of graduates and associates of the school. Although the school has no control over the timing or 

amount of funds received from the foundation, the majority of resources that the foundation holds and invests 

are restricted to the activities of the school by donors. Since these restricted resources can only be used by or 

for the benefit of the school, the foundation is considered a component unit of the school and so is discretely 

presented in the school’s financial statements. 

 

During the year ended 20X2, the foundation distributed $303,200 to the school for both restricted and unre-

stricted purposes. The foundation’s complete financial statements can be obtained from its administrative 

office, which is located at 123 Main Street, Anywhere CO 80123 or from the foundation’s website. 

 

In general, disclosures should distinguish between information pertaining to a primary government and its 

discretely presented component units. 

 

Presentation Issues 

There may be circumstances under which a primary government will issue financial statements that do not 

include the financial data for its component units. If so, disclose that the financial statements do not include 

the financial data for its component units that would normally be included. Similarly, there may be cases 

in which a component unit will separately issue its own financial statements. If so, state that the unit is a 

component of another government. For example, the following text could appear in the header block of a 

financial statement: 

 
Helix City School District, a component unit of Helix City 

 

In addition to this change to the header block, the separate financial statements of a component unit should 

also disclose the name of the primary government of which it is a part, and describe the relationship between 

the entities. 

A primary government may appoint some or all of the governing board members of other entities that 

are not treated as component units. These entities may be related organizations, joint ventures, jointly 
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governed organizations, or component units of another government. A related organization is an entity for 

which a primary government is accountable due to the primary government’s ability to appoint a majority 

of its board, but for which it is not financially accountable. When a primary government has a relationship 

with a related organization, it should disclose the nature of its accountability for the other organization. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Qanix City establishes an airport authority for the purpose of stimulating commerce and increasing the number of 

visitors to the city. The mayor of Qanix appoints four members of the seven-member governing council of the airport 

authority, but the city does not appoint the airport authority’s management team. The board members can only be 

removed for cause. The authority develops its own budget, issues bonds, and sets rates without any input from the 

city. The city does not provide any financial support to the airport authority, nor does it receive any benefit. Given the 

structure of this relationship, where there is no financial burden or benefit and the city does not control the airport 

authority, the entity is not classified as a component unit of the city. However, since the mayor appoints a voting 

majority of its board, the airport authority should be disclosed in the city’s financial statements as a related organiza-

tion. 

 

 

Summary 

To be clear, there are three options for how a primary government can report a component unit. When the 

relationship between a primary government and a component unit is very close, their financial data are 

blended, as though the unit is part of the primary government. Or, a component unit operates sufficiently 

separate from a primary government that it is discretely presented in the financial statements; this is the 

most common approach. The third option is available when a component unit is fiduciary in nature; in this 

case, the component unit is only included in the fund financial statements with the fiduciary funds of the 

primary government. 
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Review Questions 

1. The blending of a component unit into the primary government for reporting purposes is warranted 

under all of the following circumstances, except for: 

a. The primary government pays for the component unit’s debt outstanding 

b. The primary government is one of the shareholders of the component unit 

c. The governing body of the component unit matches that of the primary government 

d. The component unit solely services the primary government 

 

 



 
Chapter 17 

Statistical Section 

Learning Objectives 

• Cite the circumstances under which a statistical section is included in a set of financial statements. 

• Describe the formulation of fair value for real and personal property. 

• Specify which governments must include overlapping rates information in their financial state-

ments. 

• Recognize the different types of demographic and economic indicators. 

 

Introduction 

Statistical information may be presented within the supplementary information section of a government’s 

annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR). The information required for the statistical section is ex-

tensive, covering a number of financial and operational issues that the readers of a government’s financial 

statements may need in order to properly assess its condition. In this chapter, we cover the contents of the 

statistical section. 

 

Overview of the Statistical Section 

The information presented in the statistical section is intended to provide the readers of financial statements 

with additional context, detail, and historical perspective, so that they can better understand and assess a 

government’s economic condition. 

 

General Content 

The statistical section of a government’s financial statements presents comparative information for multiple 

time periods, sometimes covering a decade or more. This section may also contain non-accounting infor-

mation of various kinds, such as the following: 

• Assessed valuations 

• Economic data 

• Population data 

• Tax rates 

• The legal debt margin 

 

This information is grouped into five categories, which are as follows: 

• Financial trends information. Used to understand and assess how a government’s financial infor-

mation has changed over time. 

• Revenue capacity information. Used to understand and assess those factors impacting a govern-

ment’s ability to generate its own-source revenues. 

• Debt capacity information. Used to understand and assess a government’s debt obligations and the 

extent to which it can issue additional debt. 
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• Demographic and economic information. Used to explain the socio-economic environment within 

which a government operates, as well as providing a comparison of financial statement information 

over a period of time. 

• Operating information. Presents operational and resource information to be used in the assessment 

of a government’s economic condition. 

 

Note: The term own-source revenues refers to those revenues generated by a government itself, such as by 

levying taxes or charging fees. This revenue is still considered own-source revenue, even if the revenue is 

collected on behalf of the government by another entity (such as local sales taxes collected by a state gov-

ernment). 

 

In order to give readers a proper perspective on a government’s operating results, the default presentation 

is to present information for the last 10 years, in a tabular format. 

Additional disclosure information pertaining to each of these categories is covered in the following 

sections. 

 

Focus of the Data 

The focus of the information presented in the statistical section should be on the primary government (which 

includes any blended component units). However, it may be useful to include information about a compo-

nent unit if doing so would be beneficial to readers in their assessment of the economic condition of the 

primary government. 

 

Limitations 

A government only needs to include a statistical section if it is preparing an annual comprehensive financial 

report. This information is not required for any other financial statement reporting package that a govern-

ment might prepare. However, if a government chooses to include a statistical section in any other financial 

statement reporting package, it should follow the guidelines laid out in this chapter. 

If a government does not fully implement the stated requirements for a statistical section, then it should 

not refer to that portion of its financial statements as a statistical section. 

 

Financial Trends Information 

The general classifications of information to be presented within the financial trends section are net position 

and changes in net position. These topics are addressed further in the following sub-sections. 

 

Net Position 

Net position information should be broken down into the net investment in capital assets, restricted net 

position and unrestricted net position, and presented separately for governmental activities, business-type 

activities, and the total primary government. A sample net position disclosure appears next. 
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Acorn City 

Net Position by Component 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 Fiscal Year 

(000s) 20X1 20X2 20X3 

Governmental activities    

Net investment in capital assets $130,732 $127,796 $134,744 

Restricted 10,434 11,039 11,127 

Unrestricted 14,505 17,799 17,883 

Total governmental activities net position 155,671 156,634 163,754 

    

Business-type activities    

Net investment in capital assets -- -- -- 

Restricted -- -- -- 

Unrestricted -- -- -- 

Total business-type activities net position -- -- -- 

    

Primary government    

Net investment in capital assets 130,732 127,796 134,744 

Restricted 10,434 11,039 11,127 

Unrestricted 14,505 17,799 17,883 

Total primary government net position $155,671 $156,634 $163,754 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 

 

Changes in Net Position 

The accountant should separately present the following information for governmental and business-type 

activities: 

• Expenses by program, function, or identifiable activity 

• Program revenues by category, which may include charges for services, operating grants, operating 

contributions, and capital grants and contributions 

• Total net expense or revenue 

• General revenues and other changes in net position by type 

• Total change in net position 

• The most significant charges for services revenue, categorized by program, function, or identifiable 

activity 

 

If a government is only engaged in business-type activities, it should report revenues by major source, as 

well as distinguish between operating and non-operating revenues and expenses. This information should 

appear in their separately-issued financial reports. 
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If a government is only engaged in fiduciary activities, it should report the following information in its 

separately-issued financial reports: 

• Additions by source 

• Deductions by type 

• Total change in net position 

 

In addition, the following information should be presented for each individual pension or other post-em-

ployment benefit plan that is reported as a pension trust fund: 

• Benefit and refund deductions by type of benefit, such as age and service benefits 

• Benefit and refund deductions by refund, such as death or separation payments 

 

When a government reports about government funds, it should also present information about fund balances 

and changes in fund balances. This reporting should include: 

• The required classifications of fund balances for the general fund 

• The required classifications of fund balances for all other governmental funds in aggregate 

• The following information for total governmental funds: 

o Revenues by source 

o Expenditures by function2 

o Other financing sources and uses 

o Other changes in fund balances by type 

o Total change in fund balances 

o The ratio of total debt service expenditures to non-capital expenditures3 

 

It is acceptable to provide a greater level of detail on the face of the schedule or in a separate, accompanying 

schedule. 

A sample changes in net position disclosure appears next, along with a statement of fund balances and 

a statement of changes in fund balances. 

 

 
2 The interest and principal components of debt service expenditures are presented separately. 
3 Non-capital expenditures are calculated as total expenditures minus capital outlay and expenditures for capitalized 

assets stated within the functional expenditure categories. 
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Acorn City 

Change in Net Position 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 Fiscal Year 

(000s) 20X1 20X2 20X3 

Governmental activities    

Expenses    

General government $4,727 $5,534 $6,748 

Community services 19,258 20,839 21,354 

City infrastructure 20,549 20,657 17,721 

Culture and recreation -- 91 85 

Urban redevelopment -- 607 952 

Interest on long-term debt 156 165 146 

Total governmental activities expenses 44,690 47,893 47,006 

    

Program revenues    

Charges for services    

General government 47 47 75 

Community services 1,612 2,060 2,301 

City infrastructure 176 203 354 

Urban redevelopment -- 684 1,980 

Operating grants and contributions 4,389 4,318 4,070 

Capital grants and contributions 3,286 4,039 5,258 

Total governmental activities program revenues 9,510 11,351 14,038 

Total governmental activities net program expense 35,180 36,542 32,968 

    

General revenues and other changes in net position    

Taxes    

Sales tax 17,570 18,736 18,621 

Use tax 1,127 1,237 3,265 

Property tax 7,440 7,526 7,989 

Auto use tax 3,514 3,994 3,522 

Other taxes 958 964 891 

Unrestricted franchise fees 4,209 4,253 4,829 

Investment income 1,265 1,658 832 

Issuance of debt 66 265 534 

Insurance proceeds 45 -- -- 

Contributions 150 -- -- 

Transfers -961 -1,129 -394 

 35,383 37,504 40,089 

 $203 $962 $7,121 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 
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Acorn City 

Change in Net Position 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 Fiscal Year 

(000s) 20X1 20X2 20X3 

Business-type activities    

Expenses    

Land use fund $3,274 $4,029 $3,549 

Total expenses 3,274 4,029 3,549 

    

Revenues    

Land use service fees 2,313 2,900 3,155 

Total revenues 2,313 2,900 3,155 

    

Operating income (loss) before transfers -961 -1,129 -394 

    

Transfers 961 1,129 394 

Total business-type activities change in net position -- -- -- 

    

Total primary government change in net position $203 $962 $7,121 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 

 

 
Acorn City 

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 Fiscal Year 

(000s) 20X1 20X2 20X3 

General fund    

Reserved $1,350 $1,491 $1,298 

Unreserved 13,017 13,200 13,508 

Non-spendable -- -- -- 

Restricted -- -- -- 

Assigned -- -- -- 

Unassigned -- -- -- 

Total general fund 14,367 14,691 14,806 

    

All other governmental funds    

Reserved 7,184 9,684 9,917 

Unreserved 6,453 7,293 6,875 

Non-spendable -- -- -- 

Restricted -- -- -- 

Assigned -- -- -- 

Total all other governmental funds $13,637 $16,977 $16,792 

Total all governmental funds $28,004 $31,668 $31,598 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 
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Acorn City 

Fund Balances, Governmental Funds 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 Fiscal Year 

(000s) 20X1 20X2 20X3 

Revenues    

Taxes $30,610 $32,458 $34,288 

Intergovernmental 7,674 8,154 9,121 

Charges for services 1,836 2,994 4,709 

Franchise fees 4,209 4,253 4,828 

Investment income 1,265 1,657 833 

Miscellaneous 67 265 534 

Total revenues 45,661 49,781 54,313 

    

Expenditures    

Current    

General government 4,414 5,535 6,708 

Community services 19,456 20,878 21,354 

City infrastructure 15,252 13,730 13,843 

Culture & recreation -- 91 85 

Urban redevelopment -- 607 952 

Capital outlay    

General government -- 21 7,839 

Capital improvement 1,116 3,949 3,006 

Debt service    

Principal 1,306 15 56 

Interest and fiscal charges 203 161 147 

Total expenditures 41,747 44,987 53,990 

    

Revenue over expenditures 3,914 4,794 323 

    

Other Financing Sources (Uses)    

Transfers in 5,059 3,880 900 

Transfers out -6,020 -5,009 -1,294 

Contributions 150 -- -- 

Issuance of debt 45 -- -- 

Total other financing sources (uses) -766 -1,129 -394 

Net change in fund balances $3,148 $3,665 -$71 

    

Debt service as a percent of noncapital expenditures 3.9% 0.4% 0.5% 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 
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Revenue Capacity Information 

The general classifications of information to be presented within the revenue capacity section are revenue 

base, revenue rates, and principal revenue payers. These topics are addressed in the following sub-sections. 

Revenue Base Information 

The accountant should report revenue base information by major component, such as by different classes 

of real and personal property, or by type of rate payer. Further, state the total direct rate applied to this 

revenue base. The total direct rate is the weighted average of every individual direct rate applied by a 

government. A direct rate is the amount applied to a unit of a revenue base, such as a sales tax of 4% of a 

retail sale, or a $0.25 charge for every 100 gallons of water used. 

If a government reports revenue base information for a property tax, it must present the following in-

formation: 

• Assessed value. Report the assessed value of taxable property by major component. Examples of 

these components are residential property and commercial property. 

• Estimated actual value. Report the estimated actual value of the taxable property. This is the fair 

value of taxable real or personal property (or some similar measure of fair value), which is com-

monly considered its market value. 

 

If the government uses an assessment method that does not generate a reasonable basis for estimating actual 

property value, disclose the situation on the face of the schedule and state why the information has not been 

presented. 

A sample report of revenue base information appears next. 

 
Walnut City 

Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

(000s) Taxable Real and Personal Property 

Fiscal 

Year 

Residential 

Property 

Commercial 

Property 

Industrial 

Property 

Vacant 

Land 

20X0 $796,434 $539,134 $4,763 $30,745 

20X1 853,955 574,216 4,300 32,639 

20X2 858,295 575,249 4,074 30,690 

20X3 825,768 669,232 5,189 39,676 

20X4 836,720 692,471 4,343 41,196 

20X5 805,653 628,640 3,950 33,667 

20X6 806,330 639,120 3,750 31,862 

20X7 828,687 674,005 3,854 28,528 

20X8 829,760 638,792 3,204 27,077 

20X9 1,015,628 762,947 4,519 32,702 
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Walnut City 

Assessed Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property 

Last 10 Fiscal Years  

(continued) 

 

(000s) Taxable Real and Personal Property 

 

Fiscal 

Year 

 

Other 

Property 

 

Total Taxable 

Assessed Value 

 

Mill 

Levy 

 

Actual 

Value 

Assessed Value 

as % of  

Actual Value 

20X0 $76,889 $1,447,965 5.031 $12,251,482 11.82% 

20X1 86,587 1,551,697 4.958 13,133,259 11.82% 

20X2 95,876 1,564,184 5.054 13,215,858 11.84% 

20X3 91,294 1,631,159 5.047 13,150,665 12.40% 

20X4 89,318 1,664,048 5.077 13,363,879 12.45% 

20X5 105,985 1,577,895 5.077 12,783,755 12.34% 

20X6 112,373 1,593,435 5.129 12,843,507 12.41% 

20X7 117,278 1,652,352 5.073 13,250,415 12.47% 

20X8 114,500 1,613,333 5.015 12,681,268 12.72% 

20X9 106,859 1,922,655 5.015 15,296,547 12.57% 

 

Revenue Rates Information 

The accountant should separately state each individual direct rate applied by the government to the revenue 

base, as well as the total direct rate. In addition, disclose any legal restrictions on the ability of the govern-

ment to raise its direct rates. This may happen when (for example) a municipality must obtain the approval 

of a majority of its voters in order to raise a rate. 

The revenue rates presentation may involve overlapping rates, where there are rates applied by gov-

ernments that overlap, in part or in full, with the entity preparing the statistical section information. When 

this is the case, some overlapping taxing entities may levy their taxes for different fiscal periods, which can 

cause inconsistencies in the reporting of rates. Consequently, when preparing this schedule, the rates stated 

should be based on the taxes payable by taxpayers in the same year. Two sample revenue rate schedules 

are presented next. 
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Walnut City 

Direct Sales Tax Rates 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

Fiscal 

Year 

Walnut 

City 

State of 

Arizona 

Maricopa 

County 

Cultural 

District 

Football 

District 

 

Total 

20X0 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X1 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X2 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X3 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X4 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X5 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X6 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.10% 8.00% 

20X7 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.00% 7.90% 

20X8 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.00% 7.90% 

20X9 1.50% 5.60% 0.70% 0.10% 0.00% 7.90% 

 

 
Almond City 

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 City Direct Rates Overlapping Rates 

Fiscal 

Year 

Basic 

Rate 

Debt 

Service 

Total 

Direct Rate 

School 

District 

Mayfield 

County 

Fire Control 

District 

20X0 $1.72 $0.25 $1.97 $2.15 $0.92 $0.08 

20X1 1.72 0.25 1.97 2.15 0.92 0.08 

20X2 1.70 0.25 1.95 2.18 0.95 0.08 

20X3 1.70 0.25 1.95 2.18 0.95 0.08 

20X4 1.70 0.25 1.95 2.18 0.95 0.08 

20X5 1.68 0.25 1.93 2.20 0.95 0.08 

20X6 1.68 0.25 1.93 2.20 0.95 0.08 

20X7 1.68 0.25 1.93 2.21 0.96 0.08 

20X8 1.75 0.25 2.00 2.21 0.96 0.08 

20X9 1.75 0.25 2.00 2.21 0.96 0.08 

 

There are a few restrictions on the requirement to report revenue rates, which are as follows: 

• State governments. State governments do not have to present information about the revenue rates 

of the overlapping governments situated within their borders. 

• Non-state governments. A non-state government is not required to present information about any 

overlapping state government revenue rates. 

• Regional governments. Regional governments are encouraged to report about the revenue rates of 

their overlapping governments, but this is not required. 

 

The total direct rate may be difficult to calculate when a government has a complex rate structure. If so, an 

effective tax rate can be used instead. If an effective rate is used, it should be clearly labeled in the revenue 
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base and revenue rate schedules, along with a note stating why an effective tax rate is being used instead of 

the total direct rate. 

 

Note: An effective tax rate is the average rate that is calculated by dividing either total revenue or total 

collections by the total revenue base for a reporting period. 

 

Principal Revenue Payers Information 

The accountant should identify the payers of a government’s most significant own-source revenue, the 

amount of revenue base attributable to each, and the percentage of each amount in relation to the total 

revenue base. The 10 largest payers should be presented (either by revenue base or taxes levied), unless a 

smaller number can be used to attain 50% of the total revenue base or total taxes levied. This information 

should be presented for the current year and the preceding nine years. 

When a government is legally prohibited from reporting individual revenue payers, it should instead 

provide other information that helps users to understand the degree of concentration of its own-source rev-

enue. 

The preceding disclosures related to principal revenue assume that a government has a single, most-

significant revenue source that does not change over time. This may not be the case; for example, one 

revenue source may start small and grow so much that it becomes the dominant revenue source. In this 

case, it could make sense to present information for both the prior largest revenue source and the new largest 

revenue source. 

A sample schedule that contains principal revenue payer information appears next. The schedule is 

designed to show the changes in principal revenue payers over a 10-year period, using the current period 

and the period from nine years ago. 
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Cacao City 

Principal Property Taxpayers 

For 20X0 and 20X9 

 

 For the Year 20_0 

(000s) 

 

Ranking 

 

 

Taxpayer 

Taxable 

Assessed 

Value 

Percent of Total 

City Assessed 

Value 

1 Pensive Corporation $7,250 0.50% 

2 Newton Enterprises 7,079 0.49% 

3 Red Herring Fish Company 6,235 0.43% 

4 Arizona Teachers Pension Fund 5,945 0.41% 

5 Milagro Corporation 5,897 0.41% 

6 Spade Designs, Inc. 5,220 0.36% 

7 Snuggable Pillows, Inc. 5,122 0.36% 

8 Mulligan Imports 4,582 0.32% 

9 Nascent Corporation 4,495 0.31% 

10 Pianoforte International 3,770 0.26% 

 Total $55,595 3.85% 

    

 For the Year 20_9 

 

 

Ranking 

 

 

Taxpayer 

Taxable 

Assessed 

Value 

Percent of Total 

City Assessed 

Value 

1 Milagro Corporation $13,392 0.83% 

2 Nascent Corporation 12,843 0.80% 

3 Red Herring Fish Company 11,980 0.74% 

4 Pensive Corporation 11,644 0.72% 

5 Electronic Inference Corporation 8,541 0.53% 

6 Snuggable Pillows, Inc. 7,850 0.49% 

7 Grizzly Golf Carts 7,320 0.45% 

8 Hodgson Industrial Design 6,708 0.42% 

9 Radiosonde Communications 6,140 0.38% 

10 New Centurion Corporation 6,003 0.37% 

 Total $92,421 5.73% 

 

Property Tax Levies and Collections 

When a government levies a property tax, the accountant should present the following information for the 

last 10 years about property tax levies and collections: 

• The amount levied for the period 

• The amount collected before the end of the period, as well as the percentage of the levy that the 

collection figure represents 

• The amount of the levy collected in later years, the total amount collected to date, and the percent-

age of the levy that the to-date collection figure represents 
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A sample schedule that contains this information appears next. 

 
Walnut City 

Property Tax Levies and Collections 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

(000s)  Collected in Fiscal Year of the Levy 

 

 

Fiscal 

Year 

Taxes Levied 

for Collection 

in the 

Fiscal Year 

 

 

 

Amount 

 

 

Percentage 

of Levy 

20X0 $7,484 $7,440 99.4% 

20X1 7,629 7,526 98.7% 

20X2 8,088 7,989 98.8% 

20X3 8,173 8,133 99.5% 

20X4 8,451 8,323 98.5% 

20X5 8,340 8,286 99.4% 

20X6 8,173 7,984 97.7% 

20X7 8,105 8,243 101.7% 

20X8 8,538 8,463 99.1% 

20X9 8,308 8,294 99.8% 

 

Debt Capacity Information 

Governments should present information about their debt capacity. To do so, they should present infor-

mation about ratios of outstanding debt, direct and overlapping debt, debt limitations, and pledged revenue 

coverage. These topics are covered in the following sub-sections. 

 

Ratios of Outstanding Debt 

An outstanding debt ratio should be presented. This ratio is calculated by dividing total debt outstanding by 

total personal income. The total amount of personal income should be presented alongside this ratio, or 

with the demographic and economic information (as discussed in a later section of this chapter). If the total 

amount of personal income is not available, it is allowable to replace it with the estimated actual value of 

taxable property or some other relevant economic base. 

A per capita ratio of total outstanding debt should also be presented. Depending on the circumstances, 

there may be a more relevant alternative to the population figure used in this ratio. For example, a govern-

ment-run cable television utility might prefer to divide outstanding debt by the number of its customers, 

rather than the entire population of the area that the utility serves. 

A government may issue general bonded debt. If so, it should provide additional information about 

ratios of general bonded debt. Each type of this debt should be shown individually and totaled. If the gov-

ernment has accumulated resources that are restricted for use in repaying the principal on this debt, then the 

debt should be shown net of these resources and presented as net general bonded debt. 

If general bonded debt is present, a government should present a general bonded debt ratio. The ratio 

is calculated by dividing total general bonded debt by the total estimated actual value of taxable property. 

The numerator may instead be net general bonded debt, if applicable. If these bonds are not to be repaid 

with property taxes, it is allowable to use an alternative revenue base. 
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A per capita ratio of total general bonded debt should also be presented. Depending on the circum-

stances, there may be a more relevant alternative to the population figure used in this ratio, as was the case 

for the per capita ratio of total outstanding debt. 

These ratios require the use of current information about personal income and population. If this infor-

mation is not yet available by the time the financial statements are published, here are several alternative 

ways to deal with the situation: 

• Access tentative personal income data published by the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, and 

recalculate the related ratios in later years, after the tentative data has been finalized. 

• Use the personal income or population data from the most recent year available and recalculate the 

related ratios in later years, when more definitive data is made available. 

• Use an alternative source for the needed information. 

• Internally produce personal income and population data. 

 

Whenever these alternative methods are used, be sure to disclose the source of the data. 

A sample schedule that addresses the preceding requirements appears next. 

 
Cashew City 

Ratios of: 

Outstanding Debt by Type, 

Outstanding General Bonded Debt 

and Legal Debt Margin 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

(000s) Fiscal Year 

Outstanding Debt by Type 20X1 20X2 20X3 

Governmental activities    

General obligation bonds $3,050 $3,035 $2,980 

Total primary government outstanding debt $3,050 $3,035 $2,980 

    

Percentage of personal income 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 

Per capita $30 $31 $29 

    

Outstanding general bonded debt    

General obligation bonds $3,050 $3,035 $2,980 

    

Percentage of personal income 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 

Per capita $30 $31 $29 

    

Legal debt margin    

Debt limit $367,544 $393,998 $401,642 

Total net debt applicable to limit 3,050 3,035 2,980 

Legal debt margin $364,494 $390,963 $404,622 

    

Legal debt margin as percent of the debt limit 99.2% 99.2% 99.2% 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 
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Direct and Overlapping Debt 

Information should be presented for a government’s direct and overlapping debt. When there is debt at-

tributable to the governmental activities of an overlapping governmental entity, the statistical section should 

include the following information for the current year: 

• The total amount outstanding 

• The percentage of overlap between the reporting and overlapping governments 

• The product of the debt outstanding, multiplied by the percentage of overlap 

 

If a government only engages in business-type activities, there is no need to present information about direct 

and overlapping debt. 

The total amount of debt outstanding should agree with the amount stated in the entity’s basic financial 

statements. This means that the disclosure of the total amount outstanding should incorporate all debt pre-

miums and/or discounts, and other accounting adjustments. 

The products for the overlapping debt are then totaled and presented, along with total direct debt and 

total direct and overlapping debt. 

 

Note: Direct debt is a government’s outstanding long-term debt instruments, such as bonds, loans, and 

notes. Overlapping debt is the outstanding long-term debt instruments of governments that overlap geo-

graphically with the territory of the government preparing statistical section information. 

 

There is no requirement for state governments to present direct and overlapping debt information in the 

statistical section. Further, non-state entities are not required to present the debt of overlapping state gov-

ernments. County and regional governments are not required to present direct and overlapping debt infor-

mation, but are encouraged to do so. 

The overlap percentage between the reporting entity and the overlapping entity is calculated by dividing 

the amount of the revenue base from which the debt is repaid that is located within the overlapping area by 

the total revenue base of the overlapping entity. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

An overlapping government’s debt is repaid with property taxes. To calculate the overlap percentage, divide the value 

of the property in the overlap area by the total value of the property of the overlapping government. 

 

 

If there is not adequate information available for the relevant revenue base associated with the calculation 

of an overlap percentage, an alternative base can be used, such as personal income. Whatever the method 

used, the statistical section should include an explanation of the methodology and denominator used to 

calculate the percentage of overlap for each type of debt. 

A sample schedule that addresses the preceding requirements appears next. 
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Hickory City 

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 

as of December 31, 20X2 

 

(000s) 

 

Governmental Unit 

General 

Obligation 

Debt Outstanding 

Estimated 

Percentage 

Applicable 

Estimated Share 

of Overlapping 

Debt 

Chestnut Water District $200 100.0% $200 

Cottonwood Metropolitan District 8,510 35.9% 3,055 

Hawthorn School District 129,060 45.0% 58,077 

Hemlock Wastewater Authority 325 100.0% 325 

Hickory Public Schools 458,270 17.8% 81,572 

Larch Metropolitan District 48,515 42.1% 20,425 

Locust Recreation District 3,680 26.7% 983 

Maple Metropolitan District 394 100.0% 394 

Oak Metropolitan District 4,110 100.0% 4,110 

Spruce Metropolitan District 3,430 8.5% 292 

Sycamore School District 141,696 36.2% 51,294 

Subtotal overlapping debt 798,190  220,727 

Ocelot Water System District 15,700 100.0% 15,700 

Subtotal direct debt 15,700  15,700 

Total direct and overlapping debt $813,890  $236,427 

 

Debt Limitations 

When a government has a legal debt limitation, it should report the information used as the basis for its 

legal debt margin for the current year. A typical presentation would be as follows: 

• The relevant revenue base 

• The debt limit amount 

• The debt applicable to the limit, any reserves to be deducted, and the total net debt applicable to 

the limit 

• The legal debt margin amount 

 

In addition, the accountant should include an explanation of the nature of the debt limitation. Further, the 

following information should be presented for the last 10 years: 

• The debt limit amount 

• The total net debt applicable to the limit 

• The legal debt margin amount 

• The ratio of the legal debt margin amount or the total net debt applicable to the debt limit, divided 

by the debt limit 

 

Pledged-Revenue Coverage 

If a government has pledged any of its revenue to pay for debt, it should present information about the level 

of pledged-revenue coverage. For each type of debt that has been backed by pledged revenues, present the 

gross revenues, principal and interest requirements and a coverage ratio. Discuss the nature of the revenues 

being pledged for each type of debt. 
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Note: A coverage ratio measures the magnitude of the resources available to pay the interest and principal 

associated with debt that is backed by pledged revenues. It is calculated by dividing pledged revenues (or 

pledged revenues net of certain operating expenses) by the total amount of interest expenses and principal 

repayments. 

 

A sample presentation of pledged-revenue coverage appears next. 

 
Orange City 

Pledged Revenue Coverage 

Special Assessment Bonds 

Last 10 Years 

 

 

Fiscal 

Year 

Special 

Assessment 

Collections 

Debt 

Service -  

Principal 

Debt 

Service - 

Interest 

 

 

Coverage 

20X0 $9,200 $1,200 $8,000 1.1 

20X1 9,085 1,300 7,785 1.1 

20X2 9,070 1,400 7,670 1.0 

20X3 9,055 1,500 7,555 1.0 

20X4 9,040 1,600 7,440 0.9 

20X5 9,025 1,700 7,325 0.9 

20X6 9,010 1,800 7,210 0.9 

20X7 8,995 1,900 7,095 0.9 

20X8 8,980 2,000 6,980 0.8 

20X9 8,965 2,100 6,865 0.8 

 

Additional Debt Reporting Topics 

A government should separately present each type of outstanding debt, of which there may be many types, 

such as: 

• Certificates of participation 

• General obligation bonds 

• Loans 

• Revenue-backed bonds 

 

When reporting each type of outstanding debt, distinguish between debt that is related to governmental 

activities and debt related to business-type activities. The presentation should include a total for all debt. 

 

Demographic and Economic Information 

Governments should present relevant demographic and economic indicators, as well as information about 

the principal employers within their boundaries. These topics are discussed in the following sub-sections. 
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Demographic and Economic Indicators 

The following demographic and economic indicators should be presented: 

• Population 

• Total personal income 

• Per capita personal income 

• Unemployment rate 

 

If any of this information is not available for some or all of the 10 years required for presentation, either 

indicate that it is unavailable, use information from an alternative source, use information from a nearby 

jurisdiction, or provide estimates. 

 

A sample schedule that addresses these requirements appears next. 

 
Acorn City 

Demographic and Economic Statistics 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

Fiscal 

Year 

 

 

 

Population 

(000s) 

 

Personal 

Income 

 

Per Capita 

Personal 

Income 

 

 

Median 

Age 

High 

School 

Graduation 

Rate 

 

 

Unemployment 

Rate 

20X0 100,300 $3,294,100 $32,842 35.5 94.6% 5.1% 

20X1 98,800 3,440,300 34,821 36.0 94.8% 5.3% 

20X2 99,200 3,586,500 36,154 37.5 95.0% 5.5% 

20X3 99,700 3,732,700 37,439 39.5 95.2% 5.9% 

20X4 100,400 3,878,900 38,634 40.0 95.6% 6.0% 

20X5 101,900 4,025,100 39,500 40.0 95.8% 5.6% 

20X6 102,600 4,171,200 40,655 40.5 95.7% 5.3% 

20X7 103,700 4,227,700 40,769 40.5 95.3% 4.8% 

20X8 106,100 4,384,900 41,328 41.0 95.0% 4.0% 

20X9 107,200 4,433,400 41,356 41.0 94.9% 4.2% 

 

Principal Employers 

The following information about employers should be presented for the current year and the previous nine 

years: 

• The principal employers within the government’s jurisdiction 

• The number of persons employed by each principal employer 

• The percentage of total employment represented by each principal employer 

 

The 10 largest employers should be presented, based on the number of individuals employed. A smaller 

number can be reported if fewer are needed to reach 50% of the total employment within the government’s 

jurisdiction. The information presented should be for all employers, including for-profit, nonprofit, and 

governmental employers. 

A sample schedule that addresses these requirements appears next. 
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Hitchcock City 

Principal Employers 

Ten Year Comparison 

 

 

 

Top Ten Employers 

Current 

Year 

Rank 

  

 

Top Ten Employers 

10 Years 

Ago 

Rank 

Active Exercise Machines 1  Blitz Communications 1 

Gatekeeper Corporation 2  Gulf Coast Insurance 2 

Blitz Communications 3  International Automation 3 

Gulf Coast Insurance 4  Viking Fitness 4 

Medusa Medical 5  Rubens Trailers 5 

Aphelion Corporation 6  Nefarious Industries 6 

Rapunzel Hair Products 7  Tsunami Products 7 

International Automation 8  Active Exercise Machines 8 

Nefarious Industries 9  Treadway Corporation 9 

Coronary Associates 10  Subterranean Access 10 

     

Employees by NAICS Industries   Employees by NAICS Industries  

Finance, insurance, and real estate 6,300  Finance, insurance, and real estate 9,200 

Professional, scientific and management 8,700  Professional, scientific and management 9,900 

Construction 2,500  Construction 5,100 

Retail trade 6,000  Retail trade 3,900 

Education services and health care 10,900  Education services and health care 6,300 

Arts and entertainment 3,900  Arts and entertainment 6,700 

Wholesale trade 2,000  Wholesale trade 3,500 

Information 2,400  Information 2,800 

Other services 2,600  Other services 1,300 

Public administration 1,600  Public administration 1,200 

Manufacturing 3,400  Manufacturing 500 

Transportation and warehousing 2,200  Transportation and warehousing 700 

Agriculture and mining 600  Agriculture and mining 200 

Total 53,100  Total 51,300 

 

Operating Information 

Governments should present operating information that encompasses the number of government employ-

ees, operating indicators, and capital assets. These topics are discussed in the following sub-sections. 

 

Government Employees 

A government should present the number of people that it employs, reporting this information by function, 

program, or identifiable activity. Some other basis of presentation is acceptable, if the resulting information 

would be more meaningful to readers. 
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Note: There is no specification for how to measure the number of workers, such as by headcount or full-

time equivalents. The method used should be applied to all reporting periods, in order to provide consistent 

information. 

 

The measurement of government employees can be derived in any manner, such as by counting employees 

as of a specific date or by using a headcount average for the entire reporting period. Whichever method is 

used should be consistently applied. 

A sample schedule that addresses these requirements appears next. 

 
Acorn City 

Full-Time Equivalent Employees as of December 31 

Last Ten Years 

 

 20X0 20X1 20X2 20X3 20X4 20X5 20X6 20X7 20X8 20X9 

General government 5.0 8.0 12.0 13.5 12.5 10.0 13.5 17.3 25.3 24.5 

Community services 11.0 11.0 5.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 5.5 4.5 3.0 9.5 

Finance & 

administration 
12.0 13.0 13.0 13.0 16.0 17.0 13.5 15.0 17.5 19.5 

Planning & development 1.0 9.0 15.5 14.0 14.0 13.0 9.0 8.5 5.0 3.5 

City infrastructure -- -- 1.0 1.5 1.5 5.0 5.0 3.0 3.5 6.0 

Totals 29.0 41.0 46.5 47.0 50.0 50.0 46.5 48.3 54.3 63.0 

 

Operating Indicators 

A government should present indicators of demand or level of service. There is no requirement for the 

number of indicators to be provided. Examples of these indicators are: 

• Number of applications processed 

• Number of arrests made 

• Number of inspections performed 

• Number of permits issued 

• Number of properties assessed 

 

A sample schedule that addresses these requirements appears next. 
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Birchwood City 

Operating Indicators by Function | Program 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 Fiscal Year 

 20X1 20X2 20X3 

General Government    

Administrative Services    

Citations processed 14,500 17,800 20,700 

Employment applications processed 700 770 760 

New hires processed 10 25 20 

Computer service requests 180 260 530 

Finance    

Accounts payable checks issued 1,600 1,800 2,000 

Purchasing card transactions 300 400 700 

Sales/use tax accounts 4,300 3,600 2,800 

City Management    

Ordinances and resolutions approved by City Council 140 160 150 

Citizen surveys received 1 2 1 

Community Development    

Building permits issued 3,900 4,300 4,000 

Building inspections performed 11,600 13,000 13,200 

Code enforcement cases 800 1,500 2,100 

Public Safety    

Calls for services 48,900 48,700 46,700 

Average response time to high priority calls (minutes) 6.5 6.6 10.0 

Hours spent on proactive patrol, per day per deputy 4.4 4.2 3.7 

Total arrests 4,900 4,800 3,700 

Public Works    

Vehicles in fleet 2 6 6 

Lane miles receiving snow & ice control 89,100 62,500 41,800 

Lane miles swept 7,300 5,600 8,500 

Note: Only the last three years are shown in this sample statement. 
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Capital Assets 

A government should present indicators of the volume, usage, or nature of its capital assets. Examples of 

this information are: 

• Average daily water consumption 

• Estimated vehicle-miles traveled on its highways 

• Lane-miles of streets and highways 

• Miles of sewers 

• Miles of water mains 

• Number of cars in the central pool 

• Square feet of administrative office space 

 

A sample schedule that addresses these requirements appears next. 

 
Marmot City 

Capital Asset Statistics by Function | Program 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

 

 20X0 20X1 20X2 20X3 20X4 20X5 20X6 20X7 20X8 20X9 

Recreation           

Acres of developed parks 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 17.1 17.1 17.1 17.1 

Acres of open space 

parks 
42.3 42.3 49.8 49.8 49.8 49.8 54.6 54.6 54.6 54.6 

           

Public Works           

Maintenance facility -- -- -- 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Miles of streets 392 392 393 397 397 408 408 411 411 417 

Number of street lights 3,642 3,711 3,979 3,987 3,992 4,057 4,042 4,043 4,222 4,222 

Number of fleet vehicles 2 2 4 4 4 6 6 6 6 7 

 

Sources, Assumptions, and Methodologies 

Some additional discussion is needed regarding background information that pertains to the financial state-

ment reporting package. The following information should be included: 

• Identify the sources of all information in the statistical section that do not appear in the basic finan-

cial statements, the notes to the basic financial statements, or the required supplementary infor-

mation. 

• Explain the methodologies used to produce the information in the statistical section. 

• Explain any significant assumptions made. 

 

Summary 

The information presented in the statistical section can match or exceed the information presented in the 

rest of a financial statement reporting package. This can result in a considerable overload of data for a 

reader, so it is useful to add narrative explanations to enhance the understandability of the information 

provided. The inclusion of a brief narrative can be useful in the following circumstances: 

• When it makes it easier for someone to locate information 

• When it improves a reader’s understanding of significant changes in the information 
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• When it explains occurrences that impact the presented information 

• When it provides context between information in the basic financial statements and the statistical 

section 

• When it helps readers understand a government’s economic condition 

 

A narrative explanation should be largely analytical in nature, encompassing the following types of discus-

sions: 

• Explain the objectives of this section, the main categories of statistical information, and the indi-

vidual schedules being presented. 

• Explain any basic concepts that may be unfamiliar to readers. 

• Identify relationships among the information presented in the various schedules, as well as between 

the statistical section and information in other parts of the reporting package. 

• Explain unusual trends and anomalous data that readers might not otherwise understand. 

 

A sample statement of the objectives of the statistical section appears next. 

 
Statistical tables are used to provide a historical financial review. The various tables provide information 

which is useful in analyzing the existing financial position of the City and identifying potential trends. 

 

Financial Trends 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial performance 

and well-being have changed over time. 

 

Revenue Capacity 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s significant local revenue sources, 

which are sales and use tax and property tax. 

 

Debt Capacity 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s current levels of 

outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

 

Demographic and Economic Information 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment 

within which the City’s financial activities take place. 

 

Operating Information 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in 

the City’s financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs. 
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Review Questions 

1. A government reports the assessed value of taxable property. This information should be grouped 

within the ___ category of the statistical section. 

a. Financial trends information 

b. Demographic and economic information 

c. Operating information 

d. Revenue capacity information 

 

2. An outstanding debt ratio is presented in the statistical section. It is calculated as follows: 

a. Divide annual income by annual loan payments 

b. Divide earnings before interest by interest expense 

c. Divide total debt by total personal income 

d. Divide debt by total assets 

 

 



 
Chapter 18 

Fair Value Measurement 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the types of costs that can be associated with a purchase. 

• Describe the different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Introduction 

A government is required to incorporate fair value into its recordation of certain assets and liabilities. In 

this chapter, we cover fair value principles, applicable valuation techniques, required disclosures, and sev-

eral related topics, with particular attention to the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Fair Value Definition 

Fair value is defined as the price that a government would receive if it were to sell an asset, or the amount 

it would pay to settle an obligation in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 

date. Given the length of that definition, it may be worthwhile to examine its components. Key features of 

the definition are: 

• Orderly transaction. This is a transaction that has had a sufficient amount of time for normal mar-

keting activities to be completed. Thus, the transaction is not being forced, where (for example) the 

seller of an asset has the time to search for buyers and evaluate their bids. 

• Market participants. The parties engaged in a transaction, who are located in the most advantageous 

market for the asset or liability being sold or settled (respectively), and where the parties are inde-

pendent of each other, are knowledgeable, and are willing and able to enter into a transaction with-

out being forced to do so. 

• Measurement date. This is the date on which the fair value of the asset or liability in question is 

determined. 

 

From the perspective of the entity that is holding an asset or is obligated under a liability, fair value is the 

exit price – that is, the price the seller of an asset would receive or the price the holder of a liability would 

pay in order to settle an obligation. 

 

Fair Value Principles 

The determination of fair value is based on several underlying principles, which are noted in the following 

sub-sections. 

 

Characteristics of the Asset or Liability 

The fair value of an asset or liability depends in part on the characteristics of the individual item. For ex-

ample, the fair value of an asset is directly influenced by the amount of wear it has incurred, any liens 

associated with it, and its location. The impact that these characteristics have on fair value will depend on 

how they are perceived by market participants. 
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Markets 

When making a fair value measurement, the assumption is that a presumed transaction to sell an asset or 

settle a liability will be made in either a government’s principal market or its most advantageous market (if 

there is no principal market). A principal market is that market having the greatest transaction volume for 

an asset or liability. The most advantageous market is that market in which a government would maximize 

the amount to be received from the sale of an asset, or which would minimize the amount paid to settle a 

liability, after factoring in transaction and transportation costs. The market in which a government usually 

enters into transactions is usually considered its principal market or most advantageous market. 

If there is a principal market for a government’s asset or liability, the related fair value measurement 

should be based on the price in that market, even if the price could potentially be better in a different market. 

 

Transaction Costs 

When determining the fair value of an asset or liability based on its principal market, the price is not ad-

justed for transaction costs. Transaction costs are directly attributable to the sale of an asset or settlement 

of a liability, result directly from the transaction, and would not have been incurred in the absence of the 

transaction. However, transaction costs do not include transportation costs. Thus, the fair value calculation 

is adjusted for the cost that would be incurred to transport an asset from its current location to the market 

in which it would be sold. 

 

Bid-Ask Spread 

When measuring fair value, the accountant may find that an asset or liability has a bid price and an ask 

price associated with it. The bid price is the price at which a seller is willing to sell, while the ask price is 

the price at which a buyer is willing to buy. The price within this bid-ask spread that is most representative 

of fair value should be used. If there is no price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair 

value, then either the bid price or the ask price can be used. 

 

Valuation Techniques 

Valuation techniques are employed to determine the fair value of an asset or liability. Three techniques are 

available, and are outlined in the following sub-sections. The technique used to derive fair value should 

maximize the use of observable inputs, while minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. An observable 

input is developed using market data, such as publicly available market information about actual transac-

tions. An unobservable input is based on the best information available in the absence of market data. 

A single valuation technique may be sufficient in those cases where there is a close match in the prin-

cipal market, such as when there are quoted prices available in an active market for an identical asset. When 

this is not the case, several valuation techniques can be used, which may result in a range of values. If so, 

the fair value is considered to be that point within the range that is most representative of fair value under 

the circumstances. 

The valuation techniques used should be consistently applied from period to period. However, a differ-

ent technique can be used when the result is more representative of fair value. This situation may arise, for 

example, when new information becomes available, market conditions change, or when information that 

had previously been used is no longer available. 
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Market Approach 

The first valuation technique is the market approach, which uses prices and other information from market 

transactions that involve identical or similar assets or liabilities. For example, an asset could be assigned a 

fair value based on quoted market prices for similar assets. Two variations on the concept are: 

• Market multiples technique. This approach uses multiples, such as the price-earnings ratio for sim-

ilar assets or liabilities, to develop a fair value. For example, an investment in a company can be 

valued based on the price-earnings ratios of a selection of similar businesses. 

• Matrix pricing technique. This approach uses the relationship of a security to a benchmark quoted 

price to develop a fair value. 

 

Cost Approach 

The second valuation technique is the cost approach, where fair value is assumed to be the amount that 

would be required in the current period to replace an asset’s present service capacity. This means that fair 

value is based on the cost to acquire or construct a substitute asset that has a comparable utility to that of 

the asset being valued, adjusted for obsolescence. 

 

Income Approach 

The final valuation technique is the income approach, where fair value is based on the present value of the 

future cash flows associated with an asset or liability. This calculation is based on the most recent estimate 

of what those future cash flows may be. 

 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

There are three levels of information that can be used as inputs to the preceding valuation techniques. These 

levels are known as the fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined as follows: 

• Level 1. These are quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets. 

• Level 2. These are inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for an asset or liability. 

• Level 3. These are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 

 

The following rules apply when using the fair value hierarchy: 

• When developing a fair value, Level 1 inputs are given the highest priority, while Level 3 inputs 

are given the lowest priority. 

• If fair value is measured using inputs from multiple levels of the hierarchy, the measurement is 

considered to have been based on the input from the lowest priority level that is significant to the 

entire measurement. 

• If an observable input is adjusted with an unobservable input, where the unobservable input results 

in a significant adjustment in fair value, the resulting measurement is classified as being within 

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

We provide additional information about the levels of the fair value hierarchy in the following sub-sections. 

 

Level 1 Inputs 

Level 1 inputs provide the most reliable evidence for the determination of fair value, and so should be used 

without adjustment whenever possible. These inputs can be found in exchange markets, such as the New 

York Stock Exchange, or in brokered markets, where brokers try to match buyers with sellers. These types 

of inputs are commonly available for many financial assets and financial liabilities, such as common stock 

and options. 
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A Level 1 input should not be adjusted, except in one of the following situations: 

• A government holds a large number of similar assets or liabilities, and a quoted price is avail-

able, but not readily accessible for each individual item. 

• The quoted price in an active market is not representative of fair value as of the measurement 

date. This could happen, for example, when the accountant knows of significant events occur-

ring after the close of a market on the measurement date that would have impacted the quoted 

price. 

• A liability is being measured based on the price being quoted for an identical asset, and that 

price must be adjusted due to factors applicable only to the asset, not the liability. 

 

Tip: Create a policy that clearly states the circumstances under which a Level 1 input should be adjusted. 

For example, specifically state those events that might impact a quoted closing price. By doing so, a gov-

ernment only alters its Level 1 inputs on a consistent basis. 

 

A government may be holding a large number of identical assets or liabilities, which are measured using 

Level 1 inputs. The quoted market price for these items should be applied to all of the assets or liabilities, 

even when the market’s normal trading volume could not absorb the quantity held by the government, 

where an order to clear out the government’s position would affect the market price. 

 

Level 2 Inputs 

Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy include the following: 

• Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities 

• Quoted prices in less active markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities 

• Observable inputs other than quoted prices, such as credit spreads, implied volatilities, and interest 

rate yield curves 

 

It may be necessary to adjust a Level 2 input depending on issues specific to the asset or liability, such as 

its condition or location, and the activity level in the markets from which information has been obtained. 

 

Level 3 Inputs 

Level 3 inputs should be derived using the best information available, which may include data generated 

by the government itself. When deriving this information, a government does not need to go to great lengths 

to obtain information about market participant assumptions, but should take into account all information 

that is readily available. It may be necessary to include a risk adjustment if there is significant measurement 

uncertainty; this is the case in either of the following two situations: 

• There has been a significant decline in the trading volume for the asset or liability, such as when 

there are few recent transactions, there is a wide bid-ask spread, or price quotations vary substan-

tially among market makers. In this situation, it may be necessary to use multiple valuation tech-

niques to derive a fair value. When a wide range of valuations result from these techniques, it may 

be necessary to conduct further analysis. 

• The accountant believes that a transaction price or quoted price does not reflect actual fair value. 

For example, if a transaction does not appear to have been conducted in an orderly manner (such 

as on a rush basis), one should place little reliance on the use of that transaction price. A quoted 

price may be inaccurate when it is based on a reduced volume of transactions. The accountant can 

place more reliance on quoted prices that represent binding offers. 
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Measurement Principles 

There may be cases in which an accounting standard requires that a non-financial asset be measured at its 

fair value. If so, the determination of fair value takes into account the ability of the asset holder to generate 

resources by utilizing the asset according to its highest and best use. The highest and best use is that use of 

a nonfinancial asset that would maximize the value of the asset. The employment of an asset is only con-

sidered to be its highest and best use when the employment is physically possible, financially feasible, and 

legally permissible. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Acorn City’s accountant is trying to determine the fair value of a parcel of land. One consideration is to use it as the 

basis for a commercial operation. However, the current zoning laws do not allow commercial use of the land. Since 

commercial application is not legally permissible, this is not the highest and best use of the land parcel. 

 

 

The highest and best use is employed when deriving the fair value of an asset, even when the asset is not 

currently used in that manner. However, the current use of an asset is presumed to be its highest and best 

use, unless other factors suggest that a different use would maximize its value. 

The highest and best use of an asset may be obtained by selling the asset, in which case its valuation is 

based on its prospective sale price. 

As was the case with assets, there may be instances in which an accounting standard requires that a 

liability be measured at its fair value. If so, an underlying assumption of the measurement is that the liability 

will be transferred to a third party at the measurement date. Since the liability is being transferred, the 

assumption is that it remains outstanding, and that the transferee will now fulfill the obligation. 

There may not be an observable market for the transfer of liabilities. However, there may be an observ-

able market for the reverse, where these items are being held by other parties as assets. If so, a government 

could use the perspective of the asset holder to derive a valuation that is based on the quoted price for an 

item held as an asset. It may be necessary to adjust this quoted price if there are factors specific to the asset 

that do not apply to the fair value measurement for the liability. 

When measuring the fair value of a liability, take into account the effect of the government’s credit 

standing and other concerns that might influence the probability that the obligation will not be fulfilled. 

 

Disclosures 

The following information should be disclosed for each type of asset or liability that is measured at fair 

value in the statement of net position after its initial recognition: 

• The fair value measurement as of the end of the reporting period. 

• The level of the fair value hierarchy from which information was derived to determine fair value. 

• A description of the valuation techniques used. 

• The description of any changes in the fair value techniques used, when the changes have had a 

significant impact on the result. Also note the reason for the change. 

 

There may be cases in which fair value measurements are nonrecurring, where they are only required in 

specific situations. When there are nonrecurring fair value measurements, note the reasons for the meas-

urements. 
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SAMPLE DISCLOSURE 

 

The City classifies its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy, as established by generally 

accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value 

of an asset or liability. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 inputs 

are significant other observable inputs, and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 

 

The following fair value measurements were included in the City’s statement of net position as of December 

31, 20X2: 

• U.S. Treasury securities of $37 million are valued using quoted market prices (which are Level 1 

inputs). 

• Corporate bonds of $6 million are valued using a matrix pricing model (which is a Level 2 input). 

 

The City also has a nonrecurring fair value measurement as of the same date for a closed elementary school; there 

is no intent to use the school again, so it is considered to be impaired. Based on an appraisal of the property (which 

is a Level 3 input), the school has been written down from $4.2 million to $2.6 million. 

 

 

Summary 

The reporting of fair value inputs within the fair value hierarchy might seem like an excessively detailed 

amount of information for the readers of a government’s financial statements. However, there is a point to 

the presentation – Level 1 inputs are considered much more reliable than Level 3 inputs, so a government 

reporting the bulk of its inputs as being Level 1 is much more likely to be fairly representing the value of 

its assets and liabilities. Conversely, a large proportion of Level 3 inputs may result in fair values that are 

considerably more suspect. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following is a key determinant of the fair value of an asset or liability: 

a. Willing market participants 

b. Related parties 

c. A rapid transaction closure speed 

d. Located in an active market 

 

2. The following are valid valuation techniques that can be used to assign a fair value to an asset or liabil-

ity, except for: 

a. Market approach 

b. Cost approach 

c. Options approach 

d. Income approach 

 

 



 
Chapter 19 

Claims Accounting 

Learning Objectives 

• Cite the criteria for determining whether risk has been transferred. 

• Specify the accounting to use when a loss has been incurred. 

 

Introduction 

A government may engage in risk management activities in order to minimize its risk of loss in certain 

areas. These activities can include any actions taken in advance to minimize the risk of losses ever occur-

ring, as well as the use of risk transfers to an insurer, which will compensate the government after-the-fact 

for any losses incurred. It is also possible that a government may choose to retain risk, so that it incurs 

monetary losses when adverse events occur. Another option is to participate in a public entity risk pool, 

where payments are made by multiple governments into a central pool, from which claims are reimbursed. 

In this chapter, we cover the accounting for claim recognition, risk financing activities, public entity risk 

pools, contingencies, and several related topics. 

 

Risk Transfers 

When accounting for claims made for loss reimbursement, a key point is whether risk has actually been 

transferred to the party that is receiving the claim. Risk is typically transferred when the insuring party is 

entitled to a payment from the applicable government that is independent of the amount of claims subse-

quently made. Thus, if a premium is paid and a lesser amount of claims is later sent to the insurer, the 

insurer is not obligated to repay any of the premium to the government. Or, in the reverse situation, if the 

claims amount turns out to be higher than the premium, the government is not obligated to send any addi-

tional payments to the insurer. 

When the situation indicates that a risk transfer has not taken place, it is more likely that the “insurer” 

is really a claims processor that handles the administration of claims. 

 

Claim Recognition 

When a government has not transferred risk to a third party and a loss occurs, it should report an estimated 

loss from the claim as a liability and an expenditure or expense, but only if the following two conditions 

apply: 

• It is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred; and 

• It is reasonably possible to estimate the amount of the loss. 

 

When the prospective loss falls within a range of possible amounts, accrue a loss for the best estimate within 

the range. If there is no best estimate, accrue a loss for the minimum amount in the range. 

It is possible that an incident will occur prior to the balance sheet date, but a claim is not reported to 

the insurer by the balance sheet date. This situation can arise not only for a known incident for which a 

claim will later be presented, but also for unknown incidents that will trigger claims, as well as expected 

future changes to claims already made. When this type of claim can be reasonably estimated and it is prob-

able that a claim will be made, recognize an associated liability and expenditure or expense. 
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The amount to be recorded for a claim should be derived from the estimated ultimate cost of settling 

the claim. To derive the estimated ultimate cost, it may be necessary to apply past experience, adjusted for 

any other factors that would modify past experience. Any incremental costs associated with a claim, such 

as outside legal advice, should be included in the determination of the cost of a claim. 

 

Discounting 

A government may have entered into a structured settlement, where a claim liability is settled by contracting 

with a third party to pay out a stream of future payments. If so, the government should record the liability 

at its discounted present value, rather than at the total amount of the payment. When calculating a present 

value for these payments, apply a discount rate that has been derived based on the government’s investment 

yield rate, as well as the discount rate at which such a liability can be sold. 

 

Annuity Contracts 

A government may buy an annuity contract in the name of a claimant, so that payments are made to the 

claimant at periodic intervals for a period of time. If the need to make additional payments beyond the cost 

of this contract is remote, then the government can consider itself to have settled the liability. In this case, 

there is no need to report the annuity contract and the related liability in the entity’s government-wide and 

proprietary fund financial statements. 

If the determination is made at a later date that the primary liability will revert back to the government, 

the liability must be added back to the government’s financial statements. 

 

Risk Financing Activities in an Internal Service Fund 

A government may shift its risk financing activities to an internal service fund. If so, the internal service 

fund recognizes claims expenses and liabilities in the normal manner. These amounts may be reduced by 

any amounts expected to be recovered via excess insurance (where the insurer provides insurance in excess 

of a certain loss amount). 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Acorn City is part of a regional risk pool, where 100+ municipalities contribute funds to the pool and will be paid 

back a maximum of $3 million per claim if they incur certain types of losses. In addition, Acorn purchases excess 

insurance to compensate it if a claim exceeds $3 million. Acorn experiences a $3.2 million claim, so it receives $3 

million from the pool and $200,000 from the insurer. The $200,000 receipt is considered excess insurance. 

 

 

The designated internal service fund can charge its costs to other funds within the government using any 

allocation basis. The charges made are recorded by the internal service fund as revenue, and as expenditures 

or expenses by the receiving funds. A deficit in the internal service fund can be charged back to the other 

funds over a reasonable period of time. If this deficit is not charged back within a reasonable time period, 

it should be charged back to the other funds and reported by them as an expenditure or expense. 

If the internal service fund charges an excess amount to the other funds, report the excess as an internal 

transfer. 

 

Participation in Public Entity Risk Pools 

A government may participate in a risk-sharing pool, where risks are shared among the group. If so, con-

tributions made to the pool should be classified as an insurance expenditure or expense in its government-

wide and fund financial statements. If the pool agreement can require participants to pay additional 

amounts, the government should periodically assess whether such additional payments are probable and 
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can be reasonably estimated; if so, report an additional expenditure/expense and associated liability for the 

expected additional payment. 

A pool agreement may not allow for additional member assessments. If so, monitor the pool to see if it 

reports an operational deficit. If so, and it appears that the pool will not be able to meet its obligations, 

consider the probability that the government will need to pay its own obligations following the failure of 

the pool. This may require the accountant to report an additional expenditure/expense and associated lia-

bility for the expected additional payment. 

When governments join together to form a public entity risk pool, they may be required to make capi-

talization contributions to the pool in order to meet statutory capitalization minimums. This capitalization 

contribution should be classified as a deposit, but only if it is probable that the contribution will be returned 

when the pool is dissolved or the government withdraws from the pool. This deposit is classified as a non-

spendable fund balance. If it is not probable that the deposit will be returned, then it is initially reported as 

prepaid insurance and recognized as expense over the periods for which the pool is expected to provide 

coverage. If the duration is not readily determinable, then charge the deposit to expense over a period of 

not more than 10 years. If the contribution is being reported in a governmental fund, an option is to recog-

nize the entire amount as an expenditure in the period of the contribution. 

 

Insurance Transactions 

In this section, we address the accounting for claims-made policies, retrospectively-rated policies, and pol-

icyholder dividends. 

 

Claims-Made Policies 

A government may enter into a claims-made policy, which covers losses from claims filed against the policy 

holder during the policy period, no matter when the triggering event actually occurred. This type of policy 

does not transfer any risk associated with claims not filed during the policy period, so the government must 

account for any of these other claims as noted previously in the Claim Recognition section. 

 

Retrospectively-Rated Policies 

A government may enter into a retrospectively-rated policy, where the total premium paid is based largely 

on the entity’s loss experience. The minimum amount of these premiums should be accounted for through 

the coverage period as an expenditure or expense. In addition, accrue estimated losses from reported and 

unreported claims that exceed the amount of the minimum premium. This accrual is capped at the maximum 

premium that can be paid. 

 

Policyholder Dividends 

If a government receives a dividend as an insurance policy holder or as a participant in an insurance pool, 

recognize the dividend as a reduction of expenditure or expense. This recognition should occur as soon as 

the dividend is declared. 

 

Contractual Actions 

A government may be subject to a variety of claims arising from contractual arrangements, ranging from 

claims for contract delays to nonpayment of contractually committed amounts. For these types of claims, a 

government should recognize a loss liability when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability 

incurred, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 
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Contingencies 

A contingency is an existing condition or situation that involves some degree of uncertainty in regard to a 

possible gain or loss, with resolution based on a future event. The accounting treatment discussed in this 

section relates to specific types of loss contingencies, which are as follows: 

• The collectability of receivables 

• Guarantees of the indebtedness of other parties in an exchange transaction 

• Receivable repurchase agreements 

• Claims related to contractual delays or inadequate specifications 

 

When there is a risk of loss, it should be classified along a continuum that ranges from probable to remote. 

These classifications are: 

• Probable. The event is likely to occur. 

• Reasonably possible. The event is more than remote but less than likely. 

• Remote. There is no more than a slight chance that the event will occur. 

 

A loss contingency should be accrued if both of the following are true: 

• The amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

• It is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred as of the financial statements 

date. At this point, it should be probable that a future event will occur that confirms the fact of the 

loss. 

 

When the prospective loss falls within a range of possible amounts, accrue a loss for the best estimate within 

the range. If there is no best estimate, accrue a loss for the minimum amount in the range. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Qanix City invests $500,000 of excess funds in the common stock of a major consumer electronics company, which 

later unexpectedly declares bankruptcy. There is no longer a quoted price for the common stock, though a reasonable 

estimate of loss is in the range of $320,000 to $480,000. There is no amount within that range that appears to be a 

better estimate of loss than the other stated amounts. Consequently, Qanix records a loss contingency of $320,000, 

matching the minimum amount in the range of possible losses. 

 

 

Presentation Issues 

Claims expenses are treated as direct expenses, in that they are directly associated with a service, program, 

or department. If a claim is instead classified as an extraordinary item (quite a rare event), report it sepa-

rately at the bottom of the statement of activities. 

 

Disclosures 

If applicable, a government should disclose the following information in the notes to its financial state-

ments: 

• Risk exposure. Describe the government’s exposure to risks of loss and how these risks are handled. 

• Insurance reductions. Note any significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year by 

major risk categories. Also point out whether the settlements amount was greater than the insurance 

coverage in each of the last three years. 
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• Risk pools. If the government participates in a risk pool, describe the nature of its participation, 

including the rights and responsibilities of both sides. 

• Risk retention. If a government retains the risk of loss, provide the following information: 

o The basis for estimating its unpaid claims liability. 

o The carrying amount of liabilities for unpaid claims that are stated at their present value, 

as well as the range of discount rates used. 

o The total amount of claims liabilities for which annuities have been purchased on behalf of 

the claimants, and for which the related liabilities are no longer reported. 

o A reconciliation of the changes in claims liabilities for the current and prior fiscal years, 

using a tabular format. The table should include the amount of beginning claims liability, 

claims incurred during the year, claims payments, other transactions, and the amount of 

ending claims liability. 

 

The following disclosures may be required, based on the occurrence of risk-related events: 

• Unrecorded claims. It is possible that a government will not record a liability for a claim, perhaps 

because it is not probable that a liability has been incurred or because it is not possible to estimate 

the amount of the claim. If it is at least reasonably possible that a loss has been incurred, disclose 

the nature of the contingency in the accompanying footnotes, along with an estimate of the possible 

loss or the range within which the loss is situated. Alternatively, state that an estimate cannot be 

made. It is not necessary to make a disclosure regarding an unreported claim if: 

o There has been no indication of a potential claimant; unless 

o It is probable that a claim will be asserted; and 

o There is a reasonable possibility of an unfavorable outcome. 

• Annuity contracts. A government may have settled a claim by acquiring an annuity contract in 

the name of the claimant. If so, and the annuity and associated liability are no longer stated on 

the entity’s financial statements, the aggregate outstanding amount should still be disclosed 

until such time as the liability is settled. 

• Deficit fund balance. If an internal service fund accounts for the risk financing activities of a 

government and the fund has a deficit balance, disclose this balance. 

• Contingencies – probable. If a loss contingency has been recorded, note the nature of the con-

tingency and the amount accrued.  

• Contingencies – reasonably possible. If there is at least a reasonable possibility of loss in excess 

of the amount accrued, note the additional exposure to loss. If no accrual was made for a loss 

contingency, disclose the existence of the contingency as long as there is at least a reasonable 

possibility of loss, indicating the nature of the contingency and showing the range of the po-

tential loss (or state that such an estimate cannot be made). 

• Contingencies – remote. It may still be necessary to disclose a contingency even when the 

possibility of loss is remote. This situation usually arises when there is a guarantee in an ex-

change transaction, such as a guarantee of the indebtedness of another party or a guarantee to 

repurchase receivables that have been sold. The disclosure should describe the nature and 

amount of the guarantee. 
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SAMPLE DISCLOSURE 

 

The City has exposure to a number of risks of loss related to torts, damage to its assets, errors and omissions, 

natural disasters, and injuries to its employees. During the fiscal year 20X1, the City established a risk man-

agement fund (the Fund) to account for and finance those of its risks that are uninsured. Under the terms of 

this program, the Fund provides coverage for up to $200,000 for each workers’ compensation claim, 

$100,000 for each general liability claim, and $25,000 for each property damage claim. The City purchases 

commercial insurance for claims exceeding the coverage provided by the Fund, as well as for all other types 

of risk. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three years. 

 

All of the City’s funds participate in the risk management program and make payments to the Fund based on 

actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year claims, as well as to build a reserve 

for catastrophic losses. The amount of this reserve was $215,000 as of year-end. 

 

The City purchases annuity contracts from commercial insurers in order to satisfy certain liabilities; accord-

ingly, no liability is reported for those claims. As of year-end, $92,000 of those covered claims were still 

outstanding. 

 

Changes in the claims liability amount in 20X1 and 20X2 are noted in the following table. 

 

 

 

Fiscal Year 

 

Beginning 

Liability 

Current Year 

Claims and Changes 

in Estimates 

 

Claim 

Payments 

 

Balance at 

Year-End 

20X1 $772,000 $141,000 $109,000 $804,000 

20X2 804,000 98,000 113,000 789,000 

 

 

Summary 

Governments routinely deal with claims of various kinds, especially larger entities that have many employ-

ees and engage in a broad range of activities. Given the relatively high volume and significant amount of 

these claims, the accountant should routinely update his or her knowledge of the probability and amount of 

claims – otherwise, there is a risk that the financial statements will be incorrect to a material extent. It is 

also necessary to periodically update the disclosures related to contingencies that are classified as reasona-

bly possible or remote, so that financial statement readers are made aware of possible losses that may later 

appear in the basic financial statements if they are reclassified as probable. 
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Review Questions 

1. A government enters into an insurance policy that covers losses from claims filed during the policy 

period, no matter when the triggering event actually occurred. This is an example of a ___ policy. 

a. Claims-made 

b. Retrospectively-rated 

c. Fidelity bond 

d. Surety bond 

 

2. The accrual for a risk of loss depends on how it is classified. The minimum level of loss probability 

required for an accrual is: 

a. The event is probable 

b. The event is reasonably possible 

c. The event is conceivable 

d. The event is remote 

 



 
Chapter 20 

Conduit Debt Obligations 

Learning Objectives 

• Identify the characteristics of a conduit debt obligation. 

 

Introduction 

A conduit debt obligation is used to provide financing for certain third parties, typically in order to build or 

acquire assets relating to matters impacting the issuing state or local government (the issuer). It is a good 

way for non-profit organizations, such as hospitals and educational institutions, to obtain funding at tax-

exempt rates. Issuers may receive a fee for arranging these financings. This debt instrument has all of the 

following characteristics: 

• There are at least three parties involved, who are the issuer, third-party obligor, and a debt holder 

or debt trustee. 

• The issuer and the obligor are not associated with the same financial reporting entity. 

• The debt obligation is not a parity bond4 of the issuer, and it is not cross-collateralized with any of 

the issuer’s other debt. 

• The third-party obligor ultimately receives the debt issuance proceeds. 

• The third-party obligor is primarily obligated to pay all amounts associated with the debt obligation. 

 

In short, these obligations bear the name of the issuing government entity, but the issuer is not liable for the 

debt. The issuer’s minimum commitment is to maintain the tax-exempt status of the debt issuance. How-

ever, the government entity may choose to extend an additional commitment of its own resources, where it 

agrees to support debt service payments if the third-party obligor is unable to do so. This commitment may 

take the form of a financial guarantee, or perhaps the pledging of tax revenues for repayment. 

 

Accounting Issues 

The issuer of a conduit debt obligation does not recognize a liability for it. However, it should recognize a 

liability and associated expense for any commitment made to support the associated debt service, as long 

as it is more likely than not that the issuer will support one or more debt service payments relating to the 

obligation. This assessment is based on the following qualitative factors: 

• The third-party obligor has entered bankruptcy protection or is financially reorganizing. 

• The third-party obligor has breached the debt contract relating to the conduit debt obligation, such 

as not meeting the mandated debt service coverage ratios. 

• The third-party obligor is undergoing significant financial difficulty, such as being unable to make 

debt payments on a timely basis or having to draw on a reserve fund to make those payments. 

• Termination of the project that was intended to be the source of debt payment funds. 

• Litigation having a negative impact on the project. 

• When the issuer is concerned that the third-party obligor’s default on its debt obligations could 

negatively impact the issuer’s access to capital markets. 

 
4 A parity bond is a bond that has the same rights to the associated collateral as other bonds that were issued under a 

common bond indenture. 
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• The issuer’s history of fulfilling additional commitments to support a third party’s debt service 

payments. 

• The issuer’s willingness and/or ability to support any debt service payments. 

 

When the issuer elects to recognize a liability and related expense for its commitments relating to a conduit 

debt obligation, this amount is measured as the discounted present value of the best estimate of the future 

cash outflows that are expected to be incurred. If there is no best estimate, but a range of outflows can be 

established, then recognize the minimum amount in that range. 

When such a commitment has been made, and if the associated debt obligation remains outstanding, 

the issuer should evaluate whether the preceding recognition criteria have been met on at least an annual 

basis. 

A conduit debt obligation may be used to construct or acquire capital assets, which are then used by a 

third-party obligor. Payments from these obligors are intended to cover the associated debt payments. The 

issuer typically retains title to the capital assets, which may or may not pass to the obligors at the end of the 

financing arrangements. The accounting for these transactions by the issuer is as follows: 

• Do not report them as leases. 

• Do not recognize a liability for the related conduit debt obligations. 

• Do not recognize a receivable for the payments from the third-party obligor. 

• If title to the assets passes to the third-party obligor at the end of the arrangement, do not recognize 

a fixed asset. 

• If title to the assets does not pass to the third-party obligor and that party has exclusive use of the 

assets during the arrangement, do not recognize a capital asset until the arrangement has ended. 

• If title to the assets does not pass to the third-party obligor, but that party has exclusive use of only 

portions of the assets during the arrangement, recognize the entire asset at the beginning of the 

arrangement. At that time, the issuer also recognizes a deferred inflow of resources for the same 

amount. This deferred inflow should be reduced in a systematic manner over the course of the 

arrangement. 

 

Disclosures 

Conduit debt obligations should be disclosed in the issuing entity’s financial statement notes, and should 

include the following: 

• A general description of the transaction, including any commitments made by the issuer and the 

nature of those commitments. 

• The aggregate principal amount of the obligations outstanding as of the balance sheet date. 

• If it is necessary to recognize a liability, then disclose the timing of recognition and measurement 

of the liability, as well as changes in the amount of the liability. Also note the cumulative amount 

of any payments made on this liability, and any amounts expected to be recovered from those pay-

ments. 

 

SAMPLE DISCLOSURES 

 

The City has periodically issued industrial revenue bonds to provide financial assistance to various private-

sector entities for the acquisition and construction of commercial facilities that are considered to be in the 

public interest. The bonds are secured by the property financed, and are payable only from payments received 

on the associated mortgages. When the bonds are repaid, ownership of these facilities transfers to the private-

sector entity linked to the bond issuance. The City is not obligated in any way for repayment of these bonds. 

Consequently, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. As of June 

30, 20X5, there were nine series of industrial revenue bonds outstanding, with an aggregate principal amount 

payable of $48.1 million. 
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The County has issued industrial development bonds to provide capital financing for a third-party manufac-

turer. The proceeds were used by the manufacturer to build a new factory in the County’s redevelopment 

district. The factory is pledged as collateral for repayment of the bonds. The manufacturer is the obligor of 

the underlying mortgage, and the bonds are payable solely from payments received from the manufacturer 

on an underlying mortgage. If the manufacturer defaults on these payments, the County commissioners will 

be asked to appropriate the amount of the deficiency from County resources. If such a payment is made, the 

County has the authority to recover the amount paid from the manufacturer. As of June 30, 20X3, the prin-

cipal amount payable on the bonds is $11.9 million. 

 

The State has issued higher education facilities bonds to provide financing for a private college to construct 

training facilities. Those facilities are pledged as collateral for the bonds. There are underlying mortgages on 

the facilities, which will be used to pay for the bonds. The State made a moral obligation pledge that, if the 

college defaults, the General Assembly will be asked to appropriate the amount of the deficiency. As a result 

of the college’s subsequent financial difficulties, it is more likely than not that the State will honor its moral 

obligation to support the remaining debt service payments. The amount of this liability recognized is the best 

estimate of the discounted present value of the future outflows expected to be incurred as a result of this 

commitment. The liability recognized by the State related to its moral obligation pledge as of June 30, 20X1 

is $1.6 million. 

 

 

Summary 

As the name implies, a conduit debt obligation is a pass-through transaction, where the government is es-

sentially issuing debt on behalf of someone else. Given the nature of this arrangement, the government does 

not make any accounting entries relating to the issuance of debt, unless it has issued a guarantee to make 

debt payments if the third-party obligor cannot do so. 
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Review Questions 

1. The issuer of a conduit debt obligation should recognize a liability for it when there is a commitment 

to support the associated debt service, based on an assessment that includes the following factor: 

a. The issuer is financially reorganizing 

b. The issuer has a history of avoiding its additional commitments to support debt service pay-

ments 

c. Delay of the project that was intended to be the source of debt payment funds 

d. The obligor is not meeting mandated debt service coverage ratios 

 



 
Chapter 21 

Escheat Property 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the proper accounting for escheat property. 

 

Introduction 

Escheat is a government’s right to take ownership of unclaimed property. This right is exercised when 

assets have been unclaimed for a specified period of time or when a person dies without heirs. Specific 

escheat rules are set at the state level, where escheat rights may be granted for just certain types of assets, 

such as real estate, securities, and dormant bank deposits. Banks and brokerages track account usage levels, 

and if an account has been dormant for a certain amount of time, they are required to forward the related 

cash and securities to the state government. However, the escheat laws may require these entities to first 

make an attempt to locate the account holders before sending assets to the government. 

Typically, it is possible for claimants to reclaim property that was initially taken by the government, 

usually by discovering the existence of these assets through a government database and then filing a claim 

form. However, a state may impose a statute of limitations, after which these claims can no longer be made. 

In the absence of a statute of limitations, recovery claims can be made in perpetuity. A statute of limitations 

reduces the administrative burden on the state government, and also increases the amount of funds it has 

available for its own budgeting purposes. 

In this chapter, we cover the accounting for and reporting of escheat property transactions in a govern-

ment’s financial statements. 

 

Accounting Issues 

Property classified as escheat may be classified in three ways, which are as follows: 

• Property that will be paid to heirs or beneficiaries 

• Property that is temporarily held for other governments 

• Property that will revert to the government in the absence of rightful heirs or claimants 

 

Property classified as escheat should be reported as an asset in either the governmental or proprietary fund 

to which it will eventually be assigned – which can include assets in all of the preceding three classifica-

tions. When these amounts will be paid to claimants or other governments, the entry should be offset by a 

payment liability. When this property is held as a fiduciary activity, it should be reported within either a 

custodial fund or a private-purpose trust fund. 

When escheat assets are reported in governmental or proprietary funds, then a liability should also be 

reported to the extent that it is probable that these assets will be reclaimed and paid back to claimants. The 

offset to this entry is a reduction in the amount of escheat revenue recognized. The amount of this liability 

should be based on the trend in amounts reclaimed, as well as any changes in this trend. 

When escheatment transactions are reported in the government-wide financial statements, they should 

be measured with the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. 
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Summary 

Escheatment transactions are extremely common at the state level, where many state governments rely on 

the escheatment process to bring in notable amounts of assets. When recording these assets, the accountant 

needs to be careful to classify the types of property being received, and record liabilities for that proportion 

of assets considered likely to be paid out to other parties. 
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Review Questions 

1. Escheat property is not classified in the following manner: 

a. Property being permanently held for other governments 

b. Property that will revert to the government if there are no rightful claimants 

c. Property that will be paid to beneficiaries 

d. Property being temporarily held for other governments 

 



 
Chapter 22 
Inventory 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the characteristics of the different inventory costing methods. 

 

Introduction 

The treatment of the cost of inventory within a business-type activity or propriety fund is the same as would 

be found in any other type of organization. In this chapter, we cover the basic rules for inventory accounting, 

and provide examples of some of the allowable costing methods. 

 

Accounting Issues 

Inventory is considered to be items of tangible personal property that are held for sale in the ordinary course 

of operations, or which are currently in the process of being manufactured for such sale, or which are cur-

rently being consumed in the production of goods or services that will then be made available for sale. 

Depreciable assets are not considered to be inventory. 

For inventory purposes, cost can be determined in several ways, some of which are noted in the follow-

ing sub-sections. The method used should most clearly reflect the periodic cost incurred by the entity in 

question. When a sale is made, the cost to be charged to operations cannot be the identified cost of the 

specific item sold, particularly when similar goods are being purchased at different times and at different 

prices. 

It is allowable for a business-type activity to apply one of the accepted cost determination methods to 

one set of inventory items, while applying a different cost determination method to another set of items. 

 

The following additional items also apply to the determination of inventory costs: 

• General and administrative expenses should be charged to expense in the period incurred. They 

should only be included in the cost of inventory when they are clearly related to production. 

• Selling expenses are never included in the cost of inventory. 

• When the utility of goods declines below their cost, record a loss in the amount by which the cost 

of the goods exceeds their market price. The market price is the current replacement cost.5 This 

lower of cost or market analysis may be applied to each individual item or to total inventory, de-

pending on the character and composition of the inventory. 

• Inventories may be stated at the market price when goods are immediately marketable at the quoted 

market price. This approach is common for agricultural and mineral products. If goods are stated 

above their cost, this situation should be disclosed. 

• Losses should be recognized in the current period for expected losses from firm, uncancellable, and 

unhedged commitments for the future acquisition of inventory. 

 

Average Costing 

When using the average costing method, divide the cost of goods available for sale by the number of units 

available for sale, which yields the average cost per unit. In this calculation, the cost of goods available for 

 
5 The market price of inventory should not exceed the net realizable value, which is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of operations, minus reasonably estimable costs of completion and disposal. 
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sale is the sum of beginning inventory and net purchases. This average figure is then used to assign a cost 

to both ending inventory and the cost of goods sold. 

The singular advantage of the average method is the complete absence of any inventory layers, which 

avoids the record keeping problems encountered with the FIFO and LIFO methods described next. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A government-run business operation elects to use the average method for the month of May. During that month, it 

records the following transactions: 

 

 Quantity 

Change 

Actual 

Unit Cost 

Actual 

Total Cost 

Beginning inventory +150 $220 $33,000 

Sale -125   

Purchase +200 270 54,000 

Sale -150   

Purchase +100 290 29,000 

Ending inventory = 175  $116,000 

 

The actual total cost of all purchased or beginning inventory units in the preceding table is $116,000 ($33,000 + 

$54,000 + $29,000). The total of all purchased or beginning inventory units is 450 (150 beginning inventory + 300 

purchased). The average cost per unit is therefore $257.78 ($116,000 ÷ 450 units). 

 

The ending inventory valuation is $45,112 (175 units × $257.78 average cost), while the cost of goods sold valuation 

is $70,890 (275 units × $257.78 average cost). The sum of these two amounts (less a rounding error) equals the 

$116,000 total actual cost of all purchases and beginning inventory. 

 

 

FIFO Costing 

The first in, first out (FIFO) method of inventory valuation operates under the assumption that the first 

goods purchased are also the first goods sold. In most business operations, this accounting assumption 

closely matches the actual flow of goods, and so is considered the most theoretically correct inventory 

valuation method. 

Under the FIFO method, the earliest goods purchased are the first ones removed from the inventory 

account. This results in the remaining items in inventory being accounted for at the most recently incurred 

costs, so that the inventory asset contains costs quite close to the most recent costs that could be obtained 

in the marketplace. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A government-run business operation decides to use the FIFO method for the month of January. During that month, 

it records the following transactions: 

 

 Quantity 

Change 

Actual 

Unit Cost 

Actual 

Total Cost 

Beginning inventory (layer 1) +100 $210 $21,000 

Sale -75   

Purchase (layer 2) +150 280 42,000 

Sale -100   

Purchase (layer 3) +50 300 15,000 

Ending inventory = 125  $78,000 

 

The cost of goods sold in units is calculated as: 

 

100 Beginning inventory + 200 Purchased – 125 Ending inventory = 175 Units 

 

The operation’s accountant uses the information in the preceding table to calculate the cost of goods sold for January, 

as well as the cost of the inventory balance as of the end of January. The calculations appear in the following table: 

 

 Units Unit Cost Total Cost 

Cost of goods sold    

FIFO layer 1 100 $210 $21,000 

FIFO layer 2 75 280 21,000 

Total cost of goods sold 175  $42,000 

    

Ending inventory    

FIFO layer 2 75 280 $21,000 

FIFO layer 3 50 300 15,000 

    

Total ending inventory 125  $36,000 

 

Thus, the first FIFO layer, which was the beginning inventory layer, is completely used up during the month, as well 

as half of Layer 2, leaving half of Layer 2 and all of Layer 3 to be the sole components of the ending inventory. 

 

Note that the $42,000 cost of goods sold and $36,000 ending inventory equals the $78,000 combined total of beginning 

inventory and purchases during the month. 

 

 

From a database management perspective, the FIFO method results in the smallest number of cost layers 

to track, since the oldest layers are constantly being eliminated. 

 

LIFO Costing 

The last in, first out (LIFO) method operates under the assumption that the last item of inventory purchased 

is the first one sold. Picture a store shelf where a clerk adds items from the front, and customers also take 

their selections from the front; the remaining items of inventory that are located further from the front of 

the shelf are rarely picked, and so remain on the shelf – that is a LIFO scenario. 
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The trouble with the LIFO scenario is that it is rarely encountered in practice. If a business operation 

were to use the process flow embodied by LIFO, a significant part of its inventory would be very old, and 

likely obsolete. Nonetheless, an operation does not actually have to experience the LIFO process flow in 

order to use the method to calculate its inventory valuation. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A government-run business operation decides to use the LIFO method for the month of March. The following table 

shows the various purchasing transactions for the operation’s product. The quantity purchased on March 1 actually 

reflects the inventory beginning balance. 

 

Date 

Purchased 

Quantity 

Purchased 

Cost per 

Unit 

Units 

Sold 

Cost of 

Layer #1 

Cost of 

Layer #2 

Total 

Cost 

March 1 150 $210 95 (55 × $210)  $11,550 

March 7 100 235 110 (45 × $210)  9,450 

March 11 200 250 180 (45 × $210) (20 × $250) 14,450 

March 17 125 240 125 (45 × $210) (20 × $250) 14,450 

March 25 80 260 120 (25 × $210)  5,250 

 

The following bullet points describe the transactions noted in the preceding table: 

• March 1. The operation has a beginning inventory balance of 150 units, and sells 95 of these units between 

March 1 and March 7. This leaves one inventory layer of 55 units at a cost of $210 each. 

• March 7. The operation buys 100 additional units on March 7, and sells 110 units between March 7 and 

March 11. Under LIFO, we assume that the latest purchase was sold first, so there is still just one inventory 

layer, which has now been reduced to 45 units. 

• March 11. The operation buys 200 additional units on March 11, and sells 180 units between March 11 and 

March 17, which creates a new inventory layer that is comprised of 20 units at a cost of $250. This new layer 

appears in the table in the “Cost of Layer #2” column. 

• March 17. The operation buys 125 additional units on March 17, and sells 125 units between March 17 and 

March 25, so there is no change in the inventory layers. 

• March 25. The operation buys 80 additional units on March 25, and sells 120 units between March 25 and 

the end of the month. Sales exceed purchases during this period, so the second inventory layer is eliminated, 

as well as part of the first layer. The result is an ending inventory balance of $5,250, which is derived from 

25 units of ending inventory, multiplied by the $210 cost in the first layer that existed at the beginning of the 

month. 

 

 

Disclosures 

An entity should disclose for each of the various classes of inventory items the basis on which their amounts 

are stated. If possible, also note the method used to determine their cost, such as the FIFO or LIFO method. 

 

Summary 

Where possible, the simplest approach to recording inventory costs is always recommended. This means 

avoiding the LIFO cost layering system, since it can involve tracking a large number of very old cost layers. 

Instead, either the average cost or FIFO approach would be a good choice for a more streamlined costing 

system. 
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Review Questions 

1. The last-in, first-out (LIFO) method: 

a. Is required under governmental reporting standards 

b. Requires the use of inventory layers 

c. Matches the actual flow of inventory in most situations 

d. Is used to report more income 

 



 
Chapter 23 

Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs 

Learning Objectives 

• Recognize the types of costs associated with landfill closure and postclosure activities. 

• Specify the proper accounting for a change in the estimated total current cost of landfill closure and 

postclosure care. 

 

Introduction 

Many government entities must deal with the costs of landfills that are being closed or which have already 

been closed. In the accounting standards, these landfills are classified as municipal solid waste landfill 

(MSWLF). An MSWLF is considered to be an area of land that receives household waste. In this chapter, 

we cover the accounting requirements related to MSWLF operations. 

 

Operating Methods 

When a landfill is in operation, usually only a portion of the landfill, known as a “cell,” is used at one time. 

Waste containment and monitoring systems are installed before a cell is ready for use. Final cover is applied 

to a cell once it has been filled. If a landfill operates as a single large cell, then final cover may not be 

applied until the entire landfill stops accepting additional waste. 

 

Note: Final cover is a multi-layered system of materials that is used to reduce the amount of storm water 

that will enter a landfill after closing. 

 

Estimated Total Current Cost of MSWLF Closure and Postclosure Care 

The owner of a MSWLF must incur several types of costs to protect the environment from the landfill, both 

during its operation and the postclosure period. These costs include: 

• Cost of equipment and facilities, such as the leachate collection systems and final cover 

• Cost of services, such as postclosure maintenance and monitoring costs 

 

Note: Leachate is the liquid that drains from a landfill. 

 

A government that is planning to close a landfill will need to separately classify some of these costs as the 

estimated total current cost of MSWLF closure and postclosure care. These costs result in disbursement 

close to or after the date when a MSWLF stops accepting solid waste. In general, this classification includes 

costs irrespective of whether they are capital or operating in nature. In more detail, the costs to be classified 

in this manner are as follows: 

• Equipment and facilities. Includes the cost of all equipment and facilities that will be installed or 

constructed near or following the date when the MSWLF stops accepting solid waste, as well as 

during the postclosure period. These items should be limited to just those that will be used exclu-

sively by the MSWLF. Examples of these items are: 

o Gas monitoring and collection systems 

o Ground water monitoring wells 
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o Leachate treatment facilities 

o Storm water management systems 

• Final cover. Includes the cost of final cover expected to be applied to the MSWLF once it stops 

accepting solid waste. 

• Monitoring and maintenance. Includes the cost required to monitor and maintain the expected us-

able landfill area through the postclosure period. Examples of these costs are: 

o Environmental hazard containment 

o Equipment repair and replacement 

o Final cover maintenance 

o Groundwater monitoring 

o Leachate collection and treatment 

o Methane monitoring and collection 

 

Note: The expected usable landfill area is the area within a landfill that is expected to receive solid waste 

during the operating life of the landfill. This area is estimated based on environmental factors that may call 

for the early closure of the landfill, permit periods, and the probability of permit renewals. 

 

When equipment or facilities are shared by several MSWLFs, their costs are assigned to each one based on 

the percentage of usage. 

When deriving the estimated total current cost of MSWLF closure and postclosure care, do so based 

on those applicable laws that have been approved as of the balance sheet date, even if their effective date 

is at some point later in the future. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Acorn City plans to construct a small power generation facility adjacent to one of its landfill operations, with the intent 

of generating electricity from the methane gas naturally occurring in the landfill. This facility is not a required part of 

landfill closure and postclosure care, and so should not be included in the landfill liability. Instead, it should be ac-

counted for separately as a capital asset. 

 

 

Reevaluations 

The estimated current cost of MSWLF closure and postclosure care should be reevaluated each year, with 

adjustments for inflationary effects. Also adjust the current cost under the following circumstances: 

• There are changes in the closure or postclosure care plan. 

• Landfill operating conditions alter estimated costs. Here are several circumstances that can impact 

estimated costs: 

o Changes in legal or regulatory requirements 

o Changes in technology 

o Changes in the expected usable landfill area 

o Price changes that vary from the general inflation rate 

o The types of equipment and facilities expected to be used 

 

Proprietary Fund Reporting 

A MSWLF may be reported in the financial statements of a proprietary fund. If so, a portion of its estimated 

total current cost closure and postclosure care should be recognized in each period. This recognition takes 

the form of an expense and a liability within each period for which the MSWLF is accepting solid waste. 
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This recognition should begin as soon as the MSWLF begins accepting solid waste, and should continue 

through all subsequent operating periods, to be completed when it no longer accepts solid waste. This cost 

should be apportioned to each period based on usage, such as in cubic yards. Apportionment based on the 

passage of time is not acceptable. Thus, the following formula should be used to calculate the apportionment 

of costs: 

 

Estimated total current cost × Cumulative capacity used 
- 

Amount previously 

recognized Total estimated capacity 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Sunflower City operates a municipal landfill. Thus far, 1.2 million cubic yards of the landfill have been used out of 

the 4 million total cubic yards within the landfill area. The following total current cost of closure and postclosure care 

is estimated for the facility: 

 

Maintenance of leachate treatment facility $400,000 

Expected renewal of storm water control facilities 920,000 

Monitoring well replacements 25,000 

Maintenance of final cover 680,000 

Groundwater and gas monitoring 480,000 

Off-site leachate treatment 1,100,000 

Total $3,605,000 

 

Sunflower’s to-date expense for closure and postclosure care is calculated as follows: 

 

$3,605,000 Estimated total current cost × 1,200,000 Cumulative capacity used 

4,000,000 Total estimated capacity 

 

= $1,081,500 to-date closure and postclosure care expense 

 

 

When equipment and facilities are included in the estimated total current cost of closure and postclosure 

care, they should not also be reported as capital assets. All equipment, facilities, services, and final cover 

that have been included in the estimated total current cost should, when they are acquired, be reported as a 

subtraction from the accrued liability for MSWLF closure and postclosure care. 

Capital assets should be fully depreciated by the time a MSWLF stops accepting solid waste, under the 

following conditions: 

• The assets are used exclusively for the MSWLF; and 

• The assets are excluded from the calculation of the estimated total current cost of closure and post-

closure care. 

 

When a capital asset is associated with a single cell, its depreciation period should be the same as the 

estimated useful life of the associated cell. When a capital asset is used by several MSWLFs, the cost 

assigned to each MSWLF should be depreciated through the date when each one no longer accepts solid 

waste. 
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Governmental Fund Reporting 

A MSWLF may be reported in the financial statements of a governmental fund. If so, the measurement of 

the liability is the same as was just described for a proprietary fund. The basis of accounting used in this 

case is the modified accrual basis, so the following additional accounting and presentation actions apply: 

• A governmental fund liability and expenditure should be recognized as payments come due in each 

period as goods are used and services are received. 

• The long-term liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costs does not trigger an outflow of 

current financial resources, and so does not result in the recognition of any additional fund liability 

or expenditure, though the liability is reported in the governmental activities column in the govern-

ment-wide statement of net position. 

• Report equipment and facilities acquisitions that have been included in the estimated total current 

cost as closure and postclosure care expenditures in the statement of revenues, expenditures, and 

changes in fund balances. 

 

Government-Wide Financial Statement Reporting 

The same reporting previously noted for proprietary funds also applies to government-wide financial state-

ments. This reporting applies to assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of re-

sources, revenues, and expenses. 

 

Changes in Estimates 

When there is a change in the estimated total current cost of closure and postclosure care, the change is 

reported at once, in the period of change. An exception to this rule is when the change in estimate applies 

to the horizontal expansion of the waste boundaries of an existing MSWLF; in this case, the change is only 

to the capacity of the landfill, so the change is recognized as the new capacity is used. 

A change in the estimated total current cost may arise after the date on which a landfill no longer accepts 

solid waste. These changes should be reported as soon as the change is probable and can be reasonably 

estimated. 

 

Assets Placed in Trust 

The owners or operators of a MSWLF may be called upon to place assets with a trustee, in order to provide 

financial assurance about their ability to operate the landfill. Any amounts held in trust should be reported 

in the fund where the landfill operations are reported, as “amounts held by trustee.” If there are any invest-

ment earnings on these amounts held in trust, report them as revenue and not as reductions in the estimated 

total current cost and associated accrued liability. 

 

Responsibility Assumed by a Different Entity 

The operator or owner of a MSWLF may transfer some portion (or all) of its closure and postclosure care 

responsibility to a third party. If it appears that the assuming entity will not be able to meet its obligations 

and it is probable that the original operator or owner will be forced to pay closure and postclosure care 

costs, then this obligation should still be reported, as specified earlier in this chapter. 
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Disclosures 

If a government is subject to landfill closure and postclosure care requirements, it should disclose the fol-

lowing information in the notes to its financial statements: 

• Requirements. State the nature and source of the requirements, referring to specific laws or regula-

tions. 

• Basis of recognition. Note that the liability for closure and postclosure care costs is based on the 

amount of landfill capacity used to date. 

• Liability and remaining cost recognition. Report the liability associated with the closure and post-

closure care costs, as well as the estimated total current cost of closure and postclosure care that 

has not yet been recognized. 

• Capacity usage. Note the percentage of landfill capacity that has been used to date, as well as the 

estimated landfill life that remains (in years). 

• Financial assurance. State how any financial assurance requirements associated with the closure 

and postclosure care costs are being met. Further, describe any assets that have been restricted for 

the payment of closure and postclosure care costs, if this information is not readily apparent in the 

financial statements. 

• Change issues. Describe the nature of the estimates made and the possibility for further changes 

due to inflation or deflation, laws and regulations, or technology. 

 

SAMPLE DISCLOSURE 

 

State laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover on its Stony Lane landfill site when it stops 

accepting waste, as well as to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for 25 years 

following its closure. Even though closure and postclosure care costs will be paid near or after the landfill 

closure date, the City reports a portion of these costs as an operating expense in each period, based on the 

proportion of landfill capacity used in each successive period. The $1.1 million reported as landfill closure 

and postclosure care liability at December 31, 20X2 represents the cumulative amount reported to date based 

on the use of 30% of the estimated capacity of the landfill. The City will recognize the remainder of the 

estimated cost of $2.5 million as the remaining estimated capacity is filled. The City expects to close the 

landfill in the year 20X9. The actual cost incurred may be higher due to inflation, changes in regulations, or 

changes in technology. 

 

The City is required by state laws and regulations to make annual contributions to a trust, to be used to finance 

landfill closure and postclosure care. The city is in compliance with these requirements, and has so far shifted 

$3.0 million into the trust. These funds are reported as restricted on the statement of net position. The City 

expects that the additional cost of inflation will be paid from the interest earned on these funds. If interest 

earnings prove to be inadequate or additional postclosure care is required, these costs may need to be paid 

through charges to future landfill users or from additional tax revenue. 

 

 

Summary 

The costs of landfill closure and postclosure care can be quite significant – to the point where an error in 

the accounting for them can represent a material error in a government’s financial statements. Conse-

quently, it is worthwhile to create a detailed timetable and procedure for the ongoing examination and 

updating of these costs, preferably before the financial statement closing process begins. By updating land-

fill cost information in a slower part of the accounting work schedule, the accountant will have more time 

available for a thorough examination of the calculation, underlying assumptions, and changes in costs. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following is an example of a landfill monitoring and maintenance cost: 

a. Ground water monitoring wells 

b. Final cover cost 

c. Storm water management systems 

d. Leachate treatment 

 

2. The current cost of landfill closure and postclosure care should be adjusted when: 

a. There is a change in the type of waste being stored 

b. There is a change in landfill management 

c. There is a change in landfill ownership 

d. There is a change in the expected usable landfill area 

 

 



 
Chapter 24 

Leases 

Learning Objectives 

• Identify the circumstances under which a lease liability should be revised. 

• Describe the components of the lease receivable asset. 

 

Introduction 

A government entity may engage in leasing arrangements to obtain the use of assets for a period of time. 

The accounting for leases is relatively complex, requiring the lessee to recognize a lease liability and a 

right-of-use asset. In this chapter, we cover the essential aspects of lease accounting, from the perspectives 

of both the lessee and the lessor. 

 

Lease Term 

The lease term is the period during which the lessee has a noncancelable right to use the leased asset, which 

may include an option to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the lessee will do 

so. Any period for which either party has the option to terminate the lease without permission from the 

other party is not included in the lease term. The lease term can also be considered to expire if the lessee 

will probably trigger a fiscal funding clause, where it can cancel the lease if it does not have sufficient 

funding to pay for the lease. 

 

Lessee Lease Accounting 

With the exception of short-term leases and contracts that transfer ownership (discussed later in this chap-

ter), the accounting for leases by the lessee involves recognizing a lease liability and a lease asset. The lease 

asset is an intangible asset, representing the lessee’s right to use the leased asset, and is described in the 

following section. The lease liability is measured as the present value of the payments the lessee expects to 

make over the term of the lease. These payments may include: 

• Fixed lease payments 

• Any variable payments that are dependent on an underlying index or rate 

• Residual value guarantees that are reasonably certain of being paid 

• The exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised 

• Lease termination penalties 

 

If there are any variable performance-based or usage-based payments, these payments are charged to ex-

pense as incurred, rather than being included in the calculation of the lease liability. 

To derive the present value of the preceding allowable lease payments, the lessee should discount them 

using the interest rate charged by the lessor to the lessee, which is the rate implicit in the terms of the lease 

agreement. If it is not possible to derive this implicit interest rate, the lessee can use its incremental bor-

rowing rate instead. 

After the initial recordation of the lease liability, the lessee calculates the amortization of the discount 

on the lease liability, which is recognized as interest expense. The difference between the lease payment 

made and the interest expense is used to reduce the outstanding balance in the lease liability account. 
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The lessee will need to remeasure the lease liability whenever one of the following changes has oc-

curred: 

• There is a change in the lease term 

• The likelihood of paying the residual value guarantee has changed 

• The likelihood of a purchase option being exercised has changed 

• The estimated amounts of payments included in the lease liability have changed 

• The interest rate being charged to the lessee has changed 

• There is a conversion of contingent variable payments to fixed payments 

 

When the lease liability is being remeasured, the discount rate used to arrive at its present value should also 

be updated, but only if there is a change in the lease term and there is a change in the likelihood of exercising 

the purchase option. The updated discount rate should be based on the interest rate being charged by the 

lessor to the lessee as of the date of the update; if this rate is not readily determinable, use the lessee’s 

incremental borrowing rate as of the date of the update. 

 

Lease Asset 

As stated earlier, the lease asset is an intangible asset, representing the lessee’s right to use the leased asset. 

A lease asset is the sum total of the items stated in the following exhibit. 

 

Components of the Lease Asset 

+ Initial amount of the lease liability 

+ Lease payments made to the lessor at or before commencement of the lease term 

- Lease incentives received from the lessor at or before commencement of the lease term 

+ Initial direct costs needed to place the lease asset in service 

= Lease asset 

 

This lease asset should be amortized over the shorter of either the useful life of the underlying asset or the 

lease term. This amortization is recognized as amortization expense. However, if it is likely that an asset 

purchase option will be exercised, then the correct amortization period should be the useful life of the 

underlying asset. 

It is possible that the underlying asset is impaired, in that the asset can no longer be used, or only in a 

different manner that negatively impacts its utility. If so, some portion of the lease asset can be written 

down or written off entirely as an impairment loss. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

The city of Far West enters into a five-year lease, where the lease payments are $35,000 per year, payable at the end 

of each year. Far West incurs initial direct costs of $8,000. The rate implicit in the lease is 8%. 

 

At the commencement of the lease, the lease liability is $139,745, which is calculated as $35,000 multiplied by the 

3.9927 rate for the five-period present value of an ordinary annuity. The right-of-use asset is calculated as the lease 

liability plus the amount of the initial direct costs, for a total of $147,745. 
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Lessor Lease Accounting 

With the exception of short-term leases and contracts that transfer ownership (discussed later in this chap-

ter), the accounting for leases by the lessor involves recognizing a lease receivable and a deferred inflow 

of resources. The essential accounting issues are noted in the following sub-sections. 

 

Initial Direct Costs 

Any upfront direct costs incurred by the lessor are charged to expense as incurred. 

 

Lease Receivable 

The lessor recognizes a lease receivable at the present value of the lease payments that it expects to receive 

from the lessee over the course of the lease term, minus any estimated amounts that will not be collectible. 

This receivable amount should include: 

• Fixed lease payments 

• Any variable payments that are dependent on an underlying index or rate 

• Ostensibly variable lease payments that are actually fixed in substance 

• Residual value guarantees that are fixed in substance 

• Any lease incentives to be paid to the lessee 

 

When first recorded, the receivable amount should be discounted to its present value using the interest rate 

that the lessor charges to the lessee. In later periods, the lessor calculates and records the amortization of 

the discount on the lease receivable, and reports it as interest revenue. Then, when the lessee makes a 

payment, the lessor subtracts the amount of interest revenue from the payment, so that the residual amount 

is used to pay down the lease receivable balance. 

It may be necessary for the lessor to remeasure the lease receivable at later dates if one of the following 

has changed: 

• There is a change in the lease term. 

• There is a change in the interest rate being charged to the lessee. 

• There has been a conversion of contingent variable payments to fixed payments. 

 

When the lease receivable is being remeasured, the lessor should also update the discount rate it uses to 

arrive at the present value of the receivable, but only if there is a change in the lease term and there is a 

change in the interest rate that the lessor charges to the lessee. 

If there are any variable performance-based or usage-based receivables, these amounts are charged to 

revenue in the period to which they relate. If a lessee pays the exercise price for a purchase option or the 

penalty on a lease termination, the lessor recognizes revenue at the point when the option is exercised. 

 

Deferred Inflow of Resources 

When initially measuring the deferred inflow of resources, the lessor should use the calculation that appears 

in the following exhibit. 

 

Components of the Deferred Inflow of Resources 

+ Initial amount of the lease receivable 

+ Lease payments received at or before commencement of the lease term that relate to future periods 

- Lease incentives paid to the lessee at or before commencement of the lease term 

= Deferred inflow of resources 
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The lessor uses a systematic and rational method to recognize revenue over the term of the lease. 

 

Accounting for Short-Term Leases 

A lease that, at its inception, has a maximum possible term of 12 months or less is classified as a short-term 

lease. A lessee should recognize an expense for the lease payments associated with a short-term lease. If 

there is a rent holiday period in which no payments are due, the lessee should not recognize any lease 

expense. If the lessee makes a periodic payment early, it can temporarily recognize an asset and charge it 

to expense when the usage period arrives. A lessor recognizes revenue from the lease payments associated 

with a short-term lease. If any payments arrive prior to the related usage period, the lessor should tempo-

rarily recognize a liability, later recognizing revenue when the usage period arrives. If there is a rent holiday 

period in which no payments are due, the lessor should not recognize any lease revenue. This simplified 

accounting is intended to allow governments to sidestep the more difficult accounting required for longer-

term leases. 

 

Contracts that Transfer Ownership 

There are circumstances in which a contract that appears to be a lease transfers ownership of an asset to the 

lessee by the end of the contract period. When this contract does not contain any termination options or 

contains a fiscal funding clause that is unlikely to be exercised, the contract should be reported as a financed 

purchase of the asset by the lessee, and as an asset sale by the lessor. 

 

Additional Leasing Topics 

In the following bullet points, we summarize a selection of other leasing topics that may be of interest to 

the reader: 

• Contract combinations. When several contracts are entered into at about the same time with the 

same counterparty, they should be considered one contract, as long as they were negotiated as a 

package or the price paid in one contract is dependent on the price or performance stated in the 

other contract. 

• Contracts with multiple components. A contract may contain a lease agreement and some other 

agreement, such as for ongoing maintenance of the leased asset. If so, these components should be 

accounted for separately. If there are multiple underlying assets with varying lease terms, each asset 

should be accounted for as a separate lease component, where the total contract price is allocated 

to each asset based on readily observable standalone prices. When multiple assets are accounted 

for as a single lease unit, the accounting for that unit is based on the primary leased asset within 

that unit. 

• Lease incentives. The lessor may grant a rebate or discount to a lessee, which is considered a lease 

incentive. Examples of lease incentives are taking over the payments on a prior lease, a rent holiday, 

and the reimbursement of lessee buildout costs. If paid before the commencement of a lease, these 

incentives are included in the calculation of the lease asset. If they are paid after commencement 

of the lease, they are accounted for as a reduction of the lease payments due in the periods in which 

the incentives are paid. 

• Lease modifications. The terms of a lease arrangement may be modified, such as by altering the 

term or the underlying asset or price. If this is the case and the lessee receives an additional lease 

asset and the associated increase in lease cost is not unreasonable, then both the lessee and lessor 

should account for the modification as a separate lease. Alternatively, when there is no additional 

lease asset, the lessee should remeasure the existing lease liability and the lessor should remeasure 

the existing lease receivable. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

The city of Far West’s library currently leases 30,000 square feet of space for its main library, and is in the 6th year of 

a 10-year lease. Given the increased demand for books, the library enters into a lease modification with the lessor, 

which adds 15,000 more square feet to the library as of the beginning of the 7th year at the then-current market rate. 

 

This change is accounted for by the library as a new contract, since the library is being granted an additional right of 

use in excess of the original contract. The new contract only includes the incremental change noted in the lease mod-

ification. 

 

 

• Lease terminations. When a lease is terminated, the lessee accounts for it by reducing the carrying 

values of the lease asset and lease liability, and recognizing a gain or loss on the difference. The 

lessor accounts for it by reducing the carrying values of the lease receivable and deferred inflow of 

resources, and recognizing a gain or loss on the difference. 

• Sale-leaseback transactions. A sale-leaseback arrangement occurs when an underlying asset is sold 

by the owner, who then leases it back from the buyer. When financial statements are being prepared 

using the economic resources measurement focus, each part of the arrangement is accounted for as 

a separate transaction – an asset sale component, and a leasing component. In this case, the differ-

ence between the carrying value of the asset sold and the net proceeds from the sale are reported as 

a deferred inflow or outflow of resources. 

• Subleases. A lessee may elect to sub-lease a leased asset to a third party, such as sub-leasing office 

space. When this is the case, the accounting by the original parties for the original lease remains 

the same. The lessee that is now also the sub-lessor takes on the role of lessor to the sub-lessee, and 

so should engage in lessor accounting in this role. 

 

Presentation 

When a lessor prepares financial statements using the current financial resources measurement focus, it 

should present a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, and recognize revenue in a systematic 

and rational manner over the term of the lease. 

 

Disclosures 

There are differing disclosure requirements for leases, depending on whether the reporting party is the 

lessee or the lessor. These requirements are noted in the following sub-sections. 

 

Lessee Disclosures 

A lessee should disclose the following information about its leases in its financial statements: 

• Description. Summary of its leasing arrangements, including the terms of variable lease payments 

and residual value guarantees, and the existence of any sub-leases. 

• Lease asset totals. The total amount of lease assets, as well as the related accumulated amortization. 

• Asset classes. The amount of lease assets by major asset classes. 

• Variable payments. The amount of resource outflows recognized in the period for variable lease 

payments not already included in the lease liability. 

• Other payments. The amount of resource outflows in the period for other payments not already 

included in the lease liability. 

• Principal and interest. The amount of principal and interest to be paid for the lease liability for 

each of the next five years and in five-year tranches thereafter. 
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• Prior commitments. Any lease commitments before commencement of the lease term. 

• Impairment losses. The amounts of any asset impairment losses. 

 

Lessor Disclosures 

A lessor should disclose the following information about its leases in its financial statements: 

• Description. Summary of its leasing arrangements, including the terms of variable lease payments. 

• Inflows of resources. The amounts of any inflows of resources (such as lease revenue and interest 

revenue) recognized in the reporting period. 

• Options. The terms associated with any lessee options to terminate leases or abate payments in 

cases where the lessor has issued debt for which the leases act as collateral. 

• Principal and interest. If the lessor is primarily engaged in leasing activities, it should disclose a 

table containing future payments, stating principal and interest separately, for each of the next five 

years and in five-year tranches thereafter. 

 

Summary 

A key element of the accounting for leases is that an organization must now recognize assets and liabilities 

for the rights and obligations created by leases that have terms of more than 12 months. This level of dis-

closure gives a substantial amount of transparency regarding a lessee’s financial leverage and its leasing 

activities. Unfortunately, it also introduces a greater degree of complexity to the accounting for leases. 

Consequently, it may be useful to create a procedure for the leasing transactions that an entity engages in 

most frequently, along with accompanying examples, and rigidly adhere to that procedure when accounting 

for leases. It may also be useful to structure leasing transactions in the future so that the procedure can be 

applied to them. Doing so reduces the potential variability in the accounting that may be applied to leasing 

transactions, which in turn reduces the risk of having errors creep into the financial statements. 
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Review Questions 

1. The following line item is included in the calculation of a lease asset by a lessee: 

a. Initial direct costs needed to place the leased asset in service 

b. Fixed lease payments 

c. Lease termination penalties 

d. Residual value guarantees that are reasonably certain of being paid 

 



 
Chapter 25 

Nonexchange Transactions 

Learning Objectives 

• Specify the circumstances under which a government does not recognize a nonexchange transac-

tion. 

• Cite the different types of restrictions associated with a grant. 

• Specify the accounting for a pass-through grant. 

 

Introduction 

A large part of the revenue generated by a government is likely to come from nonexchange transactions. In 

this chapter, we describe the different types of these transactions and note the proper accounting for each 

one, along with several related topics. 

 

Overview of Nonexchange Transactions 

In a nonexchange transaction, a government either gives value without receiving an equal value in ex-

change, or the reverse occurs – the government receives value without giving an equal amount of value in 

exchange. Nonexchange transactions fall into four categories, which are as follows: 

• Derived tax revenues. These are assessments imposed by a government on an exchange transaction. 

For example, a government can impose taxes on retail sales, corporate income, and personal in-

come. In all cases, the government is imposing on the entity that acquires income, goods, or ser-

vices, and does so when there is an exchange transaction. 

• Imposed nonexchange revenues. These are assessments imposed by a government on nonexchange 

transactions. For example, a government can impose taxes on property, levy fines, and seize assets. 

In these cases, the government is acting based on an action committed (such as property ownership) 

or omitted (such as breaking the speed limit) by the payer. 

• Government-mandated nonexchange transactions. These are situations in which a government at 

one level provides resources to a government at another level, stipulating that the resources be used 

for a specific purpose. For example, a state government could provide funds to municipal govern-

ments as long as the funds are used for road repairs. 

• Voluntary nonexchange transactions. These are legislative or contractual agreements between par-

ties, such as grants and donations. Both parties may be governments, or one may be some other 

entity. There may be restrictions on the use of the resources provided. These transactions are not 

imposed on the recipient, and eligibility requirements must be fulfilled. 

 

Note: An exchange transaction occurs when there is a reciprocal transfer between two parties that results 

in one of them acquiring assets or services or settling obligations by surrendering other assets or services 

or incurring other obligations. 
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EXAMPLE 

 

A state government imposes a 4% tax on the sale of goods by retailers. The tax is based on the net sale amount and is 

collected by retailers from their customers at the point of sale. Most retailers are required to submit their sales tax 

receipts to the state government on a monthly basis, though low-volume retailers can do so on a quarterly or annual 

basis. This situation is an example of derived tax revenues. 

EXAMPLE 

 

Qanix City adopts a property tax levy ordinance that links the taxes to the City’s appropriation ordinances for its 20X2 

fiscal year. The City has an enforceable claim on the taxes as of the assessment date, which is defined by statute as 

the first day of the fiscal year to which the appropriation ordinance applies. This situation is an example of imposed 

nonexchange revenues. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A developer has completed an industrial park. As required by city law, the developer contributes the park’s infrastruc-

ture to the city. The amount of this contribution is based on the assessed value of the developed property, which the 

city recognizes as revenue when the infrastructure is substantially complete. This situation is an example of imposed 

nonexchange revenues. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A state government’s department of education reimburses school districts for certain costs related to the safety features 

of school buildings, which is capped at a certain amount per school and school district per year. To obtain reimburse-

ment from the department of education, each school district submits an annual expenditure report to the government. 

This situation is an example of a government-mandated nonexchange transaction. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A wealthy benefactor offers money to a local trade school that must be used for scholarships to needy applicants. Any 

residual (unused) amount left at the end of the year is to be returned to the benefactor. This situation is an example of 

a voluntary nonexchange transaction. 

 

 

The accounting for nonexchange transactions depends upon the category within which they are classified, 

based on their characteristics. It can be misleading to place a transaction within one of these categories just 

based on its title, when its detailed characteristics indicate that a different treatment might be more accurate. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Mole Industries pays $500,000 to the mechanical engineering department of a public university, labeling the payment 

as a grant to be directed at tunneling devices. However, the details of the transaction indicate that Mole will receive a 

50% split of all royalties generated by the resulting research. Despite the misleading title of the payment, this trans-

action is actually an exchange transaction, since there is a reciprocal transfer of benefits between the parties. 

 

 

Accounting for Nonexchange Transactions 

Governments must recognize nonexchange transactions in their financial statements, unless the related 

amounts cannot be reasonably estimated or collection is not probable. The accounting for these transactions 

varies by the type of nonexchange transaction, as noted in the following sub-sections. 
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Requirements and Restrictions 

A provider of resources or enabling legislation may mandate that resources provided in a nonexchange 

transaction be used within a certain date range and/or used for a specific purpose. For example: 

• Granted funds must be used within the current fiscal year 

• Granted funds cannot be used until after the current fiscal year 

• Granted funds must be used within the next three years 

• Granted funds must be spent on low-income housing 

• Granted funds must be held for investment, with only the resulting interest subject to expenditure 

 

A time requirement specifies when resources can be used or when usage may begin. Time requirements 

impact when nonexchange transactions can be recognized. The proper accounting treatment depends on the 

type of nonexchange transaction, and so is addressed in several of the following sub-sections that deal with 

each of the transaction types. 

A purpose restriction specifies the purposes for which resources are to be used. These restrictions do 

not impact the timing of recognition for any type of nonexchange transaction. Instead, these resources are 

classified as a restricted net position until they have been used as intended. 

 

Reimbursements 

A grant program may be based on expenditures, where the recipient cannot qualify for payment until having 

first incurring costs. This requirement is considered an eligibility requirement, which impacts the recogni-

tion timing. In essence, the resource provider has no liability and the recipient has no receivable until costs 

are incurred. 

 

Derived Tax Revenues 

When a government is gaining assets from derived tax revenues (which are taxes imposed on an exchange 

transaction), the assets are recognized in the earlier of the period when the underlying exchange transaction 

occurs or when the resources are received. 

Revenues should be recognized in the same period as the related assets, though the amount of revenue 

recognized should be net of estimated refunds and uncollectible amounts. Also, revenues should only be 

recognized once the underlying exchange transaction has occurred – not in advance of it. If resources are 

received in advance of the exchange transaction, then they are reported as liabilities. Once the exchange 

transaction has occurred, the liability is reversed and revenue is recognized instead. 

 

Imposed Nonexchange Revenues 

When a government is gaining assets from imposed nonexchange revenues (such as property taxes and 

fines), the assets are recognized in the earlier of the period in which there is an enforceable legal claim to 

the assets or when the resources are received. The date of the enforceable claim for property taxes is stated 

in the enabling legislation. 

Revenues should be recognized in the period for which the taxes are levied, net of estimated refunds 

and uncollectible amounts. For any other type of imposed nonexchange revenues, revenue recognition oc-

curs in the same period in which the related assets are recognized, unless there are time requirements in the 

enabling legislation. If there are time requirements, recognize revenues in the period when the resources 

must be used or when use can begin. 

In cases where imposed nonexchange revenue transactions are received prior to the period for which 

property taxes are levied or before there is a time requirement for usage, report the transactions as deferred 

inflows of resources. 

Undisputed fines are recognized at the earlier of the payment date or when the statutory time allowed 

for dispute lapses. Disputed fines are recognized when there is a ruling that the fine is valid, though the 
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recognition should be netted against an allowance for estimated refunds linked to rulings that are overturned 

on appeal. 

 

Government-Mandated and Voluntary Nonexchange Transactions 

When one government is providing resources to a government at a different level, it is quite common for 

eligibility requirements to be inserted into the grants. Until these requirements are met, the provider does 

not incur a liability and the recipient cannot recognize a receivable. This situation also arises for voluntary 

nonexchange transactions, where there is a grant or donation. 

The types of eligibility requirements that can apply to these transactions may include any of the fol-

lowing: 

• The recipient must have certain characteristics, such as being a school district. 

• A time requirement must be met, within which or after the resources must be used. 

• Costs have been incurred that the provider will then reimburse. 

 

Another eligibility requirement that only applies to voluntary nonexchange transactions is when resources 

are only made available after the recipient has engaged in a specific action. For example, a grant is only 

issued after the recipient has raised a certain amount of matching funds. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

Pensive Corporation has a policy of matching all employee gifts made to qualifying nonprofits and educational insti-

tutions. An employee makes a $1,000 gift to a nearby state university, and sends the matching gift form to the univer-

sity. This situation is a voluntary nonexchange transaction, where the action requirement – sending in a gift – is the 

first action taken. The university recognizes $1,000 of cash and a $1,000 receivable from Pensive Corporation. $2,000 

of revenue can be recognized as soon as the employee gift is received, since this is the qualifying event; submitting 

the matching gift form to Pensive is not considered an eligibility requirement. 

 

 

When all necessary eligibility requirements have been met by a recipient, the provider of resources should 

recognize a liability and expense, while the recipient recognizes a receivable and revenue, net of any esti-

mated uncollectible amounts. If resources were sent by the provider before the eligibility requirements were 

met, the provider continues to record them as assets, while the recipient records them as a liability. 

When resources have been received or recognized as a receivable after meeting all eligibility require-

ments except the time requirement, the provider reports them as a deferred outflow of resources, while the 

recipient reports them as a deferred inflow of resources. 

There may be cases where a provider issues resources with a stipulation that the resources cannot be 

sold or consumed for an extended period of time (if ever). For example, a permanent endowment is sent to 

the recipient. In this situation, the recipient can recognize revenue at the point of receipt, as long as it has 

met all eligibility requirements. 

 

EXAMPLE 

 

A wealthy alumnus gives a state university $2 million with the stipulation that the funds be used to establish an en-

dowment that is kept intact in perpetuity. The investment income from the endowment is to be used to maintain the 

university’s science building. The stipulation that the principal be maintained intact is a time restriction, which is 

being met as soon as the university receives the funds. The university should recognize assets and revenue when the 

gift is received. 
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Donations of Capital Assets 

An outside party may donate a capital asset to a government, to be held for use in general government 

operations. Since the measurement focus of a governmental fund is on its current financial resources, no 

record is made in the governmental fund of any revenue or an asset. However, if the donated capital asset 

is held for sale, it is recorded at its acquisition value, which is set at the donation date. This change in 

accounting treatment occurs because the capital asset will be converted into cash through a sale transaction 

when the asset is sold to a third party. 

 

Subsequent Breaching of Eligibility Requirements 

A recipient of resources may initially meet all eligibility requirements, but later falls out of compliance. 

When this breach occurs, if it is probable that the resources will no longer be issued or must be returned, 

the recipient should record a decrease in its assets and an associated expense, while the provider recognizes 

an increase in its assets and revenue in the amount that is expected to be reclaimed. 

 

Nonexchange Revenues Administered by another Government 

A government may collect nonexchange revenues on behalf of another government. A common example is 

when a state government collects all forms of sales taxes from businesses and then remits the receipts to 

the applicable city and county governments. In this case, the receiving government should be able to esti-

mate and accrue for the receipts that it will collect from the disbursing government. 

There may also be cases where one government decides to share its own receipts with another govern-

ment. For example, a state government may collect a gasoline tax and then choose to disburse a portion of 

it to local governments. These resource allocations are usually relatively predictable, since they are trig-

gered by a continuing appropriation. If so, the receiving government should be able to estimate and accrue 

for the resources that it will eventually collect. 

 

Revenue Recognition in Governmental Fund Statements 

As noted earlier in the Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus chapter, governmental fund financial 

statements use the modified accrual basis of accounting. When this basis is used, the revenues associated 

with nonexchange transactions should be recognized in the manner stated in the following exhibit. 

 

Revenue Recognition for Nonexchange Transactions 

Type of Nonexchange Transaction Recipient Accounting Treatment 

Derived tax revenues Recognize revenue when the exchange transaction has occurred and the 

resources are available. 

Imposed nonexchange revenues for 

property taxes 

Recognize revenue in the fiscal period for which it was levied, as long as 

it has been collected or will be collected soon enough to pay liabilities in 

the current period. 

Imposed nonexchange revenues other 

than property taxes 

Recognize revenue when an enforceable claim has arisen and the re-

sources are available. 

Government-mandated nonexchange 

transactions and voluntary nonex-

change transactions 

Recognize revenue when all eligibility requirements have been met and 

the resources are available. 

 

Pass-Through Grants 

A government may receive a grant that is to be sent to or spent on behalf of another party. This type of 

grant is called a pass-through grant. A cash pass-through grant should be reported by a government as 

revenue and expenditure or expense in the funds of the primary government and in the government-wide 
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financial statements. This treatment is appropriate if the government has some administrative or financial 

involvement in the program. Administrative involvement may involve monitoring the ultimate recipient for 

compliance with program requirements, determining the eligibility of recipients, or having some discretion 

in how funds are allocated. When there is no administrative or financial involvement, the pass-through grant 

is instead reported in an agency fund. 

 

On-Behalf Payments 

A government may make payments to a third-party recipient for the employees of an employer entity. These 

on-behalf payments may involve fringe benefits and compensation, including pension plan contributions, 

health insurance premiums, and stipends. For example, a county government pays into a pension plan for 

the volunteer firefighters employed within its boundaries. 

The employer government should recognize both revenue and expenditures or expenses for these on-

behalf payments for fringe benefits and compensation. The accounting varies based on the situation, but 

the general concept is to recognize revenue for the amounts received by the third-party recipients, and which 

are receivable by the end of the current fiscal year. 

On-behalf payments may be made into a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. If so, the pay-

ments should be allocated among the covered employers based upon a consistently-applied and rational 

allocation method, based on the ratio of an employer’s covered payroll to the total covered payroll. 

The employer government does not have to allocate on-behalf payments to any of its funds. If the 

decision is made to engage in such an allocation, it can be based on the related salaries and wages charged 

to those funds. Conversely, if only a single fund is used to report on-behalf payments, that fund is usually 

the general fund. 

 

Disclosures 

The few financial statement disclosures associated with nonexchange transactions are as follows: 

• Non-recognition. When a nonexchange transaction is not recognized in the financial statements, it 

should still be disclosed in the accompanying notes. 

• On-behalf payments. The amounts recognized for on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and com-

pensation should be disclosed. If on-behalf payments are being contributed to a pension plan for 

which the employer government is not legally responsible, disclose the name of the plan and the 

name of the contributing entity. 

 

Summary 

A government entity may recognize revenue from a broad array of sources, each with its own unique ac-

counting. When there are many accounting options, there is a good chance that the accounting staff will be 

at risk of applying an incorrect accounting treatment to a transaction. To reduce this risk, consider having 

each of the accounting staff specialize in just one or two nonexchange transactions, and funneling the ap-

propriate transactions to each of them for processing. Another option is to design a separate procedure for 

each nonexchange transaction and conduct ongoing staff training based on each of these procedures, so that 

they can more readily recognize and deal with each transaction type. 
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Review Questions 

1. A government levies a property tax on property owners. This is an example of which type of nonex-

change transaction? 

a. Imposed nonexchange revenues 

b. Voluntary nonexchange transactions 

c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions 

d. Derived tax revenues 

 

2. A government can recognize revenue when an enforceable claim has arisen. This requirement uniquely 

refers to which type of nonexchange transaction? 

a. Derived tax revenues 

b. Imposed nonexchange revenues for property taxes 

c. Imposed nonexchange revenues other than property taxes 

d. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions 

 



Answers to Chapter Questions 

Chapter 1 – Governmental Accounting Overview 

 

1. An entity that is subject to governmental accounting standards must have one of these characteristics: 

a. The entity issues debt that pays taxable interest 

b. The entity can directly collect a tax levy 

c. Citizens can unilaterally dissolve the entity 

d. The officers are appointed by a controlling group 

 

a. Incorrect. A government entity can issue debt that pays tax-exempt interest. 

b. Incorrect. A government entity should be able to enact and enforce a tax levy, though collection 

can be through another party, such as the state government. 

c. Correct. Only a government can unilaterally dissolve the entity, with its net assets revert-

ing to the government. 

d. Incorrect. The officers of the entity must be appointed by popular election. 

 

2. The following is a type of fiduciary fund: 

a. Enterprise fund 

b. Capital projects fund 

c. Permanent fund 

d. Investment trust fund 

 

a. Incorrect. An enterprise fund is a type of proprietary fund. 

b. Incorrect. A capital projects fund is a type of governmental fund. 

c. Incorrect. A permanent fund is a type of governmental fund. 

d. Correct. An investment trust fund is classified as a fiduciary fund, since resources are 

being held on behalf of other parties. 

 

Chapter 2 – Fund Accounting 

 

1. A government has a trust arrangement where a private organization is the beneficiary. Which type of 

fiduciary fund should be used to track this arrangement? 

a. Private-purpose trust fund 

b. Investment trust fund 

c. Agency fund 

d. Pension and employee benefit trust fund 

 

a. Correct. A private-purpose trust fund is used to report on trust arrangements where in-

dividuals, private organizations, and other governments are the beneficiaries. 

b. Incorrect. An investment trust fund is used to report the external portion of an investment pool 

that is reported by the sponsoring government. 

c. Incorrect. An agency fund is used to report on resources held in a custodial capacity for other 

parties. 

d. Incorrect. A pension and employee benefit trust fund is used to report on assets held in trust for 

pension plans and various employee benefit plans. 
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Chapter 3 – Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

 

1. The following fund uses the modified accrual basis of accounting: 

a. Internal service fund 

b. Permanent fund 

c. Private-purpose trust fund 

d. Investment trust fund 

 

a. Incorrect. An internal service fund uses the accrual basis of accounting and the economic re-

sources measurement focus. 

b. Correct. A permanent fund uses the modified accrual basis of accounting and the current 

financial resources measurement focus. 

c. Incorrect. A private-purpose trust fund uses the accrual basis of accounting and the economic 

resources measurement focus. 

d. Incorrect. An investment trust fund uses the accrual basis of accounting and the economic re-

sources measurement focus. 

 

2. When there is a right of return, revenue can still be recognized at the time of sale if the following 

conditions have been met, except for: 

a. The amount of product returns can be reasonably estimated 

b. The government does not have to assist the buyer in reselling the product 

c. The price is readily determinable 

d. Payment is contingent on the buyer’s subsequent resale of the product 

 

a. Incorrect. It should be possible to estimate the amount of product returns before revenue can 

be recognized. 

b. Incorrect. The government should treat the buyer as the final buyer, so there is no requirement 

to assist the buyer in reselling to a third party. 

c. Incorrect. Having a readily determinable price is one of the criteria that must be met in order 

to recognize revenue. 

d. Correct. The government must have been paid by the buyer; payment cannot be contin-

gent on the buyer reselling the product. 

 

Chapter 4 – Reporting Capital Assets 

 

1. The following is a valid situation in which it is not necessary to depreciate a capital asset: 

a. The utility of the asset has been almost completely consumed 

b. The asset has a specifically-defined useful life 

c. The asset is an infrastructure asset 

d. The asset is classified as software 

 

a. Incorrect. If the utility of an asset has been almost completely consumed, then it should have 

been almost entirely depreciated to reflect the usage. 

b. Incorrect. If an asset will only be useful for a specific period of time, it should be depreciated 

over that time. 

c. Correct. When an asset is classified as an infrastructure asset and the modified approach 

is being used, the asset is not depreciated. 

d. Incorrect. Software is considered to be consumed over time, so it is depreciated over an esti-

mated useful life. 
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2. A government buys a snow plow, which it expects to only use when there is a snowstorm. The comp-

troller wants to depreciate the snow plow based on the number of snow days. Which of the following 

depreciation methods would be most applicable? 

a. Straight-line depreciation 

b. Units of production method 

c. Composite depreciation 

d. Double-declining balance method 

 

a. Incorrect. The straight-line method ensures that the same amount of depreciation will be rec-

ognized in each period, irrespective of usage. 

b. Correct. The units of production method calculates depreciation based on the usage level 

of the asset being depreciated. 

c. Incorrect.  Composite depreciation is applied to a group of similar assets, where a standard 

charge is recognized in each period. There is no provision for asset usage levels. 

d. Incorrect. The double-declining balance method charges depreciation at an accelerated rate, 

with no incorporation of actual usage into the calculation. 

 

3. A government can capitalize a collection of historical treasures when the following condition (among 

others) is met: 

a. The collection is protected 

b. Proceeds from the sale of collection items can be used to fund operations 

c. The collection will be depreciated 

d. The collection is being maintained for future sale at a profit 

 

a. Correct. The collection must be adequately protected before it can be capitalized. Other-

wise, it will not last long as a capital asset. 

b. Incorrect. There should be a policy in place, stating that any proceeds from the sale of collection 

items be used to acquire items for other collections. 

c. Incorrect. A collection may be depreciated or not, based on whether it is deemed to be inex-

haustible. 

d. Incorrect. The collection cannot be held for financial gain, but rather for exhibition, education, 

or research purposes. 

 

Chapter 5 – Reporting Liabilities 

 

1. A governmental fund recognizes liabilities to the extent that they are normally expected to be liquidated 

with expendable available financial resources. An example of such a liability is:  

a. Debt service on balloon payments 

b. Termination benefits 

c. General obligation debt 

d. Special assessment debt with no obligation 

 

a. Incorrect. A balloon payment is a large principal payment that is due as of the maturity date of 

a debt, which is typically a date well in the future. 

b. Correct. Termination benefits are recognized as a liability because they are typically due 

and payable in the short term. 

c. Incorrect. General obligation debt tends to be long-term, and so only the matured portion of it 

(if any) would be recognized by a governmental fund. 

d. Incorrect. When a government has no obligation to repay debt, it is not reported in the entity’s 

financial statements. 
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Chapter 6 – The Budget and Budgetary Accounting 

 

1. The following types of budgets are used in governmental accounting, except for the: 

a. Non-appropriated budget 

b. Profit plan 

c. Appropriated budget 

d. Executive budget 

 

a. Incorrect. A non-appropriated budget is authorized by a constitution, charter, or statute, and so 

is not subject to appropriation. 

b. Correct. A government does not employ a profit plan, since its main focus is providing 

services, not generating a profit. 

c. Incorrect. An appropriated budget has been created by an appropriation bill and signed into 

law. This is the “classic” form of government budget. 

d. Incorrect. An executive budget includes all of the budgetary information submitted by the chief 

executive to the legislative body. It is the first budget model used in the budgeting process. 

 

Chapter 7 – Common Accounting Transactions 

 

1. A governmental fund pays $40,000 in cash for a vehicle. Part of the associated journal entry is: 

a. Debit to Capital Assets – Vehicles 

b. Credit to Loans Payable 

c. Debit to Expenditures – Capital Assets 

d. There is no entry 

 

a. Incorrect. Only a proprietary fund would record a capital asset, rather than an expenditure. 

b. Incorrect. The asset was purchased for cash, so there should be a credit to the cash account, not 

loans payable. 

c. Correct. An expenditures account is debited to show that current funds were used to ac-

quire a capital asset. 

d. Incorrect. Currently available resources are being used to acquire the asset, so a journal entry 

is required. 

 

Chapter 8 – Classification and Terminology 

 

1. The following asset is classified as a current asset: 

a. Inventories of finished goods 

b. Cash for which there are withdrawal restrictions 

c. Receivables with delayed collection expectations 

d. Cash designated for the settlement of long-term debts 

 

a. Correct. Inventories are considered to be liquidated within one year, and so are typically 

classified as a current asset. 

b. Incorrect. When there are limitations on how cash can be used, it cannot be classified as a 

current asset. 

c. Incorrect. When receivables may not be collected within the current year, they cannot be clas-

sified as current assets. 

d. Incorrect. When cash is being reserved for use to settle long-term debt obligations, the cash 

cannot be classified as a current asset. 
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2. The following liability can be classified as a current liability: 

a. Obligations that are due in two years 

b. A short-term obligation that will be refinanced 

c. An unmatured bond 

d. Trade payables 

 

a. Incorrect. Obligations that are due in two years fall outside of the one-year window used for 

the classification of current liabilities. 

b. Incorrect. As long as there is an intent to refinance on a long-term basis and the government is 

able to do so, a short-term obligation is classified as a long-term obligation. 

c. Incorrect. An unmatured bond may not be payable for many years, and so could not be classi-

fied as a current liability. 

d. Correct. Trade payables are paid within the normal payment terms of suppliers, which 

are typically within a month or two of the invoice date. 

 

3. The following fund classification is intended for amounts that can only be consumed on specific activ-

ities as directed by the highest level of decision-making authority, and which can possibly be rede-

ployed for other purposes: 

a. Committed fund balance 

b. Restricted fund balance 

c. Assigned fund balance 

d. Non-spendable fund balance 

 

a. Correct. A committed fund balance is intended for consumption on specific activities, but 

it may be possible to shift the funds elsewhere. 

b. Incorrect. A restricted fund balance has constraints imposed by law or third parties, so the funds 

cannot be shifted elsewhere. 

c. Incorrect. No actual restriction has been placed on the resources in an assigned fund balance. 

d. Incorrect. The funds within this classification cannot be spent, since there is a legal or contrac-

tual requirement to maintain the funds. 

 

Chapter 9 – Defining the Financial Reporting Entity 

 

1. A special-purpose government can be a primary government, as long as: 

a. It can issue bonds with approval from another party 

b. It has corporate powers 

c. Its governing body has been appointed by another government 

d. It is restricted from buying property in its own name 

 

a. Incorrect. A special-purpose entity must be fiscally independent, which means that it can decide 

whether to issue debt without approval from anyone else. 

b. Correct. A special-purpose government must be legally separate, in which case it has cor-

porate powers. 

c. Incorrect. A special-purpose government must have a separately-elected governing body in 

order to be a primary government. 

d. Incorrect. A special-purpose entity should be legally separate, which means that it has the right 

to buy and sell property in its own name. 
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Chapter 10 – Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

 

1. Which of the following items is not included in an annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR)? 

a. Fund financial statements 

b. Required supplementary information 

c. Measurements section 

d. Combining and individual fund statements 

 

a. Incorrect. An ACFR contains the statements for the primary government’s governmental, pro-

prietary, and fiduciary funds. 

b. Incorrect. An ACFR contains a required supplementary information section that has all re-

quired information other than the material stated in the management’s discussion and analysis 

section. 

c. Correct. There is no measurements section in an ACFR, though some measurements may 

be included in the statistical section. 

d. Incorrect. An ACFR includes combining and individual fund statements, which are by fund 

type and for discretely presented component units. 

 

2. Which of the following sources of financing for programs is shown with the correct classification within 

the statement of activities? 

a. The government itself | Reported as general revenue 

b. Other governments | Reported as agency fund revenue 

c. Buyers of goods from the government | Reported as general revenue 

d. Taxpayers | Reported as program revenue 

 

a. Correct. When a government generates revenue, such as through its investment activities, 

the revenue is usually classified as general revenue. 

b. Incorrect. Revenue derived from other governments can be restricted to a specific program, or 

it may be reported as general revenue. 

c. Incorrect. Revenue from the buyers of goods is reported as program revenue. 

d. Incorrect. Revenue from taxpayers is always reported as general revenue. 

 

Chapter 11 – Additional Financial Reporting Considerations 

 

1. Which of the following is a subsequent event that would not be recognized in the financial statements 

of the period that it follows? 

a. A cache of obsolete inventory is discovered 

b. A major customer goes bankrupt 

c. Bonds are issued 

d. Significant termite damage is discovered in a government property 

 

a. Incorrect. When an unusual amount of obsolete inventory is discovered, this should impact the 

reserve for obsolete inventory, which should be adjusted. 

b. Incorrect. When a customer goes bankrupt, this alters the size of the reserve for bad debts, 

which should be adjusted. 

c. Correct. The issuance of bonds is a condition that did not exist at the date of the statement 

of net position, and so does not impact the prior financial statements. 

d. Incorrect. When prior damage is discovered, this should trigger a write-down in the valuation 

of an asset. 
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2. The following going concern indicator is classified as an internal matter for a government: 

a. Expenses that have significantly exceeded revenues 

b. It is subject to long-term commitments that are not economical 

c. The loss of an essential taxpayer 

d. Suppliers are denying it trade credit 

 

a. Incorrect. A loss situation is classified as a negative trend. 

b. Correct. Long-term commitments are entered into by a government, and so are consid-

ered internal matters. 

c. Incorrect. The loss of an essential taxpayer is an outside force that impacts a government, so it 

is classified as an external matter. 

d. Incorrect. Not being given trade credit by suppliers is considered an other indication of diffi-

culties, typically resulting from other factors. 

 

Chapter 12 – Notes to Financial Statements 

 

1. A donor funds an endowment that is to be managed by a government. The government should disclose 

the following information concerning the endowment: 

a. The policy for authorizing and spending investment income 

b. The amounts due from other funds 

c. The purpose of any transfers 

d. The duration of any pledges 

 

a. Correct. The policy related to investment income should be disclosed, since it may govern 

how the income from the endowment can be used. 

b. Incorrect. The amount due from other funds is a disclosure requirement for interfund balances, 

not for endowments. 

c. Incorrect. The purpose of a transfer is a valid disclosure requirement for interfund activity, not 

for endowments. 

d. Incorrect. The duration of pledges is a disclosure requirement for future revenues pledged, not 

for endowments. 

 

2. A suggested sequence of presentation was shown in the text for disclosures. Which of the following 

disclosures should appear last? 

a. Related party transactions 

b. Deficit fund balances of individual funds 

c. Significant effects of subsequent events 

d. Segment information for enterprise funds 

 

a. Incorrect. Related party transactions are stated late in the presentation, following detailed fund 

disclosures. 

b. Incorrect. The deficit fund balances of individual funds are stated shortly after accounting pol-

icies, since this is considered an essential financial issue for funds. 

c. Correct. Significant effects of subsequent events are disclosed last, since they occurred 

after the date sequence relating directly to the financial statements. 

d. Incorrect. Segment information for enterprise funds is disclosed immediately after the detail 

notes for all activities and funds, so this is treated as one of the core disclosures. 
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Chapter 13 – Budgetary Reporting 

 

1. A budgetary comparison schedule reconciles information to GAAP due to differences in fund structure. 

This reconciliation is adjusting for: 

a. The entity 

b. Perspective 

c. Timing 

d. The accounting basis 

 

a. Incorrect. An adjustment for the entity notes any organizations, programs, and so forth that are 

not reported in the same manner in the financial statements. 

b. Correct. The structure of a budget may differ from the structure used to assemble the 

financial statements. 

c. Incorrect. An adjustment for timing notes timing differences related to continuing appropria-

tions, biennial budgeting, and so forth. 

d. Incorrect. An adjustment for accounting basis notes differences between the basis used for the 

budget and the basis used for the applicable fund. 

 

Chapter 14 – Cash Flows Statements 

 

1. In the statement of cash flows, outflows from operating activities may include the following item: 

a. Cash paid for interfund services used 

b. Cash paid to construct capital assets 

c. Cash paid to reduce borrowings not intended for capital asset activities 

d. Cash paid as deposits into equity pools 

 

a. Correct. Cash paid for interfund services used is classified as outflows from operating 

activities, since the services are presumably being used in the conduct of ongoing opera-

tions. 

b. Incorrect. Cash paid to construct capital assets is classified within the cash flows from capital 

and related financing activities section of the statement. 

c. Incorrect. Cash paid to reduce borrowings not intended for capital asset activities is classified 

within the cash flows from noncapital financing activities section of the statement. 

d. Incorrect. Cash paid as deposits into equity pools is classified within the cash flows from in-

vesting activities section of the statement. 
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2. A government receives a subsidy. This cash flow should be classified within the cash flows from ___ 

section of the statement of cash flows. 

a. Operating activities 

b. Financing activities 

c. Capital and related financing activities 

d. Investing activities 

 

a. Incorrect. Cash flows classified as being due to operating activities are those involving trans-

actions included in the determination of operating income. 

b. Correct. Cash flows classified as being due to noncapital financing activities are those 

involving the borrowing and repayment of money that does not involve capital assets. A 

subsidy should be classified in this area. 

c. Incorrect. Cash flows classified as being due to capital and related financing activities are those 

involving the borrowing and repayment of money that does involve capital assets. 

d. Incorrect. Cash flows classified as being due to investing activities are those involving the is-

suance and collection of loans, as well as the acquisition and disposal of debt or equity securi-

ties. 

 

Chapter 15 – Segment Information 

 

1. The following information must be included in a condensed statement of net position for a segment: 

a. Inflows and outflows 

b. Operating expenses 

c. Cash balances 

d. Contributions 

 

a. Correct. The total deferred inflows and outflows of resources are included in a condensed 

statement of net position. 

b. Incorrect. Operating expenses are reported in the condensed statement of revenues, expenses, 

and changes in net position. 

c. Incorrect. Cash balances are included in the condensed statement of cash flows. 

d. Incorrect. Contributions are included in the condensed statement of revenues, expenses, and 

changes in net position. 

 

Chapter 16 – Reporting Entity and Component Unit Presentation and Disclosure 

 

1. The blending of a component unit into the primary government for reporting purposes is warranted 

under all of the following circumstances, except for: 

a. The primary government pays for the component unit’s debt outstanding 

b. The primary government is one of the shareholders of the component unit 

c. The governing body of the component unit matches that of the primary government 

d. The component unit solely services the primary government 

 

a. Incorrect. Blending is warranted when the primary government pays the component unit’s debt, 

since the finances of the entities are intertwined. 

b. Correct. Being a shareholder implies that the component unit is a for-profit entity; for 

blending, the primary government must be the sole owner of a nonprofit entity. 

c. Incorrect. When the governing bodies of the two entities are the same, it implies that they are 

operated jointly. 

d. Incorrect. When a component unit is focused on servicing the primary government, it is essen-

tially an internal service fund. 
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Chapter 17 – Statistical Section 

 

1. A government reports the assessed value of taxable property. This information should be grouped 

within the ___ category of the statistical section. 

a. Financial trends information 

b. Demographic and economic information 

c. Operating information 

d. Revenue capacity information 

 

a. Incorrect. The financial trends information category is used to understand how a government’s 

financial information has changed over time, which is not a viable classification for assessed 

values. 

b. Incorrect. The demographic and economic information category addresses the environment 

within which a government operates, which is probably the least suitable location for assessed 

value information. 

c. Incorrect. The operating information category addresses the operational and resource infor-

mation used to assess a government’s economic condition. 

d. Correct. The revenue capacity category is used to understand the factors impacting a 

government’s revenues, which includes the assessed value of taxable property. 

 

2. An outstanding debt ratio is presented in the statistical section. It is calculated as follows: 

a. Divide annual income by annual loan payments 

b. Divide earnings before interest by interest expense 

c. Divide total debt by total personal income 

d. Divide debt by total assets 

 

a. Incorrect. The debt service coverage ratio is calculated by dividing annual income by annual 

loan payments. 

b. Incorrect. The interest coverage ratio is calculated by dividing earnings before interest by in-

terest expense. 

c. Correct. Dividing total personal income into total debt is the correct calculation of the 

outstanding debt ratio. 

d. Incorrect. The debt ratio is calculated by dividing debt by total assets. 

 

Chapter 18 – Fair Value Measurement 

 

1. The following is a key determinant of the fair value of an asset or liability: 

a. Willing market participants 

b. Related parties 

c. A rapid transaction closure speed 

d. Located in an active market 

 

a. Correct. Market participants must be willing to enter into a transaction, or else they will 

be less inclined to bid a fair price. 

b. Incorrect. The parties to a sale transaction should not be related, thereby reducing the risk of 

having the transaction settle for an unusually high or low price. 

c. Incorrect. A transaction should have sufficient time for normal marketing activities to be com-

pleted. 

d. Incorrect. The market used should be active, in order to attract a large number of buyers and 

sellers, but it must also be the most advantageous market, so that the best price can be obtained. 
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2. The following are valid valuation techniques that can be used to assign a fair value to an asset or liabil-

ity, except for: 

a. Market approach 

b. Cost approach 

c. Options approach 

d. Income approach 

 

a. Incorrect. The market approach uses prices from market transactions involving identical or 

similar assets or liabilities. 

b. Incorrect. The cost approach assumes that fair value is the amount that would be required to 

replace an asset’s present service capacity. 

c. Correct. There is no options approach that can be applied to the derivation of fair value. 

d. Incorrect. The income approach assumes that fair value is based on the present value of the 

future cash flows associated with an asset or liability. 

 

Chapter 19 – Claims Accounting 

 

1. A government enters into an insurance policy that covers losses from claims filed during the policy 

period, no matter when the triggering event actually occurred. This is an example of a ___ policy. 

a. Claims-made 

b. Retrospectively-rated 

c. Fidelity bond 

d. Surety bond 

 

a. Correct. A claims-made policy only covers losses from claims filed within a specific date 

range. It does not provide coverage outside of that range. 

b. Incorrect. A retrospectively-rated policy is based on loss experience, and may require the pay-

ment of additional premiums. 

c. Incorrect. A fidelity bond protects an employer from losses caused by the theft of money, se-

curities, or property by an employee. 

d. Incorrect. A surety bond is a contract that involves a guarantee that a legal agreement will be 

completed. 

 

2. The accrual for a risk of loss depends on how it is classified. The minimum level of loss probability 

required for an accrual is: 

a. The event is probable 

b. The event is reasonably possible 

c. The event is conceivable 

d. The event is remote 

 

a. Correct. A risk of loss should only be accrued when the risk level is probable. 

b. Incorrect. Depending on the circumstances, a reasonably possible risk of loss could be docu-

mented in the accompanying notes, but there is no accrual. 

c. Incorrect. There is no official classification for the term “conceivable” when judging the risk 

of loss. 

d. Incorrect. When the probability of an event is remote, it is not accrued and it is usually not 

disclosed. 
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Chapter 20 – Conduit Debt Obligations 

 

1. The issuer of a conduit debt obligation should recognize a liability for it when there is a commitment 

to support the associated debt service, based on an assessment that includes the following factor: 

a. The issuer is financially reorganizing 

b. The issuer has a history of avoiding its additional commitments to support debt service pay-

ments 

c. Delay of the project that was intended to be the source of debt payment funds 

d. The obligor is not meeting mandated debt service coverage ratios 

 

a. Incorrect. The determining factor is whether the third-party obligor has entered bankruptcy 

protection or is financial reorganizing, not the issuer. 

b. Incorrect. A history of avoiding payments relating to debt service tends to factor against the 

recognition of a commitment liability. 

c. Incorrect. The delay of a project does not necessarily support the recognition of a liability by 

the issuer; an outright termination of the project would more strongly support recognition of 

the liability. 

d. Correct. A valid assessment factor is whether the obligor is not meeting its mandated debt 

service coverage ratios or has breached the debt contract relating to the conduit debt 

obligation. 

 

Chapter 21 – Escheat Property 

 

1. Escheat property is not classified in the following manner: 

a. Property being permanently held for other governments 

b. Property that will revert to the government if there are no rightful claimants 

c. Property that will be paid to beneficiaries 

d. Property being temporarily held for other governments 

 

a. Correct. Escheat property is only temporarily held for other governments; it is not held 

on a permanent basis. 

b. Incorrect. Escheat property may be classified as reverting to the government in the absence of 

rightful heirs or claimants. 

c. Incorrect. Escheat property may be classified as being held for payment to heirs or beneficiar-

ies. 

d. Incorrect. Escheat property may be held on a temporary basis for other governments. 
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Chapter 22 – Inventory 

 

1. The last-in, first-out (LIFO) method: 

a. Is required under governmental reporting standards 

b. Requires the use of inventory layers 

c. Matches the actual flow of inventory in most situations 

d. Is used to report more income 

 

a. Incorrect. The LIFO method is one of several costing methods allowed under governmental 

reporting standards. 

b. Correct. The LIFO method requires the use of layers of inventory costs. 

c. Incorrect. The LIFO method does not match the actual flow of inventory in most situations, 

where instead the first items acquired are the first to be sold. 

d. Incorrect. The LIFO method tends to result in the reporting of less income. 

 

Chapter 23 – Landfill Closure and Postclosure Costs 

 

1. The following is an example of a landfill monitoring and maintenance cost: 

a. Ground water monitoring wells 

b. Final cover cost 

c. Storm water management systems 

d. Leachate treatment 

 

a. Incorrect. Ground water monitoring wells are classified as equipment and facilities, since they 

are capital assets. 

b. Incorrect. The cost of final cover is an entirely separate classification, which goes by the same 

name. 

c. Incorrect. Storm water management systems are classified as equipment and facilities, since 

they are capital assets. 

d. Correct. Leachate treatment is conducted to purify the liquid that drains from a landfill.  

 

2. The current cost of landfill closure and postclosure care should be adjusted when: 

a. There is a change in the type of waste being stored 

b. There is a change in landfill management 

c. There is a change in landfill ownership 

d. There is a change in the expected usable landfill area 

 

a. Incorrect. The type of waste being stored has no effect on the cost of the landfill, as long as the 

waste falls within the operating permit for the landfill. 

b. Incorrect. The nature of the landfill management should not impact costs, since the same ac-

counting rules apply to anyone operating the facility. 

c. Incorrect. A change in ownership does not impact costs, since the same accounting rules apply 

to any owner of the facility. 

d. Correct. A change in the usable landfill area alters its capacity, which therefore alters the 

costs that will be incurred. 
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Chapter 24 – Leases 

 

1. The following line item is included in the calculation of a lease asset by a lessee: 

a. Initial direct costs needed to place the leased asset in service 

b. Fixed lease payments 

c. Lease termination penalties 

d. Residual value guarantees that are reasonably certain of being paid 

 

a. Correct. The initial direct cost incurred to place a leased asset in service is a valid line 

item addition when compiling the total amount of a leased asset. 

b. Incorrect. Fixed lease payments are included in the calculation of the lease liability by the les-

see, not the lease asset. 

c. Incorrect. Lease termination penalties are included in the calculation of the lease liability by 

the lessee, not the lease asset. 

d. Incorrect. Residual value guarantees are included in the calculation of the lease liability by the 

lessee, not the lease asset. 

 

Chapter 25 – Nonexchange Transactions 

 

1. A government levies a property tax on property owners. This is an example of which type of nonex-

change transaction? 

a. Imposed nonexchange revenues 

b. Voluntary nonexchange transactions 

c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions 

d. Derived tax revenues 

 

a. Correct. This is an imposed nonexchange transaction, since the tax is being imposed in 

the absence of an exchange transaction. 

b. Incorrect. A voluntary nonexchange transaction is a grant or donation, where the transaction is 

not imposed on the recipient. 

c. Incorrect. A government-mandated nonexchange transaction occurs when a government at one 

level provides resources to a government at another level. 

d. Incorrect. Derived tax revenues arise from an imposition on an exchange transaction, such as a 

sale transaction. 

 

2. A government can recognize revenue when an enforceable claim has arisen. This requirement uniquely 

refers to which type of nonexchange transaction? 

a. Derived tax revenues 

b. Imposed nonexchange revenues for property taxes 

c. Imposed nonexchange revenues other than property taxes 

d. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions 

 

a. Incorrect. Derived tax revenues are recognized when the exchange transaction has occurred 

and the resources are available. 

b. Incorrect. Imposed nonexchange revenues for property taxes are recognized when in the fiscal 

period for which the taxes were levied. 

c. Correct. Imposed nonexchange revenues other than property taxes are recognized when 

an enforceable claim has arisen and the resources are available. 

d. Incorrect. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions are recognized when all eligibility 

requirements have been met and the resources are available. 
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A 

Accountability. The obligation of an individual to accept responsibility for actions taken and to disclose the 

results in a transparent manner. 

Accounting change. A change in principle, estimate, or reporting entity. 

Accrual basis of accounting. The occurrence of a business event triggers the recognition of most transac-

tions, irrespective of the underlying movement of cash. 

Acquisition value. The price that an entity would have paid to acquire an asset having similar service po-

tential in an orderly market transaction at the acquisition date. 

Agency fund. Used to report on resources held in a custodial capacity, where funds are received, temporarily 

invested, and remitted to other parties. 

Annual comprehensive financial report. A comprehensive reporting package issued by a government at the 

end of its fiscal year. 

Appropriated budget. A budget that has been created by an appropriation bill and signed into law. 

Assets. Resources controlled by a government. 

B 

Blending. When the balances and transactions of a component unit are reported in a manner similar to the 

balances and transactions of a primary government. 

Budget. A financial plan that covers a specific period of time. 

Budgetary accounting. A control technique that involves the initial inclusion of budgetary accounts in fund 

ledgers in order to provide better control over expenditures. 

C 

Capital asset. A higher-cost tangible or intangible item that is used in operations and which is expected to 

have a useful life longer than one reporting period. 

Capitalization rate. The interest rate at which debt related to a capital asset acquisition is capitalized. 

Capitalization threshold. An expenditure level below which expenditures are classified as expenses, rather 

than capital assets. 

Cash basis of accounting. The receipt of cash triggers the recognition of revenue and expenses, while the 

disbursement of cash triggers the recognition of expenditures, expenses, and transfers out. 

Cash equivalent. A short-term, highly liquid investment that is readily convertible into known amounts of 

cash, and which is so near its maturity that it presents an insignificant risk of changes in value due to changes 

in interest rates. 

Component unit. A legally separate entity for which the elected officials of a primary government are fi-

nancially accountable. 

Composite depreciation. Any depreciation method that is applied to a group of assets. 

Conduit debt obligation. A limited obligation revenue bond or a similar debt instrument that is issued by a 

state or local government entity in order to provide capital financing for a third party. 

Construction in progress. Those costs accumulated to date against an unfinished construction project. 
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Contingency. An existing condition or situation that involves some degree of uncertainty in regard to a 

possible gain or loss, with resolution based on a future event. 

Coverage ratio. A measure of the magnitude of the resources available to pay the interest and principal 

associated with debt that is backed by pledged revenues. It is calculated by dividing pledged revenues (or 

pledged revenues net of certain operating expenses) by the total amount of interest expenses and principal 

repayments. 

Current assets. A group of line items on the statement of net position that are either cash already or which 

can be converted into cash, sold, or consumed within one year. 

Current liability. An obligation that is expected to be settled with current assets or by the creation of new 

current liabilities. 

D 

Deferred inflow of resources. The acquisition of net assets that applies to a future reporting period. 

Deferred outflow of resources. The consumption of net assets that applies to a future reporting period. 

Direct debt. A government’s outstanding long-term debt instruments, such as bonds, loans, and notes. 

Direct rate. The amount applied to a unit of a revenue base. 

Discrete presentation. The use of separate columns and rows in the government-wide statements to provide 

an overview of component unit financial data. 

E 

Effective tax rate. The average rate that is calculated by dividing either total revenue or total collections by 

the total revenue base for a reporting period. 

Escheat. A government’s right to take ownership of unclaimed property. 

Exchange transaction. When there is a reciprocal transfer between two parties that results in one of them 

acquiring assets or services or settling obligations by surrendering other assets or services or incurring other 

obligations. 

Encumbrance. A commitment related to an unperformed contract for goods or services. 

Executive budget. The budget submitted by the executive branch to the legislature. 

Exit price. The price the seller of an asset would receive or the price the holder of a liability would pay in 

order to settle an obligation. 

Expected usable landfill area. The area within a landfill that is expected to receive solid waste during the 

operating life of a landfill. 

Expenditure. A decrease in net financial resources. 

Extraordinary item. An event that is unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. 

F 

Fair value. The price that a government would receive if it were to sell an asset, or the amount it would pay 

to settle an obligation in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

Final budget. The original budget after it has been adjusted for all reserves, transfers, allocations, supple-

mental appropriations, and other authorized legislative and executive changes. 

Final cover. A multi-layered system of materials that is used to reduce the amount of storm water that will 

enter a landfill after closing. 
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Financial accountability. A condition that exists when a primary government appoints a voting majority of 

an entity’s governing board and can impose its will on the entity, or the entity can provide financial benefits 

to the primary government or impose financial burdens on it. 

Financial reporting entity. A primary government and those organizations for which the primary govern-

ment is financially accountable. 

Fixed budget. A budget that contains fixed dollar amounts for all stated line items. 

Flexible budget. A budget that contains formulas that will alter the stated amount of a line item, depending 

on the related activity level. 

Flows statement. Refers to the government-wide statement of activities and the proprietary fund statement 

of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position. 

Fund. An accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts that are used to record financial resources 

and liabilities, which are segregated in order to carry on certain activities or attain targeted objectives. 

G 

GAAP. Generally accepted accounting principles. 

H 

Highest and best use. That use of a nonfinancial asset that would maximize the value of the asset. 

I 

Infrastructure asset. A stationary asset that typically has a substantially longer useful life than most types 

of capital assets. 

Intangible asset. A capital asset that has no physical substance. 

Inventory. Items of tangible personal property that are held for sale in the ordinary course of operations, or 

which are currently in the process of being manufactured for such sale, or which are currently being con-

sumed in the production of goods or services that will then be made available for sale. 

L 

Leachate. The liquid that drains from a landfill. 

Lease. A contract that transfers control of the right to use another party’s nonfinancial asset (such as build-

ings, land, equipment, and vehicles) for a period of time. 

Lease asset. An intangible asset, representing the lessee’s right to use a leased asset. 

Lease liability. The obligation by a lessee to make payments arising from a lease, as calculated on a dis-

counted basis. 

Legal level of control. The lowest budgetary level at which management is not allowed to reassign resources 

without first gaining legislative approval. 

extension options. 

Lessee. An entity that obtains the right to use an asset for a defined time period in exchange for considera-

tion. 

Lessor. An entity that agrees to provide the right to use an asset for a defined time period in exchange for 

consideration. 

Long-term obligation. An obligation that is expected to mature more than one year from the date of the 

current financial statements. 
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M 

Management’s discussion and analysis. A key part of the annual comprehensive financial report, which is 

used to provide an analysis of a government’s financial activities. 

Market participants. The parties engaged in a transaction, who are located in the most advantageous market 

for the asset or liability being sold or settled (respectively), and where the parties are independent of each 

other, are knowledgeable, and are willing and able to enter into a transaction. 

Measurement date. The date on which the fair value of an asset or liability is determined. 

Modified approach. A method for avoiding depreciation for certain types of infrastructure assets. 

Modified accrual basis. The accrual basis of accounting as modified for governmental accounting. 

Most advantageous market. That market in which a government would maximize the amount to be received 

from the sale of an asset, or which would minimize the amount paid to settle a liability, after factoring in 

transaction and transportation costs. 

N 

Net cost. The total expenses of a function or program, minus related revenues. 

Net position. The difference between a government’s assets and deferred outflows of resources, and its 

liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. 

Net realizable value. The estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations, minus reasonably 

estimable costs of completion and disposal. 

Network of assets. Those assets providing a type of service for a government, such as a power plant and 

transmission lines. 

Non-appropriated budget. A budget that is not subject to appropriation, since it is authorized by a consti-

tution, charter, or statute. 

Nonexchange transaction. When an entity gives value without receiving an equal value in exchange, or the 

reverse occurs. 

O 

Observable input. Fair value pricing that is developed using market data, such as publicly available market 

information about actual transactions. 

Orderly transaction. A transaction that has had a sufficient amount of time for normal marketing activities 

to be completed. 

Original budget. The first complete appropriated budget. 

Overlapping debt. The outstanding long-term debt instruments of governments that overlap geographically 

with the territory of the government preparing statistical section information. 

Overlapping rate. The amount applied to a unit of a revenue base by governments that overlap, in part or 

in full, with the entity preparing the statistical section information. 

Own-source revenues. Those revenues generated by a government itself, such as by levying taxes or charg-

ing fees. 

P 

Parity bond. A bond that has the same rights to the associated collateral as other bonds that were issued 

under a common bond indenture. 

Pass-through grant. A grant that is to be sent to or spent on behalf of another party. 
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Principal market. That market having the greatest transaction volume for an asset or liability. 

Primary government. A government with a separately-elected governing body, which is legally separate 

and fiscally independent of other governments. 

Purpose restriction. A specification of the purposes for which resources are to be used. 

R 

Related organization. An entity for which a primary government is accountable due to the primary govern-

ment’s ability to appoint a majority of its board, but for which it is not financially accountable. 

Reporting entity. The primary government and any organizations for which the primary government is fi-

nancially accountable. 

Residual value guarantee. A guarantee made by a lessee to the lessor, that the value of a leased asset will 

be at least a certain amount at the end of the lease. 

Resources. An item that can be drawn down to provide services to citizens. 

S 

Segment. An identifiable activity that is reported within an enterprise fund or similar entity that has one or 

more bonds or similar debt instruments outstanding, where some portion of its revenue stream is pledged 

to support repayment of the debt. 

Service utility. The usable capacity that a capital asset was expected to provide when it was acquired. 

Short-term obligation. An obligation that is expected to mature within one year of the date of the current 

financial statements. 

Special item. An event that is within the control of management and is either unusual in nature or infrequent 

in occurrence. 

Spendable form. A condition that exists when there is no expectation that an asset will be converted into 

cash. 

Stabilization arrangement. When a government sets aside funds for use in emergency situations, or when 

there are budgetary imbalances. 

Statement of activities. A financial statement that is structured to report the net expense or revenue associ-

ated with a government’s individual functions. 

Statement of financial position. A financial statement that is structured to report all assets, deferred outflows 

of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position of the reporting entity. 

Subsequent event. An event that occurs after the date of the financial statements (meaning the date of the 

statement of net position or similar report), but before the statements are issued. 

Subsystem. The sum total of all assets that, as a group, make up a portion of a network. 

T 

Time requirement. A specification of when resources can be used or when usage may begin. 

Total direct rate. The weighted average of every individual direct rate applied by a government. 

Transaction costs. Those costs that are directly attributable to the sale of an asset or settlement of a liability, 

result directly from the transaction, and would not have been incurred in the absence of the transaction. 

U 

Underlying asset. An asset for which the right of use has been shifted to a lessee as part of a lease. 
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Unobservable input. Fair value pricing that is developed using the best information available in the absence 

of market data. 

Useful life. The estimated lifespan of a capital asset. 
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Final Examination 

The final examination for this course is provided below. Feel free to circle your choice for the best answer 

to each question. To enter your answers online and receive an immediate grade and completion certificate, 

follow these steps: 

1. Go to www.accountingtools.com/cpe 

2. Click on the “Access the Training Module | Complete a Test” button near the top of the page. 

3. Login with your user name and password. 

4. Select the Take a Test option and then select the Programs option. Click on the program that you 

want to take. 

5. Take the test. You can stop and restart the test at any time. 

 

 

1. The organization primarily responsible for creating and updating governmental accounting standards 

is the: 

a. Financial Accounting Standards Board 

b. International Accounting Standards Board 

c. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

d. Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

 

2. The organizational structure of the governmental accounting standards includes the following parts, 

except for: 

a. Financial reporting 

b. Specific cash flow statement items 

c. Stand-alone reporting 

d. Measurement 

 

3. This fund is used to account for the proceeds from targeted revenue sources for which there is a com-

mitment for expenditures other than capital projects or debt service. What type of fund is it? 

a. A special revenue fund 

b. A general fund 

c. A permanent fund 

d. An internal service fund 

 

4. This fund is used to account for any activity for which external users are charged a fee for goods and 

services. What type of fund is it? 

a. A private-purpose trust fund 

b. An agency fund 

c. An enterprise fund 

d. An internal service fund 

 

5. Each fund must include ___ that address(es) the need for which the fund was created. 

a. An equity account 

b. Physically segregated assets and liabilities 

c. Adequate funding 

d. A set of self-balancing accounts 

 

http://www.accountingtools.com/cpe
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6. Revenue and governmental fund resources are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual. 

The accounting method being used is: 

a. The accrual basis 

b. The modified accrual basis 

c. The cash basis 

d. The modified cash basis 

 

7. When revenues are received prior to the normal receipt date, initially recognize them as: 

a. Liabilities in the current period 

b. Liabilities in a later period 

c. Revenue in the current period 

d. Assets in a later period 

 

8. Under modified accrual basis rules, the proper accounting for earmarked net assets to eventually be 

used to pay for incurred but unmatured liabilities is: 

a. Do not recognize a governmental fund liability 

b. Recognize the liability as a current liability 

c. Recognize an expenditure in the current period 

d. Increase capital assets 

 

9. The following is an example of an infrastructure asset: 

a. Easements 

b. Lighting systems 

c. Machinery 

d. Vehicles 

 

10. The following cost can be included in the recorded cost of a capital asset: 

a. Usage planning labor 

b. Fuel 

c. Periodic maintenance 

d. Site preparation 

 

11. Interest costs should not be capitalized in the following situation: 

a. Assets constructed for a government’s own use 

b. Assets that are donated to other organizations 

c. Assets that are already in use 

d. Assets designated for sale that have been produced as discrete projects 

 

12. The following condition is one of several that must be met before the cost of interest can be capitalized: 

a. Outlays will soon be made for the asset 

b. Preparation activities have been completed 

c. Interest costs are being incurred 

d. The asset is being operated 

 

13. The following are stages of completion used in the recognition of computer software, except for: 

a. Post-implementation/operation stage 

b. Preliminary project stage 

c. Application development stage 

d. Testing stage 
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14. A common indicator of asset impairment is: 

a. The presence of similar, newer assets on the market 

b. The enactment of laws that impact asset usage 

c. The approach of the original estimate of an asset’s useful life 

d. The transfer of the asset to a different department, where it will be used in the same manner 

 

15. General long-term debt includes the following obligation: 

a. Special assessment debt with a government obligation 

b. Accounts payable 

c. Accrued liabilities 

d. Wages payable 

 

16. The following is classified as a current liability because it is an item in the operating cycle of a govern-

ment: 

a. Short-term debts caused by capital asset purchases 

b. Amounts that must be spent under sinking fund provisions 

c. Payables incurred to buy supplies used in the provision of services 

d. Agency obligations triggered by the collection of cash for third parties 

 

17. A ___ fund is more likely to have a flexible budget associated with it, since this type of fund tends to 

have a variable revenue level. 

a. Capital projects 

b. Agency 

c. Investment 

d. Proprietary 

 

18. A journal entry is used to record an encumbrance. Doing so shows that: 

a. There is an open commitment related to an unfilled purchase order 

b. An expense is being accrued before the supplier’s invoice arrives 

c. There is a current payable that will require funding in the current reporting period 

d. An expenditure should instead be recorded as an expense 

 

19. A reciprocal interfund activity is one that: 

a. Is always reported as an expense by the initiating party 

b. Involves a one-way transfer of resources from one fund to another 

c. Involves the transfer of funds for which repayment is expected 

d. Does not require a journal entry to document the flow of resources 

 

20. A government wants to track expenditures by the type of goods or services obtained. It should use the 

___ classification to do so. 

a. Activity 

b. Object 

c. Function 

d. Program 

 

21. The following are valid components of net position that should be reported on the statement of financial 

position, except for: 

a. Restricted 

b. Net investment in capital assets 

c. Unrestricted 

d. Net investment in financial assets 
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22. A(n) ___ is the nucleus of a financial reporting entity. 

a. Component unit 

b. Agency 

c. Primary government 

d. Fund 

 

23. The following are indicators that a primary government can impose its will on another entity, except 

for: 

a. It can alter the rates charged by the entity 

b. It can reassign those responsible for the entity’s operations 

c. It can alter the decisions made by the entity’s governing body 

d. It can remove members of the entity’s governing board for cause 

 

24. The management’s discussion and analysis section of an annual comprehensive financial report con-

tains which of the following? 

a. Detailed assessment 

b. Condensed information 

c. Assumptions 

d. Investment activity 

 

25. The residual amount in the government-wide statement of net position is designated as: 

a. Net position 

b. Equity 

c. Net assets 

d. Net liabilities 

 

26. Assets should be presented in the statement of net position based on how easily they can be converted 

into cash. This concept is known as (the): 

a. Cash receipts ordering 

b. Cash basis 

c. Liability basis 

d. Order of liquidity 

 

27. When debt is issued with an associated premium, the correct reporting treatment of the premium is to: 

a. Not report it until earned 

b. Separately report it as a cost of financing 

c. Report it within the same classification as the related debt 

d. Net it against the discount associated with other debt 

 

28. What is the rule regarding a negative balance in the restricted net position line item? 

a. A negative balance is acceptable 

b. The negative balance is shifted to the unrestricted net position 

c. The negative amount is shifted to the net investment in capital assets line item 

d. The negative amount is shifted to the cash line item 

 

29. The following is a valid category for program revenues: 

a. Commercial activities 

b. Charges for forfeitures 

c. Investment results 

d. Charges for services 
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30. The layout of a balance sheet should match the following calculation: 

a. Assets = Liabilities + Equity 

b. Assets = Liabilities + Net position 

c. Assets = Liabilities + Fund balance 

d. Assets + Deferred outflows of resources = Liabilities + Deferred inflows of resources + Fund 

balance 

 

31. The following disclosures are required when there is a related party transaction, except for: 

a. A description of the transaction 

b. Any amounts payable to related parties 

c. The nature of the relationship 

d. Whether the transaction was approved by senior management 

 

32. A government detects an error in previously-issued financial statements. The government issues a sin-

gle-period statement. The correct presentation of the correction is to: 

a. Record the correction within the current period 

b. Adjust the opening balance of net position 

c. Make no change 

d. Only disclose the existence of the error in the accompanying notes 

 

33. A government alters its assumptions regarding capital asset service lives. This is an example of a change 

in: 

a. Entity 

b. Principle 

c. Estimate 

d. Policy 

 

34. The notes to the financial statements should discuss the following general topics, with the exception of: 

a. Business-type activities 

b. Governmental activities 

c. Financing 

d. Non-major funds 

 

35. A policy should be disclosed when it involves the following: 

a. A unique application of generally accepted accounting principles 

b. A change mandated by a new accounting standard 

c. There is one acceptable choice for how to account for a transaction 

d. Practices commonly applicable to most governments 

 

36. A government should disclose the following when future revenues have been sold: 

a. The proportion of the revenue stream that has been pledged 

b. The amount of the pledge 

c. A comparison of the pledged revenues to the associated debt 

d. The period to which the sale applies 
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37. The only required budgetary comparisons are for the ___ fund and each major special revenue fund 

that has an annual budget associated with it. 

a. Permanent 

b. General 

c. Debt service 

d. Capital projects 

 

38. The lowest level of budgetary control at which management is not allowed to reassign resources without 

legislative approval is known as the: 

a. Management level of control 

b. Encumbrance point 

c. Legal level of control 

d. Approval point 

 

39. The ideal comparison of a budget to expenditures includes the following elements, except for: 

a. Encumbrances 

b. Liquidated expenditures 

c. Unliquidated expenditures 

d. Variable expenditures 

 

40. A ___ fund that has no operating income or loss must still present a statement of cash flows. 

a. Proprietary 

b. Investment trust 

c. Agency 

d. Private-purpose trust 

 

41. A statement of cash flows contains a reconciliation of an entity’s operating income to its net cash flow 

from operating activities, which is achieved by removing the effects of: 

a. Negative cash balances implicitly financed 

b. Debt principal payments 

c. Other deferred inflows and outflows 

d. Purchases of investments 

 

42. A customer pays a government entity a deposit, which will be refunded at a later date. These cash 

inflows and outflows are classified in the statement of cash flows as: 

a. Cash flows from investing activities 

b. Cash flows from financing activities 

c. Cash flows from capital and related financing activities 

d. Cash flows from operating activities 

 

43. A segment is an identifiable activity that is reported within a(n) ___ fund or similar entity. 

a. Internal service 

b. Enterprise 

c. Pension and employee benefit trust 

d. Permanent 
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44. Separate columns and rows are used to provide an overview of component unit financial data. This 

form of presentation is called: 

a. Discrete presentation 

b. Separate presentation 

c. Independent presentation 

d. Apportioned presentation 

 

45. The following factor is important when determining whether a component unit should be classified as 

major: 

a. The unit presents a service that is indistinguishable from the service provided by other units 

b. The unit has a significant debt obligation 

c. There are significant transactions between the unit and the primary government 

d. The unit employs a significant proportion of the primary government’s total employees 

 

46. A government owns a majority of the equity interest in a separate organization, and reports the entity 

as a component unit. This is acceptable reporting when the intent is to: 

a. Earn a return on its investment 

b. Enhance its ability to provide services 

c. Provide financial support to a floundering fellow government 

d. Provide a write-off to offset a taxable gain 

 

47. A government only needs to prepare a statistical section when it is producing: 

a. Summary financial statements 

b. Interim financial statements 

c. An annual comprehensive financial report 

d. Component unit financial statements 

 

48. The fair value of taxable real or personal property is reported as part of the revenue capacity discussion 

in a statistical section. This fair value is known as: 

a. Taxable personal property 

b. Taxable real property 

c. Assessed value of taxable property 

d. Estimated actual value of taxable property 

 

49. A ___ government does not have to present information about the revenue rates of the overlapping 

governments within its borders. 

a. Special-purpose 

b. City 

c. County 

d. State 

 

50. The following demographic and/or economic indicator should be presented in the statistical section: 

a. Total personal income 

b. Employment rate 

c. Average family size 

d. Occupancy rate 
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51. An example of a transaction cost associated with a purchase is: 

a. Transportation costs 

b. A broker’s commission 

c. The cost of the payables person who paid for the purchase 

d. Equipment maintenance 

 

52. An input is being used for the derivation of a fair value that is based on unobservable inputs. This is 

Level ___ of the fair value hierarchy. 

a. 1 

b. 2 

c. 3 

d. 4 

 

53. The following is an example of a risk transfer: 

a. A government sends employee insurance claims to a third-party claims processor 

b. A government pays a one-time premium to a third party, which then covers all related risk 

c. A government pays a premium and may receive a refund, based on claims experience 

d. A government pays a premium and may be asked to pay more, based on claims experience 

 

54. When there is no risk transfer and a loss occurs, a government should report an estimated loss if: 

a. It is possible that an asset has been impaired 

b. It is possible that a liability has been incurred 

c. It is reasonably possible to estimate the amount of the loss 

d. The party causing the loss can be identified 

 

55. When a prospective loss falls within a range of possible amounts, accrue a loss based on: 

a. The best estimate within the range 

b. The maximum loss 

c. The average loss 

d. The median loss 

 

56. A conduit debt obligation has the following characteristic: 

a. There are at least three parties involved 

b. The issuer and the obligor are part of the same financial reporting entity 

c. The issuer ultimately receives the debt issuance proceeds 

d. The debt obligation is cross-collateralized with the issuer’s other debt 

 

57. The following is correct regarding the accounting for escheat property: 

a. No offsetting liability is needed to indicate the amount of assets to be reclaimed 

b. Escheatment transactions are not reported in government-wide financial statements 

c. When the property is held as a fiduciary activity, it should be reported in a custodial fund 

d. Property classified as escheat should be reported as a liability in a proprietary fund 

 

58. The singular advantage of the average inventory costing method is: 

a. That the level of costing simplification makes the use of a costing database irrelevant 

b. The elimination of older cost layers 

c. The elimination of all cost layers 

d. The ability to report higher profits in inflationary periods 
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59. The following are examples of the costs that a landfill owner or operator would incur to protect the 

environment from the landfill, except for: 

a. Postclosure monitoring costs 

b. Intangible costs 

c. Final cover costs 

d. Leachate collection system costs 

 

60. There is a change in the estimated total current cost of landfill closure and postclosure care. The change 

should be reported: 

a. As a prior period cost 

b. In the current period 

c. Ratably over the remaining useful life of the landfill 

d. As a chargeback to the landfill operator, if it is managed by a third party 

 

61. A lessee will need to remeasure its lease liability whenever the following occurs: 

a. There is a change in the contract signatories 

b. The credit rating of the lessee has improved 

c. The interest rate being charged to the lessee has changed 

d. The probability of obtaining variable lease payments has increased 

 

62. A lessor recognizes a lease receivable, which is comprised of the following components, except for: 

a. Residual value guarantees that are fixed in substance 

b. Lease incentives paid to the lessor 

c. Variable lease payments that are actually fixed in substance 

d. Fixed lease payments 

 

63. A government must recognize a nonexchange transaction in its financial statements, unless: 

a. Collection is not probable 

b. The amount is coming from or going to another government 

c. The amount can be reasonably estimated 

d. The government will then use the incoming funds as the source of grants to other parties 

 

64. The following is an example of a purpose restriction: 

a. The recipient cannot qualify for payment until it first incurs costs 

b. Resources can only be used within a specific date range 

c. Resources can only be used after being held for a certain amount of time 

d. Resources can only be expended to acquire capital assets 

 

65. A government can recognize the revenue associated with a pass-through grant, as long as: 

a. The ultimate recipient allows the revenue recognition 

b. The government has administrative involvement in the program 

c. The initial grant specifies the government as the recipient of the funds 

d. It does not take a brokerage fee from the pass-through transaction 
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